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Hello, this is Bob Strickland. Thank you for calling into the Wells Fargo third quarter 2008 earnings review
prerecorded call.

Before we discuss our third quarter results, we need to make the standard securities law disclosure. In this
call we will make forward-looking statements about specific income statement and balance sheet items and
other measures of future results of operations and financial conditions, including, generally, statements
about future credit quality and losses and the expected financial and other benefits and opportunities of the
Wachovia merger and, specifically, statements that we believe our loan portfolios should perform better
than the industry because of our underwriting and loss mitigation practices, that establishing long-term
relationships with customers through cross-selling additional products will drive future revenue and profit
growth, that we expect more rational deposit pricing because of industry consolidation, that until home
prices stabilize we expect higher losses in the home equity portfolio, that by working with customers and
finding solutions to their financial difficulties we believe we will keep more of them in their homes and
mitigate our losses, that we expect net credit losses in the Wells Fargo Financial auto portfolio to peak by
year-end or by early next year, that losses in our Business Direct portfolio, as with our other portfolios, will
continue to be impacted by how the overall economy performs, and the planned market capital raise and
government investment of capital will enable us to finance the Wachovia acquisition, to continue to build
our franchise and to maintain one of the strongest balance sheets and highest capital ratios among U.S.
financial services companies.

Forward-looking statements give our expectations about the future. They are not guarantees, and results
may differ from expectations. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made, and we
do not undertake any obligation to update them to reflect changes that occur after that date.

For a discussion of some of the factors that may cause actual results to differ from expectations refer to our
SEC filings including the 8-K filed today, which includes the press release announcing our third quarter
results, and to our most recent annual report on Form 10-K and quarterly report on Form 10-Q filed with the
SEC and to the information incorporated into those documents.

Now | will turn the review over to our Chief Financial Officer, Howard Atkins.
Thanks Bob.

Thir rter Summar

Wells Fargo reported a $1.64 billion profit or 49 cents a share in the third quarter despite $646 million, or 13
cents a share, of write-downs, as previously announced, for investments in Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and
Lehman Brothers. Credit-related costs in the quarter included a credit reserve build of $500 million, or 10
cents a share. Despite these costs, our business momentum remained very strong in the quarter.

As we indicated in prior quarters, the challenges faced by others in our industry have created many
opportunities for us to grow our franchise profitably and to grow market
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share and share of our customers wallet. As a result, year-to-date revenue was up 11 percent, double-digit
once again.

Retail cross sell reached a record 5.7 products on record product sales of

6.3 million, up 20 percent from a year ago. Sales of products to small
businesses were up 25 percent and Wholesale s cross-sell remained at

6.3 products.

Average loans were up 15 percent, consisting of 27 percent growth in
commercial loans and 9 percent growth in consumer. We remained one of the
few banks in the U.S. that has consistently supplied credit to existing and new
creditworthy customers throughout the credit crunch. While we have exited or
deemphasized indirect lending and have pared down higher risk tiers across all
of our loan portfolios, we continued to realize opportunities to win new
customers and provide existing customers with new credit appropriately priced
for risk and appropriately structured.

Core deposits reached a record $334 billion at quarter end, up 10 percent from a
year ago. Inflows of checking and interest bearing deposits accelerated sharply
as the quarter progressed, across all customer segments - consumer, wealth
management, middle market, large corporate and correspondent banking
customers all contributed to the strong deposit inflows and increases in net new
deposit accounts. From June 30 to September 30, 2008, core deposits
increased $24 billion or 30 percent annualized, with $19 billion of core deposit
growth just in the month of September. California continued to be one of the
fastest growing states for deposits with net new checking accounts up

8.1 percent, the largest increase in new checking accounts in almost 4 years.
We have seen a similar flight to quality in favor of our mutual funds business
with average mutual fund balances up 12 percent over last year. Institutional
brokerage had record revenue, up 57 percent from last year, and WellsTrade®,
our online brokerage service, grew revenue by 40 percent with 11 percent
growth in accounts from third quarter 2007.

Mortgage applications were a solid $83 billion in third quarter  with mortgage
noninterest income of $892 million, the second best quarter ever.

We continued to see strong growth in most of our fee-based revenue sources
including deposit and loan services, credit and debit cards, insurance and
mortgage banking.

In addition to the accelerated growth in third quarter, our profit margins remained among the best in the
industry.

Our net interest margin of 4.79 percent was down slightly from second quarter
but up 24 basis points from a year ago. We continued to benefit from
significantly lower funding costs, from increased core deposit inflows, and from
wider spreads on new assets. All of the increase in consolidated assets during
the third quarter was matched by a similar increase in new core deposits.

We maintained excellent operating leverage in the quarter. While reported
revenue grew 5 percent, expenses actually declined 3 percent. We continued to
restrict expense growth to revenue producing activities and continued to reduce
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most costs across the company.
At 1.06 percent and 13.63 percent, our ROA and ROE remained among the best
in the industry. We were able to earn such high returns despite a provision of
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$2.5 billion and over $600 million of previously announced investment write-
downs because our franchise earns such high operating returns to begin with.

Finally, we continued to fortify our strong balance sheet in the third quarter.

- Provision for credit losses totaled $2.5 billion, including the $500 million credit
reserve build. In addition to providing for the $7.1 billion in cumulative net
charge-offs since the credit crunch began last fall we have now added
$3.9 billion to our allowance for credit losses. At $8 billion, reserves are
1.95 percent of total loans, the highest this ratio has been in over 7 years. While
our credit portfolios are not immune to the economic forces the industry is
confronting, we believe our portfolios should perform better than the industry
because we never offered most of the more problematic loan types and because
we have been aggressively managing down the higher risk elements within each
of our loan portfolios for well over a year.

- During the quarter we took $247 million of other than temporary impairment,
largely in a small CDO portfolio which at quarter end had a carrying value of less
than $1 billion.

- Our Tier | capital ratio of 8.58 percent is up 34 basis points from second quarter
and up almost a full percentage point from year-end 2007 reflecting our high rate
of internal capital generation and four successful non-dilutive capital raises this
year totaling $6.5 billion. Tier | capital plus the allowance for credit losses was
10 percent of average earning assets, up 52 basis points from year end. The
combination of capital and reserves is the strongest our company has had since
1999. As publicly disclosed yesterday, the U.S. Treasury will be investing
$25 billion in new capital in Wells Fargo in the form of non-voting preferred stock
with an initial dividend of 5 percent plus warrants to purchase a number of
common shares with a value of $3.8 billion or 15 percent of the preferred stock
investment. We believe the Treasury s plan is a positive step toward providing
much needed capital for financial institutions that are in the best position to
deploy it effectively to stimulate the U.S. economy and strengthen confidence in
the U.S. banking system. On a pro forma basis this capital investment would add
approximately 480 basis points to our already strong 8.5 percent regulatory Tier
| capital ratio.

In summary strong and profitable business growth, solid operating margins and a fortified balance sheet
enabled us to continue to take advantage of the unique opportunities available to us in the current
environment.

With those strong third quarter results behind us, we believe that our earnings momentum and balance
sheet position us well as we head toward completion of our announced merger with Wachovia, which is on
track to close in the fourth quarter. This merger will create one of the strongest financial firms in the world
benefiting our shareholders, customers, team members and communities. We are excited to combine the
industry s number one ranking customer service culture of Wachovia with the industry s number one sales
and cross-selling culture of Wells Fargo. As we do with all of our acquisitions, we used conservative
assumptions and this acquisition comfortably exceeds all our financial requirements by adding to earnings
no later than the third year after purchase and earning at least a 15 percent internal rate of return.



Edgar Filing: WACHOVIA CORP NEW - Form 425

Wachovia will add to Wells Fargo s earnings
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per share in the first year, excluding integration costs, write-downs, transaction charges and credit reserve
build. In year three it will be accretive without any adjustments. In the coming weeks we will be providing
more detail around our merger and integration plans. As part of the registration statement for the merger
that we will file with the Securities and Exchange Commission we will include pro forma financial
information for the combined company. In addition to the $25 billion of preferred stock we will be issuing to
the U.S. Treasury, as we announced at the time of our signed definitive agreement we plan to raise up to
$20 billion of Wells Fargo securities, primarily common stock. The capital raising process will be thoughtful,
complete and transparent. The combination of the market capital and the capital investment from the
government will enable us to finance the Wachovia acquisition, to continue to build our franchise and gain
market share as we have done throughout the credit crunch and to maintain one of the strongest balance
sheets and highest capital ratios among U.S. financial services companies.

Let me now provide some additional color on the performance of our consumer and commercial businesses
before turning to credit quality.

Community Banking

The Community Banking Group including regional banking, wealth management, home equity, mortgage
banking and retail internet  had double-digit revenue growth, up 14 percent from third quarter 2007, driven
by solid earning asset growth and strong fee income growth. Net income grew 10 percent from a year ago.

Average retail core deposits, which exclude wholesale banking and mortgage escrow deposits, increased 6
percent from a year ago and 7 percent annualized on a linked-quarter basis. Retail core deposits increased
$12 billion to $241 billion from June 30 to September 30, up 20 percent annualized. This strong growth in
retail core deposits was driven by growth in new checking customers. Consumer checking accounts were
up a net 6.1 percent. California continued to be one of our fastest growing markets, with consumer
checking accounts up a very strong net 8.1 percent. This was the thirteenth consecutive quarter where net
new accounts in California exceeded the average across our 23 community banking states and the highest
rate of net new accounts in almost 4 years. Consistent with our strategy of earning all of our customers
business, we have also been successful at cross-selling additional products to these new customers which
will help us establish long term relationships with these new customers, driving future revenue and profit
growth.

Wealth Management Group, serving our high net worth customers, also continued to have strong deposit
growth. Average core deposits were up $8 billion or 52 percent from a year ago and increased 20 percent
annualized from second quarter 2008, a trend we believe is another example of the flight to quality in our
industry.

Importantly, the growth in retail deposits was not driven by increased pricing. While deposit pricing in many
of our markets remained competitive during the quarter, we continued to be disciplined in deposit pricing
with the average rate on our interest-bearing core deposits declining 11 basis points from second quarter,
even as we increased deposit inflows.
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Given the consolidation that has taken place in the industry, we expect more rational pricing going forward.

Regional banking had record core product sales of 6.3 million in the third quarter, up 20 percent from third
quarter 2007. These strong sales results are yet another example of how Wells Fargo is able to focus on
the opportunities this environment provides to grow and strengthen customer relationships. California
continued to be one of our fastest growing states with a 26 percent increase in core product sales from a
year ago.

Through acquisitions and internal growth we added a total of 384,000 net new retail bank households
year-to-date, with 165,000 added during the third quarter alone. By deepening our relationships with
existing and new customers, we once again achieved record cross-sell during the quarter with our average
retail bank household having 5.7 products with Wells Fargo, up from 5.5 a year ago and up from about 4.3
five years ago. Twenty-four percent of our retail bank households had 8 or more products with us, our
long-term goal, nearly double the amount of households who bought 8 or more products five years ago.

To better serve our customers, we continued to add more sales people, with platform banker FTE up 7
percent from a year ago through hiring and acquisitions. These new and existing team members continued
to increase productivity with 5.72 core sales per platform banker FTE, up from 5.18 per day a year ago.

We have had strong growth and better customer penetration across many product lines including Wells
Fargo Packages®, which include a checking account and at least three other products such as a debit card,
credit card or savings account. Package sales were up 47 percent from third quarter 2007, purchased by
74 percent of new checking account customers, and up from 69 percent a year ago. This increased
penetration of new checking account customers was especially important during the third quarter when
consumer checking accounts were up a net 6.1 percent. By selling new checking account customers at
least 3 additional products, we will be better able to meet their financial needs and build long term
relationships.

We continued to have strong debit and credit card penetration of our retail bank households. Thirty-eight
percent of our retail bank consumer households had a Wells Fargo credit card, up from 26 percent 5 years
ago. Purchase volume on consumer credit cards was up 8 percent from third quarter 2007. On a linked
quarter basis, purchase volume was up slightly, but the growth rate slowed reflecting more cautious
consumer spending. Ninety-two percent of our consumer checking account customers had a debit card, up
from 85 percent 5 years ago. Debit card purchase volume growth in the third quarter was up 11 percent
compared with third quarter 2007. On a linked quarter basis, purchase volume was down slightly due to
economic pressure on consumer spending.

We also had strong sales during the quarter in business banking, with store-based sales to our small
business customers up 25 percent from third quarter 2007. Sales of Wells Fargo Business Services®
packages, which include a business checking account and at least three other business products such as a
business debit card, credit card, or business loan or line of credit, were up 42 percent from third quarter
2007 and were purchased by
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50 percent of new business checking account customers. For the sixth consecutive year, based on 2007
CRA data, Wells Fargo was the number one small business lender.

Our Wealth Management Group continued to achieve double digit revenue and earnings growth with
revenue up 14 percent and net income up 32 percent from third quarter 2007. These strong results were
driven by double-digit loan and deposit growth. Private Banking, serving our highest net worth customers,
grew revenue by over 50 percent and nearly doubled net income from third quarter 2007. These strong
results reflect the success we are having at expanding existing relationships and adding new relationships
during a time when customers are placing even more importance on sound financial advice. WellsTrade®,
our on-line brokerage service, had double-digit revenue and net income growth and continued to attract
and retain customers with account levels up 11 percent from last year.

Mortgage Banking

During another difficult quarter for the housing and credit markets, our mortgage business continued to
perform well with mortgage banking noninterest income up 8 percent from a year ago. Our unwavering
commitment to responsible lending, focus on high-quality products, strong reputation in the secondary
markets and quick response to signs of deteriorating economic conditions have served us well during these
challenging times. Mortgage rates during the third quarter were very volatile and ended the quarter down
27 basis points. Mortgage banking noninterest income was down $305 million from second quarter 2008,
reflecting a $600 million decline in net gains on mortgage loan origination/sales activities partially offset by
a $304 million increase in servicing income.

The decline in net gains on mortgage loan origination/sales activities was driven by lower application and
origination volumes. Mortgage originations were down $10 billion from second quarter 2008 driven by the
weaker housing market. The decline in revenue was also impacted by an increase in the repurchase
reserve, a decrease in the servicing value in the mortgage warehouse/pipeline as a result of lower
origination volumes as well as lower mortgage market rates and a decrease in the value of commercial
mortgages held for sale.

The $304 million increase in servicing income included a net MSR gain of $75 million. The decline in
mortgage rates in the quarter resulted in a $546 million decrease in the fair value of our MSRs offset by a
$620 million increase in the fair value of the corresponding economic hedges. At the end of the quarter, the
ratio of capitalized MSRs to total mortgage loans serviced for others was 1.34 percent compared with 1.35
percent a year ago and 1.37 percent at the end of second quarter.

Our total servicing portfolio grew 5 percent from a year ago to $1.6 trillion. Over 90 percent of the mortgage
loans we service are for prime customers. Reflecting the continued stress in the housing market, the
foreclosure rate for the servicing portfolio continued to increase, to 1.22 percent at quarter end, which we
believe was still better than the industry average. To better assist our customers in these challenging times
we have extended our hours, participated in more than 150 face-to-face forums and stopped the
foreclosure sale for customers we believe might be eligible for the Help For Homeowners Program. We
continued to work closely with our borrowers on case-by-case solutions that align with their
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individual needs, while also continuing to work with investors to find streamlined modification programs to
assist more borrowers. Of every 10 customers who are 60 or more days delinquent, seven worked with us
to find a solution, two declined our help, and the remainder were either unreachable or a solution simply
could not be found. We do have solutions that work  refinancing, payment reductions, repayment plans,
short sales and others. Most importantly, 60 percent of these customers improved their delinquency status
and averted foreclosure. All of these efforts have resulted in more customers receiving loan modifications
during 2008; double the number from last year.

Wholesale Banking
Our Wholesale and Commercial Banking Business, which serves primarily middle market customers and

select niches in the large corporate market from coast to coast, has been a major beneficiary of the credit
crunch as others have pulled back from commercial lending and as new loan spreads have generally
widened.

Wholesale Banking s average loans increased 33 percent from third quarter 2007, as we continued to have
more opportunities to increase business with new and existing customers at improved credit spreads and
with better structure. Loan growth was broad based across many of our commercial businesses including
double-digit growth in asset-based lending, middle market lending, international, commercial real estate
and specialized financial services - which includes our capital markets activities and relationships with
Fortune 500 companies. While we are pleased with our credit performance, we continue to have a cautious
outlook given the volatile capital markets and slowing economy.

Within Wholesale Banking, the Commercial Real Estate Group had $31.4 billion of commercial real estate
loans outstanding at quarter end, up 7 percent from second quarter. The disruption in the capital markets
makes Wells Fargo a reliable source of funding for our existing and high quality new customers. This
growth was diversified by property type, with the largest concentration in office buildings. This portfolio is
geographically diverse with commercial real estate lending originated through offices nationwide. The
commercial real estate loans we added to our portfolio were at better spreads, with stronger covenants and
largely with customers we have done business with over many years and many cycles.

Our Asset-Based Lending business continued to grow during these challenging economic times. In today s
capital constrained marketplace, we continued to meet the financial needs of our customers through our
specialized lending groups. Due to a strong demand for our Asset-Based Lending products and loan
acquisitions, loans grew $6 billion, up 36 percent, and revenue grew $71 million or 33 percent from a year
ago.

In Wholesale Banking, average core deposits were up 3 percent from a year ago and were down slightly
from second quarter. However, average core deposits for the month of September were up 5 percent from
the month of August and up 7 percent from June, driven by growth from middle market, large corporate and
correspondent banking customers. Money market balances were up 15 percent from second quarter 2008
with strong inflows late in the quarter of $13 billion in the month of September.

10
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The Insurance Services group had another strong quarter. Our consumer and small business insurance
group grew revenue by 10 percent from third quarter 2007 driven by sales of identity theft protection, debt
cancellation, personal lines such as auto, homeowner and renters insurance and crop insurance products.
Crop insurance continued to benefit from high commodity prices.

Our International Group grew revenue by 27 percent from third quarter 2007. Foreign Exchange revenue
was up 33 percent from third quarter 2007. This increase in foreign exchange sales is due to an increase in
market share primarily with our middle-market and small business customers who have had increased
hedging needs in this volatile environment. In addition, Foreign Exchange revenue growth through our 370
International Teller sites located in our banking stores also increased 33 percent from a year ago and
banknote revenue was up 36 percent during this same period.

redi li
Turning to credit quality, losses continued to increase in the third quarter, but were in line with expectations.
Net charge-offs in the third quarter were $2.0 billion, or 1.96 percent of average loans annualized. This
higher level of losses was driven by our consumer portfolios which continued to be negatively impacted by
the weakness in residential real estate, higher energy prices, higher unemployment and increases in
bankruptcies. Losses in our commercial loan portfolios were actually down slightly from second quarter
driven by improvement in our small business lending portfolio. While quarterly losses increased from
second quarter, the growth rate was more moderate than in prior quarters after adjusting for the change in
home equity charge off policy introduced in the second quarter. Essentially all of the actions in the last two
years to mitigate losses are beginning to offset, to a certain extent, the impact that weaker home prices and
unemployment had on the retail real estate portfolios. As a result of our previous loss mitigation actions,
small business and student lending portfolios both showed signs of stability in the quarter. Let me provide
some detail on what is driving credit performance in each of our major consumer and commercial portfolios.

The home equity loans managed by our National Home Equity group continued to be the primary driver of
the increase in net charge-offs during the quarter. This $84 billion portfolio is 20 percent of the total $411
billion in loans outstanding, but the third quarter losses represented 33 percent of total net charge-offs for
the quarter. Twelve billion dollars of this portfolio was in the first lien position. Because of the change we
made in our home equity charge off policy in the second quarter, the reported $342 million in second
quarter losses would have been approximately $265 million higher without this change.

The loss rate on the $11 billion liquidating home equity portfolio, loans primarily sourced through third
parties, was 7.59 percent compared with a loss rate of 2.43 percent in the $73 billion core home equity
portfolio about 98 percent of which was sourced directly through our Wells Fargo distribution channels.
Loans originated through these channels have performed significantly better than the loans originated
through third parties. A principal distinction between the performance of the liquidating and the core
portfolios is the high percentage of loans with combined loan-to-values above 90 percent. Seventy-six

11
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percent of the smaller liquidating portfolio had a combined-loan-to-value of greater than 90 percent at
quarter end based predominately on estimated home values from automated valuation models updated
through August 2008, while 44 percent of the core portfolio had updated combined-loan-to-values above 90
percent. While 38 percent of the total home equity portfolio balances are from properties located in
California, only 2 percent were located in Central California, the region which has experienced some of the
highest level of losses, and only 4 percent are from properties located in Florida, where some markets have
also experienced significant home price depreciation. Until home prices stabilize we expect higher losses in
the home equity portfolio. It is important to remember, however, that most of our home equity borrowers
were current with their loans at quarter-end. Only about 2 percent of the accounts were 2 or more
payments past due.

We continued to work aggressively with our customers to avoid problems and mitigate loss. During the third
quarter our loss mitigation activities benefited nearly 2,700 customers with over $260 million in balances.
By working with these customers and finding solutions to their financial difficulties, we believe we will end
up keeping more customers in their homes and mitigating loss. In addition to exiting most indirect home
equity origination channels last year, we have been managing accounts to reduce risk while at the same
time remaining open for business for creditworthy retail customers. As a result of our active account
management and tightening of credit for new originations, total home equity outstandings were flat this
quarter; the liquidating home equity portfolio was down about $1.2 billion, or 10 percent, from year-end.

The $78 billion first mortgage portfolio experienced somewhat higher losses, but they still remained
relatively low. Third quarter annualized charge-offs were 0.73 percent, with $139 million in total losses, up
from $96 million in losses in the second quarter. The relatively low loss rate in our total first mortgage
portfolio largely reflected the fact that we never offered option ARMs or negative amortizing products as
well as the conservative underwriting in the mortgage products we have traditionally held in portfolio. Our
first mortgage portfolio consisted of $25 billion of real estate secured loans held at Wells Fargo Financial,
$12 billion of home equity loans in the first mortgage position (mostly retail originated), and $41 billion of
mostly prime customer, relationship-based first mortgages held at Wells Fargo Home Mortgage, regional
banking, and our Wealth Management Group. The linked quarter growth in this portfolio was driven by
acquisitions, strong loan growth in the Wealth Management Group and increases in GNMA loan balances
whose repayments are insured by the FHA or guaranteed by the VA.

Within the first mortgage portfolio, Wells Fargo Financial had a total of $25 billion of debt consolidation
loans originated through Financial s U.S. retail stores at quarter end, flat from second quarter due to
tightening underwriting standards and declining real estate values. The declining real estate values resulted
in higher delinquencies and charge-offs in this portfolio with third quarter losses of $68 million, a 1.07
percent annualized loss rate. While losses and delinquencies increased, they are still significantly better
than published industry rates for non-prime mortgage portfolios. For example, our 60 day plus delinquency
rate for the second quarter was 80 percent less than the industry average. The better credit performance in
our portfolio was due to our consistently tighter underwriting standards compared to other non-prime
mortgage originators. The Wells Fargo Financial team members who underwrite these loans originated
through the store network
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underwrite to the customer first and the collateral second. This portfolio does not include any interest-only,
stated income, option ARM or negative amortizing loans. This debt consolidation portfolio was also
geographically diverse with just 14 percent in California and 8 percent in Florida and 2 percent in Nevada,
the states with the highest loss rates.

The size of the Wells Fargo Financial s $25 billion auto portfolio declined 24 percent annualized from last
quarter and 16 percent from last year reflecting the tightening of account acquisition strategies to reduce
loan volume in higher risk tiers and tiers with unacceptable returns. Credit losses increased $74 million
from second quarter, in part seasonal, and increased $40 million over third quarter 2007, driven primarily by
lower used car prices. For example, large SUV prices have declined 21 percent from a year ago according
to the September Manheim Index. Losses in the auto portfolio were $316 million, about 15 percent of Wells
Fargo s total quarterly losses. Total delinquencies increased 12 percent and 90 days past due increased 10
percent on a linked-quarter basis due to the weakness in the overall economy and seasoning of the
portfolio. Delinquencies were flat and 90 days past due were up 6 percent from third quarter of last year.
We currently expect net credit losses in the portfolio to peak by year end or by early next year, of course,
conditions in the auto market and the economy generally can impact the timing of any improvement.

Our $13 billion Community Banking credit card portfolio is a relationship product primarily offered to our
Wells Fargo customers within our banking states. The growth of this portfolio slowed as we continued to
tighten underwriting standards and consumers reduced spending in response to the economy. Credit
losses have increased from historically low levels as a result of higher bankruptcy rates, seasoning of the
portfolio, and continuing economic pressure on consumers, but they remained within our profit model
expectations and historical industry norms. We continued to tighten our underwriting standards, which
reduced new account growth, but increased the quality of our new customers. We proactively manage our
existing accounts including restricting balance growth and transactions on riskier accounts, lowering and in
some cases closing credit lines, and for a small percentage of accounts repricing them consistent with the
customer s current risk profile. Since the vast majority of our bank card customers have other relationships
with Wells Fargo, we monitor customer behavior using both internal and external measurements. Wells
Fargo Financial has a $7.7 billion credit card portfolio, up $300 million from second quarter. These cards
are primarily sold to Wells Fargo Financial customers and through retailers and manufacturers with large
dealer networks, not through mass mailing campaigns. Losses in Wells Fargo Financial s card portfolio
increased only $5 million from the second quarter. We continued to tighten underwriting standards and
appropriately price for risk in response to the higher level of losses.

Within our $176 billion commercial and commercial real estate loan portfolio, we have an $11.8 billion
Business Direct portfolio consisting primarily of unsecured small loans and lines of credit to small business
owners nationwide with an average balance of less than $20,000. Business Direct s credit losses, were
down slightly from second quarter and continued to show signs of stabilization as a result of 18 months of
account management activities targeted at reducing exposure to the highest risk accounts. However,
losses in this portfolio, as in all of our loan portfolios, will continue to be impacted by how the overall
economy performs.

11
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Our remaining commercial and commercial real estate portfolios continued to remain resilient to current
market conditions. Loss levels were flat from the second quarter and remained below historical averages.
Although we are encouraged by the performance of this portfolio, we remain cautious as the economy
weakens. However, we continue to benefit from our focus on deep and long-term relationships, credit
discipline and seasoned credit professionals.

At the end of third quarter, we had approximately $6 billion in residential 1-4 family construction and land
development loans, which was only 1.5 percent of total loans. While losses in this portfolio increased due to
the decline in the residential real estate market, losses remained acceptable because of the quality and
experience of our people and our customers - and we continue to maintain a high level of discipline in our
credit underwriting standards across our commercial and residential real estate businesses.

Total nonperforming assets were $6.3 billion, or 1.53 percent, of loans in the third quarter compared with
$5.2 billion, or 1.31 percent, of loans in the second quarter. The majority of the increase in nonperforming
assets was concentrated in portfolios affected by residential real estate in both our commercial and
consumer portfolios. The nonperforming loan increase in our consumer portfolios continued to be affected
by our loss mitigation efforts. We work hard at keeping our customers in their homes and, as a result, have
increased the number of loan modifications. Accounting rules require us to classify these restructured loans
as nonperforming until the customer demonstrates the ability to make payments under the revised terms.
We require six monthly payments before returning the loan to accrual status. Due to market conditions, we
continued to hold more foreclosed properties than we have historically. The increase in commercial NPAs
was concentrated in credits related to residential real estate and businesses that are dependent on
discretionary consumer spending. Loans 90 days or more past due and still accruing, excluding insured
and guaranteed GNMA and similar loan balances, increased by $364 million from the second quarter. The
increase in the commercial portfolios was driven by maturing credit facilities, primarily to home builders,
that are now in the process of being renewed. Given the current environment this process is more
challenging than in the past, resulting in higher past due loans even though the customer is current.

Capital

Stockholders equity was $47 billion at September 30, 2008, down $609 million from a year ago as we
provided $3.9 billion in excess of net charge-offs over the last four quarters. Our leverage, tier | capital, and
total capital ratios were 7.54 percent, 8.58 percent, and 11.50 percent respectively, all up from year ago
and second quarter levels even with our very strong asset growth and higher credit costs. We continued to
have access to the capital markets during the third quarter, issuing over $2.4 billion in tax deductible hybrid
capital securities through two issuances with 5 year calls. Both issuances were oversubscribed, reflecting
continued strong demand for Wells Fargo securities during a time when the markets remained frozen for
many issuers.
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Summary

In summary, our third quarter results once again demonstrated the diversity and strength of Wells Fargo s
business model and our ability to continue to grow even during these challenging times and to help our
customers succeed financially. Our merger with Wachovia will provide even more opportunities to execute
our vision.

Thank you for listening. If you have any questions, please call Bob Strickland, Director of Investor
Relations, at 415-396-0523.

Where to Find More Information About the Wachovia Merger

The proposed merger will be submitted to Wachovia Corporation shareholders for their consideration. Wells Fargo
will file with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-4 that will include a proxy statement of Wachovia
Corporation that also constitutes a prospectus of Wells Fargo. Wachovia Corporation will mail the proxy
statement-prospectus to its shareholders. Wachovia shareholders and other investors are urged to read the final proxy
statement-prospectus when it becomes available because it will describe the proposed merger and contain other
important information. You may obtain copies of all documents filed with the SEC regarding the proposed merger,
free of charge, on the SEC s website at www.sec.gov. You may also obtain free copies of these documents by
contacting Wells Fargo or Wachovia, as follows:

Wells Fargo & Company, Investor Relations, MAC A0101-25, 420 Montgomery Street, 2°d Floor, San Francisco,
California 94104-1207, (415) 396-3668.

Wachovia Corporation, Investor Relations, One Wachovia Center, 301 South College Street, Charlotte, North
Carolina 28288, (704) 374-6782.

Wells Fargo and Wachovia and their respective directors and executive officers may be deemed to be participants in
the solicitation of proxies from Wachovia Corporation shareholders in connection with the proposed merger.
Information about Wells Fargo s directors and executive officers and their ownership of Wells Fargo common stock is
contained in the definitive proxy statement for Wells Fargo s 2008 annual meeting of stockholders, as filed by Wells
Fargo with the SEC on Schedule 14A on March 17, 2008. Information about Wachovia s directors and executive
officers and their ownership of Wachovia common stock is contained in the definitive proxy statement for Wachovia s
2008 annual meeting of shareholders, as filed by Wachovia with the SEC on Schedule 14A on March 10, 2008. You
may obtain a free copy of these documents by contacting Wells Fargo or Wachovia at the contact information
provided above. The proxy statement-prospectus for the proposed merger will provide more information about
participants in the solicitation of proxies from Wachovia Corporation shareholders.

###
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I.

The registration statement, of which this proxy statement/prospectus is a part, including the attached appendices and
exhibits, contains additional relevant information about Enterprise and its common stock, Trinity and the combined
company.

Enterprise is required to file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the
SEC. You may read and copy any documents filed by Enterprise at the SEC’s public reference room at 100 F Street,
N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the public reference
room. Enterprise’s filings with the SEC are also available to the public through the SEC’s Internet website at
http://www.sec.gov. You can also find information about Enterprise by visiting Enterprise’s website

at www.enterprisebank.com. Information contained in these websites does not constitute part of this proxy
statement/prospectus.

The SEC allows Enterprise to “incorporate by reference” information into this proxy statement/prospectus. This means
that Enterprise can disclose important information to you by referring you to another document filed separately with
the SEC. The information incorporated by reference is considered to be a part of this proxy statement/prospectus,
except for any information that is superseded by information that is included directly in this proxy
statement/prospectus.

This proxy statement/prospectus incorporates by reference the documents listed below that Enterprise has previously
filed with the SEC (other than the portions of those documents not deemed to be filed). They contain important
information about Enterprise and Enterprise’s financial condition:

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017;

Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A for Enterprise’s 2018 Annual Meeting of Stockholders filed on April 19,
2018;

Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A for Enterprise’s 2018 Annual Meeting of Stockholders filed on March
30, 2018;

Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A for Enterprise’s 2018 Annual Meeting of Stockholders filed on March
14, 2018;

Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q filed for the quarters ended March 31, 2018, June 30, 2018 and September 30, 2018;
Current Reports on Form 8-K and 8-K/A filed on January 22, 2018, January 26, 2018, April 23, 2018, May 2, 2018,
May 4, 2018, May 7, 2018, July 2, 2018, July 23, 2018, July 25, 2018, July 27, 2018, October 22, 2018, November 2,
2018, November 6, 2018, and December 13, 2018; and

The description of Enterprise common stock set forth in Enterprise’s registration statement on Form §-A12B filed on
:April 30, 1998, and registration statement on Form 8-A12G filed on October 6, 1999, including any amendment or
report filed for the purpose of updating any such description, including the form of Enterprise common stock
certificate filed as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this proxy statement/prospectus is a part.
Enterprise incorporates by reference additional documents that it may file with the SEC pursuant to Section 13(a),
13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act between the date of this proxy statement/prospectus and the date of the Special
Meeting (other than the portions of those documents not deemed to be filed). These documents include periodic
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reports, such as Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K,
as well as proxy statements.

Enterprise has supplied all information contained or incorporated by reference in this proxy statement/prospectus
relating to Enterprise. Trinity has supplied all information contained in this proxy statement/prospectus relating to
Trinity.

You can obtain any of the documents incorporated by reference in this proxy statement/prospectus through Enterprise
or from the SEC through the SEC’s Internet website at http://www.sec.gov. Documents incorporated by reference are
available from Enterprise without charge, excluding any exhibits to those documents unless the exhibit is specifically
incorporated by reference as an exhibit in this proxy statement/prospectus. You can obtain documents incorporated by
reference in this proxy statement/prospectus by requesting them in writing or by telephone as specified below:
Enterprise Financial Services Corp

Attention: Mr. Keene S. Turner, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

150 North Meramec

Clayton, MO 63105

Telephone: (314) 725-5500

You will not be charged for any of these documents that you request. In order for you to receive timely delivery of the
documents, you must request them no later than five (5) business days before the date of the Special Meeting. This
means that Trinity shareholders requesting documents must do so by January 28, 2019 in order to receive them before
the Special Meeting. If you request any incorporated documents, Enterprise will mail them to you by first-class mail,
or another equally prompt means, within one (1) business day after it receives your request.

We have not authorized anyone to give any information or make any representation about the Merger Agreement or
the Merger or our companies that is different from, or in addition to, that contained in this proxy statement/prospectus
or in any of the materials that Enterprise has incorporated into this proxy statement/prospectus. Therefore, if anyone
does give you information of this sort, you should not rely on it. If you are in a jurisdiction where offers to exchange
or sell, or solicitations of offers to exchange or purchase, the securities offered by this proxy statement/prospectus or
the solicitation of proxies is unlawful, or if you are a person to whom it is unlawful to direct these types of activities,
then the offer presented in this proxy statement/prospectus does not extend to you. The information contained in this
proxy statement/prospectus speaks only as of the date of this proxy statement/prospectus unless the information
specifically indicates that another date applies.
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INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements of Trinity Capital Corporation:

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017

Consolidated Statements of Operation for the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018 and 2017
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018
and 2017

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity for Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018 and 2017

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of Trinity Capital Corporation:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and
2015

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and
2015

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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TRINITY CAPITAL CORPORATION & SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Unaudited)

(In thousands, except share and per share data)
September December
30,2018 31,2017

ASSETS

Cash and due from banks $11,046 $12,893
Interest-bearing deposits with banks 3,645 22,541
Cash and cash equivalents 14,691 35,434
Investment securities available for sale, at fair value 437,975 468,733

Investment securities held to maturity, at amortized cost (fair value of $7,151 and $7,369 as

of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively) 7,769 7.854
Non-marketable equity securities 5,819 3,617
Loans held for sale, at lower of cost or market 6,815 —

Loans (net of allowance for loan losses of $9,528 and $13,803 as of September 30, 2018

and December 31, 2017, respectively) 695,296 686,341

Bank owned life insurance (“BOLI”) 26,313 25,656
Premises and equipment, net 28,027 28,542
Other real estate owned (“OREQO”), net 5,982 6,432
Deferred tax assets (“DTASs”), net 11,621 10,143
Other assets 13,283 14,781
Total assets $1,253,591 $1,287,533
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Liabilities

Deposits:

Noninterest-bearing $175,655 $161,677
Interest-bearing 921,758 965,670
Total deposits 1,097,413 1,127,347
Borrowings 15,400 2,300
Junior subordinated debt 26,766 36,941
Other liabilities 6,243 15,399
Total liabilities 1,145,822 1,181,987

Stock owned by Employee Stock Ownership Plan (“ESOP”) participants; 723,127 shares an% 5183 $5.961
831,645 shares as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively, at fair value ™’ ’
Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)

Stockholders’ equity
Common stock voting, no par; 20,000,000 shares authorized; 11,660,491 and 11,364,862

shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, 11,660 11,365
respectively

Common stock non-voting, no par; 20,000,000 shares authorized; 8,044,292 shares and

8,286,200 shares issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, 8,044 8,286
respectively
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Additional paid-in capital

Retained earnings

Common stock related to ESOP
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total shareholders’ equity

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

F-2

36,222 35,071
64,093 54,587
(5,183 ) (5,961 )
(12,250 ) (3,763 )
102,586 99,585
$1,253,591 $1,287,533
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TRINITY CAPITAL CORPORATION & SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except per share data)
Interest income:

Loans held for sale
Loans, including fees

Interest and dividends on investment securities:

Taxable

Nontaxable

Other interest income
Total interest income

Interest expense:

Deposits

Borrowings

Junior subordinated debt

Total interest expense

Net interest income

(Benefit) provision for loan losses

Net interest income after benefit for loan losses

Noninterest income:

Mortgage loan servicing fees
Trust and investment services fees
Service charges on deposits

Net gain on sale of OREO

Net gain on sale of loans

Net loss on sale of securities
BOLI income

Mortgage referral fee income
Interchange fees

Other fees

Venture capital investment income
Other noninterest income

Total noninterest income

Noninterest expenses:

Salaries and employee benefits
Occupancy

Data processing

Legal, professional and accounting fees

Change in value of Mortgage servicing rights (“MSRs”) —

Other noninterest expense
Total noninterest expenses

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes

Three Months Nine Months
Ended Ended September
September 30, 30,
2018 2017 2018 2017
$125  $— $167 $—
8,534 9,016 25,272 27,613
1,506 1,665 4,562 5,143
1,042 506 3,127 1,085
78 275 256 574
11,285 11,462 33,384 34,415
424 432 1,255 1,333
131 37 313 114
363 599 1,501 1,912
918 1,068 3,069 3,359
10,367 10,394 30,315 31,056
(1,000 ) (250 ) (1,480 ) (1,220 )
11,367 10,644 31,795 32,276
— 446 - — 1,394
749 643 2,255 1,953
226 202 712 784
191 130 764 800
— — — (1,248 )
218 88 656 271
288 431 874 1,175
507 567 1,593 1,823
301 312 936 984
— — 735 (21 )
18 13 32 85
2,498 2,832 8,557 8,000
5,410 5,668 16,286 17,913
522 553 1,592 1,590
952 1,132 2,894 3,557
488 712 1,540 3,998
677 — 1,406
1,674 2931 5,955 10,010
9,046 11,673 28,267 38,474
4,819 1,803 12,085 1,802
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Provision for income taxes
Net income (loss)
Dividends and discount accretion on preferred shares

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders $3,516

Basic earnings (loss) per common share
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share

1,303
3,516

$0.18
$0.18

1,398
405
$405
$0.02
$0.02

2,579
9,506
$9,506
$0.48
$0.48

3,487
(1,685 )
770
$(2,455)
$(0.16 )
$(0.16 )

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

F-3
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TRINITY CAPITAL CORPORATION & SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(Unaudited)

Three Months
Ended
September 30,
2018 2017
(In thousands)
Net income (loss) $3,516 $405
Other comprehensive income:
Unrealized (loss) gains on securities available for sale (2,418 ) 229

Nine Months
Ended September
30,

2018 2017

$9,506 $(1,685)

(11,415 2,343

Securities losses reclassified into earnings — — — 1,248
Related income tax expense (benefit) 620 (106 ) 2,928 (1,436 )
Other comprehensive (loss) income (1,798 ) 123 (8,487 ) 2,155
Total comprehensive income (loss) $1,718 $528 $1,019 $470

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

F-4
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TRINITY CAPITAL CORPORATION & SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(Unaudited)

Balance, December 31,
2016

Net loss

Other comprehensive
income

Redemption of Series A
preferred shares
Redemption of Series B
preferred shares
Dividends declared on
preferred shares

Series C preferred shares
converted to non-voting
common stock

Common stock issued for
board compensation
Amortization of preferred
stock issuance costs
Restricted stock units
(“RSUs”) vested

RSUs compensation
expense

Balance, September 30,
2017

Continued next page

F-5

Common stock

Held Accumulated Common
Voting m Non-votinEreferred Alet.lonal Retained Other .Stock Total ,
reasulrgf, Paid-in ) Comprehenmﬁe Stockholders
Issued sued  Stock . Earnings elated .
at Capital Income Equity
to ESOP
cost (Loss)
$9,509 § —$— $74,007 $(1,373 ) $60,651 $ (5,495 ) $(3,192) $134,107
(1,685 ) (1,685 )
2,155 2,155
(35,539) (35,539 )
1,777 ) 1,777 )
372 ) (372 )
8,286 (37,089 ) 28,803 —
40 153 193
398 398 ) —
17 17 —
91 91
$9,566 $ —$8,2806 $— $27,657 $58,196 $ (3,340 ) $(3,192) $97,173
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Balance, December 31,
2017

Net income

Other comprehensive loss
Rights offering costs
Common stock issued to
board

ESOP distributions

RSU compensation expense
Common stock issued for
vested RSUs

Conversion from non-voting 249

to voting common stock
Balance, September 30,
2018
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Common stock

Held Accumulated Common
Voting m Non-votingdrefe Agdlt.lonal Retained Other . Stock Total ,
Treasulrgf, ald-in ) Comprehensnﬁ Stockholders
Issued sued Stock . Earnings elated .
at Capital Income Equity
to ESOP
cost (Loss)
$11,365 % —$8286 $ —$35071 $54,587 $(3,763 ) $(5,961) $99,585
9,506 9,506
(8,487 ) (8,487 )
2 ) 2 )
17 115 132
778 778
1,105 1,105
36 (67 ) (31 )

242 ) —

$11,660 $§ —$8,044 $ —$36,222 $64,093 $(12,250 ) $(5,183) $102,586

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

F-6
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TRINITY CAPITAL CORPORATION & SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited)

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Benefit for loan losses
Net loss on sale of investment securities
Net gain on sale of loans
Gains and write-downs on OREOQO, net
Loss (gain) on disposal of premises and equipment
Decrease in deferred income tax assets
Change in escrow liabilities
Change in value of MSRs
BOLI income
Compensation expense recognized for restricted stock units
Decrease in accrued interest payable on sub debt
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Other assets
Other liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities before origination and gross sales of loans held
for sale
Gross sales of loans held for sale
Origination of loans held for sale
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Continued next page

F-7

Nine Months
Ended September
30,

2018 2017
(Dollars in
thousands)
$9,506 $(1,685)

5,778 5,104
(1,480 ) (1,220 )
— 1,248

(713 ) (166 )

5 37 )
1,451 1,081
(5,306 ) 712

— 1,406
(656 ) (271 )
1,105 91

— (9,676 )
731 4,703

(3,849 ) (2,158 )
6,572 (868 )

$6,572 $(868 )
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TRINITY CAPITAL CORPORATION & SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS CONTINUED
(Unaudited)

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Proceeds from maturities and paydowns of investment securities, available for sale
Proceeds from sale of investment securities, available for sale
Purchase of investment securities, available for sale
Purchase of investment securities, other
Proceeds from maturities and paydowns of investment securities, held to maturity
Proceeds from sale of investment securities, other
Purchase bank owned life insurance
Proceeds from sale of other real estate owned
Loans paid down (funded), net
Purchases of premises and equipment
Proceeds from sale of premises and equipment
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Net increase (decrease) in demand deposits, NOW accounts and savings accounts
Net decrease in time deposits
Partial repayment of subordinated debt
Proceeds from issuance of short-term borrowings
Redemption of preferred stock
Decrease in dividends payable on preferred stock
Issuance of common stock
Net cash used in (provided by) financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents:
Beginning of period
End of period
Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information
Cash payments for:
Interest
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Transfers from loans to other real estate owned
Sales of other real estate owned financed by loans by the Bank
Transfer from loans to loans held for sale
Transfer from venture capital to loans
Conversion of Series C preferred stock to non-voting common stock
Dividends declared on preferred stock
Conversion of non-voting common stock to voting common stock

Nine Months
Ended September
30,

2018 2017
(Dollars in
thousands)

$36,370 $38,647
— 56,543
(21,824 ) (92,437 )
(1,479 ) (2 )

72 884
— 33
2,358 3,251

(15,316 ) 48,608
(450 ) (3,907 )
1 69

(268 ) 51,689

(3,954 ) (2,770 )
(25,982 ) (37,331)

(10,310 ) —
13,100 —
— (37,316 )
— (12,965 )
99 193

(27,047 ) (90,189 )
(20,743 ) (39,368 )

35,434 119,335
$14,691 $79,967

$3,412  $13,118
1,467 2,848
315 —
6,815 —

— 150

— 37,089
— 373
242 —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Note 1. Basis of Presentation

Consolidation: The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements include the consolidated balances and

results of operations of Trinity Capital Corporation (“Trinity” or the “Company”) and its wholly owned subsidiaries: Los
Alamos National Bank (the “Bank”) and TCC Advisors Corporation (“TCC Advisors”), collectively referred to as the
“Company.” Trinity Capital Trust I (“Trust I"’), Trinity Capital Trust III (“Trust III"’), Trinity Capital Trust IV (“Trust IV”’) and
Trinity Capital Trust V (“Trust V), collectively referred to as the “Trusts,” are trust subsidiaries of Trinity. Trinity owns

all of the outstanding common securities of the Trusts. The Trusts are considered variable interest entities (“VIEs”)

under Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 810, “Consolidation.” Because Trinity is not the primary
beneficiary of the Trusts, the financial statements of the Trusts are not included in the consolidated financial

statements of the Company. TCC Advisors Corporation and Trust I were dissolved in March 2018.

Basis of presentation: The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the
Company and its subsidiaries. Significant intercompany items and transactions have been eliminated in

consolidation. The accounting and reporting policies of the Company conform to accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) and general practices within the financial services industry. In
preparing the financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the balance sheet and revenues and expenses for the year then

ended. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP for
financial information and with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. Accordingly,
they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete financial statements. In the
opinion of management, the statements reflect all adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of the financial
position, results of operations and cash flows of the Company on a consolidated basis, and all such adjustments are of
a normal recurring nature. These financial statements and the notes thereto should be read in conjunction with the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 (the “2017 Form 10-K”). Operating
results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may
be expected for the year ending December 31, 2018 or any other period.

Reclassifications: Some items in the prior year financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current
presentation. Reclassifications had no effect on prior year net income or shareholders’ equity.

Note 2. Earnings (Loss) Per Share Data

Average number of shares used in calculation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per common share were as follows
for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017:

Three Months Nine Months
Ended September Ended September

30, 30,

2018 2017 2018 2017

(In thousands, except share data)
Net income (loss) $3,516 $ 405 $9,506 $ (1,685 )
Dividends and discount accretion on preferred shares — — — 770
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders $3,516 $ 405 $9,506 $ (2,455 )
Weighted average common shares issued 19,702,111M0539,689 19,685,998647,178
LESS: Weighted average treasury stock shares — — — —
Weighted average common shares outstanding, net 19,702,11M0539,689 19,685,998647,178
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Basic earnings (loss) per common share $0.18 $ 0.02 $0.48 $(0.16 )
Dilutive effect of stock-based compensation 255,54113,134 244.759—
Weighted average common shares outstanding including dilutive shares 19,957,6151,552,823 19,930, 71%7647,178
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share $0.18 $ 0.02 $0.48 $(0.16 )
F-9

30



Edgar Filing: WACHOVIA CORP NEW - Form 425

Certain restricted stock units (“RSUs”) were not included in the above calculation, as they would have had an
anti-dilutive effect. There were no shares excluded from the calculation for the three months ended September 30,
2018 and September 30, 2017. There were no shares excluded from the calculation for the nine months ended
September 30, 2018. The total number of excluded shares relating to such RSUs was approximately 97,000 shares for
the nine months ended September 30, 2017.

Note 3. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Newly effective standards: In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting
Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). This update requires an
entity to recognize revenue as performance obligations are met, in order to reflect the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration the entity is entitled to receive for those goods or
services. The following steps are applied in the updated guidance: (1) identify the contract(s) with a customer; (2)
identify the performance obligations in the contract; (3) determine the transaction price; (4) allocate the transaction
price to the performance obligations in the contract; and (5) recognize revenue when, or as, the entity satisfies a
performance obligation. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Topic 606) — Deferral of the Effective Date. This update deferred the effective date of ASU 2014-09 by
one year, making it effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017 including interim
reporting periods within that reporting period. The Company’s revenue is primarily comprised of net interest income
on financial assets and liabilities, which is explicitly excluded from the scope of this guidance, and non-interest
income. The Company has reviewed non-interest income, such as deposit fees, assets management and investment
advisory fees, OREO gains and losses on sale, and credit card interchange fees. The Company completed its overall
assessment of revenue streams and related contracts affected by the guidance and adopted ASC 606 on January 1,
2018 with no impact on total shareholders’ equity or net income.

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities (Topic 825). The amendments in this update require that public entities measure equity investments with
readily determinable fair values, at fair value, with changes in their fair value recorded through net income. This ASU
clarifies that an entity should evaluate the need for a valuation allowance on a deferred tax asset (“DTA”) related to
available for sale securities in combination with the entity’s other DTA. This ASU also prescribes an exit price be used
to determine the fair value of financial instruments not measured at fair value for disclosure in the fair value note. The
amendments within the update are effective for fiscal years and all interim periods beginning after December 15,
2017. The Company has determined that the evaluation of DTA valuation allowance and the exit price for financial
instruments are within scope for the Company. The Company adopted this standard on January 1, 2018 and used a
third-party to provide the exit pricing for Note 16, Fair Value Measurements, as required under ASU 2016-01. The
adoption of ASU 2016-01 did not have an impact on the Company’s financial statements.

In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-09, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718). ASU 2017-09 was
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within those fiscal years. This
ASU provides clarity on the guidance related to stock compensation when there have been changes to the terms or
conditions of a share-based payment award to which an entity would be required to apply modification accounting
under ASC 718. The ASU provides the three following criteria must be met in order to not account for the effect of
the modification of terms or conditions: the fair value, the vesting conditions and the classification as an equity or
liability instrument of the modified award is the same as the original award immediately before the original award is
modified. The Company adopted ASU 2017-09 on January 1, 2018. The adoption of ASU 2017-09 did not have a
material impact on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

Newly Issued But Not Effective Accounting Standards: In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases
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(Topic 842). ASU 2016-02 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods
within those periods using a modified retrospective approach and early adoption is permitted. This ASU requires a
lessee to record a right-to-use asset and liability representing the obligation to make lease payments for long-term
leases. It is expected that assets and liabilities will increase based on the present value of remaining lease payments
for leases in place at the adoption date; however, this is not expected to be material to the Company’s results of
operations or
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financial position. The Company continues to evaluate the extent of potential impact the new guidance will have on
the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of
Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019,
including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company has created an internal committee focused on the
implementation of ASU 2016-13 and is currently in the process of evaluating data needs and the effects of ASU
2016-13 on its financial statements and disclosures. The Company is also working with a third-party allowance for
loan and lease losses (“ALLL”) software provider to help with implementation.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework -
Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement. The amendments in this update modify the
disclosure requirements for fair value measurements by removing, modifying, or adding certain disclosures. The
update is effective for interim and annual periods in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, with early
adoption permitted for the removed disclosures and delayed adoption until fiscal year 2020 permitted for the new
disclosures. The removed and modified disclosures will be adopted on a retrospective basis, and the new disclosures
will be adopted on a prospective basis. The adoption will not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

Note 4. Restrictions on Cash and Due From Banks

The Bank is required to maintain reserve balances in cash or on deposit with the Board of Governors of the Federal
Reserve System (“FRB”), based on a percentage of deposits. As of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the
reserve requirement on deposit at the FRB was $0 due to the small balance of demand deposits and the balances
maintained at the FRB.

Restricted cash included in “cash and due from banks” on the Consolidated Balance Sheets was $100 thousand and $0 at
September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. This restricted cash is maintained at a bank as collateral
for our credit card portfolio.

The Company maintains some of its cash in bank deposit accounts at financial institutions other than its subsidiaries
that, at times, may exceed federally insured limits. The Company may lose all uninsured balances if one of the
correspondent banks fails without warning. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts. The
Company believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk on cash and cash equivalents as the Company reviews
this risk on a quarterly basis.
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Note 5. Investment Securities
Amortized cost and fair values of investment securities are summarized as follows:

AmortizedGrOSS Gross Fair
Securities Available for Sale: Unrealized Unrealized
Cost ] Value
Gains Losses

(In thousands)
September 30, 2018

U.S. government sponsored agencies $69,300 $ — $(2,296 ) $67,004
State and political subdivisions 162,628 30 (5,114 ) 157,544
Residential mortgage backed securities 95,703 37 (2,097 ) 93,643
Residential collateralized mortgage obligations 15,119 48 (188 ) 14,979
Commercial mortgage backed securities 109,725 — (5,388 ) 104,337
SBA pools 486 — (18 ) 468
Totals $452,961 $ 115 $(15,101) $437,975
December 31, 2017
U.S. government sponsored agencies $69,315 $ — $(764 ) $68,551
State and political subdivisions 157,652 1,306 (252 ) 158,706
Residential mortgage backed securities 124,578 98 (1,593 ) 123,083
Residential collateralized mortgage obligations 9,715 51 (80 ) 9,686
Commercial mortgage backed securities 110,483 67 (2,388 ) 108,162
SBA pools 560 — (15 ) 545
Totals $472,303 $ 1,522 $(5,092 ) $468,733
. Gross Gross .
Securities Held to Maturity Amortlzﬁélrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost . Value
Gains Losses

(In thousands)
September 30, 2018

SBA pools $7,769 $ —$ (618 ) $7.151
Totals $7,769 $ —$ (618 ) $7,151
December 31, 2017

SBA pools $7.854 $ —$ (485 ) $7,369
Totals $7.854 $ —3$ (485 ) $7,369

Realized net gains (losses) on sale and call of securities available for sale are summarized as follows:

Three Nine
Months Months
Ended Ended
SeptembSeptember
30, 30,
202817 202817
(In thousands)
Gross realized gains $-$% —$-$6
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Gross realized losses ——  —(1,254 )
Net gains (losses)  $-$ —$-$(1,248)

There was no tax benefit for the three or nine months ended September 30, 2018 related to net realized gains and
losses. There was no tax benefit for the three months ended September 30, 2017 and a tax benefit of $482 thousand
related to these net realized gains and losses for the nine months ended September 30, 2017.
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A summary of unrealized loss information for investment securities, categorized by security type, as of September 30,
2018 and December 31, 2017 was as follows:

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Longer Total

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses

(In thousands)

Securities Available for Sale:
September 30, 2018

U.S. government sponsored agencies $26,449 $(834 ) $41,023 $(1,462 ) $67,472 $(2,296 )
State and political subdivisions 111,103 (3,551 ) 36,527 (1,563 ) 147,630 (5,114 )
Residential mortgage backed securities 27,367 (653 ) 59,894 (1,444 ) 87,261 (2,097 )
Residential collateralized mortgage obligations 6,855 (52 ) 4,234 (136 ) 11,089 (188 )
Commercial mortgage backed securities 19,370 (614 ) 84,965 (4,774 ) 104,335 (5,388 )
SBA pools — — 468 (18 ) 468 (18 )
Totals $191,144 $ (5,704 ) $227,111 $(9,397 ) $418,255 $(15,101)
December 31, 2017

U.S. government sponsored agencies $49,070 $(331 ) $19,481 $@433 ) $68,551 $(764 )
State and political subdivisions 23,217 (95 ) 24,774 (157 ) 47,991 (252 )
Residential mortgage backed securities 18,771 (199 ) 88,100 (1,394 ) 106,871 (1,593 )
Residential collateralized mortgage obligations 4,761 (67 ) 3,502 (13 ) 8,263 (80 )
Commercial mortgage backed securities 6,961 (94 ) 81,042 (2,294 ) 88,003 (2,388 )
SBA pools — — 545 (15 ) 545 (15 )
Totals $102,780 $ (786 ) $217,444 $ (4,306 ) $320,224 $(5,092 )

Securities Held to Maturity:
September 30, 2018

SBA pools $— $— $7,151 $(618 ) $7,151 $(618 )
Totals $— $— $7,151 $(618 ) $7,151 $(618 )
December 31, 2017

SBA pools $— $— $7,369 $485 ) $7,369 $(485 )
Totals $— $— $7,369 $@485 ) $7,369 $485 )

As of September 30, 2018, the Company’s security portfolio consisted of 152 securities, 131 of which were in an
unrealized loss position. As of September 30, 2018, $441.1 million in investment securities had unrealized losses with
aggregate depreciation of 3.44% of the Company’s amortized cost basis. Of these securities, $244.3 million had a
continuous unrealized loss position for twelve months or longer with an aggregate depreciation of 3.94%. The
unrealized losses relate principally to the general change in interest rates and illiquidity, and not credit quality, that has
occurred since the securities purchase dates, and such unrecognized losses or gains will continue to vary with general
interest rate level fluctuations in the future. As management does not intend to sell the securities, and it is likely that it
will not be required to sell the securities before their anticipated recovery, no declines are deemed to be other than
temporary.

The amortized cost and fair value of investment securities, as of September 30, 2018, by contractual maturity are

shown below. Maturities may differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or
prepay obligations with or without penalties.
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. Held to
Available for Sale Maturity
AmortizedFair AmortizEdir
Cost Value Cost  Value
(In thousands)
One year or less $201 $200 $—  $—
One to five years 71,007 68,699 — —
Five to ten years 3,209 3,189 — —
Over ten years 157,997 152,928 7,769 7,151
Subtotal 232,414 225,016 7,769 17,151
Residential mortgage backed securities 95,703 93,643 — —
Residential collateralized mortgage obligations 15,119 14,979 — —
Commercial mortgage backed securities 109,725 104,337 — —
Total $452,961 $437,975 $7,769 $7,151

Securities with carrying amounts of $100.3 million and $87.4 million as of September 30, 2018 and December 31,
2017, respectively, were pledged as collateral on public deposits and for other purposes as required or permitted by
law.

Note 6. Loans and Allowance for Loan Losses
As of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, loans consisted of:

September December

30,2018 31,2017

(In thousands)
Commercial $63,539 $61,388
Commercial real estate 404,790 378,802
Residential real estate 155,118 178,296
Construction real estate 72,550 63,569
Installment and other 9,998 18,952

Total loans 705,995 701,007
Unearned income (1,171 ) (863 )
Gross loans 704,824 700,144
Allowance for loan losses (9,528 ) (13,803 )
Net loans $695,296 $686,341

Loan Origination/Risk Management. The Company has certain lending policies and procedures in place that are
designed to maximize loan income within an acceptable level of risk. Management and the Board of Directors review
and approve these policies and procedures on an annual basis. A reporting system supplements the review process by
providing management with reports related to loan production, loan quality, concentrations of credit, loan
delinquencies and non-performing and potential problem loans. Management has identified the following categories
in its loan portfolios:

Commercial loans: These loans are underwritten after evaluating and understanding the borrower’s ability to operate
profitably and prudently expand its business. Underwriting standards are designed to promote relationship banking
rather than transactional banking. Management examines current and projected cash flows to determine the ability of
the borrower to repay their obligations as agreed. Commercial loans are primarily made based on the identified cash
flows of the borrower and secondarily on the underlying collateral provided by the borrower. The cash flows of
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borrowers, however, may not be as expected and the collateral securing these loans may fluctuate in value. Most
commercial and industrial loans are secured by the assets being financed or other business assets such as accounts
receivable or inventory and may incorporate a personal guarantee; however, some short-term loans may be made on
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an unsecured basis. In the case of loans secured by accounts receivable, the availability of funds for the repayment of
these loans may be substantially dependent on the ability of the borrower to collect amounts due from its customers.

Commercial real estate loans: These loans are subject to underwriting standards and processes similar to commercial
loans, in addition to those of other real estate loans. These loans are viewed primarily as cash flow loans and
secondarily as loans secured by real estate. Commercial real estate lending typically involves higher original amounts
than other types of loans and the repayment of these loans is generally dependent on the successful operation of the
property securing the loan or the business conducted on the property securing the loan. Commercial real estate loans
may be more adversely affected by conditions in the real estate markets or in the general economy. The properties
securing the Company’s commercial real estate portfolio are geographically concentrated in the markets in which the
Company operates. Management monitors and evaluates commercial real estate loans based on collateral, location
and risk grade criteria. The Company also utilizes third-party sources to provide insight and guidance about economic
conditions and trends affecting market areas it serves. In addition, management tracks the level of owner-occupied
commercial real estate loans versus non-owner occupied loans. As of September 30, 2018, 24.8% of the outstanding
principal balances of the Company’s commercial real estate loans were secured by owner-occupied properties.

With respect to loans to developers and builders that are secured by non-owner occupied properties that the Company
may originate from time to time, the Company generally requires the borrower to have had an existing relationship
with the Company and have a proven record of success.

Construction real estate loans: These loans are underwritten utilizing feasibility studies, independent appraisal
reviews, sensitivity analysis of absorption and lease rates and financial analysis of the developers and property
owners. Construction real estate loans are generally based upon estimates of costs and values associated with the
completed project and often involve the disbursement of substantial funds with repayment substantially dependent on
the success of the ultimate project. Sources of repayment for these types of loans may be pre-committed permanent
loans from approved long-term lenders, sales of developed property or an interim loan commitment from the
Company until permanent financing is obtained. These loans are monitored by on-site inspections and are considered
to have higher risks than other real estate loans due to their ultimate repayment being sensitive to interest rate changes,
governmental regulation of real property, general economic conditions and the availability of long-term financing.

Residential real estate loans: Underwriting standards for residential real estate and home equity loans are heavily
influenced by statutory requirements, which include, but are not limited to, maximum loan-to-value levels,
debt-to-income levels, collection remedies, the number of such loans a borrower can have at one time and
documentation requirements.

Installment loans: The Company originates consumer loans utilizing a credit scoring analysis to supplement the
underwriting process. To monitor and manage consumer loan risk, policies and procedures are developed and
modified, as needed. This activity, coupled with relatively small loan amounts that are spread across many individual
borrowers, minimizes risk. Additionally, trend and outlook reports are reviewed by management on a regular basis.

The loan review process complements and reinforces the risk identification and assessment decisions made by lenders
and credit personnel, as well as the Company’s policies and procedures, which include periodic internal reviews and
reports to identify and address risk factors developing within the loan portfolio. The Company engages external
independent loan reviews that assess and validate the credit risk program on a periodic basis. Results of these reviews
are presented to and reviewed by management and the Board of Directors.
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The following table presents the contractual aging of the recorded investment in current and past due loans by
category of loans as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, including nonaccrual loans:

September 30, 2018
Commercial
Commercial real estate
Residential real estate
Construction real estate
Installment and other
Total loans

Nonaccrual loan classification, included above

December 31, 2017
Commercial
Commercial real estate
Residential real estate
Construction real estate
Installment and other
Total loans

Nonaccrual loan classification, included above $3,858

30-59
Days
Past
Due

60-89
Days
Past
Due

Current

(In thousands)
$63,512 $27
403,507 920
151,872 1,811
72,178 334
9,860 47 —
$700,929 $3,139 $266

$4,888  $1,895 $266

$59,703
371,640
174,388 1,899
59,291 423 74
18,705 80 81

$173
5,490

$1,475

Loans
Past
Due
90
Days
or
More

$—
363
1,169
38

91
$1,661

$1,661

$37
1,672
2,009
3,781
86

Total
Past
Due

$27
1,283
3,246
372
138
$5,066

$3,822

$1,685
7,162
3,908
4,278
247

Total

$63,539
404,790
155,118
72,550
9,998
$705,995

$8,710

$61,388
378,802
178,296
63,569
18,952

$683,727 $8,065 $1,630 $7,585 $17,280 $701,007

$5,859 $38

$7,585 $13,482 $17,340

The following table presents the recorded investment in nonaccrual loans and loans past due 90 days or more and still
accruing interest by category of loans as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017:

Sg;l)tgember 30, December 31, 2017
Loans Loans
Past Due Past Due
90 Days 90 Days
NonaccromMore Nonaccrualr More
and Still and Still
Accruing Accruing
Interest Interest
(In thousands)
Commercial $603 $ —$102 $ —
Commercial real estate 3,717 — 8,617 —
Residential real estate 4,125 — 4,599 —
Construction real estate 165 — 3911 —
Installment and other 100 — 111 —
Total $8,710 $ —$17,340 $ —
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The Company utilizes an internal asset classification system as a means of reporting problem and potential problem
loans. Under the Company’s risk rating system, problem and potential problem loans are classified as “Special
Mention,” “Substandard,” and “Doubtful.” Loans that do not currently expose the Company to sufficient risk to warrant
classification in one of the aforementioned categories, but possess weaknesses that deserve management’s close
attention are deemed to be Special Mention. Substandard loans include those characterized by the likelihood that the
Company will sustain some loss if the deficiencies are not corrected. Loans classified as Doubtful have all the
weaknesses inherent in those classified as Substandard with the added characteristic that the weaknesses present make

F-16

42



Edgar Filing: WACHOVIA CORP NEW - Form 425

collection or liquidation in full, on the basis of currently existing facts, conditions and values, highly questionable and
improbable. Any time a situation warrants, the risk rating may be reviewed.

Loans not meeting the criteria above that are analyzed individually are considered to be pass-rated loans. The
following table presents the risk category by category of loans based on the most recent analysis performed as of
September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017:

Pass Spem‘al Substandard Doubtful Total
Mention

September 30, 2018 (In thousands)
Commercial $58,035 $3,779 $ 1,725 $ —$63,539
Commercial real estate 384,653 3,592 16,545 — 404,790
Residential real estate 149,033 663 5,422 — 155,118
Construction real estate 71,549 876 125 — 72,550
Installment and other 9,900 — 98 — 9,998
Total $673,170 $8,910 $ 23,915 $ —$705,995
December 31, 2017
Commercial $58,769 $2 $ 2,617 $ —$61,388
Commercial real estate 359,768 4,762 14,272 — 378,802
Residential real estate 172,101 — 6,195 — 178,296
Construction real estate 56,661 917 5,991 — 63,569
Installment and other 18,523 — 429 — 18,952
Total $665,822 $5,681 $ 29,504 $ —$701,007

The following table shows all loans, including nonaccrual loans, by risk category and aging as of September 30, 2018
and December 31, 2017:

Pass Spea.a 1 Substandard Doubtful Total
Mention

September 30, 2018 (In thousands)
Current $671,996 $8,910 $ 20,023 $ —$700,929
Past due 30-59 days 1,174 — 1,965 — 3,139
Past due 60-89 days — — 266 — 266
Past due 90 days or more — — 1,661 — 1,661
Total $673,170 $8,910 $ 23915 $ —$705,995
December 31, 2017
Current $662,445 $ 5,681 $ 15,601 $ —$683,727
Past due 30-59 days 1,785 — 6,280 — 8,065
Past due 60-89 days 1,592 — 38 — 1,630
Past due 90 days or more — — 7,585 — 7,585
Total $665,822 $5,681 $ 29,504 $ —$701,007

As of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, nonaccrual loans totaling $7.2 million and $17.3 million were
classified as Substandard, respectively.
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The following table presents loans individually evaluated for impairment by category of loans as of September 30,
2018 and December 31, 2017, showing the unpaid principal balance, the recorded investment of the loan (reflecting
any loans with partial charge-offs), and the amount of allowance for loan losses specifically allocated for these
impaired loans (if any):

September 30, 2018 December 31, 2017

Unpaid Allowance Unpaid Allowance
.p . - Recorded for Loan .p . Recorded for Loan
Principal Principal
Balance Investment Losses Balance Investment Losses
Allocated Allocated

(In thousands)
With no related allowance recorded:

Commercial $110 $110 $184 $182
Commercial real estate 6,494 3,517 4294 4,154

Residential real estate 5,948 5,032 6,585 5,808
Construction real estate 1,889 1,863 7,471 6,049

Installment and other 293 292 349 348

With an allowance recorded:

Commercial 13,671 13,669 $ 321 13,361 13,359 $ 211
Commercial real estate 5,870 5,870 851 10,987 10,987 3,735
Residential real estate 5,344 5,343 943 6,774 6,774 943
Construction real estate 1,161 1,161 42 3,244 3,244 231
Installment and other 240 240 34 236 236 32
Total $41,020 $37,097 $ 2,191 $53,485 $ 51,141 $ 5,152

The table above includes $31.6 million of troubled debt restructurings at September 30, 2018 and $38.9 million of
troubled debt restructurings at December 31, 2017.

The following table presents loans individually evaluated for impairment by class of loans for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, showing the average recorded investment and the interest income
recognized:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, 2018 September 30, 2017 September 30, 2018 September 30, 2017
Average Interest ~ Average Interest ~ Average Interest Average Interest
RecordedIncome  Recordedlncome  Recordedlncome RecordedIncome
InvestmelRecognizedInvestmelecognizedInvestmeiRecognized InvestmeilRecognized

(In thousands)
With no related allowance
recorded:
Commercial $112  $ 2 $6,834 $ 184 $167 $4 $4,411 $ 543
Commercial real estate 3,241 27 5,133 99 5,231 80 5,084 295
Residential real estate 5,033 32 4,712 54 6,962 94 4,586 162
Construction real estate 3,330 22 7,397 104 6,046 66 7,189 308
Installment and other 296 3 399 5 416 10 353 14
With an allowance recorded:
Commercial 13,487 210 7,547 22 17,866 622 10,741 66
Commercial real estate 6,144 64 6,350 69 9,916 189 6,352 205
Residential real estate 5,434 58 7,695 81 8,094 173 8,019 240
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1,255 13 3,302 43 2,987 40
239 2 289 2 319 6
$38,571 $ 433 $49,658 $ 663 $58,004 $ 1,284

3,755 129
347 7
$50,837 $ 1,969
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If nonaccrual loans outstanding had been current in accordance with their original terms, approximately $118
thousand and $197 thousand would have been recorded as loan interest income during the three months ended
September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and $222 thousand and $585 thousand during the nine months ended
September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Interest income recognized on a cash basis was not material.

Recorded investment balances in the above tables exclude accrued interest income and unearned income as such
amounts were immaterial.
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Allowance for Loan Losses:

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, activity in the allowance for loan losses was as

follows:

Three Months Ended September 30,

2018:
Beginning balance
Provision (benefit) for loan losses

Charge-offs

Recoveries

Net recoveries (charge-offs)
Ending balance

Three Months Ended September 30,

2017:
Beginning balance
Provision (benefit) for loan losses

Charge-offs

Recoveries

Net recoveries (charge-offs)
Ending balance

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018:

Beginning balance

Provision (benefit) for loan losses

Charge-offs

Recoveries

Net recoveries (charge-offs)
Ending balance

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2017:

Beginning balance

Provision (benefit) for loan losses

Charge-offs

Recoveries

Net recoveries (charge-offs)
Ending balance

. .Residential
Colmrner(nal
Commer(ﬁa Real
eal Estate
Estate

(In thousands)
$543 $ 6,583 $2,151
6 (768 ) (86 )
(1 ) — (65 )
25 12 102
24 12 37
$573 $ 5,827 $2,102
$1,377 $ 6,205 $ 3,805
(297 ) 461 (117 )
(7 ) (612 ) —
56 88 125
49 (524 ) 125
$1,129 $ 6,142 $3,813
$536 $ 8,573 $2,843
98 (62 ) (799 )
(134 ) (2,736 ) (184 )
73 52 242
(61 ) (2,684 ) 58
$573 $ 5,827 $2,102

$1,449 $ 6,472 $4,524
(356 ) 123 (626 )
(270 ) (639 ) (309 )

306 186 224
36 (453 ) (85 )
$1,129 $ 6,142 $3,813

ConstructionInstallment
Real Estate and Other

$ 732
15

$ 1,117
1,731

(1,385
37
(1,348
$ 1,500

$ 1,030
(120

(212
53
(159
$ 751

$ 1,119
1,739

(1,409
51
(1,358
$ 1,500

$ 131
(30

(21
28

$ 108

$ 635
(2,073

19

2,000
1,981
$ 543

$ 315
(258

(76
127
51

$ 108

$ 715
(2,100

(253

2,181
1,928
$ 543

Unallocated Total

$ 304
(137

$ 167

$ 28
45

$ 73
$ 506
(339
$ 167

$ 73

$ 73

$10,444
(1,000 )

&7 )
171

84
$9,528

$13,167
(250 )

(2,023 )
2,306
283
$13,200

$13,803
(1,480 )

(3,342 )
547
(2,795 )
$9,528

$14,352
(1,220 )

(2,880 )
2,948

68
$13,200
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Allocation of the allowance for loan losses (as well as the total loans in each allocation method), disaggregated on the
basis of the Company’s impairment methodology, is as follows:

. - Residential .
Commer C(immer(:lal Real ConstructionInstallment UnallocatedTotal
C[!{aeal Estate Estate Real Estate and Other

September 30, 2018 (In thousands)
Allowance for loan losses allocated to:
Loan§ individually evaluated for $321 $851 $943 $ 42 $34 § $2.191
impairment
Loan§ collectively evaluated for 252 4.976 1,159 709 74 167 7337
impairment
Ending balance $573  $5,827 $2,102  $751 $108 $ 167 $9,528
Loans:
Individually evaluated for impairment $13,779 $ 9,387 $10,375 $ 3,024 $532 $ — $37,097
Collectively evaluated for impairment 49,760 395,403 144,743 69,526 9,466 — 668,898
Total ending loans balance $63,539 $404,790 $155,118 $72,550 $9,998 $ — $705,995
December 31, 2017
Allowance for loan losses allocated to:
.Loan.s individually evaluated for $211 $3.735 $943 $ 231 $32 § $5.152
impairment
Loans collectively evaluated for 5,5 4 ¢3¢ 1,900 799 283 506 8,651
impairment
Ending balance $536  $8,573 $2,843 $ 1,030 $315 $ 506 $13,803
Loans:
Individually evaluated for impairment $13,541 $ 15,141 $12,582 $9,293 $584 $ — $51,141
Collectively evaluated for impairment 47,847 363,661 165,714 54,276 18,368 — 649,866
Total ending loans balance $61,388 $378,802 $178,296 $ 63,569 $18952 $ — $701,007

Troubled Debt Restructurings:

Troubled debt restructurings (“TDRs”) are defined as those loans where: (1) the borrower is experiencing financial
difficulties and (2) the restructuring includes a concession by the Bank to the borrower.
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The following tables present the loans restructured as TDRs during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017. There were no new TDRs for the three months ended
September 30, 2018.

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2018
NPr —é\{[od%ﬁstaﬁ/ﬁndification Specific
lP)ql}ltstandﬁugstanding P
o Reserves
RecordeRecorded
Allocated

C(Frlltxlfrg(s:tlsném/estment

(Dollars in thousands)

Commercial 3$335 $§ 335 $ 26
Commercial real estate 2 2,356 2,356 —
Residential real estate 2 237 237 —

Total 7 $2,928 $ 2,928 $ 26

Three Months Ended September 30, 2017
Pre-Mbddfidstoohfication

Number of Outstafilitsganding Specific
Reserves
Contracts Recorddcorded Allocated
Investhemstment
(Dollars in thousands)
Commercial 2 $105$ 105 $ 29
Total 2 $105 $ 105 $ 29

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017
Pre-Mbdifidutochfication

Number of Outstafilitsganding Specific
Reserves
Contracts Recordedcorded Allocated
Investihmrgstment
(Dollars in thousands)
Commercial 4 $135$ 135 $ 30
Residential real estate 2 187 187 —
Construction real estate 1 10 10 —
Total 7 $332 §$ 332 $ 30
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The following tables present loans by category modified as TDRs for which there was a payment default within 12

months following the modification during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017. There were
no TDRs with a payment default within 12 months following modification for the three months ended September 30,

2018.

Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2018
Pre-Modification ...
u&htg{anding ccific
o Recorded Reserves
Contracts Allocated
nvestment
(Dollars in thousands)
Residential real estate 1 $ 145 $ —

Total 1$ 145 $ —

Three Months Ended
September 30, 2017

Pr —Modificat'(l))n )

WiRStanding SPecific
of g Reserves

c%ﬁ%%%ged Allocated
nvestment
(Dollars in thousands)
Construction real estate 1 $ 61 $ —
Total 1$ 61 $ —
Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2017
N Pr%é\l/r[ odif aft:icq 1C
l%]jrllltstandirﬁp
of eserves
Recorded
C()[ntracts Allocated
nvestment
(Dollars in
thousands)
Construction real estate 2 $ 807 $ 10

Total 2 $ 807 $ 10

Impairment analyses are prepared on TDRs in conjunction with the normal allowance for loan loss process. TDRs
restructured during the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 required a specific reserve of $0 and $29
thousand, respectively. TDRs restructured during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 required a
specific reserve of $26 thousand and $30 thousand, respectively. TDRs resulted in charge-offs of $0 and $403
thousand during the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. For the nine months ended
September 30, 2018 and 2017, TDRs resulted in charge-offs of $2.8 million and $458 thousand, respectively. The
TDRs that subsequently defaulted required $0 and $10 thousand provision to the allowance for loan losses for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

The following table presents total TDRs, both in accrual and nonaccrual status:
September  December

30, 2018 31, 2017
Amount Amount

52



Edgar Filing: WACHOVIA CORP NEW - Form 425

Number Number

of of

Contracts Contracts

(Dollars in thousands)
Accrual 98 $28,387 108 $33,801
Nonaccrual16 3,250 19 5,146
Total 114 $31,637 127 $38,947

Specific reserves on TDRs at September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017 were $1.9 million and $2.4 million,
respectively.
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As of September 30, 2018, the Bank had a total of $185 thousand in commitments to lend additional funds on one
commercial loan classified as a TDR. As of December 31, 2017, the Bank had a total of $23 thousand in
commitments to lend additional funds on two loans classified as TDRs.

Loans to Executive Officers and Directors

Loan principal balances to executive officers and directors of the Company were $142.4 thousand and $198.4
thousand as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. Total extensions of credit, including
companies in which these individuals have management control or beneficial ownership, were $258.4 thousand and
$324.4 thousand as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. An analysis of the activity related to
these loans as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017 is as follows:

ggf)ten%%rcember

2018 31,2017

(In thousands)
Balance, beginning $198 $ 348
Additions — 13
Changes in composition — (76 )
Principal payments and other reductions (56 ) (87 )
Balance, ending $142 $ 198

Note 7. Loan Servicing and Mortgage Servicing Rights

Mortgage loans serviced for others are not included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The Company’s
mortgage loans serviced for others portfolio was transferred to another Fannie Mae-approved servicer on December
31, 2017.

Note 8. Other Real Estate Owned

OREDO consists of property acquired due to foreclosure on real estate loans. As of September 30, 2018 and December
31, 2017, total OREO consisted of:

ggptemlﬁgcember
2018 31,2017

(In thousands)
Commercial real estate $2,308 $ 1,667
Residential real estate 468 886
Construction real estate 3,206 3,879
Total $5,982 $ 6,432

Loans secured by residential real estate properties for which formal foreclosure proceedings were in process at
September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017 were $547 thousand and $1.4 million, respectively.
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The following table presents a summary of OREO activity for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018
and 2017:

Three Months ~ Nine Months

Ended Ended

September 30, September 30,

2018 2017 2018 2017

(In thousands)
Balance at beginning of period $5,870 $7,085 $6,432 $8,436
Transfers in at fair value 746 2,154 1,467 2,848
Capitalized improvements — — 43 —
Write-down of value — 29 )Y@6 ) (615 )
Gain on disposal 189 124 759 781
Cash received upon disposition (823 ) (1,135 ) (2,358 ) (3,251 )
Sales financed by loans by the Bank — — 315 ) —
Balance at end of period $5,982 $8,199 $5982 $8,199

Note 9. Deposits

As of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, deposits consisted of:
September December
30,2018 31,2017
(In thousands )

Demand deposits, noninterest bearing $175,655 $161,677

NOW 376,405 385,881
Money market accounts 18,976 18,344
Savings deposits 379,213 388,300
Time certificates, $250,000 or more 19,831 21,639
Other time certificates 127,333 151,506
Total $1,097,413 $1,127,347

Deposits from executive officers, directors and their affiliates as of September 30, 2018 were $1.5 million and $2.2
million as of December 31, 2017.

Note 10. Borrowings

Notes payable to the Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”) as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017 were
secured by a blanket assignment of mortgage loans or other collateral acceptable to FHLB, and interest on long-term
borrowings is payable monthly and principal due at end of term, unless otherwise noted. Interest on short-term
borrowings is due on maturity. As of September 30, 2018, there was $337.4 million in collateral value from loans
pledged under the blanket assignment and $59.8 million from investment securities held in safekeeping at the FHLB.
At September 30, 2018, there were $15.4 million in advances outstanding at the FHLB. An additional $381.8 million
in advances is available based on the September 30, 2018 value of the remaining unpledged loans and investment
securities. In the event that short-term liquidity is needed, the Bank has established a relationship with a large
regional bank to provide short-term borrowings in the form of federal funds purchased. The Bank has the ability to
borrow up to $20 million for a short period (15 to 60 days) from this bank.

The following table details borrowings as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017:
Maturity Date Rate ~ Type  Principal Due
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Septembddecember
30, 31,2017
2018

(In thousands)
October 1, 2018 2.450% Variable At maturity ~ $13,100 $ —
April 27,2021 6.343%Fixed Atmaturity 2,300 2,300
Total $15,400 $ 2,300
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Note 11. Junior Subordinated Debt

The following table presents details on the junior subordinated debt as of September 30, 2018:

Trust
I Trust IV Trust V
(dollars in thousands)
May
June 29,  September
Date of Issue 11,
2004 2005 21, 2006
Amount of trust preferred securities issued $6,000 $10,000 $ 10,000
Rate on trust preferred securities 5'02.125 .88000 % 3'98.4 13%
(variable (variable)
. Septembi¥pvember December
Maturity 8, 23, 15. 2036
2034 2035 ’
Septemb&ngust
Date of first redemption 8, 23, fgptze(;rll tl)er
2009 2010 ’
Common equity securities issued $186 $310 $310
Junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures owed  $6,186 $10,310 $ 10,310
Rate on junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures 5'02.125 .88000 % 3'98.4 13%
(variable (variable)

On the dates of issue indicated above, the Trusts, being Delaware statutory business trusts, issued trust preferred
securities (the “trust preferred securities”) in the amounts and at the rates indicated above. These securities represent
preferred beneficial interests in the assets of the Trusts. The trust preferred securities will mature on the dates

indicated, and are redeemable in whole or in part at the option of Trinity, with the approval of the FRB. The Trusts

also issued common equity securities to Trinity in the amounts indicated above. The Trusts used the proceeds of the
offering of the trust preferred securities to purchase junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures (the “debentures™)
issued by Trinity, which have terms substantially similar to the trust preferred securities.

On March 8, 2018, Trinity consummated the early redemption of all $10.3 million principal amount of those certain
Junior Subordinated Deferrable Interest Debentures due 2030 (the “Debt Securities”) issued by Trust I. The Debt
Securities carried an interest rate of 10.875% and were scheduled to mature on March 8, 2030. The Debt Securities
were callable at a redemption rate of 101.088%, plus accrued and unpaid interest, for a total redemption price of
$11.0 million. Prior deferred issuance costs related to Trust I of $131 thousand were realized as other noninterest
expense on the consolidated statement of operations. After the early redemption was consummated, Trust I was
dissolved.

Trinity has the right to defer payments of interest on the debentures at any time or from time to time for a period of up
to ten consecutive semi-annual periods (or twenty consecutive quarterly periods in the case of Trusts with quarterly
interest payments) with respect to each interest payment deferred. During a period of deferral, unpaid accrued interest
is compounded.

Under the terms of the debentures, under certain circumstances of default or if Trinity has elected to defer interest on

the debentures, Trinity may not, with certain exceptions, declare or pay any dividends or distributions on its common
stock or purchase or acquire any of its common stock.
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As of September 30, 2018, there was $109 thousand in interest accrued and unpaid to security holders.

As of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the Company’s trust preferred securities, subject to certain
limitations, qualified as Tier 1 Capital for regulatory capital purposes.

Payments of distributions on the trust preferred securities and payments on redemption of the trust preferred securities
are guaranteed by Trinity. Trinity also entered into an agreement as to expenses and liabilities with the Trusts
pursuant to which it agreed, on a subordinated basis, to pay any costs, expenses or liabilities of the Trusts other than
those arising under the trust preferred securities. The obligations of Trinity under the junior subordinated debentures,
the related indenture, the trust agreement establishing the Trusts, the guarantee and the agreement as to expenses and
liabilities,
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in the aggregate, constitute a full and unconditional guarantee by Trinity of the Trusts’ obligations under the trust
preferred securities.

Note 12. Income Taxes

For the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, the Company recorded a tax expense of $1.3 million and
$1.4 million, respectively. For the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, the Company recorded a tax
expense of $2.6 million and $3.5 million, respectively. The expense recorded for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2018 includes an increase to the DTA valuation allowance of $347 thousand. The expense recorded for
the nine months ended September 30, 2017 includes an increase to the DTA valuation allowance of $2.0 million.

Items causing differences between the Federal statutory tax rate and the effective tax rate are summarized as follows:

Three Months Nine Months
Ended Ended
September 30, September 30,
2018 2018
(In thousands)
Federal statutory tax rate $1,013 21 % $2,538 21 %
State income tax, net of federal benefit 196 4 9% 476 4 %
Net tax exempt interest income 210 ) @)% (631 ) 5)%
Other, net 43 ) 1)% (151 ) 5)%
Tax provision before change in valuation allowance 956 20 % 2,232 18 %
Change in valuation allowance 347 7 % 347 3 %
Provision for income taxes $1,303 27 % $2,579 21 %
Three Months Nine Months
Ended Ended
September 30, September 30,
2017 2017
(In thousands)
Federal statutory tax rate $613 34 % $613 34 %
State income tax, net of federal benefit 66 4 9 235 13 %
Net tax exempt interest income (108 ) 6)% (372 ) 21 )%
Other, net 73 ) (4)% 998 56 %
Tax provision before change in valuation allowance 498 28 % 1474 82 %
Change in valuation allowance 900 50 % 2,013 112 %
Provision for income taxes $1,398 78 % $3,487 194 %

A DTA or deferred tax liability is recognized to reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income
tax reporting purposes. A valuation allowance is established when it is more likely than not that all or a portion of a
net deferred tax asset will not be realized. In evaluating its DTA as of September 30, 2018, it was determined that it
was more likely than not that a portion of the Company’s federal and state tax credit carryforwards would expire
unrealized and that $347 thousand should be added to the valuation allowance due to an analysis of the venture capital
investments DTA balance. Accordingly the DTA valuation increased by $347 thousand during the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2018. The valuation balance as of September 30, 2018 was $2.7 million.

Note 13. Commitments and Off-Balance-Sheet Activities
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Credit-related financial instruments: The Company is a party to credit-related commitments with off-balance-sheet
risk in the normal course of business to meet the financing needs of its customers. These credit-related commitments
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include commitments to extend credit, standby letters of credit and commercial letters of credit. Such credit-related
commitments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit and interest rate risk in excess of the amount recognized
in the consolidated balance sheets.

The Company’s exposure to credit loss is represented by the contractual amount of these credit-related
commitments. The Company follows the same credit policies in making credit-related commitments as it does for
on-balance-sheet instruments.

As of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the following credit-related commitments were outstanding:
Contract Amount
SeptemberDecember
30,2018 31,2017
(In thousands)
Unfunded commitments under lines of credit $132,886 $122,910
Commercial and standby letters of credit 3,798 5,377
Commitments to make loans 18,750 1,909

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any condition
established in the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may
require payment of a fee. The commitments for equity lines of credit may expire without being drawn

upon. Therefore, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future cash requirements. The amount
of collateral obtained, if deemed necessary by the Bank, is based on management’s credit evaluation of the

customer. Unfunded commitments under commercial lines of credit, revolving credit lines and overdraft protection
agreements are commitments for possible future extensions of credit to existing customers. Overdraft protection
agreements are uncollateralized, but most other unfunded commitments have collateral. These unfunded lines of
credit usually do not contain a specified maturity date and may not necessarily be drawn upon to the total extent to
which the Bank is committed.

Commitments to make loans are generally made for periods of 90 days or less. The Company had outstanding loan
commitments, excluding undisbursed portion of loans in process and equity lines of credit, of approximately $136.7
million as of September 30, 2018 and $128.3 million as of December 31, 2017. Of these commitments outstanding,
the breakdown between fixed rate and adjustable rate loans is as follows:

SeptemberDecember
30,2018 31,2017
(In thousands)
Fixed rate $30,092 $17,933
Adjustable rate 106,592 110,354
Total $136,684 $128,287

The fixed loan commitments as of September 30, 2018 have interest rates ranging from 0.0% to 6.0% and maturities
ranging from on demand to 11 years.

FHLB requires a blanket assignment of mortgage loans or other collateral acceptable to the FHLB to secure the
Company’s short and long-term borrowings from FHLB. The amount of collateral with the FHLB at September 30,
2018 was $397.2 million.

Commercial and standby letters of credit are conditional credit-related commitments issued by the Bank to guarantee
the performance of a customer to a third party. Those letters of credit are primarily issued to support public and
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private borrowing arrangements. Essentially all letters of credit issued have expiration dates within one year. The
credit risk involved in issuing letters of credit is the same as that involved in extending loans to customers. The Bank
generally holds collateral supporting those credit-related commitments, if deemed necessary. In the event the
customer does not perform in accordance with the terms of the agreement with the third party, the Bank would be
required to fund the credit-related commitment. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Bank could
be required to make
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is represented by the contractual amount shown in the summary above. If the credit-related commitment is funded,
the Bank would be entitled to seek recovery from the customer. As of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017,
respectively, $151 thousand and $575 thousand had been recorded as liabilities for the Company’s potential losses
under these credit-related commitments. The fair value of these credit-related commitments is approximately equal to
the fees collected when granting these letters of credit. These fees collected were $27 thousand and $23 thousand as
of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively, and are included in “other liabilities” on the consolidated
balance sheets.

Note 14. Preferred Equity Issues
The Company had no outstanding preferred shares as of September 30, 2018 or December 31, 2017.

Note 15. Stock Incentives

At the Shareholders’ Meeting held on January 22, 2015, the Company’s shareholders approved the Trinity Capital
Corporation 2015 Long-Term Incentive Plan (“2015 Plan”) for the benefit of key employees. As of December 31, 2017,
only 30,477 shares of voting common stock remained available for issuance. In accordance with the terms for the

2015 Plan, on February 21, 2018, the Board approved an additional 500,000 shares of common stock to be reserved
under the 2015 Plan. The Compensation Committee determines the terms and conditions of the awards.

There were 12,500 RSU awards granted under the 2015 Plan and 3,750 forfeitures during the three months ended
September 30, 2018. There were 312,775 RSUs awards granted under the 2015 Plan and 10,250 in forfeitures during
the nine months ended September 30, 2018, leaving 252,952 shares of voting common stock available remaining to be
issued under the 2015 Plan at September 30, 2018.

Because share-based compensation awards vesting in the current periods were granted on a variety of dates, the
assumptions are presented as weighted averages in those assumptions. A summary of RSU activity under the 2015

Plan for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 is presented below:

Weighted

Weighted Average Aggregate
o Intrinsic
Average Remaining
Shares Value
Grant Contractual .
. . (in
Price Term, in
thousands)
Years
RSUs
Nonvested as of January 1, 2018 452,782 $ 470 2.01 $2,128
Granted 312,775 17.66 1.25 2,396
Vested (40,575) 4.61 — (187 )
Forfeited or expired (10,250) 5.21 — (53 )
Outstanding Nonvested as of June 30, 2018 714,732 $ 6.00  1.22 $ 4,284

Share-based compensation expense of $493 thousand and $42 thousand was recognized for the three months ended
September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and $1.1 million and $91 thousand was recognized for the nine months
ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. As of September 30, 2018, there was $3.1 million in unrecognized
compensation costs related to unvested share-based compensation awards granted under the 2015 Plan. The cost will
be recognized over the remaining vesting periods.

Note 16. Fair Value Measurements
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ASC Topic 820 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants. A fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the
asset or transfer the liability occurs in the principal market for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a principal
market, the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The price in the principal (or most advantageous)
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market used to measure the fair value of the asset or liability shall not be adjusted for transaction costs. An orderly
transaction is a transaction that assumes exposure to the market for a period prior to the measurement date to allow for
marketing activities that are usual and customary for transactions involving such assets and liabilities; it is not a forced
transaction. Market participants are buyers and sellers in the principal market that are (i) independent, (ii)
knowledgeable, (iii) able to transact and (iv) willing to transact.

The Company uses valuation techniques that are consistent with the sales comparison approach, the income approach
and/or the cost approach. The market approach uses prices and other relevant information generated by market
transactions involving identical or comparable assets and liabilities. The income approach uses valuation techniques
to convert expected future amounts, such as cash flows or earnings, to a single present value amount on a discounted
basis. The cost approach is based on the amount that currently would be required to replace the service capacity of an
asset (replacement cost). Valuation techniques should be consistently applied. Inputs to valuation techniques refer to
the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. Inputs may be observable,
meaning those that reflect the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed
based on market data obtained from independent sources, or unobservable, meaning those that reflect the reporting
entity’s own assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability
developed based on the best information available in the circumstances. In that regard, ASC Topic 820 establishes a
fair value hierarchy for valuation inputs that gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs. The fair value hierarchy is as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the entity has the ability to
access as of the measurement date.

Level 2: Significant other observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by
observable market data.

Level 3: Significant unobservable inputs that reflect a reporting entity’s own assumptions about the assumptions that
market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability.

While management believes the Company’s valuation methodologies are appropriate and consistent with other market
participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial
instruments could result in a different estimate of fair value at the reporting date. Transfers between levels of the fair
value hierarchy are recognized on the actual date of the event or circumstances that caused the transfer, which
generally coincides with the Company’s monthly and/or quarterly valuation process.

Financial Instruments Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

Securities Available for Sale. The fair values of securities available for sale are determined by quoted prices in active
markets, when available. If quoted market prices are not available, the fair value is determined by a matrix pricing,
which is a mathematical technique widely used in the industry to value debt securities without relying exclusively on
quoted prices for the specific securities but rather by relying on the securities’ relationship to other benchmark quoted
securities.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s financial assets and off-balance-sheet instruments measured at fair
value on a recurring basis as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, segregated by the level of the valuation
inputs within the fair value hierarchy utilized to measure fair value:

Total %evel Level 2 gevel
September 30, 2018 (In thousands)
Financial Assets:
Investment securities available for sale:
U.S. government sponsored agencies $67,004 $ —$67,004 $ —
States and political subdivision 157,544 — 157,544 —
Residential mortgage backed securities 93,643 — 93,643 —
Residential collateralized mortgage obligation 14,979 — 14979 —
Commercial mortgage backed securities 104,337 — 104,337 —
SBA pools 468 — 468 —
Total $437975 $ —$437975 % —
Total %evel Level 2 gevel
December 31, 2017 (In thousands)
Financial Assets:
Investment securities available for sale:
U.S. government sponsored agencies $68,551 $§ —$68,551 $§ —
States and political subdivision 158,706 — 158,706 —
Residential mortgage backed securities 123,083 — 123,083 —
Residential collateralized mortgage obligation 9,686 — 9,686 —
Commercial mortgage backed securities 108,162 — 108,162 —
SBA pools 545 — 545 —
Total $468,733 § —$468,733 § —

There were no financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis for which the Company used
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) during the periods presented in these financial statements. There were no
transfers between the levels used on any classes during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 or the
year ended December 31, 2017.

Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis

The Company may be required, from time to time, to measure certain financial assets and financial liabilities at fair
value on a nonrecurring basis in accordance with GAAP.

Impaired Loans. Loans for which it is probable that payment of interest and principal will not be made in accordance
with the contractual terms of the loan agreement are considered impaired. Once a loan is identified as impaired,
management measures the amount of that impairment in accordance with ASC Topic 310. The fair value of impaired
loans is estimated using one of several methods, including collateral value, liquidation value and discounted cash
flows. Those impaired loans not requiring an allowance represent loans for which the fair value of the expected
repayments or collateral exceed the recorded investments in such loans.
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In accordance with ASC Topic 820, impaired loans where an allowance is established based on the fair value of
collateral require classification in the fair value hierarchy. Collateral values are estimated using Level 3 inputs based
on customized discounting criteria. For collateral dependent impaired loans, the Company obtains a current
independent appraisal of loan collateral. Other valuation techniques are used as well, including internal valuations,
comparable property analysis and contractual sales information.
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As of September 30, 2018, impaired loans with a carrying value of $26.3 million had a valuation allowance of $2.2
million. As of December 31, 2017, impaired loans with a carrying value of $39.8 million had a valuation allowance of
$5.2 million recorded during 2017.

OREO. OREO is adjusted to fair value at the time the loans are transferred to OREO. Subsequently, OREO is carried
at the lower of the carrying value or fair value. Fair value is determined based upon independent market prices,
appraised values of the collateral or management’s estimation of the value of the collateral less anticipated costs to sell.
The fair value of OREO was computed based on third-party appraisals, which are level 3 valuation inputs.

In the table below, OREO had write-downs during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 of $42 thousand. In the
table below, OREO had writedowns during the year ended December 31, 2017 of $43 thousand. The valuation

adjustments on OREO have been recorded through earnings.

Assets measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017 are included
in the table below:

Level Level

Total | ’ Level 3
(In thousands)
September 30, 2018
Financial Assets
Impaired loans $24092 $ —$ —$24,092
Non-Financial Assets
OREO 222 —  — 222
December 31, 2017
Financial Assets
Impaired loans $34600 $ —$ —$34,600
Non-Financial Assets
OREO 405 — — 405
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Assumptions used to determine impaired loans and OREO are presented below by classification, measured at fair
value and on a nonrecurring basis as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017:

Fair Value
(In
September 30, 2018 thousands)
Impaired loans
Commercial $ 13,348

Commercial real

5,019
estate
Residential real 4.400
estate
Construction real 1.119
estate
Installment and 206
other
Total impaired $ 24.092
loans
OREO
Commercial real $ 74
estate
Residential real 148
estate
Total OREO $ 222
December 31, 2017
Impaired loans
Commercial $13,359
Commercial real 10,987

estate
Residential real estate6,774

Construction real

3,244
estate
Installment and other 236

Total impaired loans $34,600
OREO

Residential real estate$315
Construction real 90
estate

Total OREO $405
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Valuation

Technique(s)

Sales comparison
Sales comparison
Sales comparison
Sales comparison

Sales comparison

Sales comparison

Sales comparison

Sales
comparison
Sales
comparison
Sales
comparison
Sales
comparison
Sales
comparison

Sales
comparison
Sales
comparison

Unobservable Input(s)

comparable sales
comparable sales
comparable sales
comparable sales

comparable sales

comparable sales

comparable sales

Adjustments for differences of
comparable sales
Adjustments for differences of
comparable sales
Adjustments for differences of
comparable sales
Adjustments for differences of
comparable sales
Adjustments for differences of
comparable sales

Adjustments for differences of
comparable sales
Adjustments for differences of
comparable sales

Adjustments for differences of
Adjustments for differences of
Adjustments for differences of
Adjustments for differences of

Adjustments for differences of

Adjustments for differences of

Adjustments for differences of

Adjustment Range,
Weighted Average

(5.00)% to (150.00)%,
(7.32)%

(5.50) to (37.50), (7.16)
(3.13) to (37.50), (7.29)
(4.00) to (40.00), (5.97)

(4.13) to (37.50), (7.34)

(33.33)% to (33.33)%,
(33.33)%

(3.16)% to (3.16)%,
(3.16)%

(5.00)% to (100.00)%,
(5.97)%

(4.25) to (7.62), (6.63)
(3.13) to (7.80), (5.74)
(4.00) to (7.25), (6.18)

(4.25) to (8.00), (6.27)

(9.09) to (9.09), (9.09)

(9.78) t0 (9.78), (9.78)
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Fair Value Assumptions

ASC Topic 825 requires disclosure of the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities, including those
financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured and reported at fair value on a recurring basis or
non-recurring basis.

The carrying amount and estimated fair values (representing exit price) of other financial instruments as of September
30, 2018 and December 31, 2017 are as follows:

Carrying Level 1 Level2 Level 3 Total
Amount

(In thousands)
September 30, 2018
Financial assets:

Cash and due from banks $11,046 $11,046 $ —  $ —$11,046
Interest-bearing deposits with banks 3,645 3,645 — — 3,645
Investments:

Available for sale 437,975 — 437,976 — 437,976
Held to maturity 7,769 — 7,151 — 7,151
Non-marketable equity securities 5,819 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Loans held for sale 6,815 — 6,815 — 6,815
Loans, net 695,296 — — 690,610 690,610
Accrued interest receivable on securities 2,632 — 2,632 — 2,632
Accrued interest receivable on loans 2,246 — — 2,246 2,246
Accrued interest receivable other 5 — — 5 5

Off-balance-sheet instruments:
Loan commitments and standby letters of credit $27 $— $ 27 % —$27

Financial liabilities:

Non-interest bearing deposits $175,655 $175655$ —  $ —$175,655
Interest bearing deposits 921,758 — 919,644 — 919,644
Borrowings 15,400 — 15,591 — 15,591
Junior subordinated debt 26,766 — — 17,750 17,750
Accrued interest payable 284 — 175 109 284
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December 31, 2017

Financial assets:

Cash and due from banks
Interest-bearing deposits with banks
Securities purchased under resell agreements
Investments:

Available for sale

Held to maturity

Non-marketable equity securities
Loans, net

Accrued interest receivable on securities
Accrued interest receivable on loans
Accrued interest receivable other

Off-balance-sheet instruments:

Loan commitments and standby letters of credit

Financial liabilities:
Non-interest bearing deposits
Interest bearing deposits
Long-term borrowings
Junior subordinated debt
Accrued interest payable

Note 17. Regulatory Matters

Carrying
Amount

Level 1l Level2

(In thousands)

$12,893
22,541

468,733
7,854
3,617
686,341
2,795
2,238
21

$23

$161,677
965,670
2,300
37,116
628

$12983 $§ —
22,541 —

— 468,733
— 7,369
N/A N/A
— 2,795
$— $ 23
$161,677 $ —
— 964,717
— 2,592
— 172

Level 3 Total

$ —$12,983
— 22,541
— 468,733
— 7,369
N/A  N/A
680,911 680,911
— 2,795
2,238 2,238
21 21

$ —$23

$ —$161,677
— 964,717
— 2,592
27,128 27,128
456 628

The payment of dividends by any financial institution is affected by the requirement to maintain adequate capital
pursuant to applicable capital adequacy guidelines and regulations, and a financial institution generally is prohibited
from paying any dividends if, following payment thereof, the institution would be undercapitalized.

The Company is subject to statutory and regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividends and generally cannot pay
dividends that exceed its net income or which may weaken its financial health. The Company’s primary source of cash
is dividends from the Bank. Generally, the Bank is subject to certain restrictions on dividends that it may declare
without prior regulatory approval. The Bank cannot pay dividends in any calendar year that, in the aggregate, exceed
the Bank’s year-to-date net income plus its retained income for the two preceding years. Additionally, the Bank cannot
pay dividends that are in excess of the amount that would result in the Bank falling below the minimum required for

capital adequacy purposes.

Banks and bank holding companies are subject to regulatory capital requirements administered by federal banking
agencies. Failure to meet capital requirements can initiate regulatory action. The Basel III Rules became effective for
the Company on January 1, 2015 with full compliance with all of the requirements being phased in over a multi-year
schedule, and fully phased in by January 1, 2019. See Item 1 - “Supervision & Regulation” of the 2017 Form 10-K, for
further discussion regarding the Basel III Rules. The Company and the Bank met all capital adequacy requirements to
which they were subject as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017.
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Prompt corrective action regulations provide five classifications: well capitalized, adequately capitalized,
undercapitalized, significantly undercapitalized, and critically undercapitalized, although these terms are not used to
represent overall financial condition. If adequately capitalized, regulatory approval is required to accept brokered
deposits. If undercapitalized, capital distributions are limited, as is asset growth and expansion, and capital restoration
plans are required.
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The statutory requirements and actual amounts and ratios for the Company and the Bank are presented below:

To be Well
Capitalized
For Capital Under
Actual Adequacy Prompt
Purposes Corrective
Action
Provisions
Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
(Dollars in thousands)
September 30, 2018
Total capital (to risk-weighted assets):
Consolidated $151,865 17.5493% $69,229 8.00% N/A N/A
Bank only 146,106 16.9333% 69,027 8.00% $86,283 10.00%
Tier 1 capital (to risk weighted assets):
Consolidated 142,186 16.4308% 51,922 6.00% N/A N/A
Bank only 136,427 15.8115% 51,770 6.00% 69,027 8.00 %
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital (to risk weighted assets):
Consolidated 116,952 13.5148% 38,941 4.50% N/A N/A
Bank only 136,427 15.8115% 38,827 4.50% 56,084 6.50 %
Tier 1 leverage (to average assets):
Consolidated 142,186 11.2026% 50,769 4.00% N/A N/A
Bank only 136,427 10.7753% 50,644 4.00% 63,306 5.00 %
N/A—not applicable
To be Well
Capitalized
For Capital Under
Actual Adequacy Prompt
Purposes Corrective
Action
Provisions
Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
(Dollars in thousands)
December 31, 2017
Total capital (to risk-weighted assets):
Consolidated $152,076 18.1982% $66,853 8.00% N/A N/A
Bank only 134,959 16.1823% 66,720 8.00% $83,399 10.00%
Tier 1 capital (to risk weighted assets):
Consolidated 132,900 15.9035% 50,140 6.00% N/A N/A
Bank only 124,481 14.9259% 50,040 6.00% 66,720 8.00 %
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital (to risk weighted assets):
Consolidated 106,320 12.7228% 37,605 4.50% N/A N/A
Bank only 124,481 14.9259% 37,530 4.50% 54,210 6.50 %

Tier 1 leverage (to average assets):
Consolidated 132,900 10.1821% 33,427 4.00% N/A N/A
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Bank only 124,481 9.6006 % 33,360 4.00% 41,700 5.00 %
N/A—not applicable

The Bank’s capital ratios fall into the category of “well-capitalized” as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017.
Trinity and the Bank are also required to maintain a “capital conservation buffer” of 2.5% above the regulatory
minimum risk-based capital requirements. The purpose of the conservation buffer is to ensure that banks maintain a
buffer of capital that can be used to absorb losses during periods of financial and economic stress. The capital
conservation buffer began to be phased in beginning in January 2016 at 0.625% of risk-weighted assets and will

increase by that
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amount each year until fully implemented in January 2019. An institution would be subject to limitations on certain
activities, including payment of dividends, share repurchases and discretionary bonuses to executive officers, if its
capital level is below the buffered ratio. Factoring in the fully phased-in conservation buffer increases the minimum
ratios described above to 7.0% for Common Equity Tier 1, 8.5% for Tier 1 Capital and 10.5% for Total Capital. At
September 30, 2018 the Bank’s capital conservation buffer was 8.9333% and the consolidated capital conservation
buffer was 9.0148%. At December 31, 2017 the Bank’s capital conservation buffer was 8.1823% and the consolidated
capital conservation buffer was 8.2228%.

Note 18. Subsequent Event

On November 1, 2018, the Company and the Bank entered into an agreement and plan of merger (the “merger
agreement”’) with Enterprise Financial Services Corp (“EFSC”) and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Enterprise Bank &
Trust (“EB&T”), pursuant to which the Company will merge with and into EFSC, with EFSC surviving (the “merger”).
Immediately following the merger, the Bank will merge with and into EB&T, with EB&T surviving.

The board of directors of each party to the merger agreement has approved the merger. The completion of the merger
is subject to customary closing conditions, including the approval of the Company’s shareholders and bank regulatory
approvals, and is expected to close in early 2019. Directors and certain shareholders and executive officers of the
Company have entered into agreements with EFSC pursuant to which they have committed to vote their shares of
Company common stock in favor of the merger.

Under the terms of the merger agreement and upon completion of the merger, holders of Company common stock will
have the right to receive 0.1972 shares of EFSC common stock and $1.84 in cash for each share of TCC common
stock they hold, subject to certain adjustments. Based on EFSC’s closing price of $43.45 per share on October 31,
2018, the merger consideration mix would result in a total of approximately $38 million in cash and $175 million in
EFSC shares.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Trinity Capital Corporation
Los Alamos, New Mexico

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Trinity Capital Corporation & Subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive
income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2017, and
the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the
results of their operations and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2017, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform,
an audit of its internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. As part of our
audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also
included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

/s/ Crowe LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2012.
Dallas, Texas

March 30, 2018
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TRINITY CAPITAL CORPORATION & SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, 2017 and 2016

(In thousands, except share data)

2017
ASSETS
Cash and due from banks $12,893
Interest-bearing deposits with banks 22,541
Cash and cash equivalents 35,434
Investment securities available for sale, at fair value 468,733
Investment securities held to maturity, at amortized cost (fair value of $7,369 and $8,613 as 7854

of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively)
Non-marketable equity securities 3,617
Loans (net of allowance for loan losses of $13,803 and $14,352 as of December 31, 2017

and 2016, respectively) 686,341
Mortgage servicing rights (“MSRs”), net —

Bank owned life insurance (“BOLI”) 25,656
Premises and equipment, net 28,542
Other real estate owned (“OREQO”), net 6,432
Deferred tax assets 10,143
Other assets 14,781
Total assets $1,287,533
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Liabilities

Deposits:

Noninterest-bearing $161,677
Interest-bearing 965,670
Total deposits 1,127,347
Long-term borrowings 2,300
Junior subordinated debt 36,941
Other liabilities 15,399
Total liabilities 1,181,987

Stock owned by Employee Stock Ownership Plan (“ESOP”) participants; 831,645 shares an% 961
671,962 shares as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, at fair value ’

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 11, 15 and 17)

Shareholders’ equity

Preferred stock, no par, authorized 1,000,000 shares

Series A, 9% cumulative perpetual, O shares and 35,539 shares issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively; $1,000 liquidation value per share, at amortized —
cost

Series B, 9% cumulative perpetual, O shares and 1,777 shares issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively; $1,000 liquidation value per share, at amortized —
cost

2016

$13,537
105,798
119,335
439,650

8,824
3,812
771,138

6,905
10,191
25,959
8,436
15,437
15,750
$1,425,437

$174,305
1,033,115
1,207,420
2,300
36,927
41,491
1,288,138

3,192

35,068

1,850
37,089
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Series C, 0% convertible cumulative perpetual, O shares and 82,862 shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively; $475 liquidation value per
share, at amortized cost

Common stock voting, no par; 20,000,000 shares authorized; 11,364,862 and 9,199,306
shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively
Common stock non-voting, no par; 20,000,000 share authorized; 8,286,200 shares and 0
shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively
Additional paid-in capital

Retained earnings

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Common stock related to ESOP

Total shareholders’ equity before treasury stock

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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11,365

8,286

35,071
54,587
(3,763
(5,961
99,585
$1,287,533

9,509

(1,373
60,651
) (5,495
) (3,192
134,107

)

)
)

$1,425,437
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TRINITY CAPITAL CORPORATION & SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015

(In thousands, except per share data)

2017 2016 2015
Interest income:

Loans, including fees $36,761 $38915 $42.,364
Interest and dividends on investment securities:

Taxable 6,695 7,716 3,956
Nontaxable 1,920 520 175
Other interest income 740 697 1,109
Total interest income 46,116 47,848 47,604

Interest expense:

Deposits 1,763 2,279 2,939
Borrowings 150 146 285
Junior subordinated debt 2,516 2,942 2,652
Total interest expense 4,429 5,367 5,876
Net interest income 41,687 42,481 41,728
(Benefit) provision for loan losses (1,220 ) 1,800 500

Net interest income after (benefit) provision for loan losses 42,907 40,681 41,228

Noninterest income:

Mortgage loan servicing fees 1,829 2,056 2,298
Trust and investment services fees 2,581 2,260 2,604
Service charges on deposits 990 1,025 1,262
Net gain on sale of OREO 846 1,810 427
Net (loss) gain on sale of loans 394 ) 1,918 2,629
Net (loss) gain on sale of securities (1,248 ) 184 4
BOLI income 465 191 —
Mortgage referral fee income 1,559 574 —
Other fees 2,224 1,705 2,107
Other noninterest income (loss) 90 104 (1,202 )
Total noninterest income 8,942 11,827 10,129

Noninterest expenses:

Salaries and employee benefits 23,579 25,630 24,482
Occupancy 3,124 3,205 3,452
Data processing 5,114 3,818 2,979
Legal, professional, and audit fees 5,397 6,376 7,304
Change in value of MSRs 1,695 558 1,393
Other noninterest expense 10,000 10,484 9,833
Total noninterest expenses 48,909 50,071 49,443
Income before provision for income taxes 2,940 2,437 1,914
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 8,730 (13,676 ) —
Net (loss) income (5,790 ) 16,113 1914
Dividends and discount accretion on preferred shares 770 4,272 3,803

Net (loss) income available to common shareholders $(6,560) $11,841 $(1,889)
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Basic (loss) earnings per common share $(0.38 ) $1.79 $(0.29 )
Diluted (loss) earnings per common share $(0.38 ) $1.71 $(0.29 )

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TRINITY CAPITAL CORPORATION & SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015

(In thousands)

2017 2016 2015
Net (loss) income (5,790) 16,113 1,914

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Unrealized gains (losses) on securities available for sale 2,437 (4,290) (2,222)

Securities losses (gains) reclassified into earnings 1,248 (184 ) (4 )
Related income tax (expense) benefit (1,457) 1,760 —

Other comprehensive income (loss) 2,228 (2,714) (2,226)
Total comprehensive (loss) income (3,562) 13,399 (312 )

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

TRINITY CAPITAL CORPORATION & SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015

(In thousands)

Common Stock

Accumulate%ommOrl
Voting Held in Non-voPiregerred Aqdlt.lona]Retained other oc Total ,
treasury, paid-in . comprehenmﬁe stockholders
Issued Issued stock . earnings . elated .
at cost capital income 0 ESOP equity
(loss)
Balance as of December
31,2014, as previously ~ $6,836 $(10,888) $§  —$36,563 $1,963 $47,084 $ (555 ) $— $ 81,003
reported
Reclassification to reflect
ESOP put obligation (2,065 ) 4,084 (2,019 ) —

Balance as of December

31, 2014, reclassified $6,836 $(10,888) $  —$36,563 $(102 ) $51,168 § (555 ) $(2,019) $81,003

Net income 1,914 1,914
cher comprehensive (2,226 ) (2,226 )
income

Dividends declared on

preferred shares (3,917 ) (3,917 )
Amorgzatlon of preferred 177 a7 ) .

stock issuance costs

Treasury 'shares issued for 1.008 810 ) 198

stock option plan

Net change in the fair

value of stock owned by (672 ) (672 )

ESOP participants
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Balance as of December 31, 2015 $6,836 $(9,880) $-$36,740 $(912 ) $48,988 $(2,781) $(2,691) $76,300

Net gain

Other comprehensive income
Issued Preferred stock C - capital
raise

Issue common stock - capital raise 2,661 8,983
Preferred C stock issuance costs
Common stock issuance costs

ESOP distribution

Issue vested RSUs 12
2016 RSUs granted expenses
Dividends declared on preferred
shares

Amortization of preferred stock
issuance costs

Treasury shares issued for board

. 897
compensation
Net change in the fair value of
stock owned by ESOP participants
Balance, December 31, 2016 $9,509 $—

Continued on next page.
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16,113
39,359
997
(2,270 )
(769 )
(12 )
82
4,272
178 (178
(759 )

$-$74,007 $(1,373) $60,651

)
)

16,113

(2,714 ) (2,714

39,359

12,641
(2,270
(769

3 3

82
(4,272

138

(504 ) (504

)

$(5,495) $(3,192) $134,107
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TRINITY CAPITAL CORPORATION & SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY CONTINUED
Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015

(In thousands)

Common Stock
Held Accumulat€dmmon

VOtill‘ln Non—voﬁrgerrée@ggltilnoﬂ%ltained other Stock Total

Issuet U ssued stock P earnings ?ompreheIRﬁlatedtoc.kholders
capital income to equity
cost (loss) ESOP
Net Income $(5,790) $(5,790 )
Other comprehensive income 2,228 2,228
Recl.ass stranded OCI from OCI to retained 496 1496 o
earning
Redemption of Series A Preferred shares 135,539 (35,539 )
Redemption of Series B Preferred shares 41,777 (1,777 )
Dividends declared on preferred shares 372 ) (372 )
Series C preferred shares converted to 8.286 137.0828.803 o
non-voting common stock
Common s.tock issued for board 43 169 212
compensation
Amortization of preferred stock issuance 308 1398 o
costs
Restricted stock units (“RSUs”) vested 17 117 —
Issued voting common stock - rights offering 2,105 7,895 10,000
Yotmg common stock rights offering 1988 (988 )
issuance costs
RSUs compensation expense 273 273
Reclassification between voting common
stock and APIC 1309 309 o
ESOP distribution 6 6
Increase in ESOP due to purchase of shares §764 (764 )
F-43
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Net change in the fair value of stock owned by
ESOP participants (2,011 ) (2,011 )
Balance as of December 31, 2017 $11,365 $-$8,286 $-$35,071 $54,587 $(3,763) $(5,961) $99,585

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TRINITY CAPITAL CORPORATION & SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015

(In thousands)

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net income (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization

(Benefit) provision for loan losses

Net loss (gain) on sale of investment securities

Net loss (gain) on sale of loans

(Gains) losses and write-downs on OREOQO, net

(Gain) loss on disposal of premises and equipment
Decrease (increase) in deferred income tax assets

Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB) stock dividends received
Change in value of MSRs

BOLI income

Compensation expense recognized for restricted stock units
Change in escrow liabilities

Decrease in accrued interest payable on sub debt

Sale of mortgage servicing rights

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Other Assets

Other Liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities before origination and gross sales of loans
held for sale

Gross sales of loans held for sale

Origination of loans held for sale

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities

Continued next page
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2017 2016 2015
$(5,790) $16,113 $1,914

6,632 5,423 4,703
(1,220 ) 1,800 500
1,248 184 ) 4 )
394 (1,918 ) (2,629 )
(187 ) (1,699 ) (243 )
(36 ) 1 27
3,836 (13,676 ) —

8 ) (4 ) (4 )

1,695 558 1,393
465 ) (191 ) —
273 82 —
(1,166 ) 2,710 700
(9,676 ) — —
5210 — —
(1,220 ) 2,206 10,510
(447 ) 2,929 1,527
(927 ) 14,150 18,394

(394 ) (51,392) 81,561
— 55,770 (77,163 )
$(1,321) $18,528 $22,792
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TRINITY CAPITAL CORPORATION & SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS CONTINUED
Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015

(In thousands)

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Proceeds from maturities and paydowns of investment securities, available for sale
Proceeds from sale of investment securities, available for sale

Purchase of investment securities, available for sale

Proceeds from maturities and paydowns of investment securities, held to maturity
Proceeds from maturities and paydowns of investment securities, other

Proceeds from sale of investment securities, other

Purchase of investment securities, other

Purchase bank owned life insurance

Proceeds from sale of other real estate owned

Proceeds from the bulk loan sale

Loans paid down (funded), net

Purchases of loans

Purchases of premises and equipment

Proceeds from sale of premises and equipment

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Net (decrease) increase in demand deposits, NOW accounts and savings accounts
Net decrease in time deposits

Repayment of borrowings

Issuance of common stock for capital raise, net of costs

Issuance of preferred stock for capital raise, net of costs

Redemption of Preferred Stock

Decrease in dividends payable on Preferred Stock

Issuance of common stock for stock option plan

Net cash (used in) financing activities

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents:

Beginning of period

End of period

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information
Cash payments for:

Interest

Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Transfers from loans to other real estate owned
Transfers from loans to repossessed assets

Sales of other real estate owned financed by loans
Transfer from loans to loans held for sale

Transfer from held to maturity securities to loans
Transfer from Venture Capital to loans

Conversion of Series C Preferred Stock to non-voting common stock

2017 2016 2015
$53,346 $55,059 $64,316
56,543 98,259 10,951

(142,867) (285,978 ) (179,718 )

908 140 191

— — 374

33 — 888

2 ) — (36 )
(15,000 ) (10,000 ) —

5,226 5,157 7,989

— 16,248 11,860
84,280 66,755 88,516
— (36,323 ) (37,190 )
(3,986 ) (4,905 ) (350 )
69 — 31

38,550 (95,588 ) (32,178 )
(32,977 ) 24,802 27,204
(47,096 ) (66,381 ) (56,539 )
— — (20,000 )
9,012 11,872 —

— 37,089 —
(37,316 ) — —
(12,965 ) — —

212 138 198
(121,130) 7,520 (49,137 )

(83,901 ) (69,540 ) (58,523 )

119,335 188,875 247,398
$35,434 $119,335 $188,875
$13,920 $2,619 $3.416
3,035 5,187 3,958

— — 16

— 1,548 1,846
394 16,248 11,860
— — 2,457
150 — —
37,089 — —
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Transfer from PPE to other assets —
Dividends declared on Preferred Stock 373

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TRINITY CAPITAL CORPORATION & SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2017, 2016 AND 2015

Note 1. Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Trinity Capital Corporation (“Trinity”’)include the consolidated
balances and results of operations of Trinity and its wholly-owned subsidiaries: Los Alamos National Bank (the
“Bank”), TCC Advisors Corporation (“TCC Advisors”), TCC Funds and the Bank’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Tricensions
LLC, collectively referred to as the “Company.” Trinity Capital Trust I (“Trust I”’), Trinity Capital Trust III (“Trust II1I”"),
Trinity Capital Trust IV (“Trust IV”’) and Trinity Capital Trust V (“Trust V”), collectively referred to as the “Trusts,” are
trust subsidiaries of Trinity, of which Trinity owns all of the outstanding common securities. The Trusts are

considered variable interest entities (“VIEs”) under ASC Topic 810, “Consolidation.” Because Trinity is not the primary
beneficiary of the Trusts, the financial statements of the Trusts are not included in the consolidated financial

statements of the Company. Title Guaranty & Insurance Company (“Title Guaranty”) was acquired in 2000 and its
assets were subsequently sold in August 2012. Title Guaranty had no operations in 2015 or 2016 and dissolved in
August 2017. TCC Funds was also dissolved in 2017.

Basis of Financial Statement Presentation: The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company
and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany items and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The
accounting and reporting policies of the Company conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (“GAAP”) and general practices within the financial services industry. In preparing the financial
statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities as of the date of the balance sheet and revenues and expenses for the year then ended as well as the
disclosures provided herein. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Nature of Operations: The Bank operates under a national charter and provides a variety of financial services to
individuals, businesses and government organizations through its offices in Los Alamos, White Rock, Santa Fe and
Albuquerque, New Mexico as well as its automated teller machine network throughout New Mexico. Its primary
deposit products are term certificate, Negotiable Order of Withdrawal (“NOW?) and savings accounts and its primary
lending products are commercial, residential and construction real estate loans. The Company also offers trust and
wealth management services.

Cash and Cash Equivalents: For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand,
amounts due from banks (including cash items in process of clearing), interest-bearing deposits with other financial
institutions with original maturities of 90 days or less, and federal funds sold. Balances in these institutions over $250
thousand are not insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) and therefore pose a potential risk in
the event the financial institution were to fail. As of December 31, 2017, uninsured deposits with other institutions
totaled $1.1 million.

Investment Securities: Securities classified as available for sale or held to maturity at the time of purchase.
Investments classified as available for sale are debt securities the Bank has the ability and intent to hold for an
indefinite period of time, but not necessarily to maturity. Any decision to sell a security classified as available for sale
would be based on various factors, including significant movements in interest rates, changes in the maturity mix of
the Bank’s assets and liabilities, liquidity needs, regulatory capital considerations and other similar factors. Securities
available for sale are reported at fair value, with unrealized gains or losses reported as other comprehensive income,
net of the related deferred tax effect. Realized gains or losses resulting from sales of securities are included in earnings
on the trade date and are determined using the specific identification method. Purchase premiums and discounts are
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amortized or accreted to interest income using the using a method that approximates level yield over the estimated life
of the securities (earlier of call date, estimated life or maturity date). For mortgage-backed securities, estimates of
prepayments are considered in the constant yield calculations. Securities classified as held to maturity are those
securities that the
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Company has the ability and intent to hold until maturity. These securities are reported at amortized cost, adjusted for
amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts, using a method that approximates level yield.

An investment security is considered impaired if the fair value of the security is less than its amortized cost

basis. Once the security is impaired, management must determine if it is OTTIL. In estimating OTTT losses,
management considers many factors, including: current market conditions, fair value in relationship to cost; extent and
nature of the change in fair value; issuer rating changes and trends; whether it intends to sell the security before
recovery of the amortized cost basis of the investment, which may be maturity; and other factors. For debt securities,
if management intends to sell the security or it is likely that the Bank will be required to sell the security before
recovering its cost basis, the entire impairment loss would be recognized in earnings as an OTTI. If management does
not intend to sell the security and it is not likely that the Bank will be required to sell the security, but management
does not expect to recover the entire amortized cost basis of the security, only the portion of the impairment loss
representing credit losses would be recognized in earnings as measured by the difference between the amortized cost
basis and the present value of the cash flows expected to be collected. This credit loss amount would result in a
reduction to the cost basis of the security. The remaining impairment related to the difference between the credit loss
and the fair value is recognized in to other comprehensive income.

Non-Marketable Equity Securities: The Bank, as a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”), is required to
maintain an investment in common stock of the FHLB based upon the level of borrowings from the FHLB and the
various classes of loans in the Bank’s portfolio. The Bank may invest additional amounts if desired. FHLB and FRB
stock do not have readily determinable fair values as ownership is restricted and they lack a market. As a result, these
stocks are carried at cost and periodically evaluated by management for impairment.

Loans Held for Sale: Mortgage loans originated and intended for sale in the secondary market are carried at the lower
of cost or market as determined by outstanding commitments with investors. In 2016, the Bank made a strategic
decision to change from origination of mortgages to an outsourced solution whereby the Bank generates, on a fee
basis, residential mortgage applications for non-affiliated residential mortgage companies, therefore, no loans held for
sale were recorded in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2017.

Loans: Loans that management has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future or until maturity or pay-off
are stated at principal outstanding, net of deferred fees and costs and the allowance.

Loan origination, commitment fees and certain direct loan origination costs are deferred and the net amount amortized
to interest income over the estimated life of the loan using the effective interest method. Commitment fees based
upon a percentage of a customer’s unused line of credit and fees related to standby letters of credit are recognized over
the commitment period.

Interest on loans is accrued daily based on the outstanding principal balance and recorded as income using the interest
method. Past due status is based on the contractual terms of the loan.

Impaired Loans: Loans are considered impaired when it is probable the Company will be unable to collect all
contractual principal and interest payments due in accordance with the terms of the loan agreement. Impaired loans

are measured based on the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the loan’s effective interest rate or,
as a practical expedient, at the loan’s observable market price or the fair value of the collateral (less estimated
disposition costs) if the loan is collateral dependent. The amount of impairment (if any) is included in the allowance.
The Company generally discontinues accruing interest on loans when the loan is placed on nonaccrual or when
management believes that the borrower’s financial condition is such that collection of interest is doubtful. All interest
accrued but not collected at the time a loan is considered to be nonaccrual is reversed from interest income. Cash
collections received on nonaccrual loans are credited to the loan balance until the principal balance has been
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determined to be collectible and has been returned to accrual status.

Troubled Debt Restructurings (“Restructured Loans™): A loan is classified as a troubled debt restructuring when a
borrower is experiencing financial difficulties that lead to a modification of the loan and the Company grants a
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concession to the borrower in the restructuring that would not otherwise be considered but for the borrower’s financial
difficulties. These concessions may include rate reductions, principal forgiveness, extension of maturity date and
other actions intended to minimize potential losses.

In determining whether a debtor is experiencing financial difficulties, the Company considers if the debtor is in
payment default or would be in payment default in the foreseeable future without the modification, the debtor declared
or is in the process of declaring bankruptcy, there is substantial doubt that the debtor will continue as a going concern,
the debtor has securities that have been or are in the process of being delisted, the debtor’s entity-specific projected
cash flows will not be sufficient to service any of its debt, or the debtor cannot obtain funds from sources other than
the existing creditors at a market rate for debt with similar risk characteristics.

Restructured loans can involve loans remaining on nonaccrual status, moving to nonaccrual status or continuing on
accrual status depending on individual facts and circumstances of the borrower. Nonaccrual restructured loans are
included with all other nonaccrual loans. All restructured loans, both accruing and nonaccrual, are accounted for as
impaired loans.

Periodically, the Company will restructure a loan into two separate notes (A/B structure), charging off the entire B
portion of the note. The A loan is structured with appropriate loan-to-value and cash flow coverage ratios that provide
for a high likelihood of repayment. The A loan is classified as a non-performing note until the borrower has displayed
a historical payment performance for a reasonable time prior to and subsequent to the restructuring. A period of
sustained repayment for at least six months generally is required for return to accrual status. The A note will be
classified as a restructured loan (either performing or non-performing)

Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses: The allowance is a reserve that represents management’s estimate of credit
losses on individually evaluated loans determined to be impaired, as well as estimated credit losses inherent in the
loan portfolio. The Company has established an internal policy to estimate the allowance. This policy is periodically
reviewed by management and the Board of Directors. Actual loan losses, when management believes that
collectability of the principal is unlikely, are deducted from the allowance. Subsequent recoveries of principal
previously deducted, are recorded as increases to the allowance. Quarterly, a provision for loan losses may be
recorded as necessary to bring the allowance to the level determined by management, to be appropriate to absorb
probable losses that may occur in the portfolio. This provision is recorded as a charge against earnings in the period
determined.

The allowance consists of specific and general components. The specific component relates to loans that are
individually identified as impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that the Company
will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement. The general
component relates to non-impaired loans and is based on historical loss experience adjusted for current factors such
as, levels of credit concentrations; lending policies and procedures; the nature and volume of the portfolio; the
experience, ability and depth of lending management and staff; the volume and severity of past due, criticized,
classified and nonaccrual loans; the quality of the loan review system; the change in economic conditions; loan
collateral value for dependent loans; and other external factors, examples of which are changes in regulations, laws or
legal precedent and competition.

The Company transitioned the calculation of the allowance from an internal calculation to a third-party software at
December 31, 2017. Management determined it appropriate to change the historical loan losses included in the
calculation to 12 quarters of gross charge-offs and recoveries, whereas the previous internal calculation used the
higher of 20 quarters of net charge-offs or 12 quarters of gross charge-offs with a greater weight applied to the most
recent quarter and declining in weight as time gets older. The change to the third-party software did not have any
material impacts on the allowance calculated at December 31, 2017.
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The allowance is based on management’s evaluation of the loan portfolio giving consideration to the nature and
volume of the loan portfolio, the value of underlying collateral, overall portfolio quality, review of specific problem
loans, and prevailing economic conditions that may affect the borrower’s ability to pay. Management believes that the
level of the allowance is appropriate. While management uses the best information available to make its evaluation,
future adjustments to the allowance may become necessary in the event that different assumptions or conditions were
to
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prevail. Depending upon the severity of such adjustments, the possibility of materially different results of operations
may occur.

Concentrations of Credit Risk: The majority of the loans, commitments to extend credit, and standby letters of credit
have been granted to customers in Los Alamos, Santa Fe and surrounding communities. A substantial portion of the
Company’s loan portfolio includes loans that are made to businesses and individuals associated with, or employed by,
the Los Alamos National Laboratory (the “Laboratory”). The ability of such borrowers to honor their contracts is
predominately dependent upon the continued operation and funding of the Laboratory. The distribution of
commitments to extend credit approximates the distribution of loans outstanding. Standby letters of credit are granted
primarily to commercial borrowers. Additionally, the Bank holds investment securities issued by state and political
subdivisions of governmental entities within the state of New Mexico.

The Company enters into commitments to make loans and letters of credit to meet the financial needs of customers.
The face amount of these items represents possible exposure to loss, before considering any customer collateral or
ability to pay. Such financial commitments are recorded when funded. The Company has recorded a liability in
relation to unfunded commitments that is intended to represent the estimated future losses on the commitments. In
calculating the amount of this liability, management considers the amount of the Company’s off-balance-sheet
commitments, estimated utilization factors and loan specific risk factors. The Company’s liability for unfunded
commitments is calculated quarterly and the liability is included in Other Liabilities in the consolidated balance
sheets.

Mortgage Servicing Rights (“MSRs”): The Bank recognized, as separate assets, rights to service mortgage loans for
others, subsequent to the origination and sale of mortgage loans. The Bank initially recorded MSRs at fair value with
the offsetting effect recorded as a reduction of gain/loss on sale of the loans sold. Under the fair value measurement
method, the Company measured the fair value of the asset based on modeling performed by an independent third
party. This modeling incorporated estimates, particularly assumptions relating to prepayment speeds of the
underlying mortgage loans being serviced and interest rate changes. The change in the fair market value was recorded
monthly and recorded in the consolidated statement of operations, netted against the fees earned servicing the
underlying mortgage loans and identified as “Mortgage Loan Servicing Fees.”

In the third quarter of 2017, the Company accepted an offer to sell the MSR asset and recorded the adjustment to the
net offering price as the monthly adjustment to fair value. The transaction was consummated December 31, 2017.
Under the terms of the sales contract, the Company is required to refund the purchaser for value of MSRs sold on any
underlying mortgage loans that pay in full during the first quarter of 2018 and has recorded an estimated contingent
liability of approximately $330 thousand related to that requirement.

Premises and Equipment: Premises and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization
computed by the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the
term of the related lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements, whichever is shorter. For owned and
capitalized assets, estimated useful lives range from three to 40 years. Maintenance and repairs are charged to
expense as incurred, while major improvements are capitalized and amortized to operating expense over their
identified useful life.

Bank Owned Life Insurance (“BOLI”): The Bank has purchased life insurance policies on certain key executives. Bank
owned life insurance is recorded at the amount that can be realized under the insurance contract at the balance sheet
date, which is the cash surrender value, net of other charges or amounts that are probable at settlement.

Other Real Estate Owned (“OREQO”): OREO includes real estate assets that have been received in full or partial
satisfaction of debt, either through foreclosure or by acceptance of a deed-in-lieu of foreclosure action. OREOQ is
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initially recorded at lower of cost basis or fair value, less estimated costs to dispose of the property. Any valuation
adjustments required at the date of transfer to OREO are charged to the allowance. Subsequently, unrealized losses as
well as any realized gains and losses on the sale of OREO are recorded in “Other noninterest expense” and “Net Gains
(losses) on sale of OREO”, respectively, in the consolidated statements of operations. Ongoing operating

F-50

98



Edgar Filing: WACHOVIA CORP NEW - Form 425

expenses related to OREQ, net of any income earned on the properties, are recorded in “Other noninterest expenses” in
the consolidated statements of operations.

Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”) Stock: The Bank is a member of the FHLB system. Members are required to own a
certain amount of stock based on the its level of borrowings with the FHLB and other factors, and may invest in
additional amounts if desired. FHLB stock is carried at cost, classified as a restricted security, and periodically
evaluated for impairment based on ultimate recovery of par value. Both cash and stock dividends received are reported
as “Other interest income” in the consolidated statements of operations.

Federal Reserve Bank Stock: The Bank is a member of its regional FRB. FRB stock is carried at cost, classified as a
restricted security, and periodically evaluated for impairment based on ultimate recovery of par value. Both cash and
stock dividends received are reported as “Other interest income” in the consolidated statements of operations.

Prepaid Expenses: The Company may pay for certain expenses before the actual costs are incurred. In this case, these
expenses are recognized as an asset and amortized as expense over the period of time in which the costs are
incurred. The original term of these prepaid expenses generally range from three months to five years.

Earnings (loss) per Common Share: Basic earnings (loss) per common share represent income available to common
shareholders and is calculated by dividing net income or loss of the Company by the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per common share are determined by dividing
net income or loss of the Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding adjusted for the
dilutive effect of common stock awards.

Average number of shares used in calculation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per common share are as follows for
the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015:

Year ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015
(In thousands, except share
and per share data)

Net income (loss) $(5,790) $16,113 $1,914
Dividends and discount accretion on preferred shares 770 4,272 3,803

Net income (loss) available to common shareholders $(6,560) $11,841 $(1,889)
Weighted average common shares issued 17,088,808,939,747 6,856,800
LESS: Weighted average treasury stock shares — (319,136) (373,163)
Weighted average common shares outstanding, net 17,088,808,620,611 6,483,637
Basic earnings (loss) per common share $(0.38 ) $1.79 $(0.29 )
Dilutive effect of stock-based compensation and conversion of Preferred C shares 33,340 313,997 —
Weighted average common shares outstanding including dilutive shares 17,122,148,934,608 6,483,637
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share $(0.38 ) $1.71 $(0.29 )

Certain restricted stock units (“RSUs”) were not included in the above calculation, as they would have an anti-dilutive
effect. There were no shares excluded from the calculation for the year ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. The
total number of shares excluded was approximately 26,000 shares for years ended December 31, 2015.

Comprehensive Income (loss): Comprehensive income (loss) includes all change in shareholder equity during a
period, except those resulting from transactions with shareholders. In addition to net income (loss), the primary
component of comprehensive income (loss) is the after-tax effect of net unrealized gains/losses on securities available
for sale and is reported in the consolidated statement of changes in shareholder’s equity.
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Income Taxes: Amounts included in income tax expense for current period tax expense is based on income (loss) for
financial statement purposes and does not necessarily represent taxes currently payable under tax law. Deferred
income taxes which arise primarily from temporary timing differences between amounts reported in the financial
statements

F-51

100



Edgar Filing: WACHOVIA CORP NEW - Form 425

and the tax basis of various assets and liabilities, are included in the amounts provided in the financial statements as
income tax expense. These assets and liabilities are assessed quarterly for realizability and if management determines
that it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized, a valuation allowance is
recorded through a charge to income tax expense in the consolidated statement of operations.

The Company files a consolidated federal and state tax return.

Stock-Based Compensation: Compensation cost is recognized for stock based awards granted to employees, based on
the fair value of these awards at the date of grant. In the case of RSUs, the market price of the Company’s common
stock at the date of grant is used to value the awards for recording compensation costs.

Compensation cost is recognized over the required service period, generally defined as the vesting period.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments: Fair value of financial instruments is estimated using relevant market information
and other assumptions, as more fully disclosed in Note 19. Fair value estimates involve uncertainties and matters of
significant judgment regarding interest rates, credit risk, prepayments, and other factors, especially in the absence of
broad markets for particular items. Changes in assumptions or in market conditions could significantly affect these
estimates.

Operating Segments: While the chief decision-makers monitor the revenue streams of the various products and
services, individual, identifiable segments are not material and operations are managed and financial performance is
evaluated on a Company and Bank-wide basis. Accordingly, all of the financial service operations are considered by
management to be aggregated in one reportable operating segment.

Reclassifications: Some items in the prior year financial statements were reclassified to conform to the current
presentation. Reclassifications were to clean up the presentation of mezzanine ESOP in the Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Shareholders’ Equity.

Newly Issued But Not Yet Effective Accounting Standards

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014 09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). This update
requires an entity to recognize revenue as performance obligations are met, in order to reflect the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration the entity is entitled to receive for those
goods or services. The following steps are applied in the updated guidance: (1) identify the contract(s) with a
customer; (2) identify the performance obligations in the contract; (3) determine the transaction price; (4) allocate the
transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and (5) recognize revenue when, or as, the entity
satisfies a performance obligation. The FASB issued ASU No. 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Topic 606) — Deferral of the Effective Date. This update deferred the effective date by one year. The amended
effective date is annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017 including interim reporting periods
within that reporting period. The Company’s revenue is comprised of net interest income on financial assets and
liabilities, which is explicitly excluded from the scope of this guidance, and non-interest income. The Company has
reviewed non-interest income, such as deposit fees, assets management and investment advisory fees, and OREO
gains and losses on sale, and the Company’s analysis suggests that the adoption of this accounting standard will not
have a material impact on the timing or amounts of income recognized. The Company’s is currently reviewing
disclosures for any changes needed.

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-01, Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities (Topic 825). The amendments in this update require that public entities measure equity
investments with readily determinable fair values, at fair value, with changes in their fair value recorded through net
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income. This ASU clarifies that an entity should evaluate the need for a valuation allowance on a deferred tax asset
related to available for sale securities in combination with the entity’s other deferred tax assets. This ASU also
prescribes an exit price be used to determine the fair value of financial instruments not measured at fair value for
disclosure in the fair value note. The amendments within the update are effective for fiscal years and all interim
periods beginning after December 15, 2017. The Company has determined that the evaluation of DTA valuation
allowance and the exit price for financial
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instruments are within scope for the Company. The Company plans to use a third-party to provide the exit pricing
required under ASU 2016-01. The Company’s preliminary analysis does not suggest a material impact to the financial
statements or disclosures from ASU 2016-01.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). ASU 2016-02 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those periods using a modified retrospective
approach and early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently in the process of evaluating the impact of
adoption of ASU 2016-02 on its financial statements and disclosures.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of
Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019,
including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company has created an internal committee focused on the
implementation of ASU 2016-13 and is currently in the process of evaluating data needs and the effects of ASU
2016-13 on its financial statements and disclosures. The Company is also working with the third party ALLL
software provider to help with implementation.

In March 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-08, Receivables-Nonrefundable Fees and Other Costs: Premium
Amortization on Purchased Callable Debt Securities. The ASU amends the guidance related to amortization for
certain callable debt securities held at a premium, requiring the premium to be amortized to the earliest call date. The
guidance is effective for public business entities for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years,
beginning after December 15, 2018. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in an interim period. The
Company has determined the adoption of ASU 2017-08 does not have a material impact on the Company’s financial
statements and has elected to adopt the guidance as of January 1, 2017.

In January 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-02, Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Reclassification of
Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income. The amendments to Topic 220 provide an
option to reclassify stranded tax effects within AOCI to retained earnings in each period in which the effect of the
change in the U.S. federal corporate income tax rate in the Tax Act of 2017 (or portion thereof) is recorded. The
guidance is effective for public business entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim
periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. The Company elected to adopt the guidance early and
reclassified $496 thousand from AOCI to retained earnings related to the Tax Reform.

Note 2. Restrictions on Cash and Due From Banks

The Bank is required to maintain reserve balances in cash or on deposit with the FRB, based on a percentage of
deposits. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the reserve requirement on deposit at the FRB was $0 due to the offset
of a large balance kept at the FRB.

The Company maintains some of its cash in bank deposit accounts at financial institutions other than its subsidiaries

that, at times, may exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses in such
accounts. The Company believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk on cash and cash equivalents.
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Note 3. Investment Securities
Amortized cost and fair values of investment securities are summarized as follows:

AmortizedGrOSS Gross Fair
Securities Available for Sale: Unrealized Unrealized
Cost ] Value
Gains Losses

(In thousands)
December 31, 2017

U.S. Government sponsored agencies $69,315 $ — $(764 ) $68,551
State and political subdivisions 157,652 1,306 (252 ) 158,706
Residential mortgage-backed securities 124,578 98 (1,593 ) 123,083
Residential collateralized mortgage obligations 9,715 51 (80 ) 9,686
Commercial mortgage backed securities 110,483 67 (2,388 ) 108,162
SBA pools 560 — (15 ) 545
Totals $472,303 $ 1,522 $(5,092 ) $468,733
December 31, 2016

U.S. Government sponsored agencies $69,306 $ 20 $(498 ) $68,828
State and political subdivisions 38,718 42 (1,417 ) 37,343
Residential mortgage-backed securities 206,101 42 (2,324 ) 203,819
Residential collateralized mortgage obligations 14,828 77 (89 ) 14,816
Commercial mortgage backed securities 117,272 57 (3,157 ) 114,172
SBA pools 681 — 9 ) 672
Totals $446,906 $ 238 $(7,494 ) $439,650

Amortizgcioss Gross Fair
Securities Held to Maturity Cost nrealized Unrealized

Gains Losses Value
(In thousands)

December 31, 2017
SBA pools $7.854 $ —$ (485 ) $7,369
Totals $7.854 $ —$ (485 ) $7.,369
December 31, 2016
SBA pools $8,824 $ —$ (211 ) $8,613
Totals $8.824 $ —$ (211 ) $8,613

Realized net gains (losses) on sale and call of securities available for sale are summarized as follows:

Year ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015
(In thousands)
Proceeds $66,743 $111,075 $17,184
Gross realized gains 6 491 4
Gross realized losses 1,254 307 -

There was a tax benefit (provision) related to these net realized gains and losses of $482 thousand and $(71) thousand
for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. There was no tax benefit (provision) for the year
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ended December 31, 2015 due to the full valuation allowance.
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A summary of unrealized loss information for investment securities, categorized by security type, as of December 31,
2017 and 2016 was as follows:

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Longer Total

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized

Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
Securities Available for Sale: (In thousands)
December 31, 2017
U.S. Government sponsored agencies $49,070 $(331 ) $19,481 $433 ) $68,551 $(764 )
State and political subdivisions 23,217 (95 ) 24,774 (157 ) 47,991 (252 )
Residential mortgage-backed securities 18,771 (199 ) 88,100 (1,394 ) 106,871 (1,593 )
Residential collateralized mortgage obligations 4,761 (67 ) 3,502 (13 ) 8,263 (80 )
Commercial mortgage backed securities 6,961 (94 ) 81,042 (2,294 ) 88,003 (2,388 )
SBA pools — — 545 (15 ) 545 (15 )
Totals $102,780 $ (786 ) $217,444 $ (4,306 ) $320,224 $(5,092 )
December 31, 2016
U.S. Government sponsored agencies $53,877 $(498 ) $— $— $53,877 $(498 )
State and political subdivisions 33,833 (1,417 ) — — 33,833 (1,417 )
Residential mortgage-backed securities 143,344 (1,539 ) 50,474 (785 ) 193,818 (2,324 )
Residential collateralized mortgage obligations 8,413 (87 ) 122 (2 ) 8,535 (89 )
Commercial mortgage backed securities 96,222 (3,157 ) — — 96,222 (3,157 )
SBA pools — — 673 9 ) 673 9 )
Totals $335,689 $(6,698 ) $51,269 $(796 ) $386,958 $(7,494 )
Securities Held to Maturity:
December 31, 2017
SBA Pools $— $— $7,369 $(485 ) $7,369 $(485 )
Totals $— $— $7,369 $@485 ) $7,369 $485 )
Securities Held to Maturity:
December 31, 2016
SBA Pools $8,613 $(211 ) $— $— $8,613 $211 )
Totals $8,613 $211 ) $— $— $8,613 $211 )

As of December 31, 2017, the Company’s security portfolio consisted of 170 securities, 91 of which were in an
unrealized loss position. As of December 31, 2017, $327.6 million in investment securities had unrealized losses with
aggregate depreciation of 1.67% of the Company’s amortized cost basis. Of these securities, $224.8 million had a
continuous unrealized loss position for twelve months or longer with an aggregate depreciation of 2.09%. The
unrealized losses in all security categories relate principally to the general change in interest rates and illiquidity, and
not credit quality, that has occurred since the securities purchase dates, and such unrecognized losses or gains will
continue to vary with general interest rate level fluctuations in the future. The Company utilizes several external
sources to evaluate prepayments, delinquencies, loss severity, and other factors in determining if there is impairment
on an individual security. As management does not intend to sell the securities, and it is likely that it will not be
required to sell the securities before their anticipated recovery, no declines are deemed to be other than temporary.

At December 31, 2017 and 2016, there were no holdings of securities of any one issuer, other than the U.S.
government and its agencies, in an amount greater than 10% of shareholders’ equity.
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The amortized cost and fair value of investment securities, as of December 31, 2017, by contractual maturity are
shown below. Maturities may differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or
prepay obligations with or without penalties.

. Held to

Available for Sale Maturity

AmortizedFair AmortizEdir

Cost Value Cost  Value
December 31, 2017 (In thousands)
One year or less $201 $201 $—  $—
One to five years 65,535 64,800 — —
Five to ten years 6,590 6,608 — —
Over ten years 155,201 156,193 7,854 7,369
Subtotal 227,527 227,802 7,854 7,369
Residential mortgage-backed securities 124,578 123,083 — —
Residential collateralized mortgage obligations 9,715 9,686 — —
Commercial mortgage backed securities 110,483 108,162 — —
Total $472,303 $468,733 $7,854 $7,369

Securities with carrying amounts of $87.4 million and $87.9 million as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively,
were pledged as collateral on public deposits and for other purposes as required or permitted by law.

Note 4. Loans and Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses
As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, loans consisted of:

December 31,

2017 2016
(In thousands)
Commercial $61,388 $69,161

Commercial real estate 378,802 405,900
Residential real estate 178,296 214,726
Construction real estate 63,569 75,972
Installment and other 18,952 21,053

Total loans 701,007 786,812
Unearned income (863 ) (1,322 )
Gross loans 700,144 785,490
Allowance for loan losses (13,803 ) (14,352 )
Net loans $686,341 $771,138

Loan Origination/Risk Management. The Company has certain lending policies and procedures in place that are
designed to maximize loan income within an acceptable level of risk. Management and the Board of Directors review
and approve these policies and procedures on a regular basis. A reporting system supplements the review process by
providing management with reports related to loan production, loan quality, concentrations of credit, loan
delinquencies and non-performing and potential problem loans. Management has identified the following categories
in its loan portfolios:
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Commercial loans: These loans are underwritten after evaluating and understanding the borrower’s ability to operate
profitably and prudently expand its business. Underwriting standards are designed to promote relationship banking
rather than transactional banking. Management examines current and projected cash flows to determine the ability of
the borrower to repay their obligations as agreed. Commercial loans are primarily made based on the identified cash
flows of the borrower and secondarily on the underlying collateral provided by the borrower. The cash flows of
borrowers, however, may not be as expected and the collateral securing these loans may fluctuate in value. Most
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commercial and industrial loans are secured by the assets being financed or other business assets such as accounts
receivable or inventory and may incorporate a personal guarantee; however, some short-term loans may be made on
an unsecured basis. In the case of loans secured by accounts receivable, the availability of funds for the repayment of
these loans may be substantially dependent on the ability of the borrower to collect amounts due from its customers.

Commercial real estate loans: These loans are subject to underwriting standards and processes similar to commercial
loans, in addition to those of other real estate loans. These loans are viewed primarily as cash flow loans and
secondarily as loans secured by real estate. Commercial real estate lending typically involves higher original amounts
than other types of loans and the repayment of these loans is generally dependent on the successful operation of the
property securing the loan or the business conducted on the property securing the loan. Commercial real estate loans
may be more adversely affected by conditions in the real estate markets or in the general economy. The properties
securing the Company’s commercial real estate portfolio are geographically concentrated in the markets in which the
Company operates. Management monitors and evaluates commercial real estate loans based on collateral, location
and risk grade criteria. The Company also utilizes third-party sources to provide insight and guidance about economic
conditions and trends affecting market areas it serves. In addition, management tracks the level of owner-occupied
commercial real estate loans versus non-owner occupied loans. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, 25.8% and
26.1%, respectively, of the outstanding principal balances of the Company’s commercial real estate loans were secured
by owner-occupied properties.

With respect to loans to developers and builders that are secured by non-owner occupied properties that the Company
may originate from time to time, the Company generally requires the borrower to have had an existing relationship
with the Company and have a proven record of success.

Residential real estate loans: Underwriting standards for residential real estate and home equity loans are heavily
influenced by statutory requirements, which include, but are not limited to, maximum loan-to-value levels,
debt-to-income levels, collection remedies, the number of such loans a borrower can have at one time and
documentation requirements.

Construction real estate loans: These loans are underwritten utilizing feasibility studies, independent appraisal
reviews, sensitivity analysis of absorption and lease rates and financial analysis of the developers and property
owners. Construction real estate loans are generally based upon estimates of costs and values associated with the
completed project and often involve the disbursement of substantial funds with repayment substantially dependent on
the success of the ultimate project. Sources of repayment for these types of loans may be pre-committed permanent
loans from approved long-term lenders, sales of developed property or an interim loan commitment from the
Company until permanent financing is obtained. These loans are monitored by on-site inspections and are considered
to have higher risks than other real estate loans due to their ultimate repayment being sensitive to interest rate changes,
governmental regulation of real property, general economic conditions and the availability of long-term financing.

Installment loans: The Company originates consumer loans utilizing a credit scoring analysis to supplement the
underwriting process. To monitor and manage consumer loan risk, policies and procedures are developed and
modified, as needed. This activity, coupled with relatively small loan amounts that are spread across many individual
borrowers, minimizes risk. Additionally, trend and outlook reports are reviewed by management on a regular basis.

The loan review process complements and reinforces the risk identification and assessment decisions made by lenders
and credit personnel, as well as the Company’s policies and procedures, which include periodic internal reviews and
reports to identify and address risk factors developing within the loan portfolio. The Company engages external
independent loan reviews that assess and validate the credit risk program on a periodic basis. Results of these reviews
are presented to management and the Board of Directors.
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The following table presents the contractual aging of the recorded investment in current and past due loans by class of
loans as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, including nonaccrual loans:

30-59 60-89 Loans
Days Days past due
Past  Past 90 days

Total

Current Past Total

Due Due or more ue

(In thousands)
December 31, 2017
Commercial $59,703 $173 $1,475 $37 $1,685 $61,388
Commercial real estate 371,640 5,490 — 1,672 7,162 378,802
Residential real estate 174,388 1,899 — 2,009 3,908 178,296
Construction real estate 59,291 423 74 3,781 4,278 63,569
Installment and other 18,705 80 81 86 247 18,952
Total loans $683,727 $8,065 $1,630 $7,585 $17,280 $701,007

Nonaccrual loan classification $3,858  $5,859 $38 $7,585 $13,482 $17,340

December 31, 2016

Commercial $67,562 $1,010 $221 $368 $1,599 $69,161
Commercial real estate 399,861 4,564 — 1,475 6,039 405,900
Residential real estate 208,200 3,089 1,355 2,082 6,526 214,726
Construction real estate 67,310 378 43 8,241 8,002 75,972
Installment and other 20,860 135 38 20 193 21,053
Total loans 763,793 9,176 1,657 12,186 23,019 786,812

Nonaccrual loan classification $8,331  $249 $712 $12,186 $13,147 $21,478

The following table presents the recorded investment in nonaccrual loans and loans past due 90 days or more and still
accruing by class of loans as of December 31, 2017 and 2016:

December 31,

2017 2016
Loans Loans
past due past due
90 days 90 days
Nonaccm?ﬂ Nonaccruz(l)[r
more and more and
still still
accruing accruing
interest interest
(In thousands)
Commercial $102 $ —$1,192 $ —
Commercial real estate 8,617 — 5,823 —
Residential real estate 4,599 — 4,247 —
Construction real estate 3,911 — 10,159 —
Installment and other 111 — 57 —
Total $17,340 $ —$21,478 $ —
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The Company utilizes an internal asset classification system as a means of reporting problem and potential problem
loans. Under the Company’s risk rating system, problem and potential problem loans are classified as “Special
Mention,” “Substandard,” and “Doubtful.” Substandard loans include those characterized by the likelihood that the
Company will sustain some loss if the deficiencies are not corrected. Loans classified as Doubtful have all the
weaknesses inherent in those classified as Substandard with the added characteristic that the weaknesses present make
collection or liquidation in full, on the basis of currently existing facts, conditions and values, highly questionable and
improbable. Loans that do not currently expose the Company to sufficient risk to warrant classification in one of the
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aforementioned categories, but possess weaknesses that deserve management’s close attention are deemed to be
Special Mention. Any time a situation warrants, the risk rating may be reviewed.

Loans not meeting the criteria above that are analyzed individually are considered to be pass-rated loans. The
following table presents the risk category by class of loans based on the most recent analysis performed and the
contractual aging as of December 31, 2017 and 2016:

Special
Mention
(In thousands)

Pass Substandard Doubtful Total

December 31, 2017

Commercial $58,769 $2 $ 2,617 $ —$61,388
Commercial real estate 359,768 4,762 14,272 — 378,802
Residential real estate 172,101 — 6,195 — 178,296
Construction real estate 56,661 917 5,991 — 63,569
Installment and other 18,523 — 429 — 18,952
Total $665,822 $5,681 $ 29,504 $ —$701,007
December 31, 2016

Commercial $56,611 $1,046 $11,504 $ —$69,161
Commercial real estate 380,777 11,573 13,550 — 405,900
Residential real estate 209,049 588 5,089 — 214,726
Construction real estate 60,848 5,378 9,746 — 75,972
Installment and other 20,983 4 66 — 21,053
Total $728,268 $18,589 $ 39,955 $ —$786,812

The following table shows all loans, including nonaccrual loans, by classification and aging, as of December 31, 2017
and 2016:

Special
Mention
(In thousands)

Pass Substandard Doubtful Total

December 31, 2017

Current $662,445 $5,681 $ 15,601 $ —$683,727
Past due 30-59 days 1,785 — 6,280 — 8,065
Past due 60-89 days 1,592 — 38 — 1,630
Past due 90 days or more — — 7,585 — 7,585
Total $665,822 $5,681 $ 29,504 $ —$701,007
December 31, 2016

Current $724,075 $13,956 $ 25,762 $ —$763,793
Past due 30-59 days 3,383 4,633 1,160 — 9,176
Past due 60-89 days 810 — 847 — 1,657
Past due 90 days or more — — 12,186 — 12,186
Total $728,268 $18,589 $ 39,955 $ —$786,812

As of December 31, 2017, nonaccrual loans totaling $17.3 million were classified as Substandard. As of December
31, 2016, nonaccrual loans totaling $18.4 million were classified as Substandard.
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The following table presents loans individually evaluated for impairment by class of loans as of December 31, 2017
and 2016, showing the unpaid principal balance, the recorded investment of the loan (reflecting any loans with partial
charge-offs), and the amount of allowance specifically allocated for these impaired loans (if any):

With no related allowance recorded:
Commercial

Commercial real estate
Residential real estate
Construction real estate
Installment and other

With an allowance recorded:
Commercial

Commercial real estate
Residential real estate
Construction real estate
Installment and other

Total

December 31,

2017

Unpaid
Principal
Balance

Recorded
Investment

(In thousands)

$184
4,294
6,585
7,471
349

13,361
10,987
6,774
3,244
236

$53,485 $ 51,141

$ 182
4,154
5,808
6,049
348

13,359
10,987
6,774
3,244
236

2016

Allowance Allowance
for UI.1pa.1d Recorded for

oan Principal Investment Loan
Losses Balance Losses
Allocated Allocated
$ — $2,203 $2,166 $ —
— 6,368 6,136
— 5,176 4,494 —
— 7,522 6,031 —
— 313 313 —
211 13,988 13,988 350
3,735 6,376 6,376 911
943 8,601 8,598 1,424
231 5,288 5,251 237
32 433 433 88
$5152 $56,268 $53,7806 $ 3,010

The table above includes $38.9 million of restructured loans at December 31, 2017 and $43.1 million of restructured

loans at December 31, 2016.

The following table presents loans individually evaluated for impairment by class of loans for the years ended
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, showing the average recorded investment and the interest income recognized:

With no related allowance recorded:
Commercial

Commercial real estate
Residential real estate
Construction real estate
Installment and other

With an allowance recorded:
Commercial

Commercial real estate
Residential real estate
Construction real estate
Installment and other

2017
Average Interest
RecordedIncome

(In thousands)

$3,565 $ 8
4,898 16
4,830 63
6,961 105
352 11
11,265 759
7,279 507
7,770 279
3,653 172
325 8

2016
Average

Interest

RecordedIncome
Investmemecognized InvestmelRecognized Investmelecognized

$8,290
10,467
6,313
6,786
349

14,459
8,919
9,787
4,295
546

$ 59
17
37
20
15

764
272
318
179
14

2015
Average Interest
RecordedIncome

$11,037 $ 553

18,376 592
8,079 79
8,911 196
584 65
15,437 804
14,066 468
12,628 349
5,321 157
690 20
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Total $50,898 $ 1,928 $70,211 $ 1,695 $95,129 § 3,283

If nonaccrual loans outstanding had been current in accordance with their original terms, approximately $935.3
thousand, $1.1 million and $1.8 million would have been recorded as loan interest income during the years ended
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December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Interest income recognized in the above table was primarily
recognized on a cash basis.

Recorded investment balances in the above tables exclude accrued interest income and unearned income as such
amounts were immaterial.

Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses:
For the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, activity in the allowance was as follows:

(li(immercial Residential Construction Installment

Commer(%eaal estate  real estate real estate  and other Unallocated Total

(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31, 2017
Beginning balance $1,449 $ 6,472 $ 4,524 $ 1,119 $ 715 $ 73 $14,352
Provision (benefit) for loan losses (1,071 ) 2,094 (1,385 ) 987 (2,278 ) 433 (1,220 )
Charge-offs 270 ) (244 ) (600 ) (1,411 ) (381 ) — (2,906 )
Recoveries 428 251 304 335 2,259 — 3,577
Net charge-offs 158 7 (296 ) (1,076 ) 1,878 — 671
Ending balance $536  $ 8,573 $ 2,843 $ 1,030 $ 315 $ 506 $13,803
Year Ended December 31, 2016
Beginning balance $2,442 $ 6,751 $ 6,082 $ 1,143 $ 940 $ 34 $17,392
Provision (benefit) for loan losses (3,001 ) 4,954 (180 ) (146 ) 134 39 1,800
Charge-offs (822 ) (5,834 ) (1,726 ) (21 ) (575 ) — (8,978 )
Recoveries 2,830 601 348 143 216 — 4,138
Net charge-offs 2,008 (5,233 ) (1,378 ) 122 (359 ) — (4,840 )
Ending balance $1,449 $ 6,472 $ 4,524 $ 1,119 $ 715 $ 73 $14,352
Year Ended December 31, 2015
Beginning balance $4,031 $ 8,339 $ 7,939 $ 3,323 $ 788 $ 363 $24,783
Provision (benefit) for loan losses (1,146 ) 2,635 (80 ) (1,081 ) 501 (329 ) 500
Charge-offs (1,919 ) (4,731 (2,297 ) (1,570 ) (642 ) — (11,159)
Recoveries 1,476 508 520 471 293 — 3,268
Net charge-offs (443 ) (4,223 (1,777 ) (1,099 ) (349 ) — (7,891 )
Ending balance $2,442 $ 6,751 $ 6,082 $ 1,143 $ 940 $ 34 $17,392
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Allocation of the allowance (as well as the total loans in each allocation method), disaggregated on the basis of the
Company’s impairment methodology, is as follows:

C(immercial Residential ConstructionInstallment

Commercrlélal estate real estate real estate and other UnallocatedTotal
December 31, 2017 (In thousands)
Allowance allocated to:
Loan§ individually evaluated for $211 $3.735 $943 $ 231 $32 § _ $5.152
impairment
Loans collectively evaluated for 5,5 4 ¢3¢ 1,900 799 283 506 8,651
impairment
Ending balance $536  $8,573 $2,843 $ 1,030 $315 $ 506 $13,803
Loans:
Individually evaluated for impairment $13,541 $ 15,141 $12,582 $ 9,293 $584 $ — $51,141
Collectively evaluated for impairment47,847 363,661 165,714 54,276 18,368 — 649,866
Total ending loans balance $61,388 $378,802 $178296 $63569 $18952 $ — $701,007
December 31, 2016
Allowance allocated to:
.Loan.s individually evaluated for $350  $911 $1.424 $ 237 $ 88 $ _ $3.010
impairment
Loans collectively evaluated for 59 5 56 3,100 882 627 73 11,342
impairment
Ending balance $1,449 $6,472 $4,524 $1,119 $715 $ 73 $14,352
Loans:
Individually evaluated for impairment$16,154 $ 12,512  $13,092 $ 11,282  $746 $ — $53,786
Collectively evaluated for impairment 53,007 393,388 201,634 64,690 20,307 — 733,026
Total ending loans balance $69,161 $405,900 $214,726 $ 75972 $21,053 $ — $786,812

In order to determine whether a borrower is experiencing financial difficulty, an evaluation is performed of the
probability that the borrower will be in payment default on any of its debt in the foreseeable future without the
modification. The evaluation is performed under the Company’s internal underwriting policy.

Troubled Debt Restructurings:

TDRs are defined as those loans where: (1) the borrower is experiencing financial difficulties and (2) the restructuring

includes a concession by the Bank to the borrower that the Bank would not otherwise consider.
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The following loans were restructured during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015:

Pre-Modification Post-Modification

l6[111tstand1ng Outstanding Specific
Recorded Recorded Reserves
CO[[Illvestment Investment Allocated
(Dollars in thousands)
December 31, 2017
Commercial 4% 135 $ 135 30
Residential real estate 2 187 187
Construction real estate 1 10 10 —
Total 7% 332 $ 332 $ 30
December 31, 2016
Commercial 1$ 39 $ 39 $ —
Construction real estate 1 62 62 —
Installment and other 1 40 40 —
Total 3% 141 $ 141 $ —
December 31, 2015
Residential real estate 1 $ 82 $ 82 $ —
Construction real estate 2 831 831 11
Installment and other 4 82 82 3
Total 7% 995 $ 995 $ 14

The following table presents loans by class modified as TDRs for which there was a payment default within twelve

months following the modification

TDRs that subsequently defaulted:
Construction real estate
Total

TDRs that subsequently defaulted:
Construction real estate
Total

TDRs that subsequently defaulted:
Construction real estate
Total

during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015:

Nuﬁlber Specific
Investment Reserves

Contracts Allocated

(Dollars in thousands)

2017

1 $ 61 $ —

1 $ 61 $ —

2016

1 $62 $—

1 $62 $—

2015

2 $831 $11

2 $831 $11

Impairment analyses are prepared on TDRs in conjunction with the normal allowance process. TDRs restructured
during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015, required a specific reserve of $30 thousand, $0, and $14
thousand, respectively, which was included in the allowance. TDRs resulted in charge-offs of $471.4 thousand, $2.0
million, and $2.8 million during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015, respectively. The TDRs that
subsequently defaulted required a provision of $0, $0, and $11 thousand to the allowance for the years ended
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The following table presents total TDRs, both in accrual and nonaccrual status, as of December 31, 2017, 2016, and
2015:

December 31,
2017 2016 2015
Number Number Number
of Amount of Amount of Amount
Contracts Contracts Contracts
(Dollars in thousands)
Accrual 108 $33,801 127 $35,158 165 $53,862
Nonaccrual 19 5,146 23 7,909 32 10,641
Total TDRs 127 $38,947 150 $43,067 197 $64,503

Specific reserves on TDRs at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 were $2.4 million and $2.6 million,
respectively.

As of December 31, 2017, the Bank had a total of $51.8 thousand in commitments to lend additional funds on two
loans classified as TDRs.

Loans to Executive Officers and Directors:

Loan principal balances to executive officers and directors of the Company were $198.4 thousand and $347.8
thousand as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Total credit available, including companies in which these
individuals have management control or beneficial ownership, was $324.4 thousand and $513.6 million as of
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. An analysis of the activity related to these loans as of December 31, 2017
and 2016 is as follows:

December 31,

2017 2016

(In thousands)
Balance, beginning $348 $1,933
Additions 13 158
Changes in composition (76 ) (648 )
Principal payments and other reductions (87 ) (1,095 )
Balance, ending $198 $348

Note 5. Loan Servicing and Mortgage Servicing Rights

Mortgage loans serviced for others are not included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The mortgage
loans serviced for others portfolio was transferred to another Fannie Mae-approved servicer on December 31, 2017.
The unpaid balance of loans serviced for others as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 is summarized as follows:

December
31,
202016
(In
thousands)
Mortgage loan portfolios serviced for:
Federal National Mortgage Association (“Fannie Mae”$-$780,348
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Totals $-$780,348
During the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, substantially all of the loans serviced for others had a

contractual servicing fee of 0.25% on the unpaid principal balance. These fees are recorded as “mortgage loan
servicing fees” under “noninterest income” on the consolidated statements of operations.
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Late fees on the loans serviced for others totaled $75 thousand, $53 thousand and $182 thousand during the years
ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. These fees are included in “noninterest income” on the
consolidated statements of operations.

Custodial balances on deposit at the Bank in connection with the foregoing loan servicing were approximately $4.2
million and $4.8 million as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. There were no custodial balances on
deposit with other financial institutions as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.

The MSR asset was sold on December 31, 2017 and the portfolio of loans serviced for others was transferred to
another Fannie Mae-approved servicer. An analysis of changes in the MSR asset for the years ended December 31,
2017, 2016 and 2015 follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015
(In thousands)

Balance at beginning of period $6,905 $6,882 $7.453
Servicing rights originated and capitalized — 581 822
Change in value of MSRs (1,695 ) (558 ) (1,393 )
Servicing rights sold (5,210 ) — —
Balance at end of period $— $6,905 $6,882

The fair values of the MSRs were $6.9 million and $6.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015,
respectively.

Note 6. Other Real Estate Owned

OREDO consists of property acquired due to foreclosure on real estate loans. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, total
OREO consisted of:

2017 2016

(In thousands)
Commercial real estate $1,667 $2,181
Residential real estate 886 2,734
Construction real estate 3,879 3,521
Total $6,432 $8,436

Loans secured by residential real estate properties for which formal foreclosure proceedings were in process at
December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 were $1.4 million and $2.1 million, respectively.

The following table presents a summary of OREO activity for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016:

2017 2016
(In thousands)
Balance at beginning of period $8,436 $8,346

Transfers in at fair value 3,035 5,187
Write-down of value 635 91 )
Gain (loss) on disposal 822 1,699

Cash received upon disposition (5,226 ) (5,157 )
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Sales financed by loans — (1,548 )
Balance at end of period $6,432 $8,436
F-65
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Note 7. Premises and Equipment
As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, premises and equipment consisted of:

December 31,

2017 2016

(In thousands)
Land and land improvements $7,106  $4,822
Buildings 27,914 26,870
Furniture and equipment 19,130 19,067
Total 54,150 50,759
Accumulated depreciation (25,608 ) (24,800 )
Total less depreciation $28,542 $25,959

Depreciation on premises and equipment was $1.4 million, $1.4 million and $1.7 million for the years ended
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Note 8. Deposits
As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, deposits consisted of:

December 31,

2017 2016

(In thousands)
Demand deposits, noninterest bearing $161,677  $174,305
NOW and money market accounts 404,225 405,268

Savings deposits 388,300 407,606
Time certificates, $250,000 or more 21,639 28,531
Other time certificates 151,506 191,710
Total $1,127,347 $1,207,420

As of December 31, 2017, the scheduled maturities of time certificates were as follows:

(In

thousands)
2018 $ 133,816
2019 19,260
2020 5,447
2021 5,914
2022 3,157

Thereafter5,551
Total $ 173,145

Deposits from executive officers, directors and their affiliates as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 were $2.2 million
and $1.6 million, respectively.

Note 9. Borrowings
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Notes payable to the FHLB as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 were secured by a blanket assignment of mortgage
loans or other collateral acceptable to FHLB, and generally had a fixed rate of interest, interest payable monthly and
principal due at end of term, unless otherwise noted. As of December 31, 2017, there was $353.9 million in collateral
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value from loans pledged under the blanket assignment and $73.9 million from investment securities held in
safekeeping at the FHLB. As of December 31, 2017, there were $2.3 million in advances outstanding at the FHLB.
As of December 31, 2017, there were an additional $425.5 million in advances available from the FHLB based on the
current value of the remaining unpledged loans and investment securities. In the event that short-term liquidity is
needed, the Bank has established a relationship with a large regional bank to provide short-term borrowings in the
form of federal funds purchase. The Bank has the ability to borrow up to $20 million for a short period (15 to 60
days) from this bank on a collective basis.

The following table details borrowings as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.
Maturity Date Rate Type Principal due 2017 2016
(In thousands)
April 27,2021 6.343% Fixed Atmaturity $2,300 $2,300
Total $2,300 $2,300
Note 10. Junior Subordinated Debt

The following table presents details on the junior subordinated debt as of December 31, 2017:

Trust I TrustIIIT  TrustIV  Trust V
(Dollars in thousands)

Date of Issue lg/éarch May 11, June 29, September
2000 2004 2005 21, 2006
Amount of trust preferred securities issued $10,000 $ 6,000 $10,000 $10,000
Rate on trust preferred securities 10.875 % 4'18.063% 6.88 % 3'23.849%
(variable) (variable)
Maturity March September 12\13ovember December
8,2030  8,2034 2035 15,2036
August
. . March September September
Date of first redemption 8.2010 8. 2009 ;(3),10 15, 2011
Common equity securities issued $310 $ 186 $310 $310
Junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures owed  $10,310 $ 6,186  $10,310 $ 10,310
Rate on junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures 10.875 % 4'18.063% 6.88 % 3'23.849%
(variable) (variable)

On the dates of issue indicated above, the Trusts, being Delaware statutory business trusts, issued trust preferred
securities (the “trust preferred securities”) in the amount and at the rate indicated above. These securities represent
preferred beneficial interests in the assets of the Trusts. The trust preferred securities will mature on the dates

indicated, and are redeemable in whole or in part at the option of Trinity, with the approval of the FRB. The Trusts

also issued common equity securities to Trinity in the amounts indicated above. The Trusts used the proceeds of the
offering of the trust preferred securities to purchase junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures (the “debentures™)
issued by Trinity, which have terms substantially similar to the trust preferred securities.

Trinity has the right to defer payments of interest on the debentures at any time or from time to time for a period of up
to ten consecutive semi-annual periods (or twenty consecutive quarterly periods in the case of Trusts with quarterly

128



Edgar Filing: WACHOVIA CORP NEW - Form 425

interest payments) with respect to each interest payment deferred. During a period of deferral, unpaid accrued interest
is compounded.

Under the terms of the debentures, under certain circumstances of default or if Trinity has elected to defer interest on

the debentures, Trinity may not, with certain exceptions, declare or pay any dividends or distributions on its common
stock or purchase or acquire any of its common stock.
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In the second quarter of 2013, Trinity began to defer interest payments on $37.1 million of junior subordinated
debentures that are held by the Trusts that it controls. In the first quarter of 2017 all deferred interest was paid in full
and the Company is no longer deferring interest payments on the junior subordinated debt. Interest accrued and
unpaid to securities holders totaled $456.0 thousand and $9.8 million as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company’s trust preferred securities, subject to certain limitations, qualified as
Tier 1 Capital for regulatory capital purposes.

Payments of distributions on the trust preferred securities and payments on redemption of the trust preferred securities
are guaranteed by Trinity. Trinity also entered into an agreement as to expenses and liabilities with the Trusts
pursuant to which it agreed, on a subordinated basis, to pay any costs, expenses or liabilities of the Trusts other than
those arising under the trust preferred securities. The obligations of Trinity under the junior subordinated debentures,
the related indenture, the trust agreement establishing the Trusts, the guarantee and the agreement as to expenses and
liabilities, in the aggregate, constitute a full and unconditional guarantee by Trinity of the Trusts’” obligations under the
trust preferred securities.

Note 11. Description of Leasing Arrangements

In June 2017, the Company purchased the land where the Cerrillos Road branch is located and the two notes and
mortgages on the land were paid off. This land was previously leased.

Operating lease payments for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 totaled $236 thousand, $241
thousand and $272 thousand, respectively.

There were no lease payments under capital leases for 2017.
Commitments for minimum future rentals under operating leases were as follows as of December 31, 2017:

Lease Payments
under Operating
Leases

(In
thousands)
2018 $ 22
2019 —

2020 —

2021 —

2022 —
Thereafter—

Total $ 22

Year

Note 12. Retirement Plans

The Company has an ESOP for the benefit of all employees who are at least 18 years of age and have completed 1,000
hours of service during the plan year. The employee’s interest in the ESOP vests over a period of six years. The ESOP
was established in January 1989 and is a defined contribution plan subject to the requirements of the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.
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The ESOP is funded by discretionary contributions by the Company as determined by its Board of Directors. No
contributions were recorded in 2017, 2016, or 2015.

All shares held by the ESOP, acquired prior to the issuance of ASC 718-40, “Compensation—Stock
Compensation-Employee Stock Ownership Plans” are included in the computation of average common shares and
common share equivalents. This accounting treatment is grandfathered for shares purchased prior to December 31
1992. As permitted
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by ASC 718-40, compensation expense for shares released is equal to the original acquisition cost of the shares if
acquired prior to December 31, 1992. As shares acquired after ASC 718-40 were released from collateral, the
Company reported compensation expense equal to the current fair value of the shares, and the shares became
outstanding for the earnings per share computations.

Shares of the Company held by the ESOP are as follows:

December 31,

2017 2016
Shares acquired before December 31, 1992 214,812 215,147
Shares acquired after December 31, 1992 616,833 456,815
Total shares 831,645 671,962

There was no compensation expense recognized for ESOP shares acquired prior to December 31, 1992 during the
years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.

As a result of the Company restating its financial statements for the years 2009-2012 and bringing the subsequent
years’ financial statements current, it was necessary in 2017 to reevaluate the previous values used for certain
purchases made by the ESOP during such period. In doing so, it was determined that shares purchased by the ESOP
during 2011-2012 were in excess of the revised share values. In order to make the participants of the ESOP whole,
the Bank accrued the estimated principal and interest expense of $1.2 million in 2017 and made a partial cash payment
to the ESOP of $764 thousand in November 2017. Subsequently, in February 2018, the Bank made a final cash
payment to the ESOP of $398 thousand to complete this make-whole transaction. This expense of $1.2 million is
included in other noninterest expense in our consolidated statement of operations.

Under federal income tax regulations, the employer securities that are held by the ESOP and its participants and that
are not readily tradable on an established market or that are subject to trading limitations include a put option
(liquidity put). The liquidity put is a right to demand that the Company buy shares of its stock held by the participant
for which there is no readily available market. The put price is representative of the fair value of the stock. The
Company may pay the purchase price over a five-year period. The purpose of the liquidity put is to ensure that the
participant has the ability to ultimately obtain cash for such participant’s shares of common stock. Due to the
Company’s obligation under the put option, the shares held by the ESOP are classified as temporary equity in the
mezzanine section, and a contra account in the shareholders’ equity section, of the consolidated balance sheets and
totaled $6.0 million and $3.2 million as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

The Company’s employees may also participate in a tax-deferred savings plan (401(k)) to which the Company
provided a partial match in 2017.

Note 13. Stock Incentives

At the Shareholders” Meeting held on January 22, 2015, the Company’s shareholders approved the Trinity Capital
Corporation 2015 Long-Term Incentive Plan (“2015 Plan”) for the benefit of key employees. Under the 2015 Plan,
500,000 shares of voting common stock from shares held in treasury or authorized but unissued common stock are
reserved for granting stock-based incentive awards. The Compensation Committee determines the terms and
conditions of the awards. There were 424,930 Restricted Stock Unit (“RSU”) awards granted under the 2015 Plan in
2017, leaving 30,477 shares of common stock available to be issued under the 2015 Plan as of December 31, 2017. In
February 2018, the Board approved an increase to the number of shares of common stock reserved under the 2015
Plan by 500,000 shares.
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Because share-based compensation awards vesting in the current periods were granted on a variety of dates, the
assumptions are presented as weighted averages in those assumptions. A summary of RSU activity under the 2015
Plan as of December 31, 2017 is presented below:

Weighted
Average Weighted-Average Aggregate
Shares Fair Remaining Intrinsic
Value at Contractual Term, Value (in
Grant in Years thousands)
Date
RSUs
Nonvested as of January 1, 2017 50,228 $ 4.00 1.31 $ 201
Granted 424930 4.75 2.10 2,018
Vested (16,741 ) 4.00 — 67
Forfeited or expired (5,635 ) 4.00 — —
Outstanding Nonvested as of December 31, 2017 452,782 $ 4.70  2.01 $ 2,128

Share-based compensation expense of $273 thousand, $91 thousand, and $0 was recognized for December 31, 2017,
2016 and 2015, respectively. As of December 31, 2017, there was $2.0 million in unrecognized compensation costs
related to unvested share-based compensation awards granted under the 2015 Plan. The cost will be recognized over
the remaining vesting periods.

Note 14. Income Taxes

The current and deferred components of the provision (benefit) for income taxes for the years ended December 31,
2017, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

Year Ended December
31,
2017 2016 2015
(In thousands)

Current provision for income taxes

Federal $3,612 $— $ —
State 1,544 — —
Deferred provision (benefit) for income taxes

Federal 1,829 772 (188
State (268 ) 375 242
Change in valuation allowance 2,013 (14,823 ) (54)

Total provision (benefit) for income taxes $8,730 $(13,676) $ —

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“Tax Reform”), which was enacted on December 22, 2017, made significant change to the
U.S. tax law, including the reduction of the corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%. As a result of the Tax
Reform, the deferred tax assets and liabilities of the Company were remeasured based upon the newly enacted U.S.
statutory federal income tax rate of 21%, which is the rate at which these deferred assets and liabilities are expected to
reverse in the future. As a result of this remeasurement, tax expense of $4.9 million and an increase of $106 thousand
to the valuation allowance was recognized and included in the change in valuation allowance noted in the table above
for the year ended December 31, 2017.
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A deferred tax asset or liability is recognized to reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income
tax reporting purposes. Temporary differences that gave rise to the deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December
31, 2017 and 2016 are as follows:
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2017 2016
Asset Liability Asset Liability
(In thousands)

Unrealized loss on securities available for sale $916 $— $2,870 $—
Venture capital investments 538 — 823

Allowance for loan and lease losses 4,049 — 5,904 —
Premises and equipment — 812 — 1,252
OREO 19 — 755 —
Prepaid expenses — 220 — 756
MSRs — — — 2,731
Net operating loss carryforwards 3,436 — 6,010 —
Business tax credits 2914 — 2,830 —
Other 1,895 86 1,376 5
Total deferred taxes 13,767 1,118 20,568 4,744
Allowance for deferred taxes (2,506 ) — 387 ) —
Net deferred taxes $11261 $1,118 $20,181 $4,744

A valuation allowance is established when it is more likely than not that all or a portion of a net deferred tax asset
will not be realized. Based on income tax losses in 2011 and 2012, the Company determined that it was no longer
more likely than not that its deferred tax assets of $14.6 million at December 31, 2011 would be utilized.

Accordingly, a full valuation allowance was recorded as of December 31, 2011. As of December 31, 2016,
management determined that it was more likely than not that the amount of the deferred tax assets would be utilized in
future periods except for certain capital loss carryforwards. Therefore, $14.8 million of the previously recorded
valuation allowance was reversed leaving $387 thousand in valuation allowance at December 31, 2016.

Under Section 382 of the Code (“Section 382”), the Company experienced an “ownership change” on December 19, 2016,
which limits our ability to use our pre-change of control NOLs and certain other pre-change tax attributes against our
post-change income. The Section 382 limitation, which was calculated at $1.1 million, is applied annually. During
2017, the Company realized approximately $4.8 million of Net Unrealized Built-in Losses (“NUBIL”) which are also
subject to the Section 382 limitation. Accordingly, only $1.1 million of these NUBIL could be recognized in 2017,
with the remaining portion carried forward similar to NOLs. The recognition of the NUBIL prevented the recognition
of any NOLs or other tax attributes in 2017. Further, since NUBIL is recognized before NOLs and tax credits, the
realization of these tax benefits has been deferred by approximately four years. At December 31, 2017 the Company
had $13.6 million and $12.3 million of federal and state NOLs, respectively, which will expire at various dates from
2031 to 2035. The Company does not believe that any of the federal or state NOLs will expire unused. However the
Company also has $2.4 million and $649 thousand of federal and state tax credit carryforwards, respectively, which
will also expire at various dates from 2031 to 2035, of which the Company believes $1.7 million federal tax credit
carryforwards and $645 thousand state tax credit carryforwards will expire unused. Accordingly the valuation
allowance of $2.5 million at December 31, 2017 reflects the now anticipated expiration of these tax credits. Please see
Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors” for more information.
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Items causing differences between the Federal statutory tax rate and the effective tax rate are summarized as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2017 2016 2015

Amount Rate Amount Rate AmounRate

(Dollars in thousands)
Federal statutory tax rate $1,029 3499 9% $828 3398 % $651 34.00 %
Net tax exempt interest income (668 ) (22.71)% (218 ) (895 )% (64 ) (3.34 Y%
Other, net 348 11.83 % 163 6.69 % (190 ) (9.92 )%
Tax credits — 000 % — 0.00 % (424 ) (22.15)%
Federal and state rate change 5,170  175.79 % — 0.00 % — 0.00 %
Werite off of NM receivable 584 19.86 % — 0.00 % — 000 %
State income tax, net of federal benefit 254 8.64 % 374 1535 % 81 423 %
Tax provision (benefit) before change in valuation 6717  228.40 % 1.147 4707 % 54 282 %
allowance
Change in valuation allowance 2,013 6845 % (14,823 ) (608.25)% (54 ) (2.82 Y%
Provision (benefit) for income taxes $8,730 296.84 % $(13,676) 561.18 % $— 0.00 %

The Company has no liabilities associated with uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, therefore,
during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company did not record an accrual for interest and penalties
associated with uncertain tax positions. The Company does not expect any material changes in uncertain tax benefits
during the next 12 months.

The Company is subject to U.S. federal and New Mexico income taxes. The Company’s federal and state income tax
returns are subject to examination by the taxing authorities for years after 2013.

Note 15. Commitments and Off-Balance-Sheet Activities

Credit-related financial instruments: The Company is a party to credit-related commitments with off-balance-sheet
risk in the normal course of business to meet the financing needs of its customers. These credit-related commitments
include commitments to extend credit, standby letters of credit and commercial letters of credit. Such credit-related
commitments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit and interest rate risk in excess of the amount recognized
in the consolidated balance sheets.

The Company’s exposure to credit loss is represented by the contractual amount of these credit-related
commitments. The Company follows the same credit policies in making credit-related commitments as it does for
on-balance-sheet instruments.

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the following credit-related commitments were outstanding:

Contract Amount

2017 2016

(In thousands)
Unfunded commitments under lines of credit $122,910 $118,252
Commercial and standby letters of credit 5,377 7,152
Commitments to make loans 1,909 5,835
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Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any condition
established in the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may
require payment of a fee. The commitments for equity lines of credit may expire without being drawn

upon. Therefore, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future cash requirements. The amount
of collateral obtained, if deemed necessary by the Bank, is based on management’s credit evaluation of the

customer. Unfunded commitments under commercial lines of credit, revolving credit lines and overdraft protection
agreements are commitments for possible future extensions of credit to existing customers. Overdraft protection
agreements are uncollateralized, but most other unfunded commitments have collateral. These unfunded lines of
credit usually do not contain a specified maturity date and may not necessarily be drawn upon to the total extent to
which the Bank is committed.

Commitments to make loans are generally made for periods of 90 days or less. The Company had outstanding loan
commitments, excluding undisbursed portion of loans in process and equity lines of credit, of approximately $128.3
million as of December 31, 2017 and $125.4 million as of 2016, respectively. Of these commitments outstanding, the
breakdown between fixed rate and adjustable rate loans is as follows:

December 31,

2017 2016

(In thousands)
Fixed rate $17,933 $19,663
Adjustable rate 110,354 105,741
Total $128,287 $125,404

The fixed rate loan commitments have interest rates ranging from 0.0 % to 6.5 % and maturities ranging from on
demand to eight years.

FHLB require a blanket assignment of mortgage loans or other collateral acceptable to the FHLB to secure the
Company’ short and long-term borrowings from FHLB. The value of collateral with the FHLB at December 31, 2017
was $427.8 million.

Commercial and standby letters of credit are conditional credit-related commitments issued by the Bank to guarantee
the performance of a customer to a third party. Those letters of credit are primarily issued to support public and
private borrowing arrangements. Essentially all letters of credit issued have expiration dates within one year. The
credit risk involved in issuing letters of credit is the same as that involved in extending loans to customers. The Bank
generally holds collateral supporting those credit-related commitments, if deemed necessary. In the event the
customer does not perform in accordance with the terms of the agreement with the third party, the Bank would be
required to fund the credit-related commitment. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Bank could
be required to make is represented by the contractual amount shown in the summary above. If the credit-related
commitment is funded, the Bank would be entitled to seek recovery from the customer. As of both December 31,
2017 and 2016, $575 thousand has been recorded as liabilities for the Company’s potential losses under these
credit-related commitments. The fair value of these credit-related commitments is approximately equal to the fees
collected when granting these letters of credit. These fees collected were $23 thousand and $26 thousand as of
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and are included in “other liabilities” on the consolidated balance sheets.

Note 16. Preferred Equity Issues
On March 27, 2009, the Company issued Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock to the U.S.

Department of the Treasury (“Treasury”) under the TARP Capital Purchase Program (“CPP”). On December 19, 2016,
the Company issued 82,862 shares of Series C Convertible Preferred Stock pursuant to a private placement. During
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the first quarter of 2017, all of the Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock were redeemed. On
February 2, 2017, the Series C Preferred Stock was converted into non-voting common stock. There was no
outstanding Preferred Stock as of December 31, 2017.
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The difference between the liquidation value of the preferred stock and the original cost is accreted (for the Series B
Preferred Stock) or amortized (for the Series A Preferred Stock) over 10 years and is reflected, on a net basis, as an
increase to the carrying value of preferred stock and decrease to retained earnings. For the year ended December 31,
2017, a net amount of $398 thousand was recorded for amortization. For the year ended December 31, 2016, a net
amount of $178 thousand was recorded for amortization.

Dividends and discount accretion on preferred stock reduce the amount of net income available to common
shareholders. For each of the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 the total of these amounts was $771.0
thousand and $4.3 million, respectively.

Note 17. Litigation

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject, in the normal course of business, to various pending and threatened
legal proceedings in which claims for monetary damages are asserted. On an ongoing basis management, after
consultation with legal counsel, assesses the Company’s liabilities and contingencies in connection with such legal
proceedings. For those matters where it is probable that the Company will incur losses and the amounts of the losses
can be reasonably estimated, the Company records an expense and corresponding liability in its consolidated financial
statements. To the extent the pending or threatened litigation could result in exposure in excess of that liability, the
amount of such excess is not currently estimable.

The Company can give no assurance, however, its business, financial condition and results of operations will not be
materially adversely affected, or that it will not be required to materially change its business practices, based on: (i)
future enactment of new banking or other laws or regulations; (ii) the interpretation or application of existing laws or
regulations, including the laws and regulations as they may relate to the Company’s business, banking services or the
financial services industry in general; (iii) pending or future federal or state governmental investigations of the
business; (iv) institution of government enforcement actions against the Company; or (v) adverse developments in
other pending or future legal proceedings against the Company or affecting the banking or financial services industry
generally.

In addition to legal proceedings occurring in the normal course of business, the Company is the subject of certain legal
proceedings as set forth below.

Insurance Coverage and Indemnification Litigation:

Trinity Capital Corporation and Los Alamos National Bank v. Atlantic Specialty Insurance Company, Federal
Insurance Company, William C. Enloe and Jill Cook, (First Judicial District Court, State of New Mexico, Case No.
D-132-CV-201500083);

William C. Enloe v. Atlantic Specialty Insurance Company, Federal Insurance Company, Trinity Capital
Corporation and Los Alamos National Bank, (First Judicial District Court, State of New Mexico, Case No.
D-132-CV-201500082); and

Mark Pierce v. Atlantic Specialty Insurance Company, Trinity Capitol Corporation d/b/a Los Alamos National
Bank, and Federal Insurance Company, (First Judicial District Court, State of New Mexico, Case No.
D-101-CV-201502381).

In connection with the restatements and investigations, on September 1, 2015, the Company and William Enloe
(“Enloe”), Trinity and the Bank’s former Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board, filed separate suits in New
Mexico State Court. Jill Cook, the Company’s former Chief Credit Officer, was also named in the suit brought by
Trinity. On October 28, 2015, the Court entered an order consolidating the Enloe and Trinity suits. Mark Pierce, the
Bank’s former Senior Lending Officer, filed suit in New Mexico State Court on November 2, 2015. On April 26,
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2016, Pierce filed a motion to consolidate his suit with the Enloe and Trinity suit. In each of the three suits listed
above, the plaintiffs seek coverage and reimbursement from the insurance carriers for the defense costs incurred by
individuals covered under those policies, as defined therein, in addition to causes of action against the insurance
companies for bad faith, breach of insurance contracts and against Atlantic Specialty Insurance for violations of New
Mexico insurance statutes. The suits, with the exception of Enloe’s suit, also seek a determination on the obligations of
the Company
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and/or the Bank to indemnify the former officers. The suits filed by Enloe and Pierce each allege, in the alternative,
negligence against the Company and the Bank for failing to timely put all carriers on notice of his claims. On July 18,
2016, one of the insurance company defendants filed a notice removing the consolidated lawsuits to the United States
District Court for the District of New Mexico. Enloe, Pierce, the Company and the Bank each filed motions to
remand the coverage litigation back to the First Judicial District Court.

On July 26, 2017, U.S. District Judge James Parker issued a memorandum opinion and order granting the motions to
remand filed by Enloe, Cook, Pierce, the Bank and the Company and granting these parties’ request for attorney’s fees
and costs incurred in connection with the motions to remand. The Court ultimately awarded almost $100,000 in fees
and costs. An Order remanding the case back to the First Judicial District Court was entered on September 8, 2017.

Due to the one year delay in federal court, the First Judicial District Court entered an amended scheduling order. This
case is now on a jury trial trailing docket commencing March 11, 2019; however, the Court has ordered the parties to
attend a mediated settlement conference no later than September 24, 2018.

The Company and the Bank will vigorously defend its actions and seek indemnification and coverage from its
insurance carriers as required under the insurance policies. Due to the complex nature, the outcome and timing of
ultimate resolution is inherently difficult to predict.

Note 18. Regulatory Matters

The payment of dividends by any financial institution is affected by the requirement to maintain adequate capital
pursuant to applicable capital adequacy guidelines and regulations, and a financial institution generally is prohibited
from paying any dividends if, following payment thereof, the institution would be undercapitalized.

The Company is subject to restrictions on the payment of dividends and cannot pay dividends that exceed its net
income or which may weaken its financial health. The Company’s primary source of cash is dividends from the
Bank. Generally, the Bank is subject to certain restrictions on dividends that it may declare without prior regulatory
approval. The Bank cannot pay dividends in any calendar year that, in the aggregate, exceed the Bank’s year-to-date
net income plus its retained income for the two preceding years. Additionally, the Bank cannot pay dividends that are
in excess of the amount that would result in the Bank falling below the minimum required for capital adequacy
purposes.

Trinity was placed under a Written Agreement by the FRB on September 26, 2013. The Written Agreement required
Trinity to serve as a source of strength to the Bank and restricts Trinity’s ability, without written approval of the FRB,
to make payments on the Company’s junior subordinated debentures, incur or increase any debt, issue dividends and
other capital distributions or to repurchase or redeem any Trinity stock. Additionally, the Bank was similarly
prohibited from paying dividends to Trinity under the Formal Agreement issued by the OCC on November 30, 2012
and under the Consent Order, which replaced the Formal Agreement, issued on December 17, 2013. The Consent
Order required that the Bank maintain certain capital ratios and receive approval from the OCC prior to declaring
dividends. The Consent Order was terminated by the OCC effective November 3, 2017. The Written Agreement was
terminated by the FRB effective February 28, 2018.

Banks and bank holding companies are subject to regulatory capital requirements administered by federal banking
agencies. Failure to meet capital requirements can initiate regulatory action. The Basel III Rule became effective for
the Company on January 1, 2015 with full compliance with all of the requirements being phased in over a multi-year
schedule, and fully phased in by January 1, 2019. See Item 1 - “Supervision & Regulation” for further discussion
regarding the Basel III Rules. The Company and the Bank met all capital adequacy requirements to which they were
subject as of December 31, 2017.
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Prompt corrective action regulations provide five classifications: well capitalized, adequately capitalized,
undercapitalized, significantly undercapitalized, and critically undercapitalized, although these terms are not used to
represent overall financial condition. If adequately capitalized, regulatory approval is required to accept brokered
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deposits. If undercapitalized, capital distributions are limited, as is asset growth and expansion, and capital restoration
plans are required.

The statutory requirements and actual amounts and ratios for the Company and the Bank are presented below:

. To be well
For Capital o
capitalized under
Actual Adequacy .
prompt corrective
Purposes

action provisions
Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
(Dollars in thousands)

December 31, 2017

Total capital (to risk-weighted assets):

Consolidated $152,076 18.1982% $66,853 8.0000% N/A N/A
Bank only 134,959 16.1823% 66,720 8.0000% $83,399 10.0000%
Tier 1 capital (to risk weighted assets):

Consolidated 132,900 15.9035% 50,140 6.0000% N/A N/A
Bank only 124,481 14.9259% 50,040 6.0000% 66,720 8.0000 %
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital (to risk weighted assets):

Consolidated 106,320 12.7228% 37,605 4.5000% N/A N/A
Bank only 124,481 14.9259% 37,530 4.5000% 54,210 6.5000 %
Tier 1 leverage (to average assets):

Consolidated 132,900 10.1821% 33,427 4.0000% N/A N/A
Bank only 124,481 9.6006 % 33,360 4.0000% 41,700 5.0000 %

December 31, 2016
Total capital (to risk-weighted assets):

Consolidated $178,906 20.0509% $71,381 8.0000% N/A N/A
Bank only 137,873  15.3793% 71,719 8.0000% $89,649 10.0000%
Tier 1 capital (to risk weighted assets):

Consolidated 167,290 18.7490% 53,536 6.0000% N/A N/A
Bank only 126,598 14.1216% 53,789 6.0000% 71,719 8.0000 %
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital (to risk weighted assets):

Consolidated 60,840  6.8186 % 40,152 4.5000% N/A N/A
Bank only 126,598 14.1216% 40,342 4.5000% 58,272 6.5000 %
Tier 1 capital (to average assets):

Consolidated 167,290 12.0120% 35,690 4.0000% N/A N/A
Bank only 126,598 9.1596 % 35,859 4.0000% 44,824 5.0000 %

N/A—not applicable
The Bank’s capital ratios fall into the category of “well-capitalized” as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016.

Trinity and the Bank are also required to maintain a “capital conservation buffer” of 2.5% above the regulatory
minimum risk-based capital requirements. The purpose of the conservation buffer is to ensure that banks maintain a
buffer of capital that can be used to absorb losses during periods of financial and economic stress. The capital
conservation buffer began to be phased in beginning in January 2016 at 0.625% of risk-weighted assets and will
increase by that amount each year until fully implemented in January 2019. An institution would be subject to
limitations on certain activities, including payment of dividends, share repurchases and discretionary bonuses to
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executive officers, if its capital level is below the buffered ratio. Factoring in the fully phased-in conservation buffer
increases the minimum ratios described above to 7.0% for CET1, 8.5% for Tier 1 Capital and 10.5% for Total Capital.
At December 31, 2017 the Bank’s capital conservation buffer was 8.1823 % and the consolidated capital conservation
buffer was 8.2228 %.
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Note 19. Fair Value Measurements

ASC Topic 820 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants. A fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the
asset or transfer the liability occurs in the principal market for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a principal
market, the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The price in the principal (or most advantageous)
market used to measure the fair value of the asset or liability shall not be adjusted for transaction costs. An orderly
transaction is a transaction that assumes exposure to the market for a period prior to the measurement date to allow for
marketing activities that are usual and customary for transactions involving such assets and liabilities; it is not a forced
transaction. Market participants are buyers and sellers in the principal market that are (i) independent, (ii)
knowledgeable, (iii) able to transact and (iv) willing to transact.

The Company uses valuation techniques that are consistent with the sales comparison approach, the income approach
and/or the cost approach. The market approach uses prices and other relevant information generated by market
transactions involving identical or comparable assets and liabilities. The income approach uses valuation techniques
to convert expected future amounts, such as cash flows or earnings, to a single present value amount on a discounted
basis. The cost approach is based on the amount that currently would be required to replace the service capacity of an
asset (replacement cost). Valuation techniques should be consistently applied. Inputs to valuation techniques refer to
the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. Inputs may be observable,
meaning those that reflect the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed
based on market data obtained from independent sources, or unobservable, meaning those that reflect the reporting
entity’s own assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability
developed based on the best information available in the circumstances. In that regard, ASC Topic 820 establishes a
fair value hierarchy for valuation inputs that gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs. The fair value hierarchy is as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the entity has the ability to
access as of the measurement date.

Level 2: Significant other observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by
observable market data.

Level 3: Significant unobservable inputs that reflect a reporting entity’s own assumptions about the assumptions that
market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability.

While management believes the Company’s valuation methodologies are appropriate and consistent with other market
participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial
instruments could result in a different estimate of fair value at the reporting date. Transfers between levels of the fair
value hierarchy are recognized on the actual date of the event or circumstances that caused the transfer, which
generally coincides with the Company’s monthly and/or quarterly valuation process.

Financial Instruments Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

Securities Available for Sale. The fair values of securities available for sale are determined by quoted prices in active
markets, when available. If quoted market prices are not available, the fair value is determined by a matrix pricing,
which is a mathematical technique widely used in the industry to value debt securities without relying exclusively on
quoted prices for the specific securities but rather by relying on the securities’ relationship to other benchmark quoted
securities.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s financial assets and off-balance-sheet instruments measured at fair
value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, segregated by the level of the valuation inputs within
the fair value hierarchy utilized to measure fair value:
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December 31, 2017 Total %evel Level 2 gevel
(In thousands)

Financial Assets:
Investment securities available for sale:

U.S. Government sponsored agencies $68551 $ —$68551 $§ —
State and political subdivisions 158,706 — 158,706 —
Residential mortgage-backed security 123,083 — 123,083 —
Residential collateralized mortgage obligation 9,686 — 9,686 —
Commercial mortgage backed security 108,162 — 108,162 —
SBA pool 545 — 545 —
Total $468,733 § —$468,733 § —

December 31, 2016

Financial Assets:
Investment securities available for sale:

U.S. Government sponsored agencies $68.828 $§ —$68828 $§ —
Stats and political subdivisions 37,343 — 37,343 —
Residential mortgage-backed security 203,819 — 203,819 —
Residential collateralized mortgage obligation 14,816 — 14,816 —
Commercial mortgage backed security 114,172 — 114,172 —
SBA pool 672 — 672 —
Total $439,650 $ —$439,650 $ —

There were no financial liabilities that were measured at fair value as of December 31, 2017 and 2016. There were no
financial assets or financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis for which the Company used
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) during the periods presented in these financial statements. There were no
transfers between the levels used on any asset classes during the year.

Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis

The Company may be required, from time to time, to measure certain financial assets and financial liabilities at fair
value on a nonrecurring basis in accordance with GAAP.

Impaired Loans. Loans for which it is probable that payment of interest and principal will not be made in accordance
with the contractual terms of the loan agreement are considered impaired. Once a loan is identified as impaired,
management measures the amount of that impairment in accordance with ASC Topic 310. The fair value of impaired
loans is estimated using one of several methods, including collateral value, liquidation value and discounted cash
flows. Those impaired loans not requiring an allowance represent loans for which the fair value of the expected
repayments or collateral exceed the recorded investments in such loans.

In accordance with ASC Topic 820, impaired loans where an allowance is established based on the fair value of
collateral require classification in the fair value hierarchy. Collateral values are estimated using Level 3 inputs based
on customized discounting criteria. For collateral dependent impaired loans, the Company obtains a current
independent appraisal of loan collateral. Other valuation techniques are used as well, including internal valuations,
comparable property analysis and contractual sales information.
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OREO. OREO is adjusted to fair value at the time the loans are transferred to OREO. Subsequently, OREO is carried
at the lower of the carrying value or fair value. Fair value is determined based upon independent market prices,
appraised values of the collateral or management’s estimation of the value of the collateral. The fair value of OREO
was computed based on third part appraisals, which are level 3 valuation inputs.
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As of December 31, 2017, impaired loans with a carrying value of $39.8 million had a valuation allowance of $5.2
million. As of December 31, 2016, impaired loans with a carrying value of $34.6 million had a valuation allowance of
$3.0 million.

In the table below, OREO had write-downs during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 of $43 thousand and
$63 thousand, respectively. The valuation adjustments on OREO have been recorded through earnings.

Assets measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 are included in the table
below:

Level Level

Total | ’ Level 3
(In thousands)
December 31, 2017
Financial Assets
Impaired loans $34600 $ —$ —$34,600
Non-Financial Assets
OREO $405 $§ —$ 8405
December 31, 2016
Financial Assets
Impaired loans $31636 $§ —$ —$31,636
MSRs 6,905 — — 6,905
Non-Financial Assets
OREO $582 $§ $ -3$582

See Note 5 for assumptions used to determine the fair value of MSRs. Assumptions used to determine impaired loans
and OREOQ are presented below by classification, measured at fair value and on a nonrecurring basis as of December
31, 2017 and 2016:
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Fair Valuation

value  Technique(s)
December 31, 2017 (In thousands)
Impaired loans

Commercial $13,359 Sales )
comparison
Commercial real 10,987 Sales .
estate comparison
Residential real 6.774 Sales .
estate comparison
Construction real 3.044 Sales .
estate comparison
Installment and other 236 Sales .
comparison
Total impaired loans $34,600
OREO
Residential real $315 Sales .
estate comparison
Construction real 90 Sales
estate comparison
Total OREO $405
December 31, 2016
Impaired loans
Commercial $13,638 Sales )
comparison
Commercial real 5.465 Sales .
estate comparison
Residential real 7.174 Sales .
estate comparison
Construction real 5.014 Sales .
estate comparison
Installment and other 345 Sales .
comparison
Total impaired loans $31,636
OREO
Residential real $483 Sales .
estate comparison
Construction real 99 Sales
estate comparison
Total OREO $582

Fair Value Assumptions

Unobservable Input(s)

Adjustments for differences of
comparable sales
Adjustments for differences of
comparable sales
Adjustments for differences of
comparable sales
Adjustments for differences of
comparable sales
Adjustments for differences of
comparable sales

Adjustments for differences of
comparable sales
Adjustments for differences of
comparable sales

Adjustments for differences of
comparable sales
Adjustments for differences of
comparable sales
Adjustments for differences of
comparable sales
Adjustments for differences of
comparable sales
Adjustments for differences of
comparable sales

Adjustments for differences of
comparable sales
Adjustments for differences of
comparable sales

Adjustment Range,
Weighted Average

(5.00)% to (100.00)%,
(5.97%

(4.25) to (7.62), (6.63)
(3.13) to (7.80), (5.74)
(4.00) to (7.25), (6.18)

(4.25) to (8.00), (6.27)

(9.09) to (9.09), (9.09)

(9.78) to (9.78), (9.78)

(0.00)% to (7.75)%,
(5.79)%

(4.25) to (7.62), (5.96)
(3.13) to (37.50), (6.73)
(4.00) to (7.50), (5.79)

(0.00) to (37.50), (7.70)

(3.16) to (11.76), (9.29)

(12.00) to (12.00), (12.00)

ASC Topic 825 requires disclosure of the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities, including those
financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured and reported at fair value on a recurring basis or

non-recurring basis. The following methods and assumptions were used by the Company in estimating the fair values

of its other financial instruments:
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Cash and due from banks and interest-bearing deposits with banks: The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheet
approximate fair value and are classified as Level 1.

Investment Securities: The fair values for investment securities are determined by quoted market prices, if available
(Level 1). For securities where quoted prices are not available, fair values are calculated based on market prices of
similar securities (Level 2), using matrix pricing. Matrix pricing is a mathematical technique commonly used to price
debt securities that are not actively traded, values debt securities without relying exclusively on quoted prices for the
specific securities but rather by relying on the securities’ relationship to other benchmark quoted securities (Level 2
inputs). For securities where quoted prices or market prices of similar securities are not available, fair values are
calculated using discounted cash flows or other market indicators (Level 3). See below for additional discussion of
Level 3 valuation methodologies and significant inputs.

Non-marketable equity securities: It is not practical to determine the fair value of FHLB stock due to restrictions
placed on its transferability.

Loans held for sale: The fair values disclosed are based upon the values of loans with similar characteristics purchased
in secondary mortgage markets and are classified as Level 3.

Loans: For those variable-rate loans that reprice frequently with no significant change in credit risk, fair values are
based on carrying values. The fair values for fixed rate and all other loans are estimated using discounted cash flow
analyses, using interest rates currently being offered for loans with similar terms to borrowers with similar credit
quality. The fair value of loans is classified as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy.

Noninterest-bearing deposits: The fair values disclosed are equal to their balance sheet carrying amounts, which
represent the amount payable on demand, and are classified as Level 1.

Interest-bearing deposits: The fair values disclosed for deposits with no defined maturities are equal to their carrying
amounts, which represent the amounts payable on demand, and are classified as Level 2. The carrying amounts for
variable rate, fixed term money market accounts and certificates of deposit approximate their fair values at the
reporting date. Fair values for fixed rate certificates of deposit are estimated using a discounted cash flow calculation
that applies interest rates currently being offered on similar certificates to a schedule of aggregated expected monthly
maturities on time deposits.

Long-term borrowings: The fair values of the Company’s long-term borrowings (other than deposits) are estimated
using discounted cash flow analyses, based on the Company’s current incremental borrowing rates for similar types of
borrowing arrangements, and are classified as Level 2.

Junior subordinated debt: The fair values of the Company’s junior subordinated debt are estimated based on the quoted
market prices, when available, of the related trust preferred security instruments, or are estimated based on the quoted
market prices of comparable trust preferred securities, and are classified as Level 3.

Off-balance-sheet instruments: Fair values for the Company’s off-balance-sheet lending commitments in the form of
letters of credit are based on fees currently charged to enter into similar agreements, taking into account the remaining
terms of the agreements. It is the opinion of management that the fair value of these commitments would approximate
their carrying value, if drawn upon, and are classified as Level 2.

Accrued interest: The carrying amounts of accrued interest approximate fair value resulting in a Level 2 or Level 3
classification.
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The carrying amount and estimated fair values of other financial instruments as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 are as

follows:

December 31, 2017

Financial assets:

Cash and due from banks
Interest-bearing deposits with banks
Investments:

Available for sale

Held to maturity

Non-marketable equity securities
Loans, net

Accrued interest receivable on securities
Accrued interest receivable on loans
Accrued interest receivable other

Off-balance-sheet instruments:

Loan commitments and standby letters of credit

Financial liabilities:
Non-interest bearing deposits
Interest bearing deposits
Long-term borrowings
Junior subordinated debt
Accrued interest payable

December 31, 2016

Financial assets:

Cash and due from banks
Interest-bearing deposits with banks
Securities purchased under resell agreements
Investments:

Available for sale

Held to maturity

Non-marketable equity securities

Loans held for sale

Loans, net

Accrued interest receivable on securities
Accrued interest receivable on loans
Accrued interest receivable, other

Off-balance-sheet instruments:

Loan commitments and standby letters of credit

Financial liabilities:
Non-interest bearing deposits

Carrying
amount

Level 1

(In thousands)

$12,893
22,541

468,733
7,854
3,617
686,341
2,795
2,238
21

$23

$161,677
965,670
2,300
37,116
628

$13,537
105,798

439,650
8,824
3,812
771,138
1,873
3,874
296

$26

$174,305 $174,305 $

$12,983
22,541

$—

$161,677

$13,537
105,798

Level 2

$ —

468,733
7,369
N/A
2,795

$ 23

$ —
964,717
2,592

172

439,650
8,613
N/A

Level 3 Total

$ —$12,983
22,541
— 468,733
— 7,369
N/A N/A
680,911 680,911
— 2,795
2,238 2,238
21 21
$ —$23
$ —$161,677
964,717
— 2,592

27,128 27,128

456 628

$ —$13,537
— 105,798
— 439,650
— 8,613
N/A N/A

770,254 770,254

— 1,873
3,874 3,874
296 296

$ —$26

$ —$174,305



Interest bearing deposits
Long-term borrowings

Junior subordinated debt
Accrued interest payable
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1,040,560 —

1,033,115 —

2,300
36,927
10,119

2,698

270

20,582
9,849

1,040,560
2,698
20,582
10,119
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Note 20. Subsequent Events
Repayment of Subordinated Debt and Redemption of Trust Preferred Securities

As reported on the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 13, 2018, on March 8, 2018,
the Company consummated the early redemption of all $10,310,000 principal amount of those certain Junior
Subordinated Deferrable Interest Debentures due 2030 (the “Debt Securities”) issued by Trinity Capital Trust I, a
statutory business trust created under the laws of the State of Delaware, on March 23, 2000. The Debt Securities
carried an interest rate of 10.875% and were scheduled to mature on March 8, 2030. The Debt Securities were
callable at a redemption rate of 101.088%, plus accrued and unpaid interest, for a total redemption price of
$10,983,000.

The redemption of the Debt Securities was approved by the Company’s primary federal regulator on January 24, 2018.
Departure of Director
As reported on the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 21, 2018, on March 20,
2018, Robert P. Worcester, member of the boards of directors of Trinity Capital Corporation and its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Los Alamos National Bank, notified the board of directors of his decision to retire from the Board
immediately following the Company’s 2018 annual shareholder meeting.
Note 21. Condensed Parent Company Financial Information
The condensed financial statements of Trinity Capital Corporation (parent company only) are presented below:
Balance Sheets

December 31,

2017 2016
(In thousands)

Assets

Cash $10,168 $64,336
Investments in subsidiaries 123,615 126,767
Dividend receivable from subsidiary 3,000 —

Other assets 6,282 11,047
Total assets $143,065 $202,150
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

Dividends payable $— $12,965
Junior subordinated debt owed to unconsolidated trusts 36,941 37,116
Other liabilities 578 14,770
Stock owned by Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP) participants 5,961 3,192
Shareholders’ equity 99,585 134,107
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $143,065 $202,150
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Statements of Operations

Dividends from subsidiaries

Interest and other income

Interest and other expense

(Loss) income before income tax benefit and equity in undistributed net income of
subsidiaries

Income tax benefit

(Loss) income before equity in undistributed net income of subsidiaries (in excess of
dividends)

Equity in undistributed net (loss) income of subsidiaries

Net (loss) income

Dividends and discount accretion on preferred shares

Net (loss) income available to common shareholders

Statements of Cash Flows

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Net (loss) income

Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash used in operating activities
Amortization of junior subordinated debt owed to unconsolidated trusts issuance costs
Equity in undistributed net income (loss) of subsidiaries in excess of dividends
Decrease in taxes payable to subsidiaries

(Decrease) increase in taxes receivable

Decrease (increase) in other assets

Decrease in other liabilities

(Decrease) increase in sub debt accrued interest payable

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Investments in and advances to subsidiaries

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Issuance of voting common stock for Board compensation

Issuance of treasury stock for capital raise

Redemption of Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock
Issuance of Preferred C Stock for capital raise

Issuance of voting common stock for rights offering

Issuance of common stock for capital raise

Granted RSU expenses

Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock dividend payments

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities

Net (decrease) increase in cash

Cash:

December 31,
2017 2016
(In thousands)
$3,000 $15,000 $—

2015

175 190 161
(3,624 ) (3,799 ) (3,152
449 ) 11,391 (2,991 )
237 3,657 —

(212 ) 15,048 (2,991 )
(5,578 ) 1,065 4,905
$(5,790) $16,113 $1,914
770 4,272 3,803
$(6,560) $11,841 $(1,889)
December 31,

2017 2016 2015

(In thousands)

$(5,790 ) $16,113 $1,914

14 14 14
5,578 (1,065 ) (4,905 )
— 797 9,051
(312 ) (797 ) (9,051)
1,887 (2,320 ) 18,087
(5,171 ) (1,437 ) (18,442
(9,110 ) 2,842 2,559
$(12,904) $14,147 $(773 )
(480 ) 300 (100 )
$(480 ) $300 $(100 )
212 138 198

— 8,983 —
(37,316 ) — —

— 37,089 —
9,012 — —

— 2,889 —

273 83 —
(12,965 ) — —
$(40,784) $49,182 $198
(54,168 ) 63,629 (675 )
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Beginning of year 64,336 707 1,382
End of year $10,168 $64,336 $707
F-84
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APPENDIX A

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

by and among

ENTERPRISE FINANCIAL SERVICES CORP,
ENTERPRISE BANK & TRUST,

TRINITY CAPITAL CORPORATION

and

LOS ALAMOS NATIONAL BANK

Dated as of November 1, 2018
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AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

This AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER (this “Agreement”) is dated as of November 1, 2018, by and among
Enterprise Financial Services Corp, a Delaware corporation (“Parent”), Enterprise Bank & Trust, a Missouri
state-chartered trust company with banking powers and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent (“Parent Bank™), Trinity
Capital Corporation, a New Mexico corporation (“Company”), and Los Alamos National Bank, a national banking
association and wholly-owned subsidiary of Company (‘“Company Bank”™).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the respective boards of directors of each of Parent and Company have (i) determined that this
Agreement and the business combination and related transactions contemplated hereby are fair to and in the best
interests of their respective entities and shareholders; and (ii) determined that this Agreement and the transactions
contemplated hereby are consistent with and in furtherance of their respective business strategies;

WHEREAS, in accordance with the terms, and subject to the conditions, of this Agreement, (i) Company will merge
with and into Parent, with Parent as the surviving entity (the “Merger”), and thereafter (ii) Company Bank will merge
with and into Parent Bank, with Parent Bank as the surviving entity (the “Bank Merger”);

WHEREAS, for federal income Tax purposes, the parties intend that the Merger shall qualify as a reorganization
under the provisions of Section 368(a) of the Code (a “368 Reorganization”) and intend for this Agreement to constitute
a “plan of reorganization” within the meaning of Section 1.368-2(g) of the Regulations;

WHEREAS, as a material inducement and as additional consideration to Parent to enter into this Agreement, each of
the directors and certain officers of Company and principal holders of the Company Common Stock, solely in their
capacity as shareholders of Company, have entered into a voting agreement with Parent dated as of the date hereof,
the form of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A (collectively, the “Voting Agreements”), pursuant to which each such
Person has agreed, among other things, to vote all shares of Company Stock owned by such Person in favor of the
approval of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set
forth in this Agreement and the Voting Agreements;

WHEREAS, the parties desire to make certain representations, warranties and agreements in connection with the
transactions described in this Agreement and to prescribe certain conditions thereto; and

WHEREAS, the parties desire that capitalized terms used herein shall have the definitions ascribed to such terms
when they are first used herein or as otherwise specified in Article 8 hereof.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises herein contained and for other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:
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ARTICLE 1.

THE MERGER

Section 1.01 The Merger. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, at the Effective Time, Company
shall merge with and into Parent in accordance with the DGCL and the NMBCA. Upon consummation of the Merger,
at the Effective Time the separate corporate existence of Company shall cease and Parent shall survive and continue to
exist as a corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware (Parent, as the surviving entity in the
Merger, sometimes being referred to herein as the “Surviving Entity”).

Section 1.02  Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws. The certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the Surviving
Entity upon consummation of the Merger at the Effective Time shall be the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of
Parent as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time.

Section 1.03  Directors and Officers of Surviving Entity.

(a) Subject to the provisions of Section 1.03(b), the directors and officers of Parent immediately prior to the
Effective Time shall, from and after the Effective Time, serve as directors and officers of the Surviving Entity.

(b) Subject to compliance with applicable Law (including, to the extent applicable, the continued listing
requirements of NASDAQ), prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to take all
necessary corporate or other action so that from and after the Effective Time, at the election of Parent, either (i) the
size of the board of directors of Parent (the “Board of Parent”) is increased by two members, (ii) the size of the Board of
Parent is increased by one member and one of the then incumbent directors resigns from the Board of Parent, or

(iii) two of the then incumbent directors resign from the Board of Parent, and in either case two members of the
Company Board who are independent with respect to Parent for purposes of the listing requirements of NASDAQ,
selected by mutual agreement of Company and Parent (the “Company Directors”), are elected or appointed to the Board
of Parent to fill the vacancies on the Board of Parent created by such increase or resignation, as applicable. Parent,
through the Board of Parent and subject to the Board of Parent’s fiduciary duties to the shareholders of Parent, shall
take all necessary action to nominate the Company Directors for election to the Board of Parent in the proxy statement
relating to the first annual meeting of the shareholders of Parent following the Closing. Until the Effective Time, the
Company shall cause the Company Board to maintain at least two directors who are members of the Company Board
on the date of this Agreement and who are independent with respect to Parent for purposes of the listing requirements
of NASDAQ.

Section 1.04 Bank Merger.

(a) At such time following the Effective Time as Parent may determine, Company Bank will be merged with and
into Parent Bank upon the terms and with the effect set forth in the Plan of Bank Merger, the form of which is
attached hereto as Exhibit B.

(b) Subject to the provisions of Section 1.04(c), the directors and officers of Parent Bank immediately prior to the
effective time of the Bank Merger shall, from and after such effective time, serve as directors and officers of the
Surviving Bank.

(c) Subject to compliance with applicable Law, prior to the effective time of the Bank Merger, Parent Bank shall use
Commercially Reasonable Efforts to take all necessary corporate or other action so that from and after the effective
time of the Bank Merger, at the election of Parent Bank, either
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(1) the size of the board of directors of Parent Bank (the “Board of Parent Bank™) is increased by one member or (ii) one
of the then incumbent directors resigns from the Board of Parent Bank, and in either case one member of the

Company Board, selected by mutual agreement of Company and Parent (the “Bank Director™), is elected or appointed to
the Board of Parent Bank to fill the vacancy on the Board of Parent Bank created by such increase or resignation, as
applicable. Parent Bank, through the Board of Parent Bank and subject to the Board of Parent Bank’s fiduciary duties
to its sole shareholder, shall take all necessary action to nominate the Bank Director for election to the Board of Parent
Bank as promptly as practicable following the Closing.

Section 1.05 Effective Time; Closing.

(a) Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Parent and Company will make all such filings as may be
required by applicable Laws to consummate the Merger. The Merger shall become effective upon filing a certificate of
merger (the “Certificate of Merger”) with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on the Closing Date, in such
form as required by, and executed in accordance with, the relevant provisions of the DGCL (the “Effective Time”).

(b) The Bank Merger shall become effective as set forth in the Plan of Bank Merger. Company Bank shall execute
such certificates or articles of combination and such other documents and certificates as may be reasonably requested
by Parent to effectuate the Bank Merger.

(c) The closing of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the “Closing”) shall take place on such date and at
such time as Parent and Company mutually agree, which such date shall be no later than fifteen (15) days after all of
the conditions to the Closing set forth in Article 6 (other than conditions to be satisfied at the Closing, which shall be
satisfied or waived at the Closing) have been satisfied or waived in accordance with the terms hereof (such date, the
“Closing Date”) remotely via the electronic exchange of documentation between the parties (via electronic transmission
or other similar means for exchanging documentation), or at such place as Parent and Company may mutually agree.
Section 1.06  Additional Actions. If, at any time after the Effective Time, Parent shall consider or be advised that any
further deeds, documents, assignments or assurances in Law or any other acts are necessary or desirable to carry out
the purposes of this Agreement, Company and Company Subsidiaries shall be deemed to have granted to Parent an
irrevocable power of attorney to execute and deliver, in its official corporate capacity, all such deeds, assignments or
assurances in Law or any other acts as are necessary or desirable to carry out the purposes of this Agreement, and the
officers and directors of Parent are authorized in the name of Company, Company Bank and their respective
Subsidiaries to take any and all such action.

Section 1.07 Reservation of Right to Revise Structure. At Parent’s election, without the approval of Company, the
business combination contemplated by this Agreement may alternatively be structured so that (i) Company is merged
with and into any other direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent, (ii) any direct or indirect wholly-owned
Subsidiary of Parent is merged with and into Company, (iii) Company Bank is merged with and into any other direct
or indirect wholly-owned Subsidiary of Parent Bank, (iv) any direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent
Bank is merged with and into Company Bank, or (v) the Bank Merger is delayed or abandoned and each of Company
Bank and Parent Bank continue to operate as separate banking Subsidiaries of Parent; provided, however, that no such
change shall (i) alter or change the Merger Consideration, (ii) impede or delay consummation of the Merger

(including any Closing Regulatory Approval), (iii) adversely or alter or change the federal income Tax treatment of
holders of Company Stock in connection with the Merger from what such treatment would have been absent such
change (including, but not limited to, any such change that would result in the Merger failing to qualify as a
“reorganization” within the meaning of Section 368(a)(1)(a) of the Code), (iv) require submission to or approval of
Company’s shareholders after the plan of merger set forth in this Agreement has been approved by Company’s
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shareholders, or (v) otherwise adversely affect Company, Company Bank or any shareholder of Company in any
material respect. In the event that Parent elects to make such a change, the parties agree to execute appropriate
documents reasonably requested to reflect the change.

ARTICLE 2.

MERGER CONSIDERATION; EXCHANGE PROCEDURES

Section 2.01 Merger Consideration. Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, at the Effective Time,
automatically by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of Parent, Company, or any shareholder of
Company:

(a) Each share of Parent Common Stock that is issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall
remain issued and outstanding following the Effective Time and shall be unchanged by the Merger.

(b) Each share of Company Common Stock owned directly by Parent, Company or any of their respective
Subsidiaries, as treasury stock or otherwise (other than shares in trust accounts, managed accounts and the like for the
benefit of customers), immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be cancelled and retired at the Effective Time
without any conversion thereof, and no payment shall be made with respect thereto.

(c) Subject to the other provisions of this Article 2, each share of Company Common Stock issued and outstanding
immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than Company Common Stock to be cancelled pursuant to Section
2.01(b) and Dissenting Shares) shall be converted into the right to receive (i) the Per Share Cash Consideration and
(1) 0.1972 (the “Exchange Ratio”) shares of Parent Common Stock (the “Per Share Stock Consideration” and, together
with the Per Share Cash Consideration, the “Merger Consideration”).

Section 2.02  Cancellation of Company Stock. After the Effective Time, all shares of Company Common Stock shall
no longer be issued and outstanding and shall automatically be cancelled and shall cease to exist, except as to
Dissenting Shares, and shall thereafter represent only the right to receive the Merger Consideration (and any cash in
lieu of fractional shares pursuant to Section 2.04 and any dividends and other distributions pursuant to Section
2.08(d)) and each holder of a Certificate or a Book-Entry Share will cease to have any rights with respect thereto,
except the right to receive the Merger Consideration (and any cash in lieu of fractional shares pursuant to Section 2.04
and any dividends and other distributions pursuant to Section 2.08(d)).

Section 2.03  Stock-Based Awards.

(a) Unless otherwise noted, the provisions of this Section 2.03 pertain to all restricted stock units and other
stock-based awards granted by Company, including but not limited to awards granted under the Company Stock
Plans, issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (collectively, the “Company Stock Awards”).
(b) Parent and Company shall take all actions necessary so that, at the Effective Time,

(i) each Company Stock Award that is unvested immediately prior to the Effective Time and will not vest at the
Effective Time pursuant to its terms (the “Assumed Stock Awards”) shall be converted into an award consisting of that
number of restricted stock units of Parent Common Stock equal to the sum of (x) the product of (A) the number of
shares of Company Stock subject to such Assumed Stock Award and (B) the Per Share Stock Consideration and
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(y) the product of (A) the number of shares of Company Stock subject to such Assumed Stock Award and (B) the
quotient obtained by dividing (i) the Per Share Cash Consideration, by (ii) the Average VWARP as of the Closing Date
(such sum rounded down to the nearest whole share);

(i) the Assumed Stock Awards shall have the same vesting schedule (including any acceleration of vesting as
provided in the Company Stock Plan and any applicable award agreement evidencing such grant) as the Company
Stock Award and otherwise shall have the same terms and conditions as such Company Stock Award; provided, that
Parent shall convert Company Stock Awards into Assumed Stock Awards in such a manner as to ensure that the
Assumed Stock Awards are not subject to, or are compliant with, Section 409A of the Code as a result of the
assumption and conversion; and

(iii)) each Company Stock Award that is unsettled or unvested immediately prior to the Effective Time and will vest
at the Effective Time pursuant to its terms shall vest and be free of any restrictions and be exchanged for the Merger
Consideration.

Section 2.04 Fractional Shares. Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, no fractional shares of Parent Common
Stock and no certificates or scrip therefor, or other evidence of ownership thereof, will be issued in the Merger. Each
holder of shares of Company Common Stock exchanged pursuant to the Merger who would otherwise have been
entitled to receive a fraction of a share of Parent Common Stock (after taking into account all Certificates and
Book-Entry Shares delivered by such holder) shall receive, in lieu thereof, an amount of cash (without interest and
rounded to the nearest whole cent) determined by multiplying the fractional share (rounded to the nearest one
hundredth of a share) by the Average VWAP as of the Closing Date.

Section 2.05 Plan of Reorganization. It is intended that the Merger shall constitute a 368 Reorganization, and that
this Agreement shall constitute a “plan of reorganization” as that term is used in Sections 354 and 361 of the Code.
From and after the date of this Agreement and until the Closing, each party hereto shall use Commercially Reasonable
Efforts to cause the Merger to qualify as a 368 Reorganization.

Section 2.06  Dissenting Shares. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, shares of Company
Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time and held by a shareholder who has not voted in
favor of the Merger or consented thereto in writing and who has complied with the applicable provisions of the
NMBCA (“Dissenting Shares”) shall not be converted into a right to receive the Merger Consideration, unless such
shareholder fails to perfect or withdraws or otherwise loses his, her or its right to appraisal. From and after the
Effective Time, a shareholder who has properly exercised such appraisal rights shall not have any rights of a
shareholder of Company or the Surviving Entity with respect to shares of Company Stock, except those provided
under applicable provisions of the NMBCA (any shareholder duly making such demand being hereinafter called a
“Dissenting Shareholder”). A Dissenting Shareholder shall be entitled to receive payment of the appraised value of each
share of Company Stock in accordance with the applicable provisions of the NMBCA, unless, after the Effective
Time, such shareholder fails to perfect or withdraws or loses the right to appraisal, in which case such shares of
Company Stock shall be converted into and represent only the right to receive the Merger Consideration (and any cash
in lieu of fractional shares pursuant to Section 2.04 and any dividends and other distributions pursuant to Section
2.08(d)) for such shares, without interest thereon, upon surrender of the shareholder’s Certificates pursuant to Section
2.08. Parent shall have the right to participate in all discussions, negotiations and proceedings with respect to any such
demands for appraisal. Company shall not, except with the prior written consent of Parent, voluntarily make, or offer
to make, any payment with respect to, or settle or offer to settle, any such demand for appraisal.
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Company shall not waive any failure to timely deliver a written demand for appraisal or the taking of any other action
by such Dissenting Shareholder as may be necessary to perfect appraisal rights under the NMBCA. Any payments
made in respect of Dissenting Shares shall be made by Parent as the Surviving Entity.

Section 2.07 Deposit of Merger Consideration.

(a) Ator before the Effective Time, Parent shall deposit, or shall cause to be deposited, with the Exchange Agent

(1) stock certificates or, at Parent’s option, evidence of shares in book entry form, representing the number of shares of
Parent Common Stock sufficient to issue the Aggregate Stock Consideration, and (ii) an aggregate amount of cash
sufficient to pay (A) the Aggregate Cash Consideration, plus (B) any cash payable in lieu of fractional shares pursuant
to Section 2.04 and any dividends and other distributions payable pursuant to Section 2.08(d) (collectively, the
“Exchange Fund”), and Parent shall instruct the Exchange Agent to timely pay the Merger Consideration in accordance
with the terms of this Agreement.

(b) Any portion of the Exchange Fund that remains unclaimed as of the first anniversary of the Closing Date (as well
as any interest or proceeds from any investment thereof) shall be delivered by the Exchange Agent to Parent. Any
former shareholders of Company who have not theretofore complied with Section 2.08 shall thereafter look only to
Parent for payment of the Merger Consideration (and any cash in lieu of fractional shares pursuant to Section 2.04 and
dividends and other distributions pursuant to Section 2.08(d)), in each case without any interest thereon. If any
Certificate or Book-Entry Share has not been surrendered prior to the time that is immediately prior to the time at
which the Merger Consideration in respect of such Certificate or Book-Entry Share would otherwise escheat to or
become the property of any Governmental Authority, any such shares, cash, dividends or distributions in respect of
such Certificate or Book-Entry Share shall, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, become the property of the
Surviving Corporation, free and clear of all claims or interest of any Person previously entitled thereto. Neither the
Exchange Agent nor any party to this Agreement shall be liable to any holder of Company Common Stock
represented by any Certificate or Book-Entry Share for any Merger Consideration (and any cash in lieu of fractional
shares pursuant to Section 2.04 and dividends and other distributions pursuant to Section 2.08(d)) which is paid to a
public official pursuant to applicable abandoned property, escheat or similar Laws.

Section 2.08 Exchange Procedures.

(a) Parent shall cause the Exchange Agent, as soon as practicable after the Effective Time but in no event later than
ten (10) days thereafter, to mail to each holder of a Certificate and each holder of a Book-Entry Share(s), (i) a letter of
transmittal (‘“Letter of Transmittal””), which shall specify that delivery shall be effected, and risk of loss and title to the
Certificates and Book-Entry Shares shall pass, only upon proper delivery of the Certificates to the Exchange Agent or,
in the case of Book-Entry Shares, upon adherence to the procedures set forth in the Letter of Transmittal, and

(ii) instructions for use in effecting the surrender of the Certificates or, in the case of Book-Entry Shares, the surrender
of such shares, for payment of the Merger Consideration. The Letter of Transmittal shall be subject to the approval of
Company (which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).

(b) Upon surrender to the Exchange Agent of a Certificate or Book-Entry Share(s), together with the Letter of
Transmittal, duly completed and validly executed in accordance with the instructions thereto, and such other
customary documents as may be reasonably required by the Exchange Agent, the holder of such Certificate or
Book-Entry Share(s) shall be entitled to receive in exchange therefor (i) a certificate (or evidence of shares in
book-entry form, as applicable) representing the number of shares of Parent Common Stock that such holder is
entitled to receive pursuant to the provisions of this Article 2,
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and (ii) a check in the amount (after giving effect of any Tax withholding as provided in Section 2.08(e)) equal to

(A) the cash consideration such holder is entitled to receive pursuant to the provisions of Section 2.01(c), plus (B) the
amount of any cash payable in lieu of any fractional shares of Parent Common Stock pursuant to Section 2.04, plus
(C) any dividends and other distributions that such holder has the right to receive pursuant to Section 2.08(d). No
interest shall be paid or accrued for the benefit of holders of the Certificates or Book-Entry Shares on the Merger
Consideration payable in respect of the Certificates or Book-Entry Shares. Until surrendered as contemplated by this
Section 2.08(b), each Certificate and each Book-Entry Share shall be deemed at any time after the Effective Time to
represent only the right to receive, upon surrender, the Merger Consideration (and any cash in lieu of fractional shares
pursuant to Section 2.04 and dividends and other distributions pursuant to Section 2.08(d)).

(c) Inthe event a transfer of ownership of a Certificate is not registered in the stock transfer records of Company, the
Merger Consideration (and any cash in lieu of fractional shares pursuant to Section 2.04 and dividends and other
distributions pursuant to Section 2.08(d)) payable with respect to such Certificate shall be issued or paid to a Person
other than the Person in whose name the Certificate is registered if (i) such Certificate shall be properly endorsed or
otherwise be in proper form for transfer, (ii) the Person requesting such payment or issuance shall pay any transfer or
other similar Taxes required by reason of the payment or issuance to a Person other than the registered holder of the
Certificate or establish, to the reasonable satisfaction of Parent, that such Tax has been paid or is not applicable, and
(iii) the Person requesting such payment or issuance shall have complied with the provisions of the Letter of
Transmittal. In the event of a dispute with respect to ownership of any shares of Company Common Stock represented
by any Certificate, Parent and Exchange Agent shall be entitled to tender to the custody of any court of competent
jurisdiction any Merger Consideration (and any cash in lieu of fractional shares pursuant to Section 2.04 and
dividends and other distributions pursuant to Section 2.08(d)) represented by such Certificate and file legal
proceedings interpleading all parties to such dispute, and will thereafter be relieved with respect to any claims thereto.
(d) If adividend or other distribution is declared by Parent in respect of the Parent Common Stock, the record date
for which is at or after the Effective Time, such declaration shall include dividends or other distributions in respect of
all shares of Parent Common Stock issuable pursuant to this Agreement. No dividends or other distributions in respect
of the Parent Common Stock shall be paid to any holder of any unsurrendered Certificate or Book-Entry Shares until
such Certificate or Book-Entry Shares are surrendered for exchange in accordance with this Article 2. Subject to
applicable Laws, following surrender of any such Certificate or Book-Entry Shares and the issuance of Parent
Common Stock in exchange therefor, there shall be paid to the holder of such Parent Common Stock, (i) at the time of
such surrender, the dividends or other distributions with a record date after the Effective Time but prior to such
surrender payable with respect to such Parent Common Stock and not paid and (ii) at the appropriate payment date,
the dividends or other distributions payable with respect to such Parent Common Stock with a record date after the
Effective Time but with a payment date subsequent to surrender.

(e) Parent (through the Exchange Agent, if applicable) shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from any amounts
otherwise payable pursuant to this Agreement to any holder of Company Common Stock such amounts as Parent is
required to deduct and withhold under applicable Law. Any amounts so deducted and withheld shall be remitted to the
appropriate Governmental Authority and upon such remittance shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as
having been paid to such holder of Company Common Stock in respect of which such deduction and withholding was
made by Parent or the Exchange Agent, as applicable.

Section 2.09  Anti-Dilution Provisions. In the event that before the Effective Time Parent changes (or establishes a
record date for changing) the number of, or provides for the exchange of, shares of Parent Common Stock issued and
outstanding prior to the Effective Time as a result of a stock split, reverse stock
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split, stock dividend or distribution, recapitalization, reclassification, exchange or similar transaction with respect to
the outstanding Parent Common Stock, the Merger Consideration will be appropriately and proportionately adjusted to
provide the holders of Company Common Stock and Company Stock Awards the same economic effect as
contemplated by this Agreement based on the shares of Parent Common Stock issued and outstanding prior to such
event; provided, that for the avoidance of doubt, no such adjustment shall be made with regard to the Parent Common
Stock if (a) Parent repurchases outstanding shares of Parent Common Stock, (b) Parent issues additional shares of
Parent Common Stock and receives consideration for such shares in a bona fide third party transaction, or (c) Parent
issues employee or director stock options, restricted stock awards, grants or similar equity awards or Parent issues
Parent Common Stock upon exercise or vesting of any such options, grants or awards.

Section 2.10 Lost, Stolen, or Destroyed Certificates. In the event any Certificate shall have been lost, stolen or
destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the Person claiming such Certificate to be lost, stolen or
destroyed and, if reasonably required by Parent or the Exchange Agent, the posting by such Person of a bond in such
reasonable amount as Parent may determine is reasonably necessary as indemnity against any claim that may be made
against it with respect to such Certificate, the Exchange Agent will issue in exchange for such lost, stolen or destroyed
Certificate the Merger Consideration deliverable in respect thereof pursuant to this Agreement.

ARTICLE 3.

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF COMPANY AND COMPANY BANK

Section 3.01 Making of Representations and Warranties.

(a) On or prior to the date hereof, Company and Company Bank have delivered to Parent a schedule (the “Company
Disclosure Schedule”), the section numbers of which are numbered to correspond to the section numbers of this
Agreement to which they refer, setting forth items the disclosure of which is necessary or appropriate either in
response to an express disclosure requirement contained in a provision hereof or as an exception to one or more
representations or warranties contained in this Article 3 or to one or more of Company’s or Company Bank’s covenants
contained in Article 5; provided, however, that (i) nothing in the Company Disclosure Schedule shall be deemed
adequate to disclose an exception to a representation or a warranty unless such schedule identifies the exception with
reasonable particularity and describes the relevant facts in reasonable detail and (ii) the mere inclusion of an item in
the Company Disclosure Schedule as an exception to a representation or warranty shall not be deemed an admission
by the Company that such item represents a material exception or fact, event or circumstance or that such item is
reasonably likely to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

(b) Except as set forth in (i) the Company Reports filed prior to the date hereof and (ii) the Company Disclosure
Schedule (subject to Section 9.12), Company and Company Bank hereby represent and warrant to Parent as follows in
this Article 3.

(c) Notwithstanding any other provision in this Article 3 to the contrary, any representations or warranties of
Company Bank shall be made on behalf of Company Bank, and where applicable, Company Bank’s wholly-owned
subsidiaries, and not on behalf of Company or any of Company’s subsidiaries, or of any Affiliate of Company or of
Company Bank. Further, the representations and warranties of Company Bank in this Article 3 shall be limited solely
with respect to Company Bank, and where applicable, Company Bank’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, to the extent
necessary if (i) a Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over Company Bank by written communication
addressed to Company Bank or its board of directors informs Company Bank or its board of directors that such
Governmental Authority has determined that any obligation
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of Company Bank resulting from such representations or warranties violates Sections 23A or 23B of the Federal
Reserve Act, as amended, or another law, rule, regulation or policy applicable to Company Bank or Company, (ii) a
Governmental Authority notifies Company Bank that such representations or warranties, or the obligations resulting
therefrom, would result in an adverse impact on Company Bank’s examination ratings or (iii) such representations or
warranties, or the obligations resulting therefrom, would give rise to civil money penalties or other sanctions.

Section 3.02  Organization, Standing and Authority.

(a) Company is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State of
New Mexico, and is duly registered as a bank holding company under the BHC Act, and has not elected to be a treated
as a financial holding company under the GLB Act. Company has full corporate power and authority to carry on its
business as now being conducted and to own, lease and operate the properties and assets now owned and being
operated by it. Company is duly licensed, registered or qualified to do business in each jurisdiction in which its
ownership or leasing of property and assets or the nature of its business requires such licensing, registration or
qualification, except where the failure to be so licensed, registered or qualified would not have a Material Adverse
Effect on Company, and all such licenses, registrations and qualifications are in full force and effect in all material
respects.

(b) Company Bank is a national bank, chartered by the OCC, subject to regulation by the OCC. Company Bank has
full corporate power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and assets and to engage in the business and
activities now conducted by it. Company Bank is duly licensed, registered or qualified to do business in the State of
New Mexico and each other jurisdiction where its ownership or leasing of property and assets or the conduct of its
business requires such licensing, registration or qualification, except where the failure to be so licensed, registered or
qualified would not have a Material Adverse Effect on Company Bank, and all such licenses, registrations and
qualifications, where applicable, are in full force and effect in all material respects.

(c) The minute books of Company and each Company Subsidiary (including Company Bank) accurately record in
all material respects all corporate actions of its equityholders and board of directors, board of managers, trustees or
similar governing body (including any committees with respect thereto), in accordance with the normal business
practice of Company or such Company Subsidiary.

(d) Company and Company Bank have delivered or otherwise made available to Parent true, correct and complete
copies of the articles of incorporation and bylaws of Company, and all similar organizational and governing
documents of each Company Subsidiary (including Company Bank), each as amended to date and in effect as of the
date hereof. None of Company, Company Bank or any other Company Subsidiary is in violation in any material
respect of any of the terms of its articles of incorporation, bylaws, or similar organizational or governing documents.
Section 3.03  Capital Stock.

(a) The authorized capital stock of Company consists solely of (i) 20,000,000 shares of Company Voting Common
Stock, of which, as of the date of this Agreement, 11,660,491 shares are issued and outstanding and no shares are held
in treasury, (ii) 20,000,000 shares of Company Non-Voting Common Stock, of which, as of the date of this
Agreement, 8,044,292 shares are issued and outstanding and no shares are held in treasury, and (iii) 1,000,000 shares
of preferred stock, no par value per share (the “Company Preferred Stock” and together with the Company Common
Stock, the “Company Stock™), of which, as of the date of this Agreement, none are issued and outstanding. As of the
date of this Agreement, no shares of Company Common Stock or Company Preferred Stock were reserved for
issuance, except for 252,952 shares
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of Company Common Stock reserved for issuance pursuant to the Company Stock Plans in connection with currently
outstanding Company Stock Awards. The ownership table set forth on Section 3.03(a) of the Company Disclosure
Schedule sets forth a true, correct and complete list of the security holders of Company as of the date of this
Agreement, showing the number of shares of Company Common Stock and any other securities of Company held by
each such security holder, and in the case of options, warrants and other exercisable securities, the grant and vesting
dates thereof, the exercise price thereof and the number and type of securities issuable thereunder, and, in the case of
restricted stock units, the grant and vesting dates thereof and the number and type of securities issuable upon vesting
thereunder.

(b) No Company Subsidiary owns any shares of Company Stock. The outstanding shares of Company Common
Stock are, and all Company Common Stock reserved for issuance as noted in Section 3.03(a) above shall be when
issued, duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable, and are not subject to, and have not been or will
not be issued in violation of, any preemptive or similar rights of any Company shareholder. All shares of Company
Common Stock issued and outstanding have been issued in compliance in all material respects with and not in
violation of any applicable federal or state securities Laws. The Closing Date Share Certification will accurately set
forth the number of shares of Company Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective
Time.

(c) Except for the Company Stock Awards, as of the date of this Agreement there are no options, warrants or other
similar rights, convertible or exchangeable securities, restricted shares, restricted stock units, “phantom stock” rights,
stock appreciation rights, stock based performance units or Contracts to which Company or any Company Subsidiary
is a party, in each case of any character relating to the issued or unissued capital stock or other securities of Company
or any Company Subsidiary or obligating Company or any Company Subsidiary to issue (whether upon conversion,
exchange or otherwise) or sell any share of capital stock of, or other equity interests in or other securities of, Company
or any Company Subsidiary. As of the date of this Agreement, there are no obligations, contingent or otherwise, of
Company or any Company Subsidiary to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any shares of Company Stock or
capital stock of any Company Subsidiary or any other securities of Company or any Company Subsidiary or to
provide funds to or make any investment (in the form of a loan, capital contribution or otherwise) in any Company
Subsidiary. There are no Contracts with respect to the voting of Company Stock to which Company or any Company
Subsidiary is a party and, to the Knowledge of Company, except for the Voting Agreements, no such Contracts
between any Persons exist. There are no other Contracts under which Company is obligated to register the sale of any
of its securities under the Securities Act. Since June 30, 2018 through the date of this Agreement, the Company has
not (i) issued or repurchased any shares of Company Common Stock, or other equity securities of the Company or
(ii) issued or awarded any Company Stock Awards.

(d) Section 3.03(d) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate list, as of the date
hereof, of (i) the number of shares of Company Common Stock subject to outstanding Company Stock Awards and
the number of shares of Company Common Stock reserved for future issuance for the Company Stock Awards; (ii) all
outstanding Company Stock Awards, indicating with respect to each such award the name of the holder thereof, the
grant or issue date, the number of shares of Company Common Stock subject to such award and, to the extent
applicable, the exercise price, expiration date and vesting schedule. Company has provided or made available to
Parent complete and accurate copies of the Company Stock Plans and the forms of all award agreements related
thereto.

(e) The stock ledgers and the stock transfer books of Company and each Company Subsidiary are complete and
correct in all material respects.
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Section 3.04 Subsidiaries.

(a) Section 3.04(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate list of all Company
Subsidiaries, including the jurisdiction of organization and all jurisdictions in which such Subsidiary is qualified to do
business. (i) Company owns, directly or indirectly, all of the issued and outstanding equity securities of each
Company Subsidiary, (ii) no equity securities of any Company Subsidiary are, or may become, required to be issued
(other than to Company) by reason of any Contractual right or otherwise, (iii) there are no Contracts by which any
Company Subsidiary is or may be bound to sell or otherwise transfer any of its equity securities (other than to
Company or a wholly-owned Company Subsidiary), (iv) there are no Contracts relating to Company’s rights to vote or
to dispose of the equity securities of any Company Subsidiary, (v) all of the equity securities of each Company
Subsidiary are held by Company, directly or indirectly, are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and
non-assessable, are not subject to preemptive or similar rights, and (vi) all of the equity securities of each Company
Subsidiary that are owned, directly or indirectly, by Company or any Subsidiary thereof, are free and clear of all
Liens, other than restrictions on transfer under applicable securities Laws.

(b) Neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary, owns, beneficially or of record, either directly or indirectly, any
stock or equity interest in any depository institution (as defined in 12 U.S.C. § 1813(c)(1)), credit union, savings and
loan holding company, bank holding company, insurance company, mortgage or loan broker or any other financial
institution, other than Company Bank. Neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary beneficially owns, directly or
indirectly (other than in a bona fide fiduciary capacity or in satisfaction of a debt previously contracted), any equity
securities or similar interests of any Person, or any interest in a partnership or joint venture of any kind.

(c) Each Company Subsidiary (other than Company Bank) has been duly organized and is in good standing under
the Laws of the jurisdiction of its organization and is duly licensed, registered or qualified to do business and is in
good standing in the jurisdictions in which its ownership or leasing of property and assets or the nature of its business
requires such licensing, registration or qualification, except where the failure to be so licensed, registered or qualified
would not have a Material Adverse Effect on Company, and all such licenses, registrations and qualifications are in
full force and effect in all material respects.

Section 3.05 Power and Authority Relative to this Agreement; No Conflict.

(a) Each of Company and Company Bank has all requisite power and authority to execute and deliver this
Agreement and all other agreements and documents contemplated hereby to which it is a party, to perform its
obligations hereunder and thereunder, and, subject to making or obtaining the Regulatory Approvals, the Requisite
Company Shareholder Approval, and the Company Bank Shareholder Approval to consummate the transactions
contemplated hereby and thereby.

(b) Subject only to the receipt of the Requisite Company Shareholder Approval, the execution and delivery of this
Agreement, and each other agreement and document contemplated hereby to which Company is a party, and the
consummation by Company of the transactions contemplated hereby, including the Merger, have been duly authorized
by all necessary corporate action of Company and the Company Board on or prior to the date hereof. The Requisite
Company Shareholder Approval is the only vote or consent of the holders of any class or series of Company’s capital
stock necessary to approve and adopt this Agreement, approve the Merger, and consummate the Merger and the other
transactions contemplated hereby. Subject only to the receipt of the Company Bank Shareholder Approval, the
execution and delivery of this Agreement, and each other agreement and document contemplated hereby to which
Company Bank is a party, and the consummation by Company Bank of the transactions contemplated hereby,
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including the Bank Merger, have been duly authorized by all necessary organizational action of Company Bank and
Company Bank’s board of directors on or prior to the date hereof. Subject to its applicable fiduciary obligations, the
Company Board has resolved to recommend adoption of this Agreement by Company’s shareholders and has directed
that this Agreement be submitted to Company’s shareholders for approval at a meeting of such shareholders. Except
for the receipt of the Requisite Company Shareholder Approval and the Company Bank Shareholder Approval, no
other corporate or organizational proceedings on the part of Company, Company Bank or any other Company
Subsidiary (including any vote of any class or series of outstanding capital stock) are necessary to authorize the
execution and delivery of this Agreement and all other agreements and documents contemplated hereby to which
Company or Company Bank is a party, the performance by Company and Company Bank of its obligations hereunder
and thereunder and the consummation by Company and Company Bank of the transactions contemplated hereby and
thereby. Each of Company and Company Bank has duly executed and delivered this Agreement and, assuming due
authorization, execution and delivery by Parent and Parent Bank, this Agreement constitutes a valid and legally
binding obligation of Company and Company Bank, enforceable against Company and Company Bank in accordance
with its terms (except as enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization,
moratorium, fraudulent transfer and similar Laws of general applicability relating to or affecting creditors’ rights
generally or by general equity principles or by 12 U.S.C. § 1818(b)(6)(d) (or any successor statute) and other
applicable authority of bank regulators).

(c) The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and each other agreement or document contemplated
hereby to which Company or Company Bank is a party, the consummation by Company and Company Bank of the
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, and compliance by Company and Company Bank with the terms and
provisions hereof and thereof, do not and will not (i) subject to obtaining the Requisite Company Shareholder
Approval and the Company Bank Shareholder Approval, result in a violation or breach of, or conflict with, any
provision of the articles of incorporation or bylaws of Company or any similar organizational or governing document
of any Company Subsidiary, (ii) result in a violation or breach of, conflict with any provisions of, constitute a default
(or an event which, with notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a default) under, give rise to a right of
purchase under, accelerate the performance required by Company or any Company Subsidiary under, result in a right
of termination or acceleration under, or require any consent, approval or notice under, any Contract to which
Company or any Company Subsidiary is a party or by which Company or any Company Subsidiary or any of their
respective properties or assets may be bound, (iii) result in the creation of any Lien (other than Permitted Liens) upon
any of the properties or assets of Company or any Company Subsidiary, or (iv) subject to making or obtaining the
Regulatory Approvals, violate any Law or Order applicable to Company or any Company Subsidiary or any of their
respective properties or assets, other than, with respect to clauses (ii), (iii) and (iv), any such violation, breach,
conflict, default or creation which would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 3.06 Regulatory Approvals; No Defaults. No consents, approvals, orders or authorizations of, waivers by,
filings or registrations with, or notices to, any Governmental Authority are required to be made or obtained by
Company or any Company Subsidiary in connection with the execution, delivery and performance by Company and
Company Bank of this Agreement, and each other agreement or document contemplated hereby to which Company or
Company Bank is a party, and the consummation by Company and Company Bank of the transactions contemplated
hereby and thereby (including the Merger and Bank Merger), except for (i) the filings of applications or notices with,
and the receipt of consents, approvals or waivers from, the FRB, the FRBank, the FDIC, the OCC and the Missouri
Division of Finance, (ii) the filing with the SEC of the Proxy Statement-Prospectus and the Registration Statement and
the declaration of effectiveness of the Registration Statement, (iii) as may be required under the Exchange Act,

(iv) such filings and approvals as are required to be made or obtained under the securities or “Blue Sky” Laws of various
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states, (v) and the approval of the listing of Parent Common Stock on NASDAQ in connection with the issuance of the
shares of Parent Common Stock pursuant to this Agreement (collectively, the “Regulatory Approvals”). Company has
no Knowledge of any reason that (A) the Regulatory Approvals will not be made or obtained or (B) any Burdensome
Condition would be imposed.

Section 3.07 SEC Documents; Financial Statements.

(a) Company has delivered or otherwise made available to Parent true and complete copies of the following
financial statements (which are set forth in Section 3.07(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule): (i) the consolidated
audited balance sheets of Company and Company Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 and the
related consolidated audited statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the fiscal years then
ended (the “Audited Financial Statements”), together with true and correct copies of the reports on such audited
information by Company’s independent accountants, and all letters from such accountants with respect to the results of
such audits; (ii) the consolidated unaudited balance sheets of Company and Company Subsidiaries as of September
30, 2018 and the related consolidated unaudited statements of operations and shareholders’ equity for the nine-month
period then ended (the “Unaudited Financial Statements” and, together with the Audited Financial Statements, the
“Financial Statements”); and (iii) Reports of Condition and Income for Company Bank as of the close of business on
December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015 and September 30, 2018. All Financial Statements were prepared in accordance
with GAAP consistently applied during the periods involved and fairly present (subject, in the case of the Unaudited
Financial Statements, to normal and recurring year-end adjustments which will not, individually or in the aggregate,
be material and to the absence of footnote disclosures that, if presented, would not differ materially from those
included in the most recent Audited Financial Statements) in all material respects the consolidated financial condition
and results of operations of Company and Company Subsidiaries at and as of the respective dates thereof and for the
respective periods covered thereby.

(b) Company and each Company Subsidiary has established and maintains (i) disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act) designed to ensure that all information required to be disclosed by
Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and
reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC, and that all such information is
accumulated and communicated to Company’s management as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure and to make the certifications of the chief executive officer and chief financial officer of Company
required under the Exchange Act with respect to such reports, and (ii) internal control over financial reporting (as such
term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act) designed to provide reasonable assurance (A) regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
GAAP; (B) that receipts and expenditures of Company and Company Subsidiaries are being made only in accordance
with the authorization of Company’s management and directors; and (C) regarding prevention or timely detection of
the unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the assets of Company and the Company Subsidiaries. Company
has disclosed, based on management’s most recent evaluation prior to the date hereof, to Company’s outside auditors
and the audit committee of the Company Board and which disclosure was made available to Parent (1) any significant
deficiencies or material weaknesses in the design or operation of such controls which could adversely affect in any
material respect Company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and any material
weaknesses in internal controls, and (2) to Company’s Knowledge, any fraud, whether or not material, that involves
management or other employees who have a role in Company’s internal control over financial reporting or preparation
of Company’s financial statements. Since January 1, 2015, Company has not made any material modification to its
disclosure controls and procedures or internal control over financial reporting. Company and each Company
Subsidiary, and the officers and directors of each, have made all certifications required under and are otherwise in
compliance in all material
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respects with and have complied in all material respects with (x) the applicable provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
and the related rules and regulations promulgated under such act and the Exchange Act and (y) the applicable listing
and corporate governance rules and regulations of OTCQX.

(c) None of Company, Company Subsidiaries or, to Company’s Knowledge, any director, executive officer,
employee, auditor, accountant or representative of Company or any Company Subsidiary has received or otherwise
had or obtained actual knowledge of any complaint, allegation, assertion or claim, whether written or oral, regarding
the accounting or auditing practices, procedures, methodologies or methods of Company or any Company Subsidiary
or their respective internal accounting controls that would constitute material weaknesses or significant deficiencies,
including any complaint, allegation, assertion or claim that Company or any Company Subsidiary has engaged in
illegal accounting or auditing practices or otherwise relating to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

(d) Company has filed (or furnished, as applicable) all reports, registration statements, definitive proxy statements or
documents required to be filed with the SEC or furnished to the SEC since January 1, 2013 (the “Company Reports”),
and has paid all fees and assessments due and payable in connection therewith. As of their respective dates of filing
with the SEC (or, if amended or superseded by a subsequent filing prior to the date hereof, as of the date of such
subsequent filing), the Company Reports complied as to form in all material respects with the applicable requirements
of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, as the case may be, and the rules and regulations of the SEC thereunder
applicable to such Company Reports, and none of the Company Reports when filed with the SEC, or if amended prior
to the date hereof, as of the date of such amendment (and in the case of filings under the Securities Act, at the time it
was declared effective), contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to
be stated therein or necessary to make the statements made therein, in light of the circumstances under which they
were made, not misleading. As of the date of this Agreement, there are no unresolved outstanding comments from or
unresolved issues raised by the SEC with respect to any of the Company Reports.

Section 3.08 Regulatory Reports. Company and each Company Subsidiary has duly filed with the FRB, the FRBank,
the OCC and any other applicable Governmental Authority, in correct form in all material respects, the reports and
other documents required to be filed under applicable Laws and have paid all fees and assessments due and payable in
connection therewith, and such reports were, in all material respects, reasonably complete and accurate and in
compliance with the requirements of applicable Laws. Other than normal examinations conducted by a Governmental
Authority in the Ordinary Course of Business, no Governmental Authority has notified Company or any Company
Subsidiary in writing or, to Company’s Knowledge, orally, that it has initiated or has pending any proceeding or, to
Company’s Knowledge, threatened an investigation into the business or operations of Company or any Company
Subsidiary that would reasonably be expected to be material. To Company’s Knowledge, there is no material
unresolved violation, criticism, or exception by any Governmental Authority with respect to any report or statement
relating to any examinations or inspections of Company or any Company Subsidiary. There have been no material
written or, to Company’s Knowledge, oral, inquiries by, or written or, to Company’s Knowledge, oral, disagreements or
disputes with, any Governmental Authority with respect to the business, operations, policies or procedures of
Company or any Company Subsidiary since January 1, 2014.

Section 3.09  Absence of Certain Changes or Events. From January 1, 2018 to the date hereof, there has not been any
change or development in the business, operations, assets, liabilities, condition (financial or otherwise), results of
operations, cash flows or properties of Company or any Company Subsidiary which has had, or would reasonably be
expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect with respect to Company. Except as
otherwise expressly contemplated by this Agreement, from January 1, 2018 to the date hereof, neither Company nor
any Company Subsidiary has (a) made any change in its accounting methods, principles or practices, other than
changes required by applicable Law or GAAP or

A-20

181



Edgar Filing: WACHOVIA CORP NEW - Form 425

regulatory accounting as concurred by Company’s independent accountants, (b) made any declaration, setting aside or
payment of any dividend or distribution in respect of any of its capital stock or any redemption, purchase or other
acquisition of any of its securities; (c) increased or established any bonus, insurance, severance, deferred
compensation, pension, retirement, profit sharing, stock option (including, without limitation, the granting of stock
options, stock appreciation rights, performance awards, restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit awards or
deferred stock unit awards), stock purchase or other employee benefit plan; made any other increase in the
compensation payable or to become payable to any directors, officers or employees of Company or any Company
Subsidiary (other than normal salary adjustments to employees made in the Ordinary Course of Business); granted any
severance or termination pay or entered into any Contract to make or grant any severance or termination pay; or paid
any bonus or taken any other action not in the Ordinary Course of Business with respect to the compensation or
employment of directors, officers or employees of Company or any Company Subsidiary; (d) made any material
election or material change in existing elections for federal or state Tax purposes; (¢) made any material change in its
credit policies or procedures, the effect of which was or is to make any such policy or procedure less restrictive in any
material respect; (f) made any material acquisition or disposition of any assets or properties, or entered into any
Contract for any such acquisition or disposition, other than Company Investment Securities or loans and loan
commitments purchased, sold, made or entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business; or (g) entered into any lease
of real or personal property, other than in connection with foreclosed property.

Section 3.10 Compliance with Laws.

(a) Company and each Company Subsidiary is, and has been since January 1, 2015, in compliance in all material
respects with all applicable Laws, including, without limitation, Privacy Laws, the USA PATRIOT Act, the Bank
Secrecy Act, the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, the Fair Housing Act, the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act, the
Community Reinvestment Act, the Fair Credit Reporting Act, as amended, the Truth in Lending Act, the Real Estate
Settlement Procedures Act, the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, the Dodd-Frank Act (including as amended by the
Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief, and Consumer Protection Act, Pub. L. No. 115-174, S. 2155 (2018)),

Sections 23A and 23B of the Federal Reserve Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, regulations promulgated by the Consumer
Financial Protection Bureau, all other applicable anti-money laundering Laws, fair lending Laws and other Laws
relating to discriminatory lending, financing, leasing or business practices and all agency requirements relating to the
origination, sale, servicing administration and collection of mortgage loans and consumer loans and, where applicable,
the statutes and regulations of the State of New Mexico related to banks and banking. Neither Company nor any
Company Subsidiary has been advised in writing or, to Company’s Knowledge, orally, of any material supervisory
criticisms regarding its compliance with the Bank Secrecy Act or related state or federal anti-money laundering laws,
regulations and guidelines, including without limitation those provisions of federal regulations requiring (i) the filing
of reports, such as Currency Transaction Reports and Suspicious Activity Reports, (ii) the maintenance of records and
(iii) the exercise of due diligence in identifying customers.

(b) Company, each Company Subsidiary, and each of their respective employees, have all material permits, licenses,
registrations, authorizations, variances, clearances, exemptions, consents, orders, authorizations and approvals of
Governmental Authorities (‘“Permits”) that are required in order for Company and each Company Subsidiary to own or
lease its properties and to conduct its business as presently conducted. For this Section 3.10(b), each Permit related to
originating and/or servicing mortgage loans will be deemed material for purposes hereof. All such Permits are in full
force and effect and, to Company’s Knowledge, no suspension, revocation or cancellation of any of Permit is
threatened. Neither Company nor Company Bank has any approved but unopened offices or branches.
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Section 3.11 Legal Proceedings; Orders.

(a) There is no suit, action, demand, claim, arbitration, mediation, audit, notice of violation or default, notice of
non-compliance, order to show cause, market conduct examination, hearing, inquiry, investigation or other proceeding
of any nature (in each case, whether civil, criminal, administrative, investigative, formal, or informal) commenced,
brought, conducted, or heard by or before, or otherwise involving, any Governmental Authority (“Legal Proceedings™)
pending or, to Company’s Knowledge, threatened against Company or any Company Subsidiary or to which Company
or any Company Subsidiary is a party, including any such Legal Proceeding that challenges the validity or propriety of
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, which could adversely affect the ability of Company or Company
Bank to perform its obligations under this Agreement, or that would individually or in the aggregate result in a
Material Adverse Effect on Company.

(b) There is no material injunction, order, writ, assessment, judgment, decision, decree or regulatory restriction of a
Governmental Authority (“Order”), whether temporary, preliminary, or permanent, imposed upon Company or any
Company Subsidiary, or the assets of Company or any Company Subsidiary (or that, upon consummation of the
transactions contemplated herein, would apply to the Surviving Entity or any of its Affiliates), and neither Company
nor any Company Subsidiary has been advised in writing or, to Company’s Knowledge, orally, or otherwise has
Knowledge of, the threat of any such Order.

(¢) Neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary has received, from January 1, 2014 to the date hereof, any
written or, to Company’s Knowledge, oral notification from any Governmental Authority (i) asserting that it is not in
compliance with any Law which such Governmental Authority enforces or (ii) threatening to revoke any material
Permit.

Section 3.12 Company Material Contracts; Defaults.

(a) As of the date hereof, neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary is a party to, bound by or subject to any
Contract (i) which would entitle any of its present or former directors, officers or employees to indemnification from
Company or any Company Subsidiary; (ii) which upon (A) the execution or delivery of this Agreement or any other
agreement or document to which Company or such Subsidiary is a party, (B) receipt of the Requisite Company
Shareholder Approval or (C) the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (including the
Merger) will (either alone or upon the occurrence of any additional acts or events) result in any payment (whether
change-of-control, severance pay or otherwise) becoming due from Company, Company Bank, the Surviving Entity,
Parent Bank or any of their respective Subsidiaries to any officer, director or employee thereof, or which would
otherwise provide for a payment to such Person upon a change-of-control; (iii) which grants any right of first refusal,
right of first offer or similar right with respect to any material assets or properties of Company or any Company
Subsidiary; (iv) evidencing or related to indebtedness for borrowed money whether directly or indirectly, by way of
purchase money obligation, conditional sale, lease purchase, guaranty or otherwise, in respect of which Company or
any Company Subsidiary is an obligor to any Person, excluding endorsements made for collection, repurchase or
resell agreements, letters of credit and guaranties, in each case made in the Ordinary Course of Business; (v) relating
to the lease of real property or personal property having a value in excess of $50,000 per annum; (vi) except in respect
of debts previously contracted, relating to any joint venture, partnership, limited liability company agreement or other
similar agreement or arrangement, or to the formation, creation or operation, management or control of any material
partnership or joint venture with any third party or which limits payments of dividends; (vii) which relates to capital
expenditures and involves future annual payments by Company or any Company Subsidiary in excess of $50,000
individually or $100,000 in the aggregate, (viii) which relates to the disposition or acquisition of material assets or any
material interest in any business enterprise, in each case, outside the Ordinary Course of Business; (ix) which
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is not terminable on sixty (60) days or less notice and involving the payment of more than $100,000 per annum;

(x) (A) which contains a non-compete, exclusive dealing or client or customer non-solicit requirement or any other
provision that materially restricts the conduct of any line of business by Company or any Company Subsidiary,

(B) which, upon consummation of the Merger or Bank Merger, will materially restrict the ability of the Surviving
Entity or Parent Bank, as applicable, or any of their respective Affiliates to engage in any line of business, or

(C) which grants any right of first refusal, right of first offer or similar right with respect to material assets of
Company or any Company Subsidiary or that limits or purports to limit the ability of Company or any Company
Subsidiary to own, operate, sell, transfer, pledge or otherwise dispose of any material assets or business; (xi) pursuant
to which Company or any Company Subsidiary may become obligated to invest in or contribute equity securities to
any Person; (xii) that transfers any material Intellectual Property rights (other than non-exclusive licenses to generally
available commercial software), by way of assignment, license, sublicense, agreement or other permission, to or from
Company or any Company Subsidiary (for the avoidance of doubt, any Patents shall be deemed material); (xiii) to
which any Governmental Authority is a party; (xiv) to which there are material ongoing obligations the primary
purpose of which is not to disclose confidential information or which requires that Company or any Company
Subsidiary guarantee, indemnify or hold harmless any Person; (xv) with any investment company registered under the
Investment Company Act of 1940; (xvi) with any local clearing house or self-regulatory organization; or (xvii) is a
“material contract” (as such term is defined in Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K of the SEC). Each Contract of the type
described in this Section 3.12(a), is set forth in Section 3.12(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, and is referred to
herein as a “Company Material Contract.” Company has previously made available to Parent true, complete and correct
copies of each such Company Material Contract, including any and all amendments and modifications thereto.

(b) (i) Each Company Material Contract is valid and binding on Company or a Company Subsidiary and, to the
Knowledge of Company, each other party thereto, and is in full force and effect and enforceable in accordance with its
terms, except to the extent that validity and enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency,
moratorium, reorganization or similar Laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally or by general
principles of equity or by principles of public policy and except where the failure to be valid, binding, enforceable and
in full force and effect, would not, individually or in the aggregate, have Material Adverse Effect on Company; and
(i1) neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary is in default under any Company Material Contract or other
material Contract (including Leases or Insurance Policies) to which it is a party or by which its assets, business, or
operations may be bound or affected, except to the extent that such default has not had, and is not reasonably likely to
have, a Material Adverse Effect on Company. No material power of attorney or similar authorization given directly or
indirectly by Company or any Company Subsidiary is currently outstanding.

(c) Company Disclosure Schedule 3.12(c) sets forth a true and complete list of all Contracts set forth on Section
3.05(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedule which are Company Material Contracts.

Section 3.13  Agreements with Regulatory Agencies. Neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary is subject to
any cease-and-desist or other order or enforcement action issued by, is a party to any written agreement, consent
agreement or memorandum of understanding with, is a party to any commitment letter or similar undertaking to, is a
recipient of any extraordinary supervisory letter from, is subject to any order or directive by, has been ordered to pay
any civil money penalty, or has adopted any policies, procedures or board resolutions at the request of any
Governmental Authority (each of the above, whether or not set forth in Section 3.13 of the Company Disclosure
Schedule, a “Company Regulatory Agreement”), and, since January 1, 2014, neither Company nor any Company
Subsidiary has been advised in writing or, to Company’s Knowledge, orally, by any Governmental Authority that it is
considering issuing, initiating, ordering or
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requesting any Company Regulatory Agreement. To Company’s Knowledge, there are no investigations relating to any
regulatory matters pending before any Governmental Authority with respect to Company, any Company Subsidiary or
any executive officer of Company or any Company Subsidiary. To Company’s Knowledge, neither Company nor any
Company Subsidiary is the target of any inquiry or investigation of any Governmental Authority.

Section 3.14  Brokers. Neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary, nor any of their respective officers or
directors has employed any broker, finder, investment banker or financial advisor, or incurred any liability for any
broker’s fees, commissions or finder’s fees in connection with the Merger or related transactions contemplated by this
Agreement, other than the retention of Keefe, Bruyette & Woods, Inc. and the fees payable pursuant thereto. True,
complete and correct copies of the engagement agreements with Keefe, Bruyette & Woods, Inc., setting forth the fees
payable to Keefe, Bruyette & Woods, Inc. for its services rendered to Company and Company Subsidiaries in
connection with the Merger and transactions contemplated by this Agreement, is attached to Section 3.14 of the
Company Disclosure Schedule.

Section 3.15 Employee Benefit Plans.

(a) All material “employee benefit plans” (as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA) and any other material plans,
contracts, programs, practices, policies or arrangements, qualified or unqualified, written or unwritten, whether or not
subject to ERISA, providing compensation or other benefits including any pension, retirement, saving, profit sharing,
health and welfare, change of control, fringe benefit, severance pay, compensation, deferred compensation, stock
option, stock purchase, stock appreciation rights, stock based, incentive, bonus plans, in each case to any current or
former employees of Company or any Company Subsidiary (such current and former employees collectively, the
“Company Employees”), or any current or former directors or officers of Company or any Company Subsidiary and to
which Company or any Company Subsidiary is a party or sponsoring, participating or contributing employer or has or
reasonably could be expected to have any liability or contingent liability (including, but not limited to any, liability
arising from affiliation under Section 414 of the Code or Section 4001 of ERISA) (all such plans, contracts, policies,
programs, practices or arrangements are collectively referred to as the “Company Benefit Plans”), are identified or
described in Section 3.15(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule. None of Company or any Company Subsidiary has
any stated plan, intention or commitment to establish any new company benefit plan or to materially modify any
Company Benefit Plan (except to the extent required by Law).

(b) With respect to each Company Benefit Plan, to the extent applicable, Company has made available to Parent or
provided Parent with true and complete copies of the following materials: (i) the current plan document, including any
amendments thereto, for each Company Benefit Plan, or in the case of an unwritten Company Benefit Plan, a written
description of the material terms of such Company Benefit Plan, (ii) any current trust instruments and insurance
contracts forming a part of any Company Benefit Plan and all amendments thereto, (iii) the current summary plan
descriptions and related summary of material modifications, (iv) in the case of any Company Benefit Plan for which a
Form 5500 is required to be filed, IRS Form 5500 (for the most three (3) recently completed plan years), (v) in the
case of any Company Benefit Plan that is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code, the most recent
IRS determination, opinion, notification and advisory letters, (vi) the most recent actuarial report or other financial
statement related to any Company Benefit Plan, (vii) the coverage and nondiscrimination testing results for the three
(3) most recent plan years for each of the Company Benefit Plans, as applicable, and (viii) all material correspondence
within the past three (3) years with the Internal Revenue Service, the Department of Labor or any other Governmental
Authority regarding the operation or administration of any Company Benefit Plan. In addition, the most recent annual
and periodic accounting and employee and participant disclosures pertaining to the Company Benefit Plans have been
made available to Parent.
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(c) Each Company Benefit Plan has been established, maintained, operated, administrated and funded in all material
respects in compliance with its terms and all applicable Laws, including ERISA and the Code. Each Company Benefit
Plan that is intended to be “qualified” under Section 401(a) of the Code (“Company 401(a) Plan”), has received a
favorable determination or opinion letter from the IRS. None of Company, any Company Subsidiary or any of
Company’s related organizations described in Sections 414(b), (c) or (m) of the Code (“Controlled Group Members”) has
engaged in a transaction with respect to any Company Benefit Plan, including a Company 401(a) Plan that could
subject Company, any Company Subsidiary or any Controlled Group Member to a material Tax or material penalty
under any Law, including, but not limited to, Section 4975 of the Code or Section 502(i) of ERISA. No Company
401(a) Plan has been submitted under or been the subject of an IRS voluntary compliance program submission. With
respect to any Company Benefit Plan, there are no pending or, to Company’s Knowledge, threatened actions, suits,
claims or other proceedings against any such Company Benefit Plan (other than routine claims for benefits).

(d) None of Company, any Company Subsidiary, any Controlled Group Member or any entity which is considered
one employer with Company, any Company Subsidiary, or any Controlled Group Member under Section 4001(b) of
ERISA or Sections 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code (an “ERISA Affiliate”) sponsor, maintain, administer or
contribute to, or have ever sponsored, maintained, administered or contributed to, or have had or could have had any
liability (including liability under Subtitle C or D of Title IV of ERISA) with respect to, (i) any plan subject to the
funding standard of Section 302 of ERISA or Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code, (ii) a “multiemployer plan”
within the meaning of Section 3(37) of ERISA, (iii) any multiemployer plan under Subtitle E of Title IV of ERISA,
(iv) any “multiple employer welfare arrangement (as defined in Section 3(40) of ERISA, or (v) any tax-qualified
“defined benefit plan” (as defined in Section 3(35) of ERISA. No notice of a “reportable event,” within the meaning of
Section 4043 of ERISA (excluding those for which notice to the PBGC has been waived by regulation) has been
required to be filed for any Company Benefit Plan or by any ERISA Affiliate.

(e) All required contributions, distributions, reimbursements, and premium payments required to be made with
respect to all Company Benefit Plans have been made in all material respects in compliance with the terms of the
applicable Company Benefit Plan or, if applicable within the time period prescribed by applicable Law or have been
reflected on the consolidated financial statements of Company to the extent required to be reflected under applicable
accounting principles.

(f) No Company Benefit Plan provides any life insurance, medical or other employee welfare benefits to any
Company Employee, upon his or her retirement or termination of employment for any reason, except as may be
required by Law (including the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended).

(g) Company may amend or terminate any such Company Benefit Plan at any time in accordance with its terms
without incurring any material liability thereunder for future benefits coverage at any time after such termination,
except for (i) as may be required by Law, (ii) the payment of benefits, fees or charges accrued or incurred through the
date of termination, and (iii) the payment of administrative expenses associated with such amendment or termination.
(h) Except as otherwise provided for in this Agreement, neither the execution of this Agreement, receipt of the
Requisite Company Shareholder Approval or consummation of any of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement (including the Merger) will (i) entitle any Company Employee to severance pay or any increase in
severance pay upon any termination of employment, (ii) accelerate the time of payment or vesting (except as required
by Law) or trigger any payment or funding (through a grantor trust or otherwise) of compensation or benefits under,
increase the amount payable or trigger any other material obligation pursuant to, any of the Company Benefit Plans,
(iii) result in any payment that would be
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an excess “parachute payment” to a “disqualified individual” as those terms are defined in Section 280G of the Code,
without regard to whether such payment is reasonable compensation for personal services performed or to be

performed in the future, or (iv) limit or restrict the right of Company or any Company Subsidiary or, after the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, to merge, amend or

terminate any of the Company Benefit Plans.

(i) No Company Benefit Plan that is a “nonqualified deferred compensation plan” subject to Section 409A of the Code
is or will be, subject to the penalties of Section 409A(a)(1) of the Code. Except as otherwise provided for in this
Agreement, none of Company, any Company Subsidiary, or any Controlled Group Member has agreed to reimburse

or indemnify any participant in a Company Benefit Plan for any additional Tax (or potential Taxes) imposed (or
potentially imposed) under Section 409A of the Code of Section 4999 of the Code.

() The ESOP is now, and has been at all times since its inception, in form, an “employee stock ownership plan” within
the meaning of Section 4975(e)(7) of the Code and Section 407(d)(6) of ERISA, which, in form, qualifies under

Section 401(a) of the Code. The ESOP is now, and has at all times since its inception been, qualified under Section
501(a) of the Code. The securities held by the ESOP constitute “employer securities” under Section 407(d)(1) of ERISA
and Section 409(1) of the Code and “qualifying employer securities” under Section 407(d)(5) of ERISA and

Section 4975(e)(8) of the Code. A current favorable determination letter is in effect with respect to the ESOP.

(k) The ESOP complies, and has been administered and operated in compliance, in all material respects, with its

terms and all provisions of applicable Law. All amendments and actions required to bring the ESOP into conformity

in all material respects with all applicable provisions of the Code, ERISA, and other applicable Laws have been made
or taken, except to the extent that such amendments or actions are not required by Law to be made or taken until a

date after the Closing Date and as disclosed on Section 3.15(k) of the Company Disclosure Schedule. As of the

Closing Date, neither the Company nor any participant in the ESOP is or may be subject to liability by reason of
Section 4979A of the Code.

(1) Neither the Company nor any “party in interest” or “disqualified person” with respect to the ESOP has engaged in a
“prohibited transaction” within the meaning of Section 4975 of the Code or Section 406 of ERISA that is not exempt
under Section 4975 of the Code or Section 408 of ERISA and would have a Material Adverse Effect on Company. No
fiduciary has any liability for breach of fiduciary duty or any other failure to act or comply in connection with the
administration or investment of the assets of the ESOP that would have a Material Adverse Effect on Company.

Neither Company nor the ESOP are parties to any loan or financing transaction with respect to the ESOP.

Section 3.16 Labor Matters.

(a) Section 3.16(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth (i) the name, title and total compensation of each
officer, employee, independent contractor and consultant of Company and each Company Subsidiary, (ii) all bonuses
and other incentive compensation received by such officers, employees, independent contractors and consultants in
2017 and through September 30, 2018 and any accrual for such bonuses and incentive compensation and (iii) all
Contracts of Company and the Company Subsidiaries regarding compensation with any of their respective officers,
employees, independent contractors and consultants, including those to increase the compensation or to modify the
conditions or terms of employment.

(b) No officer or director of Company or any Company Subsidiary or any employee, independent contractor or
consultant of Company or any Company Subsidiary is a party to, or is otherwise bound by, any Contract, including

any confidentiality, non-competition, or proprietary rights agreement, that
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could adversely affect the ability of Company or Company Subsidiary to conduct its business as currently conducted.
(c) Neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary has classified any individual as an “independent contractor” or
similar status who, under applicable Law or the provisions of any Company Benefit Plan, should have been classified
as an employee. To Company’s Knowledge, neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary has incurred any liability
for improperly excluding any Person from participating in any Company Benefit Plan who provides or provided
services to Company or any Company Subsidiary, in any capacity.

(d) None of the officers, employees or consultants of Company or any Company Subsidiary has informed Company
or such Subsidiary of his or her intent to terminate his or her employment or consultant relationship with Company or
such Subsidiary during the next twelve (12) months and, to Company’s Knowledge, no such officer, employee or
consultant has such intent.

(e) Neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary is a party to or is bound by any collective bargaining agreement
or other Contract with a labor union or labor organization. Neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary is, or since
January 1, 2015 has been, the subject of a proceeding asserting that it has committed an unfair labor practice (within
the meaning of the National Labor Relations Act) or seeking to compel Company or any Company Subsidiary to
bargain with any labor organization as to wages or conditions of employment. There is, and since January 1, 2015
there has been, no strike or other labor dispute involving Company or any Company Subsidiary pending or, to
Company’s Knowledge, threatened and, to Company’s Knowledge, there has been no activity involving any employees
of Company or any Company Subsidiary seeking to certify a collective bargaining unit or engaging in other
organizational activity. Company and each Company Subsidiary has paid in full all wages, salaries, commissions,
bonuses, benefits and other compensation currently due and payable to its employees under any policy, practice,
agreement, plan, program, statute or other Law. The employment of each officer and employee of Company and each
Company Subsidiary is terminable at the will of Company or such Company Subsidiary.

(f) (1) There is no pending or, to Company’s Knowledge, threatened legal proceeding involving Company or any
Company Subsidiary, on the one hand, and any present or former employee(s) of Company or any Company
Subsidiary on the other hand, and (ii) to Company’s Knowledge, no other Person has threatened in writing any Legal
Proceeding against Company or any Company Subsidiary (or, to Company’s Knowledge, against any officer, director
or employee of Company or any Company Subsidiary) relating to the employment of employees or former employees
of Company or any Company Subsidiary, including any such Legal Proceeding arising out of any Law relating to
wages, collective bargaining, discrimination in employment or employment practices or occupational safety and
health standards (including, without limitation, the Fair Labor Standards Act, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of
1964, as amended, the Occupational Safety and Health Act, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, the
Americans with Disabilities Act or the Family and Medical Leave Act).

(g) Company and each Company Subsidiary is, and at all times since January 1, 2015 has been, in material
compliance with all applicable Laws relating to labor, employment, termination of employment or similar matters,
including, but not limited to, such Laws relating to the classification of employees, discrimination, disability, labor
relations, hours of work, payment of wages and overtime wages, immigration, workers compensation, occupational
safety and health, family and medical leave and employee terminations, and has not engaged in any unfair labor
practices.
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Section 3.17 Environmental Matters.

(a) There has been no release or, to the Company’s Knowledge, threat of release to the environment of Hazardous
Substances at, on, or under any (i) Company Owned Property, (ii) Company Leased Property, or (iii) Company OREO
Property, in each case that would have a Material Adverse Effect on Company. There has not been, at any real
property formerly owned, operated, or leased by Company or any Company Subsidiary, during the time Company or
such Company Subsidiary owned, operated or leased such real property, any release or, to the Company’s Knowledge,
threat of release to the environment of Hazardous Substances at, on, or under such formerly owned, operated, or
leased real property.

(b) To Company’s Knowledge neither Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has acquired or is now in the process of
acquiring, any real property through foreclosure or deed in lieu of foreclosure on which there has been or is a release
to the environment of any Hazardous Substance that would have a Material Adverse Effect on Company.

(c) All Company Owned Property and, to the Company’s Knowledge, all Company Leased Property is in material
compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws and is not listed on, or proposed to be listed on, the National
Priority List established pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 9605(a)(8)(B) (the “NPL”), the registry of confirmed, abandoned, or
uncontrolled hazardous waste disposal sites maintained by the State of New Mexico, or any other list analogous to
such registry or the NPL.

(d) To Company’s Knowledge, neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary could be deemed the owner or
operator of, or to have participated in the management of, any Company Loan Property which has been contaminated
with, or has had any release or threat of release to the environment of, any Hazardous Substance in a manner that
violates Environmental Law, requires reporting, investigation, remediation or monitoring under Environmental Law,
or could reasonably be anticipated to cause the incurrence of response costs under any Environmental Law.

(e) Neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary has received written notice of any Lien or encumbrance having
been imposed on any Company Loan Property, any Company Owned Property, any Company Leased Property, or any
real property formerly owned, operated, or leased by Company or any Company Subsidiary in connection with any
liability arising from or related to Environmental Law, and there is no Legal Proceeding pending which would
reasonably be expected to result in the imposition of any such Lien or encumbrance on any Company Owned Property
or Company Leased Property, and to Company’s Knowledge there is no Legal Proceeding pending which would
reasonably be expected to result in the imposition of any such Lien or encumbrance on any real property formerly
owned, operated, or leased by Company or any Company Subsidiary.

(f) Neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary is subject to any Order relating to a violation of any
Environmental Law, and neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary has applied to the NMED to participate, for
any real property, in the voluntary remediation program administered by the NMED pursuant to the NMVRA (the
“NMVRP”) or received from NMED any request or suggestion that it apply to participate in the NMVRP for any real
property.

(g) Company has made available to the Parent copies of final written environmental reports and compliance audits
in its possession or control relating to the Company Owned Property or Company Leased Property. Section 3.17(g) of
the Company Disclosure Schedule includes a list of such environmental reports and compliance audits.
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(h) There is no Legal Proceeding pending, or, to Company’s Knowledge, threatened, against Company or any
Company Subsidiary (i) for alleged noncompliance with any Environmental Law or (ii) relating to the presence or
release into the environment of any Hazardous Substance, and neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary has
received any written request for information made to Company or any Company Subsidiary pursuant to any
Environmental Law concerning either compliance with such Environmental Law or the nature or extent of a release of
a Hazardous Substance into the environment.

Section 3.18 Tax Matters.

(a) Company and each Company Subsidiary has filed all material Tax Returns that it was required to file under
applicable Laws, other than Tax Returns that are not yet due or for which a request for extension was timely filed
consistent with requirements of applicable Law. All such Tax Returns were correct and complete in all material
respects and have been prepared in substantial compliance with all applicable Laws. All material Taxes due and owing
by Company or any Company Subsidiary (whether or not shown on any Tax Return) have been paid other than such
Taxes that: (i) have been reserved or accrued on the balance sheet of Company, (ii) are being contested by Company
in good faith and (iii) are described in Section 3.18(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule. Company is not currently
the beneficiary of any extension of time within which to file any Tax Return and neither Company nor any of its
Subsidiaries currently has any open tax years prior to 2012. Since January 1, 2013, no written claim has been made by
any Governmental Authority in a jurisdiction where Company does not file Tax Returns that it is or may be subject to
taxation by that jurisdiction. There are no Liens for Taxes (other than Permitted Liens) upon any of the assets of
Company or any Company Subsidiary.

(b) Company and each Company Subsidiary, as applicable, has withheld and paid all Taxes required to have been
withheld and paid in connection with any amounts paid or owing to any employee, independent contractor, creditor,
shareholder or other third party.

(c) No foreign, federal, state, or local Tax audits or administrative or judicial Tax proceedings are currently being
conducted or, to Company’s Knowledge, pending with respect to Company or any Company Subsidiary. Other than
with respect to audits that have already been completed and resolved, neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary
has received from any foreign, federal, state, or local taxing authority (including jurisdictions where Company and
Company Subsidiaries have not filed Tax Returns) any written (i) notice indicating an intent to open an audit or other
review, (ii) request for information related to Tax matters, or (iii) notice of deficiency or proposed adjustment for any
amount of Tax proposed, asserted, or assessed by any taxing authority against Company or any Company Subsidiary.
(d) Company has made available to Parent true and complete copies of the United States federal, state, local, and
foreign consolidated income Tax Returns filed with respect to Company for taxable periods ended December 31,
2017, 2016, 2015 and 2014. Company has made available to Parent correct and complete copies of all examination
reports and statements of deficiencies assessed against or agreed to by Company with respect to income Taxes filed
for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, 2015 and 2014. Company has made available to Parent correct and
complete copies of all written notices that Company has received from the IRS in respect of information reporting and
backup and nonresident withholding.

(e) Company has not waived any statute of limitations in respect of Taxes or agreed to any extension of time with
respect to a Tax assessment or deficiency, which such waiver or extension is still valid and in effect.

(f) Company has not been a United States real property holding corporation within the meaning of Section 897(c)(2)
of the Code during the applicable period specified in Section 897(c)(1)(A)
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(ii) of the Code. Neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary is a party to or bound by any Tax allocation or
sharing agreement (other than normal commercial contracts entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business and the
principal purpose of which was not the allocation or sharing of Taxes). Neither Company nor any Company
Subsidiary (i) has been a member of an affiliated group filing a consolidated federal income Tax Return (other than a
group the common parent of which was Company), and (ii) has no liability for the Taxes of any individual, bank,
corporation, partnership, association, joint stock company, business trust, limited liability company, or unincorporated
organization (other than Company and the Company Subsidiaries) under Regulations Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar
provision of state, local, or foreign Law), as a transferee or successor, by contract, or otherwise.

(g) The unpaid Taxes of Company (i) did not, as of December 31, 2017, exceed the reserve for Tax liability (which
reserve is distinct and different from any reserve for deferred Taxes established to reflect timing differences between
book and Tax income) set forth in the Audited Financial Statements (rather than in any notes thereto), and (ii) do not
exceed that reserve as adjusted for the passage of time in accordance with the past custom and practice of Company in
filing its Tax Returns. Since January 1, 2013, Company has not incurred any liability for Taxes arising from
extraordinary gains or losses, as that term is used in GAAP, outside the Ordinary Course of Business.

(h) Company will not be required to include any material item of income in, or exclude any material item of
deduction from, taxable income for any taxable period (or portion thereof) ending after the Effective Time as a result
of any: (i) change in method of accounting for a taxable period ending on or prior to the Closing Date; (ii) “closing
agreement” as described in Section 7121 of the Code (or any corresponding or similar provision of state, local or
foreign income Tax Law) executed on or prior to the Closing Date; (iii) intercompany transactions or any excess loss
account described in Regulations under Section 1502 of the Code (or any corresponding or similar provision of state,
local or foreign income Tax Law); (iv) installment sale or open transaction disposition made on or prior to the Closing
Date; or (v) prepaid amount received on or prior to the Closing Date.

(i) Company has not distributed stock of another Person nor had its stock distributed by another Person in a
transaction that was purported or intended to be nontaxable and governed in whole or in part by Section 355 or
Section 361 of the Code.

(j) Neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary has and had a permanent establishment in any foreign country
other than where they are currently filing Tax Returns.

(k) Neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary is a party to any joint venture or partnership.

(1) Neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary has engaged or will engage in a listed transaction as that term is
defined in Treasury Regulation 1.6011-4(b)(2).

(m) Neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary has taken or agreed to take any action, or is aware of any fact or
circumstance, that would prevent the Merger from qualifying as a 368 Reorganization.

Section 3.19 Investment Securities. Section 3.19 of the Company Disclosure Schedule contains a complete list, as of
September 30, 2018, of the Company Investment Securities, as well as any purchases or sales of Company Investment
Securities between September 30, 2018 to and including the date hereof reflecting with respect to all such securities,
whenever purchased or sold, descriptions thereof, CUSIP numbers, designations as securities “available for sale” or
securities “held to maturity” (as those terms are
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used in ASC 320), book values and coupon rates, and any gain or loss with respect to any Company Investment
Securities sold during such time period after September 30, 2018.

Section 3.20 Derivative Transactions.

(a) All Derivative Transactions entered into by Company or any Company Subsidiary or for the account of any
customers of Company or any Company Subsidiary were entered into (i) in accordance in all material respects with
applicable Law (including with respect to safety and soundness of banking practices), (ii) in accordance in all material
respects with the investment, securities, commodities, risk management and other policies, practices and procedures
employed by Company and Company Subsidiaries, and (iii) with counterparties believed at the time to be financially
responsible and able to understand (either alone or in consultation with its advisers) and to bear the risks of such
Derivative Transactions. Company and each Company Subsidiary has performed all of its obligations under the
Derivative Transactions to the extent that such obligations to perform have accrued, and, to Company’s Knowledge,
there are no material breaches, violations or defaults or allegations or assertions of such by any party thereunder.

(b) Each Derivative Transaction outstanding as of the date of this Agreement is listed in Section 3.20(b) of the
Company Disclosure Schedule, and the financial position of Company or a Company Subsidiary under or with respect
thereto has been reflected in the Financial Statements in accordance with GAAP in all material respects. As of the date
of this Agreement, no open exposure of Company or any Company Subsidiary with respect to any such Derivative
Transaction (or with respect to multiple Derivative Transactions with a single counterparty) exists.

Section 3.21 Regulatory Capitalization. Company Bank is “well-capitalized,” as such term is defined in the rules and
regulations promulgated by the OCC. Company is “well-capitalized,” as such term is defined in the rules and regulations
promulgated by the FRB.

Section 3.22 Loans; Nonperforming and Classified Assets.

(a) Section 3.22(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule (i) sets forth the aggregate outstanding principal amount of
all Loans as of September 30, 2018, and (ii) identifies, as of September 30, 2018, any Loans under the terms of which
the obligor was over sixty (60) days delinquent in payment of principal or interest or has been placed on nonaccrual
status as of such date.

(b) Section 3.22(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule identifies, as of September 30, 2018, each Loan that was
classified as “Watch,” “Other Loans Specially Mentioned,” “Special Mention,” “Substandard,” “Doubtful,” “Loss,” “Classifiec
“Criticized,” “Credit Risk Assets,” “Concerned Loans,” “Watch List” or words of similar import by Company, Company Bank
or that has been identified by accountants or auditors (internal or external) as having a significant risk of

uncollectability (collectively, “Criticized Loans”) together with the principal amount of and accrued and unpaid interest
on each such Loan and the identity of the borrower thereunder as of such date.

(c) Section 3.22(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedule identifies each asset of Company or any Company

Subsidiary that as of September 30, 2018 was classified as other real estate owned (“OREQO”) and the book value thereof
as of the date of this Agreement as well as any assets classified as OREO since September 30, 2018 to the date hereof
and any sales of OREO between September 30, 2018 and the date hereof, reflecting any gain or loss with respect to

any OREO sold.

(d) Except as would not reasonably be expected to be material, each Loan held in Company’s, Company Bank’s or
any of their respective Subsidiaries’ loan portfolio (each a “Company Loan”)
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(1) is evidenced by notes, agreements or other evidences of indebtedness that are true, genuine and what they purport
to be, (ii) to the extent secured, is and has been secured by valid Liens which have been perfected and (iii) to
Company’s Knowledge is a legal, valid and binding obligation of the obligor named therein, enforceable in accordance
with its terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance and other Laws of general applicability
relating to or affecting creditors’ rights and to general equity principles.

(e) All currently outstanding Company Loans were solicited, originated and administered, and currently exist, and
the relevant Loan files are being maintained, in material compliance with all applicable requirements of Law, the
applicable loan documents, and Company Bank’s lending policies at the time of origination of such Company Loans as
Company has or may modify such policies, and the notes or other credit or security documents with respect to each
such outstanding Company Loan are complete and correct in all material respects. There are no oral modifications or
amendments or additional agreements related to the Company Loans that are not reflected in the written records of
Company or Company Bank, as applicable. All such Company Loans are owned by Company or Company Bank free
and clear of any Liens (other than blanket Liens by the Federal Home Loan Bank of Dallas). No claims of defense as
to the enforcement of any currently outstanding Company Loan have been asserted in writing against Company or
Company Bank for which there is a reasonable probability of an adverse determination, and, to Company’s Knowledge
there is no claim or right of rescission for which there is a reasonable probability of a determination adverse to
Company Bank. No Company Loans are presently serviced by third parties, and there is no obligation which could
result in any Company Loan becoming subject to any third party servicing.

(f) Neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary is a party to any material Contract with (or otherwise obligated
to) any Person which obligates Company or any Company Subsidiary to repurchase from any such Person any Loan
or other asset of Company or any Company Subsidiary, unless there is a material breach of a representation or
covenant by Company or any Company Subsidiary. None of the Contracts pursuant to which Company or any
Company Subsidiary has sold Loans, pools of Loans or participations in Loans or pools of Loans contains any
obligation to repurchase such Loans or interests therein solely on account of a payment default by the obligor on any
such Loan.

(g) Neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary is now nor has it ever been since January 1, 2014, subject to any
fine, suspension, settlement or other Contract or other administrative agreement or sanction by, or any reduction in
any loan purchase commitment from, any Governmental Authority relating to the origination, sale or servicing of
mortgage or consumer Loans.

(h) Since January 1, 2014, neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary has canceled, released or compromised
any Loan, obligation, claim or receivable other than in the Ordinary Course of Business.

(i) Company and Company Bank have not, since January 1, 2014, extended or maintained credit, arranged for the
extension of credit, or renewed an extension of credit, in the form of a personal loan to or for any director, executive
officer, or principal shareholder (or equivalent thereof) of Company or any Company Subsidiary (as such terms are
defined in FRB Regulation O), except as permitted by Regulation O and that have been made in compliance with the
provisions of Regulation O (or that are exempt therefrom). Section 3.22(i) of the Company Disclosure Schedule
identifies, as of September 30, 2018, any loan or extension of credit maintained by Company and Company Bank to
which Regulation O applies, and there has been no default on, or forgiveness of waiver of, in whole or in part, any
such loan during the two (2) years preceding the date hereof.

Section 3.23  Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses. Company’s reserves, allowance for loan and lease losses and
carrying value for real estate owned as reflected in each of (a) the Audited Financial
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Statements and (b) the Unaudited Financial Statements, were, in the opinion of management, as of the applicable dates
thereof, adequate in all material respects to provide for possible losses on the applicable items and in compliance with
Company’s and Company Bank’s existing methodology for determining the adequacy of its allowance for loan and
lease losses as well as the standards established by applicable Governmental Authority, the Financial Accounting
Standards Board and GAAP.

Section 3.24 Trust Business; Administration of Fiduciary Accounts. In connection with the Company’s or a
Company Subsidiary’s provision of any individual or corporate trust services or the administration of any accounts for
which Company or a Company Subsidiary acts as a fiduciary, including, but not limited to, any accounts in which it
serves as a trustee, agent, custodian, personal representative, guardian, conservator or investment advisor, Company or
a Company Subsidiary, as applicable, has (a) discharged its fiduciary duties with care, skill, prudence and diligence
under the circumstances then-prevailing that a reasonably prudent person acting in a like capacity and familiar with
such matters would use, and (b) conducted a thorough and reasonably prudent due diligence investigation of all
businesses that provided, and to which Company or such Company Subsidiary delegated, the investment or
investment advisor role for such funds.

Section 3.25 Investment Management and Related Activities. None of Company, any Company Subsidiary or, to the
extent relating to their activities with respect to Company or any Company Subsidiary, any of their respective
directors, officers or employees is required to be registered, licensed or authorized under applicable Law as an
investment adviser, a broker or dealer, an insurance agency or company, a commodity trading adviser, a commodity
pool operator, a futures commission merchant, an introducing broker, a registered representative or associated Person,
investment adviser, representative or solicitor, a counseling officer, an insurance agent, a sales Person or in any
similar capacity with a Governmental Authority.

Section 3.26 Repurchase Agreements. With respect to all Contracts pursuant to which Company or any Company
Subsidiary has purchased securities subject to an agreement to resell, if any, Company or such Company Subsidiary
has a valid, perfected first lien or security interest in the government securities or other collateral securing the
repurchase agreement, and the value of such collateral is reasonably believed to equal or exceed the amount of debt
secured thereby.

Section 3.27 Deposit Insurance. The deposits of Company Bank are insured by the Deposit Insurance Fund of the
FDIC in accordance with the Federal Deposit Insurance Act (“FDIA”) to the fullest extent permitted by Law, and
Company Bank has paid all premiums and assessments and filed all reports required by the FDIA when due. No
proceedings for the suspension, revocation, or termination of such deposit insurance are pending or, to Company’s
Knowledge, threatened.

Section 3.28 Community Reinvestment Act, Anti-money Laundering and Customer Information Security. Except as
has not been and would not reasonably be expected to materially and adversely affect or interfere with Company or
Company Bank’s operations, neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary is a party to any Contract with any
individual or group regarding Community Reinvestment Act matters. As of the date hereof, Company’s and Company
Bank’s rating in its most recent examination or interim review under the Community Reinvestment Act was
“satisfactory” or better, and Company has not received any written or, to Company’s Knowledge, oral, communication
that Company Bank’s rating in its next subsequent examination or interim review under the Community Reinvestment
Act will be lower than “satisfactory.” Company and each Company Subsidiary (a) is in compliance in all material
respects with the Community Reinvestment Act, and the regulations promulgated thereunder; (b) is operating in in
compliance in all material respects with the Bank Secrecy Act and its implementing regulations (31 C.F.R. Title X),
the USA PATRIOT Act, any order or guidance issued with respect to anti-money laundering or sanctions programs by
the U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Financial Crimes Enforcement Network or Office of Foreign Assets
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Control, and any other applicable anti-money laundering Law; and (c) is in compliance in all material respects with
the applicable privacy of customer information requirements contained in any federal and state privacy Laws and
regulations, including, without limitation, in Title V of the GLB Act and regulations promulgated thereunder, as well
as the provisions of the information security program adopted by Company Bank pursuant to 12 C.F.R. Part 30.
Furthermore, the board of directors of Company Bank has adopted and Company Bank has implemented an
anti-money laundering program that contains adequate and appropriate customer identification verification procedures
that meet the requirements of Sections 352 and 326 of the USA PATRIOT Act. Company and Company Bank,
collectively, are the sole owner of all individually identifiable personal information relating to identifiable or
identified natural Persons who are customers, former customers and prospective customers of Company and Company
Bank.

Section 3.29 Transactions with Affiliates. There are no outstanding amounts payable to or receivable from, or
advances by Company or any Company Subsidiary to, and neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary is
otherwise a creditor or debtor to, (a) any director, executive officer, five percent (5%) or greater shareholder of
Company or any Company Subsidiary or to any of their respective Affiliates or Associates known to Company, other
than in the Ordinary Course of Business as part of the terms of such Persons’ employment or service as a director or
executive officer with Company or any Company Subsidiary and other than deposits held by Company Bank in the
Ordinary Course of Business; or (b) any Affiliate of Company or any Company Subsidiary. Neither Company nor any
Company Subsidiary is a party to any transaction or agreement, or is contemplated to be party to any proposed
transaction or agreement, with any director or executive officer of Company or any Company Subsidiary or to any of
their respective Affiliates or Associates, other than compensation or business expense advancements or
reimbursements in the Ordinary Course of Business as part of the terms of such Person’s employment or service as a
director or executive officer with Company or any Company Subsidiary and other than deposits held by Company
Bank in the Ordinary Course of Business. All agreements, and all transactions since January 1, 2014, between
Company or any Company Subsidiary, on the one hand, and any of their respective Affiliates, on the other hand,
comply, to the extent applicable, in all material respects with Sections 23A and 23B of the Federal Reserve Act and
Regulation W promulgated by the FRB.

Section 3.30 Tangible Properties and Assets.

(a) Section 3.30(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true, correct and complete list of all Company
Owned Property. Company or a Company Subsidiary has (i) good, valid and marketable fee title to all of the
Company Owned Property, (ii) a valid leasehold interest in or otherwise legally enforceable rights to use all of the
Company Leased Property, and (iii) fee title or a legally enforceable right to use all other personal property, rights and
other assets (tangible or intangible), used, occupied and operated or held for use by Company or a Company
Subsidiary as of the date of this Agreement in connection with the business of the Company and the Company
Subsidiaries as presently conducted, in each case, free and clear of all Liens, except for Permitted Liens. There is no
pending or, to Company’s Knowledge, threatened Legal Proceeding with respect to the Company Owned Property or,
to Company’s Knowledge, the Company Leased Property, including without limitation a pending or threatened taking
of any of such real property by eminent domain, except where such Legal Proceeding has not had, and would not
reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect on Company or any Company Subsidiary. Company has
furnished or made available to Parent true, correct and complete copies of all deeds, surveys, title insurance policies,
mortgages, deeds of trust and security agreements, and documents evidencing encumbrances or exceptions to the
applicable title commitment or title policy that Company or any Company Subsidiary has in its possession related to
any Company Owned Property or Company Leased Property.

(b) Section 3.30(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true, correct and complete schedule as of the
date of this Agreement of all Contracts (including any amendments, supplements
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or modifications to each of the foregoing) under which Company or any Company Subsidiary uses or occupies or has
the right to use or occupy, now or in the future, any real property (each as amended, supplemented or modified,
individually a “Lease” and, collectively, the “Leases”). Each Lease is valid, binding and in full force and effect against
Company or a Company Subsidiary, as the case may be, and, to Company’s Knowledge, against the other parties
thereto. Neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary has received a written or, to Company’s Knowledge, oral
notice of any material default on the part of the Company or any Company Subsidiary or early termination with
respect to any Lease. There has not occurred any event and, to Company’s no condition exists that would constitute a
termination event or a breach (or an event which, with or without notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a
breach) by Company or any Company Subsidiary of any material covenant, agreement, or condition contained in a
Lease. To Company’s Knowledge, no lessor under a Lease is in breach or default of any material covenant, agreement
or condition contained in such Lease. Company and each Company Subsidiary has paid all rents and other charges to
the extent due under the Leases. True, correct, and complete copies of all Leases have been furnished or made
available to Parent.

(c) Except as has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect on Company, all
buildings, structures, fixtures, building systems and equipment, and all material components thereof, including the
roof, foundation, load-bearing walls and other structural elements thereof, heating, ventilation, air conditioning,
mechanical, electrical, plumbing and other building systems included in the Company Owned Property (and to
Company’s Knowledge, the Company Leased Property) are sufficient for the operation of the business of Company
and the Company Subsidiaries as currently conducted.

(d) Since January 1, 2015, neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary has received any written, or, to Company’s
Knowledge, oral notice from any Governmental Authority of any material zoning, safety, building, fire, or health code
violations with respect to the Company Owned Property or the Company Leased Property, which remains uncured as
of the date of this Agreement.

(e) Section 3.30(e) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true and complete list of all Leases pursuant to
which consents, waivers or notices are or may be required to be given thereunder, in each case, prior to consummation
of the Merger, the Bank Merger, and the other transactions contemplated hereby.

Section 3.31 Intellectual Property. Section 3.31 of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true, complete and
correct list of all registered and unregistered material Company Intellectual Property.

(a) Company or a Company Subsidiary validly holds all right, title and interest in and to, and the inventions
disclosed or claimed therein, or has a valid license to use, and with respect to domains and social media accounts, has
control over, all Company Intellectual Property, free and clear of all Liens (other than Permitted Liens,) royalty or
other payment obligations (except for royalties or payments with respect to off the shelf Software at standard
commercial rates). Section 3.31(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth all Company Intellectual Property
ownership or licenses which are held by a Company Subsidiary (rather than Company), and indicates the specific item
and the applicable Company Subsidiary. To the Company’s Knowledge, (i) the owners of the Company Intellectual
Property used by Company pursuant to license, sublicense, agreement or permission have taken all necessary actions
to maintain, protect and/or permit the use of such Company Intellectual Property by Company or a Company
Subsidiary, and (ii) there is no default or expected default by any party to, or any intent to terminate or let expire, any
Contract related to Company Intellectual Property. To Company’s Knowledge, there are no outstanding options,
licenses, agreements, claims, encumbrances or shared ownership interests of any kind relating to the Company
Intellectual Property represented to be owned by Company or any Company Subsidiary, nor is Company or
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any Company Subsidiary bound by or a party to any options, licenses or agreements of any kind with respect to the
patents, trademarks, service marks, trade names, copyrights, trade secrets, licenses, information, proprietary rights and
processes of any other Person.

(b) The Company Intellectual Property constitutes all of the Intellectual Property used to carry on the business of
Company and the Company Subsidiaries as currently conducted. Neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary has
embedded or permitted to be embedded any open source, copyleft or community source code in any of its products or
services generally available or in development, including but not limited to any libraries, that provide for or permit
such code or any of Company Intellectual Property’s proprietary code to be distributed or made available in source
form or dedicated to the public. In addition, Company and each Company Subsidiary has taken reasonable steps to
maintain, protect and preserve the Company Intellectual Property.

(c) The Company Intellectual Property represented to be owned by the Company or a Company Subsidiary is valid
and enforceable and has not been cancelled, forfeited, expired or abandoned, and neither Company nor any Company
Subsidiary has received any written or, to Company’s Knowledge, oral notice challenging the validity or enforceability
of any Company Intellectual Property.

(d) Neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary is, and none of them will be as a result of the execution and
delivery of this Agreement or the performance by Company and Company Bank of its obligations hereunder, in
violation of any material Contracts to which Company or any Company Subsidiary is a party and pursuant to which
Company or any Company Subsidiary is authorized to use any third-party patents, trademarks, service marks,
copyrights, trade secrets, computer software or other intellectual property. Neither Company nor any Company
Subsidiary has received notice challenging Company’s or any Company Subsidiary’s license or legally enforceable
right to use any such third-party intellectual property rights. The consummation of the transactions contemplated
hereby will not result in the loss or impairment of the right of Company or any Company Subsidiary (or Parent or any
Parent Subsidiary post-Closing) to own or use any material Company Intellectual Property.

(e) With respect to any Company Intellectual Property that is an intent-to-use trademark application (“ITU”), this
Agreement provides for the assumption of the entire business of Company to which that respective ITU pertains, such
business of Company will be ongoing and existing immediately upon consummation of the Merger, and Parent will be
the successor in interest of such business of Company.

(f) To Company’s Knowledge, neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary has interfered with, infringed upon,
misappropriated, or otherwise violated any Intellectual Property rights of any other Person, and neither Company nor
any Company Subsidiary has ever received any written or, to Company’s Knowledge, oral charge, complaint, claim,
demand or notice alleging any such interference, infringement, misappropriation or violation (including any claim that
Company or any Company Subsidiary must license or refrain from using any Intellectual Property rights of any other
Person). To Company’s Knowledge, no other Person has interfered with, infringed upon, misappropriated or otherwise
violated any Company Intellectual Property rights owned by, or licensed to, Company or any Company Subsidiary.
(g) Section 3.31(g) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate list and summary
description, including any royalties or other amounts paid or received by Company and the Company Subsidiaries,
and Company has delivered to Parent accurate and complete copies, of all Contracts relating to the Company
Intellectual Property (other than non-exclusive licenses to generally available off-the-shelf commercial software).
There are no outstanding or, to Company’s Knowledge, threatened disputes or disagreements with respect to any such
Contract. Included in Section 3.31(g) of the Company Disclosure Schedule is a list of: (i) all items of material
Company Intellectual Property that are
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licensed by Company or any Company Subsidiary (‘“Licensed Business Intellectual Property”) and the owner or licensee
of each such item of Licensed Business Intellectual Property (other than non-exclusive licenses to generally available
commercial software), and (ii) all other material Contracts related to the Company Intellectual Property. All Contracts
related to Company Intellectual Property are valid and enforceable by or against Company or a Company Subsidiary,
as applicable, in accordance with their terms, except to the extent that validity and enforceability may be limited by
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium, reorganization or similar Laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’
rights generally or by general principles of equity or by principles of public policy.

(h) Section 3.31(h) of the Company Disclosure Schedule contains a complete and accurate list and summary
description of all Patents, and registrations and applications for trademarks, copyrights, domain names and social
media accounts, included in the Company Intellectual Property.

(i) Company’s and each Company Subsidiary’s IT Assets: (i) operate and perform in all material respects as required
by Company and each Company Subsidiary in connection with their respective businesses and (ii) have not materially
malfunctioned or failed within the past two years. Company and each Company Subsidiary has implemented
reasonable backup, security and disaster recovery technology and procedures consistent with industry practices.

() Company and each Company Subsidiary: (i) has reasonable privacy policies consistent with industry practices
concerning the collection, use and disclosure of personal information; (ii) is compliant with all applicable Laws, and
its own privacy policies and commitments to its customers, consumers, employees and other parties, concerning data
protection and the privacy and security of personal data and the nonpublic personal information of its customers,
consumers and employees (including without limitation related to the collection, use, storage, transfer, or disposal
thereof); and (iii) at no time during the two years prior to the date hereof, has received any written notice asserting any
violations of any of the foregoing. The execution of this Agreement and the transfer of all such personal data and
nonpublic information to Parent’s control in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated
hereby shall not violate any such Laws, privacy policies or commitments. Immediately upon the Closing, Parent and
the Parent Subsidiaries will continue to have the right to use such personal information on identical terms and
conditions as Company and the Company Subsidiaries enjoyed immediately prior to the Closing. To the Company’s
Knowledge, no Person (including any Governmental Authority) has commenced or, to Company’s Knowledge,
threatened any Legal Proceeding relating to Company or any Company Subsidiary’s information privacy or data
security practices, including with respect to the collection, use, transfer, storage, or disposal of personal information
maintained by or on behalf of Company and Company Subsidiaries.

Section 3.32 Insurance. Section 3.32 of the Company Disclosure Schedule identifies as of the date of this Agreement
all of the material insurance policies, binders, or bonds currently maintained by Company and the Company
Subsidiaries (the “Insurance Policies”), including the insurer, policy numbers, amount of coverage, effective and
termination dates and any pending claims thereunder involving more than $10,000. Company and each Company
Subsidiary is insured against such risks and in such amounts as the management of Company reasonably has
determined to be appropriate and cost effective. Company and each Company Subsidiary maintains such fidelity
bonds and errors and omissions insurance as may be required under applicable Law. All Insurance Policies are valid
and enforceable and in full force and effect. There are presently no claims pending under the Insurance Policies and no
notices have been given by Company or any Company Subsidiary under the Insurance Policies (other than with
respect to health or disability insurance). All claims under the Insurance Policies have been filed in due and timely
fashion. Neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary, has received notice from any insurance carrier during the
past three years that (i) such insurance will be cancelled or that coverage thereunder will be reduced or eliminated,

(ii) such carrier is denying coverage for a type of insurance for which Company or a Company Subsidiary
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has applied, (iii) such carrier is denying liability with respect to a claim or defending under a reservation of rights
clause or (iv) such carrier has filed for protection under applicable bankruptcy or insolvency laws or is otherwise in
the process of liquidating or has been liquidated. Company does not have or maintain any self-insurance arrangement.
Section 3.33  Disaster Recovery and Business Continuity. Company has developed and implemented a contingency
planning program to evaluate the effect of significant events that may adversely affect the customers, assets, or
employees of Company and Company Bank. To Company’s Knowledge, such program was developed to provide that
Company can recover its mission critical functions, and, to the Company’s Knowledge, such program complies in all
material respects with the requirements of the FFIEC, the FRB and the OCC.

Section 3.34  Antitakeover Provisions. Assuming the accuracy of the representations and warranties of Parent in
Section 4.27, the Company Board has approved this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby and has
taken all such other necessary actions as required to render inapplicable to this Agreement and the transactions
contemplated hereby, the provisions of any potentially applicable antitakeover Laws of any state, including, any
“control share acquisition,” “business combination moratorium,” “fair price” or other form of antitakeover statute or
regulation.

Section 3.35 Opinion. Prior to the execution of this Agreement, the Company Board has received an opinion (which,
if initially rendered orally, has been or will be confirmed by a written opinion, dated the same date) from Keefe,
Bruyette & Woods, Inc., to the effect that, as of the date thereof, and based upon and subject to the factors,
assumptions and limitations set forth therein, the Merger Consideration is fair, from a financial point of view, to the
holders of Company Common Stock. Such opinion has not been amended or rescinded in any material respect as of
the date of this Agreement.

Section 3.36  Company Information. No written representation or certificate furnished or to be furnished by
Company or Company Bank to Parent pursuant to this Agreement (including the Company Disclosure Schedule)
contains or will contain any untrue statement of material fact or will omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. The information
relating to Company and Company Subsidiaries that is provided by or on behalf of Company for inclusion in any
Regulatory Approval or other application, notification or document filed with any Governmental Authority in
connection with the Merger, Bank Merger or other transactions contemplated herein, will at the time each such
document is filed with any Governmental Authority, not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances in which they are made,
not misleading.

Section 3.37 No Other Representations and Warranties. Except for the representations and warranties made by
Company and Company Bank in this Article 3, none of Company, Company Bank or any other Person makes any
express or implied representation or warranty with respect to Company or any Company Subsidiary, or their
respective businesses, operations, assets, liabilities, conditions (financial or otherwise) or prospects, and Company and
Company Bank hereby disclaim any such other representations or warranties.
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ARTICLE 4.

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND PARENT BANK

Section 4.01 Making of Representations and Warranties.

(a) On or prior to the date hereof, Parent has delivered to Company a schedule (the “Parent Disclosure Schedule”), the
section numbers of which are numbered to correspond to the section numbers of this Agreement to which they refer,
setting forth items the disclosure of which is necessary or appropriate either in response to an express disclosure
requirement contained in a provision hereof or as an exception to one or more representations or warranties contained
in this Article 4 or to one or more of Parent’s covenants contained in Article 5; provided, however, that (i) nothing in
the Parent Disclosure Schedule shall be deemed adequate to disclose an exception to a representation or a warranty
unless such schedule identifies the exception with reasonable particularity and describes the relevant facts in
reasonable detail and (ii) the mere inclusion of an item in the Parent Disclosure Schedule as an exception to a
representation or warranty shall not be deemed an admission by Parent that such item represents a material exception
or fact, event or circumstance or that such item is reasonably likely to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

(b) Except as set forth in (i) the Parent Reports filed prior to the date hereof or (ii) the Parent Disclosure Schedule
(subject to Section 9.12), Parent and Parent Bank hereby represent and warrant to Company as follows in this Article
4.

(c) Notwithstanding any other provision in this Article 4 to the contrary, any representations or warranties of Parent
Bank shall be made on behalf of Parent Bank, and where applicable, Parent Bank’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, and not
on behalf of Parent or any of Parent’s subsidiaries, or of any affiliate of Parent or of Parent Bank. Further, the
representations and warranties of Parent Bank in this Article 4 shall be limited solely with respect to Parent Bank, and
where applicable, Parent Bank’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, to the extent necessary if (i) a Governmental Authority
having jurisdiction over Parent Bank by written communication addressed to Parent Bank or its board of directors
informs Parent Bank or its board of directors that such Governmental Authority has determined that any obligation of
Parent Bank resulting from such representations or warranties violates Sections 23A or 23B of the Federal Reserve
Act, as amended, or another law, rule, regulation or policy applicable to Parent Bank or Parent, (ii) a Governmental
Authority notifies Parent Bank that such representations or warranties, or the obligations resulting therefrom, would
result in an adverse impact on Parent Bank’s examination ratings or (iii) such representations or warranties, or the
obligations resulting therefrom, would give rise to civil money penalties or other sanctions.

Section 4.02  Organization, Standing and Authority.

(a) Parent is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State of
Delaware, and is duly registered as a bank holding company under the BHC Act, and has elected to be treated as a
financial holding company under the GLB Act. True, complete and correct copies of the certificate of incorporation
and bylaws of Parent, each as amended to date and in effect as of the date hereof have previously been made available
to Company. Parent has full corporate power and authority to carry on its business as now being conducted and to
own, lease and operate the properties and assets now owned and being operated by it. Parent is duly licensed,
registered or qualified to do business in the State of Delaware and each jurisdiction in which its ownership or leasing
of property and assets or the nature of its business requires such licensing, registration or qualification, except where
the failure to be so licensed, registered or qualified would not have a Material Adverse Effect on Parent. Parent has no
Subsidiaries other than Parent Bank and those identified on Section 4.02(a) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule.

(i) Parent owns, directly or indirectly, all of the issued and outstanding equity securities of each Parent Subsidiary,

(i1) no equity securities of any Parent Subsidiary are, or may become, required to be issued (other
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than to Parent) by reason of any Contractual right or otherwise, (iii) there are no Contracts by which any Parent
Subsidiary is or may be bound to sell or otherwise transfer any of its equity securities (other than to Parent or a
wholly-owned Parent Subsidiary), (iv) there are no Contracts relating to Parent’s rights to vote or to dispose of the
equity securities of any Company Subsidiary, (v) all of the equity securities of each Parent Subsidiary are held by
Parent, directly or indirectly, are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable, are not subject to
preemptive or similar rights, and (vi) all of the equity securities of each Parent Subsidiary that are owned, directly or
indirectly, by Parent or any Subsidiary thereof, are free and clear of all Liens, other than restrictions on transfer under
applicable securities Laws.

(b) Parent Bank is a state-chartered trust company with banking powers duly organized and validly existing under
the laws of the State of Missouri. True, complete and correct copies of the charter and bylaws of Parent Bank, as in
effect as of the date of this Agreement, have previously been made available to Company. Parent Bank has full
corporate power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and assets and to engage in the business and
activities now conducted by it. Parent Bank is duly licensed, registered or qualified to do business in the State of
Missouri and each other jurisdiction where its ownership or leasing of property and assets or the conduct of its
business requires such licensing, registration or qualification, except where the failure to be so licensed, registered or
qualified would not have a Material Adverse Effect on Parent Bank. Parent Bank is a member in good standing of the
Federal Home Loan Bank of Des Moines.

Section 4.03  Capital Stock.

(a) The authorized capital stock of Parent consists of (i) 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.01 par value per
share, of which, as of the date of this Agreement, none are outstanding and (ii) 30,000,000 shares of Parent Common
Stock, of which, as of September 30, 2018, 23,091,666 shares are issued and outstanding, 827,595 shares are held in
treasury, and no non-vested restricted stock shares are issued and outstanding. The outstanding shares of Parent
Common Stock have been duly authorized and validly issued and are fully paid and non-assessable and have not been
issued in violation of nor are they subject to preemptive rights of any Parent shareholder. The shares of Parent
Common Stock to be issued pursuant to this Agreement, when issued in accordance with the terms of this Agreement,
will be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable and will not be subject to preemptive rights and
will be issued in compliance with and not in violation of applicable federal or state securities Laws. All shares of
Parent’s capital stock have been issued in compliance in all material respects with and not in violation of any
applicable federal or state securities Laws.

(b) Except for any grants or awards properly issued to officers, directors or employees of Parent or Parent Bank
pursuant to an equity based plan approved by the Board of Parent, as of the date hereof, there are no outstanding
securities of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries that are convertible into or exchangeable for any class of capital stock of
Parent or any of Parent’s Subsidiaries. Except (i) as set forth in Section 4.03(a) or (ii) for any grants or awards properly
issued to officers, directors or employees of Parent or Parent Bank pursuant to an equity based plan approved by the
Board of Parent, as of the date of this Agreement, there are no options, warrants or other similar rights, convertible or
exchangeable securities, restricted shares, restricted stock units, “phantom stock” rights, stock appreciation rights, stock
based performance units or Contracts to which Parent or any Parent Subsidiary is a party, in each case of any character
relating to the issued or unissued capital stock or other securities of Parent or any Parent Subsidiary or obligating
Parent or any Parent Subsidiary to issue (whether upon conversion, exchange or otherwise) or sell any share of capital
stock of, or other equity interests in or other securities of, Parent or any Parent Subsidiary.

(c) As of the date of this Agreement, there are no obligations, contingent or otherwise, of Parent or any Parent
Subsidiary, to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any shares of Parent Common
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Stock or capital stock of any Parent Subsidiary or any other securities of Parent or any Parent Subsidiary or to provide
funds to or make any investment (in the form of loan, capital contribution or otherwise) in any Parent Subsidiary.
There are no Contracts with respect to the voting of Parent’s capital stock to which Parent or any Parent Subsidiary is a
party and to the Knowledge of Parent as of the date hereof, no such Contracts between any Persons exist. There are
Contracts under which Parent is obligated to register the sale of any of its securities under the Securities Act.

Section 4.04 Power and Authority Relative to this Agreement; No Conflict.

(a) Each of Parent and Parent Bank has all requisite power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and
all other agreements and documents contemplated hereby to which it is a party, to perform its obligations hereunder
and thereunder, and, subject to making or obtaining the Regulatory Approvals and the Parent Bank Shareholder
Approval, to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.

(b) The execution and delivery of this Agreement, and each other agreement and document contemplated hereby to
which Parent is a party, and the consummation by Parent of the transactions contemplated hereby, including the
Merger, have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action of Parent and the Board of Parent on or prior to
the date hereof. Subject only to the receipt of the Buyer Bank Shareholder Approval, the execution and delivery of this
Agreement, and each other agreement and document contemplated hereby to which Parent Bank, and the
consummation by Parent Bank of the transactions contemplated hereby, including the Bank Merger, have been duly
authorized by all necessary action of Parent Bank and Parent Ban’s board of directors on or prior to the date hereof.
Each of Parent and Parent Bank has duly executed and delivered this Agreement and, assuming due authorization,
execution and delivery by Company and Company Bank, this Agreement constitutes a valid and legally binding
obligation of Parent and Parent Bank, enforceable against Parent and Parent Bank in accordance with its terms (except
as enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, fraudulent transfer
and similar Laws of general applicability relating to or affecting creditors’ rights generally or by general equity
principles or by 12 U.S.C. § 1818(b)(6)(D) (or any successor statute) and other applicable authority of bank
regulators).

(c) The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and each other agreement or document contemplated
hereby to which Parent or Parent Bank is a party, the consummation by Parent and Parent Bank of the transactions
contemplated hereby and thereby, and compliance by Parent and Parent Bank with the terms and provisions hereof
and thereof, do not and will not (i) subject to obtaining the Parent Bank Shareholder Approval and the approval of
Parent Bank’s board of directors of the Bank Merger, result in a violation or breach of, or conflict with, any provision
of the certificate of incorporation or bylaws of Parent or any similar organizational or governing document of any
Parent Subsidiary, (ii) result in a violation or breach of, conflict with any provisions of, constitute a default (or an
event which, with notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a default) under, give rise to a right of purchase
under, accelerate the performance required by Parent, Parent Bank or any other Parent Subsidiary under, result in a
right of termination or acceleration under, or require any consent, approval or notice under, any material agreement
filed as an exhibit to Parent’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 (the “Parent
2017 Form 10-K”), (iii) result in the creation of any Lien (other than Permitted Liens) upon any of the properties or
assets of Parent or Parent Bank, or (iv) subject to making or obtaining the Regulatory Approvals, violate any Law or
Order applicable to Parent, Parent Bank or any other Parent Subsidiary or any of their respective properties or assets,
other than, with respect to clauses (ii), (iii) and (iv), any such violation, breach, conflict, default or creation which
would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Parent.
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(d) Parent Bank is not subject to any material restrictions on its operations or its authority to conduct any activities
or business that are not otherwise applicable to all federally-insured commercial banks.

Section 4.05 SEC Documents; Financial Statements.

(a) Parent has filed (or furnished, as applicable) all required reports, registration statements, definitive proxy
statements or documents required to be filed with the SEC or furnished to the SEC since January 1, 2016 (the “Parent
Reports™), and has paid all fees and assessments due and payable in connection therewith, except where the failure to
file or furnish such report, registration statement, definitive proxy statements or documents required to be filed or to
pay such fees and assessments would not be material. As of their respective dates of filing with the SEC (or, if
amended or superseded by a subsequent filing prior to the date hereof, as of the date of such subsequent filing), the
Parent Reports complied as to form in all material respects with the applicable requirements of the Securities Act or
the Exchange Act, as the case may be, and the rules and regulations of the SEC thereunder applicable to such Parent
Reports, and none of the Parent Reports when filed with the SEC, or if amended prior to the date hereof, as of the date
of such amendment (and in the case of filings under the Securities Act, at the time it was declared effective), contained
any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to
make the statements made therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. As of
the date of this Agreement, there are no unresolved outstanding comments from or unresolved issues raised by the
SEC with respect to any of the Parent Reports.

(b) The consolidated financial statements of Parent and Parent Subsidiaries (including any related notes and
schedules thereto) included in the Parent Reports complied as to form, as of their respective dates of filing with the
SEC (or, if amended or superseded by a subsequent filing prior to the date hereof, as of the date of such subsequent
filing), in all material respects, with all applicable accounting requirements and with the published rules and
regulations of the SEC with respect thereto (except, in the case of unaudited statements, as permitted by the rules of
the SEC), have been prepared from the books and records of Parent and Parent Subsidiaries, and all such books and
records have been maintained in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis during the periods involved
(except as may be disclosed therein) and any other legal and accounting requirements, and fairly present, in all
material respects, the consolidated financial position of Parent and Parent Subsidiaries and the consolidated results of
operations, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows of Parent and Parent Subsidiaries as of the dates and for the
periods shown, subject in the case of unaudited statements, only to year-end audit adjustments not material,
individually or in the aggregate, in nature and amount, and to the absence of footnote disclosure.

(c) Parent and each Parent Subsidiary has established and maintains (i) disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act) designed to ensure that all information required to be disclosed by
Parent in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported
within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC, and that all such information is accumulated and
communicated to Parent’s management as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure and to
make the certifications of the chief executive officer and chief financial officer of Parent required under the Exchange
Act with respect to such reports, and (ii) internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rule
13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act) designed to provide reasonable assurance (A) regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP; (B) that receipts
and expenditures of Parent and Parent Subsidiaries are being made only in accordance with the authorization of
Parent’s management and directors; and (C) regarding prevention or timely detection of the unauthorized acquisition,
use or disposition of the assets of Parent and the Parent Subsidiaries. Parent has disclosed, based on management’s
most recent evaluation prior to the date hereof, to Parent’s outside auditors, the audit
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committee of the Board of Parent and Parent (x) any significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in the design or
operation of such controls which could adversely affect in any material respect Parent’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial data and any material weaknesses in internal controls, and (y) any fraud, whether or
not material, that involves management or other employees who have a role in Parent’s internal control over financial
reporting or preparation of Company’s financial statements. Parent and each Parent Subsidiary, and the officers and
directors of each, have made all certifications required under and are otherwise in compliance in all material respects
with and have complied in all material respects with (1) the applicable provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the
related rules and regulations promulgated under such act and the Exchange Act and (2) the applicable listing and
corporate governance rules and regulations of NASDAQ.

(d) Since January 1, 2015, none of Parent, Parent Subsidiaries or, to Parent’s Knowledge, any director, officer,
employee, auditor, accountant or representative of Parent or any Parent Subsidiary has received or otherwise had or
obtained Knowledge of any material complaint, allegation, assertion or claim, whether written or oral, regarding the
accounting or auditing practices, procedures, methodologies or methods of Parent or any Parent Subsidiary or their
respective internal accounting controls, including any material complaint, allegation, assertion or claim that Parent or
any Parent Subsidiary has engaged in illegal accounting or auditing practices or otherwise relating to the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

Section 4.06 Regulatory Reports. Since January 1, 2014, Parent and Parent Subsidiaries have duly filed with the
FDIC, the FRB, the FRBank, the Missouri Division of Finance and any other applicable Governmental Authority, in
correct form, in all material respects, the reports and other documents required to be filed under applicable Law have
paid all fees and assessments due and payable in connection therewith, and such reports were, in all material respects,
complete and accurate and in compliance with the requirements of applicable Law. Other than normal examinations
conducted by a Governmental Authority in the Ordinary Course of Business, since January 1, 2017, no Governmental
Authority has notified Parent or any Parent Subsidiary in writing, or to Parent’s Knowledge, orally, that it has initiated
or has pending any proceeding or, to Parent’s Knowledge, threatened an investigation into the business or operations of
Parent or any Parent Subsidiary that would reasonably be expected to be material. To Parent’s Knowledge, there is no
material unresolved violation, criticism, or exception by any Governmental Authority with respect to any report or
statement relating to any examinations or inspections of Parent or any Parent Subsidiary. There have been no material
inquiries by, or disagreements or disputes with, any Governmental Authority with respect to the business, operations,
policies or procedures of Parent or any Parent Subsidiary since January 1, 2017.

Section 4.07 Regulatory Approvals; No Defaults. No consents, approvals, orders or authorizations of, waivers by,
filings or registrations with, or notices to, any Governmental Authority are required to be made or obtained by Parent,
Parent Bank or any other Parent Subsidiary in connection with the execution, delivery and performance by Parent and
Parent Bank of this Agreement, and each other agreement or document contemplated hereby to which Parent or Parent
Bank is a party, and the consummation by Parent and Parent Bank of the transactions contemplated hereby and
thereby (including the Merger and Bank Merger), except for the Regulatory Approvals. As of the date hereof, Parent
has no Knowledge of any reason that (a) the Regulatory Approvals will not be made or obtained or (b) any
Burdensome Condition would be imposed.

Section 4.08 Legal Proceedings; Orders. Except as set forth in the Parent Reports, as of the date of this Agreement:
(a) There is no material Legal Proceeding pending or, to Parent’s Knowledge, threatened against Parent or any Parent
Subsidiary or to which Parent or any Parent Subsidiary is a party, including any such Legal Proceeding that challenge
the validity or propriety of the transactions contemplated by this
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Agreement or which could adversely affect the ability of Parent or Parent Bank to perform its obligations under this
Agreement.

(b) There is no material Order, whether temporary, preliminary, or permanent, imposed upon Parent or any Parent
Subsidiary, or the assets of Parent or any Parent Subsidiary, and neither Parent nor any Parent Subsidiary has been
advised in writing or, to Parent’s Knowledge, orally, or otherwise has Knowledge of, the threat of any such Order.
Section 4.09  Absence of Certain Changes or Events. Since January 1, 2018 to the date hereof, there has been no
change or development in the business, operations, assets, liabilities, condition (financial or otherwise), results of
operations, cash flows or properties of Parent or any Parent Subsidiary which has had or would reasonably be
expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect on Parent.

Section 4.10 Compliance with Laws.

(a) Parent and each Parent Subsidiary is, and has been since January 1, 2015, in compliance in all material respects
with all Laws applicable thereto, including, without limitation, Privacy Laws, the USA PATRIOT Act, the Bank
Secrecy Act, the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, the Fair Housing Act, the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act, the
Community Reinvestment Act, the Fair Credit Reporting Act, as amended, the Truth in Lending Act, the Real Estate
Settlement Procedures Act, the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, the Dodd-Frank Act (including as amended by the
Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief, and Consumer Protection Act, Pub. L. No. 115-174, S. 2155 (2018)),

Sections 23A and 23B of the Federal Reserve Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, regulations promulgated by the Consumer
Financial Protection Bureau, all other applicable anti-money laundering Laws, fair lending Laws and other Laws
relating to discriminatory lending, financing, leasing or business practices and all agency requirements relating to the
origination, sale, servicing, administration and collection of mortgage loans and consumer loans, and the statutes and
regulations of the State of Missouri relating to banks and banking. Neither Parent nor any Parent Subsidiary has been
advised in writing, or, to Parent’s Knowledge, orally, of any material supervisory criticisms regarding its
non-compliance with the Bank Secrecy Act or related state or federal anti-money laundering laws, regulations and
guidelines, including without limitation those provisions of federal regulations requiring (i) the filing of reports, such
as Currency Transaction Reports and Suspicious Activity Reports, (ii) the maintenance of records and (iii) the exercise
of due diligence in identifying customers.

(b) Parent, each Parent Subsidiary, and each their respective employees, have all material Permits that are required
in order for Parent and each Parent Subsidiary to own or lease its properties and to conduct its business as presently
conducted. All Permits are in full force and effect and, to Parent’s Knowledge, no suspension, revocation or
cancellation of any of Permit is threatened.

(c) Neither Parent nor Parent Bank has received, from January 1, 2015 to the date hereof, any written or, to Parent’s
Knowledge, oral notification from any Governmental Authority (i) asserting that it is not in compliance with any
material Law which such Governmental Authority enforces or (ii) threatening to revoke any material Permit.

Section 4.11 Brokers. Neither Parent nor any Parent, nor any of their respective officers or directors has employed
any broker, finder, investment banker or financial advisor, or incurred any liability for any broker’s fees, commissions
or finder’s fees in connection with the Merger or related transactions contemplated by this Agreement, other than the
retention of Wells Fargo Securities LLC and the fees payable pursuant thereto.
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Section 4.12 Tax Matters.

(a) Parent and each Parent Subsidiary have filed all material Tax Returns that it was required to file under applicable
Law, other than Tax Returns that are not yet due or for which a request for extension was filed consistent with
requirements of applicable Law. All such Tax Returns were correct and complete in all material respects and have
been prepared in substantial compliance with all applicable Laws. All material Taxes due and owing by Parent or any
Parent Subsidiary (whether or not shown on any Tax Return) have been paid other than Taxes that have been reserved
or accrued on the balance sheet of Parent and which Parent is contesting in good faith. Neither Parent nor any Parent
Subsidiary currently has any open Tax years prior to 2011. Since January 1, 2013, no written claim has been made by
an authority in a jurisdiction where Parent does not file Tax Returns that it is or may be subject to taxation by that
jurisdiction. There are no Liens for Taxes (other than Taxes not yet due and payable) upon any of the assets of Parent
or any Parent Subsidiary.

(b) No foreign, federal, state, or local Tax audits or administrative or judicial Tax proceedings are currently being
conducted or, to Parent’s Knowledge, pending with respect to Parent or any Parent Subsidiary. Other than with respect
to audits that have already been completed and resolved, neither Parent nor any Parent Subsidiary has received from
any foreign, federal, state, or local taxing authority (including jurisdictions where Parent and Parent Subsidiaries have
not filed Tax Returns) any written (i) notice indicating an intent to open an audit or other review, (ii) request for
information related to Tax matters, or (iii) notice of deficiency or proposed adjustment for any amount of Tax
proposed, asserted, or assessed by any taxing authority against Parent or any Parent Subsidiary.

(c) Parent has made available to Company true and complete copies of the United States federal, state, local, and
foreign consolidated income Tax Returns filed with respect to Parent for taxable periods ended December 31, 2017
and 2016. Parent has delivered to Company correct and complete copies of all examination reports and statements of
deficiencies assessed against or agreed to by Parent with respect to income Taxes filed for the years ended

December 31, 2017 and 2016. Parent has timely and properly taken such actions in response to and in compliance
with written notices that Parent has received from the IRS in respect of information reporting and backup and
nonresident withholding as are required by Law.

(d) Parent has not waived any statute of limitations in respect of Taxes or agreed to any extension of time with
respect to a Tax assessment or deficiency, which such waiver or extension is still valid and in effect.

(e) Parent has not distributed stock of another Person nor had its stock distributed by another Person in a transaction
that was purported or intended to be nontaxable and governed in whole or in part by Section 355 or Section 361 of the
Code.

(f) Neither Parent nor any Parent Subsidiary has been a member of an affiliated group filing a consolidated federal
income Tax Return (other than a group the common parent of which was the Parent). Neither the Parent nor any
Parent Subsidiary has any liability for a material amount of Taxes of any individual, bank, corporation, partnership,
association, joint stock company, business trust, limited liability company, or unincorporated organization (other than
the Parent and the Parent Subsidiaries) under Regulations Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of state, local, or
foreign Law), as a transferee or successor, by contract, or otherwise.

(g) The unpaid Taxes of Parent (i) did not, as of December 31, 2017, exceed the reserve for Tax liability (which
reserve is distinct and different from any reserve for deferred Taxes established to reflect timing differences between
book and Tax income) set forth in the consolidated audited balance sheets
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of Parent and Parent Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2017, and the related consolidated audited statement of
operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the year then ended (rather than in any notes thereto), and (ii) do
not exceed that reserve as adjusted for the passage of time in accordance with the past custom and practice of Parent in
filing its Tax Returns. Since January 1, 2018, Parent has not incurred any liability for Taxes arising from extraordinary
gains or losses, as that term is used in GAAP, outside the Ordinary Course of Business.

(h) Neither Parent nor any Parent Subsidiary has taken or agreed to take any action, or is aware of any fact or
circumstance, that would prevent the Merger from qualifying as a 368 Reorganization.

(i) Neither Parent nor any Parent Subsidiary has engaged or will engage in a listed transaction as that term is defined
in Regulation 1.6011-4(b)(2).

Section 4.13  Regulatory Capitalization. Parent Bank is, and will be upon consummation of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement, “well-capitalized,” as such term is defined in the rules and regulations promulgated by
the FDIC. Parent is, and will be upon consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement,
“well-capitalized” as such term is defined in the rules and regulations promulgated by the FRB.

Section 4.14 Parent Material Contracts; Defaults.

(a) Each Contract which is a “material contract” (as such term is defined in Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K of the
SEC) to which Parent or any Parent Subsidiary is a party or by which Parent or any Parent Subsidiary is bound as of
the date hereof has been filed as an exhibit to the Parent 2017 Form 10-K, or a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or
Current Report on Form 8-K subsequent thereto (each, a “Parent Material Contract”).

(b) (i) Each Parent Material Contract is valid and binding on Parent and/or a Parent Subsidiary and, to the
Knowledge of Parent, each other party thereto, and is in full force and effect and enforceable in accordance with its
terms, except to the extent that validity and enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency,
moratorium, reorganization or similar Laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally or by general
principles of equity or by principles of public policy and except where the failure to be valid, binding, enforceable and
in full force and effect, would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect on Parent; and

(i) neither Parent nor any Parent Subsidiary is in default under any Parent Material Contract. No material power of
attorney or similar authorization given directly or indirectly by Parent or any Parent Subsidiary is currently
outstanding.

Section 4.15 Employee Benefit Plans.

(a) All material “employee benefit plans” (as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA) and any other material plans,
contracts, programs, practices, policies or arrangements, qualified or unqualified, written or unwritten, whether or not
subject to ERISA, providing compensation or other benefits including any pension, retirement, saving, profit sharing,
health and welfare, change of control, fringe benefit, severance pay, compensation, deferred compensation, stock
option, stock purchase, stock appreciation rights, stock based, incentive, bonus plans, in each case to any current or
former employees of Parent or any Parent Subsidiary (such current and former employees collectively, the “Parent
Employees”™), or any current or former directors or officers of Parent or any Parent Subsidiary and to which Parent or
any Parent Subsidiary is a party or sponsoring, participating or contributing employer or has or reasonably could be
expected to have any liability or contingent liability (including, but not limited to any, liability arising from affiliation
under Section 414 of the Code or Section 4001 of ERISA) (all such plans, contracts, policies, programs,
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practices or arrangements are collectively referred to as the “Parent Benefit Plans”), are identified or described in
Section 4.15(a) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule. None of Parent or any Parent Subsidiary has any stated plan,
intention or commitment to establish any new company benefit plan or to materially modify any Parent Benefit Plan
(except to the extent required by Law).

(b) Each Parent Benefit Plan has been established, maintained, operated, administrated and funded in all material
respects in compliance with its terms and all applicable Laws, including ERISA and the Code. Each Parent Benefit
Plan that is intended to be “qualified” under Section 401(a) of the Code (“Parent 401(a) Plan™), has received a favorable
determination or opinion letter from the IRS. None of Parent, any Parent Subsidiary, or any of Parent’s related
organizations described in Sections 414(b), (c) or (m) of the Code (‘“Parent Controlled Group Members”) has engaged in
a transaction with respect to any Parent Benefit Plan, including a Parent 401(a) Plan, that could subject Parent, any
Parent Subsidiary or any Parent Controlled Group Member to a material Tax or material penalty under Section 4975
of the Code or Section 502(i) of ERISA. No Parent 401(a) Plan has been submitted under or been the subject of an
IRS voluntary compliance program submission. With respect to any Parent Benefit Plan, there are no pending or, to
Parent’s Knowledge, threatened actions, suits, claims or other proceedings against any such Parent Benefit Plan (other
than routine claims for benefits).

(c) None of Parent, any Parent Subsidiary, any Parent Controlled Group Member, or any ERISA Affiliate of any of
the foregoing, sponsor, maintain, administer or contribute to, or have ever sponsored, maintained, administered or
contributed to, or have had or could have had any liability (including liability under Subtitle C or D of Title IV of
ERISA) with respect to (i) any plan subject to the funding standard of Section 302 of ERISA or Title IV of ERISA or
Section 412 of the Code, (ii) a “multiemployer plan” within the meaning of Section 3(37) of ERISA, (iii) any
multiemployer plan under Subtitle E of Title IV of ERISA, (iv) any “multiple employer welfare arrangement (as
defined in Section 3(40) of ERISA, or (v) any tax-qualified “defined benefit plan” (as defined in Section 3(35) of
ERISA. No notice of a “reportable event,” within the meaning of Section 4043 of ERISA (excluding those for which
notice to the PBGC has been waived by regulation) has been required to be filed for any Parent Benefit Plan or by any
ERISA Affiliate.

(d) All required contributions, distributions, reimbursements, and premium payments required to be made with
respect to all Parent Benefit Plans have been made in all material respects in compliance with the terms of the
applicable Parent Benefit Plan or, if applicable within the time period prescribed by applicable Law or have been
reflected on the consolidated financial statements of Parent to the extent required to be reflected under applicable
accounting principles.

() No Parent Benefit Plan provides any life insurance, medical or other employee welfare benefits to any Parent
Employee, upon his or her retirement or termination of employment for any reason, except as may be required by Law
(including the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended).

(f) Parent may amend or terminate any such Parent Benefit Plan at any time in accordance with its terms without
incurring any material liability thereunder for future benefits coverage at any time after such termination, except for (i)
as may be required by Law, (ii) the payment of benefits, fees or charges accrued or incurred through the date of
termination, and (iii) the payment of administrative expenses associated with such amendment or termination.

(g) No Parent Benefit Plan that is a “nonqualified deferred compensation plan” subject to Section 409A of the Code is
or will be, subject to the penalties of Section 409A(a)(1) of the Code.
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Section 4.16 Labor Matters. Neither Parent nor any Parent Subsidiary is a party to or bound by any collective
bargaining agreement or other Contract with a labor union or labor organization. Neither Parent nor any Parent
Subsidiary is the subject of a pending or, to Parent’s Knowledge, threatened Legal Proceeding asserting that Parent or
any Parent Subsidiary has committed an unfair labor practice (within the meaning of the National Labor Relations
Act) or seeking to compel Parent or any Parent Subsidiary to bargain with any labor organization as to wages or
conditions of employment. There is no strike or other labor dispute involving Parent or any Parent Subsidiary pending
or, to Parent’s Knowledge, threatened and, to Parent’s Knowledge, there is no activity involving any employees of
Parent or any Parent Subsidiary seeking to certify a collective bargaining unit or engaging in other organizational
activity.

Section 4.17 Parent Regulatory Agreements. Neither Parent nor Parent Bank is subject to any cease-and-desist or
other order or enforcement action issued by; is a party to any written agreement, consent agreement or memorandum
of understanding with; is a party to any commitment letter or similar undertaking to; is a recipient of any extraordinary
supervisory letter from, or is subject to any order or directive by; or has been ordered to pay any civil money penalty
or has adopted any policies, procedures or board resolutions at the request of any Governmental Authority (each of the
above, a “Parent Regulatory Agreement”) that, in any case, (a) currently restricts in any material respect the conduct of
its business or materially relates to its capital adequacy, its ability to pay dividends, its credit, risk management or
compliance policies, its internal controls, its management or its business, other than those of general application, or
(b) would reasonably be expected to, individually or in aggregate, materially and adversely impact or interfere with
Parent’s or Parent Bank’s operations. To Parent’s Knowledge, since January 1, 2014, Parent has not been advised in
writing or, to Parent’s Knowledge, orally, by any Governmental Authority that it is considering issuing, initiating,
ordering or requesting any Parent Regulatory Agreement. To Parent’s Knowledge, as of the date hereof, there are no
investigations relating to any regulatory matters pending before any Governmental Authority with respect to Parent or
any Parent Subsidiary.

Section 4.18 Community Reinvestment Act, Anti-money Laundering and Customer Information Security. Except as
has not been and would not reasonably be expected to materially and adversely affect or interfere with Parent’s or
Parent Bank’s operations, neither Parent nor any Parent Subsidiary is a party to any Contract with any individual or
group regarding Community Reinvestment Act matters. To Parent’s Knowledge, there are no facts or circumstances
that would cause Parent or Parent Bank: (a) to be deemed not to be in satisfactory compliance with the Community
Reinvestment Act, and the regulations promulgated thereunder, or to be assigned a rating for Community
Reinvestment Act purposes by federal or state bank regulators of lower than “satisfactory”; or (b) to be deemed to be
operating in violation of the Bank Secrecy Act and its implementing regulations (31 C.F.R. Title X), the USA
PATRIOT Act, any order issued with respect to anti-money laundering or sanctions programs by the U.S. Department
of the Treasury’s Financial Crimes Enforcement Network or Office of Foreign Assets Control, or any other applicable
anti-money laundering statute, rule or regulation; or (c) to be deemed not to be in compliance with the applicable
privacy of customer information requirements contained in any federal and state privacy Laws and regulations,
including, without limitation, in Title V of the GLB Act and regulations promulgated thereunder, as well as the
provisions of the information security program adopted by Parent Bank pursuant to 12 C.F.R. Part 364. Furthermore,
the board of directors of Parent Bank has adopted and Parent Bank has implemented an anti-money laundering
program that contains adequate and appropriate customer identification verification procedures that meets the
requirements of Sections 352 and 326 of the USA PATRIOT Act. As of the date hereof, Parent’s and Parent Bank’s
most recent examination rating under the Community Reinvestment Act was “satisfactory” or better.
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Section 4.19  Environmental Matters.

(a) Each of Parent and Parent Subsidiaries is in material compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws and to
Parent’s Knowledge there has been no release or threat of release to the environment of Hazardous Substances at, on or
under any Parent Owned Property or Parent Leased Property or, during the time Parent owned, operated or leased such
property, any real property formerly owned, operated or leased by Parent.

(b) Neither Parent nor any Parent Subsidiary has received any notice, citation, summons or order, complaint or
penalty assessment by any Governmental Authority or other entity or Person with respect to any Parent Owned
Property, or Parent Leased Property, or a property in which Parent or any Parent Subsidiary holds a security interest or
other lien in each case relating to (i) any alleged violation of Environmental Law, (ii) any failure to have any
environmental permit, certificate, license, approval, or registration, or (iii) any use, possession, generation, treatment,
storage, recycling, transportation or disposal of any Hazardous Substance.

Section 4.20 Deposit Insurance. The deposits of Parent Bank are insured by the FDIC in accordance with the FDIA
to the fullest extent permitted by Law, and Parent Bank has paid all premiums and assessments and filed all reports
required by the FDIA when due. No proceedings for the suspension, revocation, or termination of such deposit
insurance are pending or, to Parent’s Knowledge, threatened.

Section 4.21 Loans.

(a) Except as would not reasonably be expected to be material, each Loan held in Parent’s, Parent Bank’s or any of
their respective Subsidiaries’ loan portfolio (each a “Parent Loan”) (i) is evidenced by notes, agreements or other
evidences of indebtedness that are true, genuine and what they purport to be, (ii) to the extent secured, is and has been
secured by valid Liens which have been perfected and, (iii) to Parent’s Knowledge, is a legal, valid and binding
obligation of the obligor named therein, enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency,
fraudulent conveyance and other Laws of general applicability relating to or affecting creditors’ rights and to general
equity principles.

(b) All currently outstanding Parent Loans were solicited, originated, administered, and, currently exist, and the
relevant Loan files are being maintained, in material compliance with all applicable requirements of Law, the
applicable loan documents, and Parent Bank’s lending policies at the time of origination of such Parent Loans, and the
notes or other credit or security documents with respect to each such outstanding Parent Loan are complete and correct
in all material respects. There are no oral modifications or amendments or additional agreements related to the Parent
Loans that are not reflected in the written records of Parent or Parent Bank, as applicable. All such Parent Loans are
owned by Parent or Parent Bank free and clear of any Liens (other than blanket Liens by the Federal Home Loan Bank
of Des Moines and the Federal Reserve Bank). No claims of defense as to the enforcement of any currently
outstanding Parent Loan have been asserted in writing against Parent or Parent Bank for which there is a reasonable
probability of an adverse determination, and neither Parent nor Parent Bank has any Knowledge of any acts or
omissions which would give rise to any claim or right of rescission, set-off, counterclaim or defense for which there is
a reasonable probability of a determination adverse to Parent Bank.

(c) Except as would not reasonably be expected to be material, neither Parent nor any Parent Subsidiary is a party to
any Contract with (or otherwise obligated to) any Person which obligates Parent or any Parent Subsidiary to
repurchase from any such Person any Loan or other asset of Parent or any Parent Subsidiary, unless there is a material
breach of a representation or covenant by Parent or any Parent Subsidiary. None of the Contracts pursuant to which
Parent or any Parent Subsidiary has sold Loans, pools
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of Loans or participations in Loans or pools of Loans contains any obligation to repurchase such Loans or interests
therein solely on account of a payment default by the obligor on any such Loan.

(d) Neither Parent nor any Parent Subsidiary is now nor has it ever been since January 1, 2014, subject to any fine,
suspension, settlement or other Contract or other administrative agreement or sanction by, or any reduction in any loan
purchase commitment from, any Governmental Authority relating to the origination, sale or servicing of mortgage or
consumer Loans.

(e) Since January 1, 2014, neither Parent nor any Parent Subsidiary has canceled, released or compromised any
Loan, obligation, claim or receivable other than in the Ordinary Course of Business.

(f) Section 4.21(f) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule (i) sets forth the aggregate outstanding principal amount of
Loans as of September 30, 2018, and (ii) identifies, as of September 30, 2018, any Loans under the terms of which the
obligor was over sixty (60) days delinquent in payment of principal or interest or has been placed on non-accrual
status as of such date.

(g) Section 4.21(g) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule identifies, as of September 30, 2018, each of the Parent Bank
Criticized Loans together with the principal amount of each such Loan and the identity of the borrower thereunder as
of such date.

(h) Section 4.21(h) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule identifies each asset of Parent or any Parent Subsidiary that as
of September 30, 2018 was classified as OREO and the book value thereof as of the date of this Agreement as well as
any assets classified as OREO since September 30, 2018 to the date hereof and any sales of OREO between
September 30, 2018 and the date hereof, reflecting any gain or loss with respect to any OREO sold.

Section 4.22 Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses. Parent’s reserves, allowance for loan and lease losses and
carrying value for real estate owned as reflected in the Parent Reports, were, in the opinion of management, as of the
applicable dates thereof, adequate in all material respects to provide for possible losses on the applicable items and in
compliance with Parent’s and Parent Bank’s existing methodology for determining the adequacy of its allowance for
loan and lease losses as well as the standards established by any applicable Governmental Authority, the Financial
Accounting Standards Board and GAAP.

Section 4.23 Intellectual Property.

(a) Except as would not have a Material Adverse Effect on Parent and Parent Subsidiaries, Parent or a Parent
Subsidiary owns all right, title and interest in and to, and the inventions disclosed or claimed therein, or has a valid
license to use all Parent Intellectual Property, free and clear of all Liens (other than Permitted Liens), royalty or other
payment obligations (except for royalties or payments with respect to off the shelf Software at standard commercial
rates), and there is no known default or expected default by any party to any material agreement related to Parent
Intellectual Property.

(b) The Parent Intellectual Property constitutes all of the Intellectual Property used or useful in or necessary to carry
on the business of Parent and the Parent Subsidiaries as currently conducted. The Parent Intellectual Property owned
by Parent and Parent Subsidiaries is valid and enforceable and has not been cancelled, forfeited, expired or abandoned,
and neither Parent nor any Parent Subsidiary has received notice challenging the validity or enforceability of any such
Parent Intellectual Property.

(c) Neither Parent nor any Parent Subsidiary is, and none of them will be as a result of the execution and delivery of
this Agreement or the performance by Parent or Parent Bank of its obligations hereunder, in violation of any material
Contracts to which Parent or any Parent Subsidiary is a party and
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pursuant to which Parent or any Parent Subsidiary is authorized to use any third-party patents, trademarks, service
marks, copyrights, trade secrets, computer software or other intellectual property. Neither Parent nor any Parent
Subsidiary has received notice challenging Parent’s or any Parent Subsidiary’s license or legally enforceable right to
use any such third-party intellectual property rights. The consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will
not result in the loss or impairment of the right of Parent or any Parent Subsidiary to own or use any material Parent
Intellectual Property.

(d) To Parent’s Knowledge, neither Parent nor any Parent Subsidiary has interfered with, infringed upon,
misappropriated, or otherwise conflicted with any Intellectual Property rights of any other Person, and neither Parent
nor any Parent Subsidiary has ever received any written or, to Parent’s Knowledge, oral charge, complaint, claim,
demand or notice alleging any such interference, infringement, misappropriation or violation (including any claim that
Parent or any of its Subsidiaries must license or refrain from using any Intellectual Property rights of any other
Person). To Parent’s Knowledge, no other Person has interfered with, infringed upon, misappropriated or otherwise
conflicted with any Company Intellectual Property rights owned by, or licensed to, Parent or any Parent Subsidiary.
(e) To Parent’s Knowledge, Parent and each Parent Subsidiary: (i) is, and at all times prior to the date hereof has
been, compliant with applicable Laws, and its own privacy policies and commitments to its customers, consumers and
employees, concerning data protection and the privacy and security of personal data and the nonpublic personal
information of its customers, consumers and employees and (ii) at no time during the two years prior to the date
hereof has received any written notice asserting any violations of any of the foregoing.

Section 4.24 Tangible Property and Assets. Parent or a Parent Subsidiary has fee title to the Parent Owned Property
and, to Parent’s Knowledge, valid leasehold interests in or otherwise legally enforceable rights to use all of the Parent
Leased Property. Except as has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect on
Parent, all buildings, structures, fixtures, building systems and equipment, and all components thereof included in the
Parent Owned Property and, to Parent’s Knowledge, the Parent Leased Property, are sufficient for the operation of the
business of Parent and Parent Subsidiaries as currently conducted.

Section 4.25 Derivative Transactions. All Derivative Transactions entered into by Parent or any Parent Subsidiary or
for the account of any customers of Parent or any Parent Subsidiary were entered into (i) in accordance with
applicable Laws, (ii) were entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business and (iii) in accordance with the investment,
securities, commodities, risk management and other policies, practices and procedures employed by Parent and Parent
Subsidiaries, and were entered into with counterparties believed at the time to be financially responsible and able to
understand (either alone or in consultation with its advisers) and to bear the risks of such Derivative Transactions.
Parent and each Parent Subsidiary has performed in all material respects all of its obligations under the Derivative
Transactions to the extent that such obligations to perform have accrued, and, to Parent’s Knowledge, there are no
material breaches, violations or defaults or allegations or assertions of such by any party thereunder.

Section 4.26  Financing. Parent has as of the date hereof and will have as of the Effective Time sufficient available
capital resources, including under its credit facility, to pay the amounts required to be paid hereunder and will have
duly reserved sufficient shares of Parent Common Stock to be issued to Company shareholders pursuant to this
Agreement upon consummation of the Merger.

Section 4.27  Stock Ownership in Company. Neither Parent nor any Parent Subsidiary owns any capital stock or
other security of Company.
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Section 4.28 Parent Information. To Parent’s Knowledge, no written representation or certificate furnished or to be
furnished by Parent or Parent Bank to Company pursuant to this Agreement (including the Parent Disclosure
Schedule) contains or will contain any untrue statement of material fact or will omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. Each
statement, certificate, instrument, and other writing furnished or to be furnished by Parent or Parent Bank for inclusion
in any Regulatory Approval or other application, notification or document filed with any Governmental Authority in
connection with the Merger, Bank Merger or other transactions contemplated herein, will, at the time each such
document is filed with any Governmental Authority, not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances in which they are made,
not misleading.

Section 4.29 No Other Representations and Warranties. Except for the representations and warranties made by
Parent and Parent Bank in this Article 4, none of Parent, Parent Bank or any other Person makes any express or
implied representation or warranty with respect to Parent or Parent Subsidiaries, or their respective businesses,
operations, assets, liabilities, conditions (financial or otherwise) or prospects, and Parent and Parent Bank hereby
disclaim any such other representations or warranties.

ARTICLE 5.

COVENANTS

Section 5.01 Covenants of Company.

(a) During the period from the date of this Agreement until the Effective Time (or earlier termination of this
Agreement in accordance with Article 7), except as set forth in Section 5.01 of the Company Disclosure Schedule as
of the date hereof, except as expressly contemplated or permitted by this Agreement, except as required by applicable
Law, or except with the prior written consent of Parent (which consent will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed),
Company shall, and shall cause each Company Subsidiary to (a) carry on its business only in the Ordinary Course of
Business, including in respect of loan loss provisioning, securities portfolio management, compensation and other
expense management and other operations which might impact Company’s shareholders’ equity, and in compliance in
all material respects with all applicable Laws, and (b) use reasonable best efforts to (i) preserve intact its business
organizations and assets, (ii) keep available the services of its current executive officers, (iii) preserve intact its
present relationships and goodwill with its customers, suppliers, lessors, licensors, and other Persons having business
relationships with it, and (iv) continue collection efforts with respect to any delinquent loans.

(b) Without limiting the generality of and in furtherance of the foregoing, during the period from the date of this
Agreement until the Effective Time (or earlier termination of this Agreement in accordance with Article 7), except as
set forth in Section 5.01 of the Company Disclosure Schedule as of the date hereof, except as expressly contemplated
or permitted by this Agreement, except as required by applicable Law, or except with the prior written consent of
Parent (which consent will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), Company shall not, and shall cause each
Company Subsidiary not to:

(1) Stock. (A) Except for the issuance of shares of Company Common Stock upon the exercise or settlement of any
Company Stock Award outstanding as of the date of this Agreement in accordance with their terms or as required
under the terms of any Company Benefit Plan, issue, sell, grant, pledge, dispose of, encumber, or otherwise permit to
become outstanding, or authorize the creation of any additional, shares of its capital stock or any other securities, or
make any award or grant under the Company Stock Plans or otherwise, or enter into any Contract with respect to the
foregoing, (B) except as expressly permitted by this Agreement or the terms of any Company Stock Award or
Company Benefit Plan outstanding
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as of the date of this Agreement, take any action to accelerate the vesting of rights under any Company Stock Plan, or
(C) (1) directly or indirectly change (or establish a record date for changing), adjust, split, combine, or reclassity,

(2) redeem, exchange, purchase or otherwise acquire, or offer to redeem, exchange, purchase or otherwise acquire, or
(3) enter into any Contract with respect to the voting of any shares of its capital stock or any other securities
convertible into or exchangeable for any additional shares of its capital stock.

(i) Dividends; Other Distributions. Make, declare, pay or set aside for payment any dividends (whether in cash,
stock or property), or declare or make any distribution on any shares of its capital stock, except for payments (A) from
Company Bank to Company, (B) from any Subsidiary of Company Bank to Company Bank or (C) from Company to
any Company Trust.

(iii)) Compensation; Employment Agreements, Etc. Enter into, amend, or renew any employment, consulting,
compensatory, severance, retention, or similar Contract with any director, officer, or employee of the Company or any
Company Subsidiary, or grant any salary, wage or fee increase or increase any employee benefit or pay any incentive
or bonus payments, except (A) normal increases in base salary to employees in the Ordinary Course of Business and
pursuant to policies currently in effect, provided, that such increases shall not result in an annual adjustment in base
compensation (which includes base salary and any other compensation other than bonus payments) of more than three
percent (3%) for any individual or three percent (3%) in the aggregate for all employees of Company and the
Company Subsidiaries, (B) as may be required by Law, (C) to satisfy contractual obligations set forth on Section
5.01(b)(iii)_of the Company Disclosure Schedule, which obligations exist as of the date of this Agreement and have
previously been disclosed to Parent, and (D) bonus payments in the Ordinary Course of Business and pursuant to
policies in effect on the date hereof, provided, that such payments shall not exceed the aggregate amount set forth on
Section 5.01(b)(iii) of the Company Disclosure Schedule.

(iv) Hiring. Hire any Person as an employee to fill an existing position whose compensation would exceed, on an
annualized basis, $60,000.

(v) Benefit Plans. Enter into, establish, adopt, amend, modify, fund, change any material practice or offering with
respect to, or terminate (except (A) as may be required by applicable Law, including to avoid adverse tax
consequences under Section 409A of the Code, subject to the provision of prior written notice to an consultation with
respect thereto with Parent, (B) to satisfy contractual obligations under any Company Benefit Plan existing as of the
date hereof which obligations exist as of the date hereof an have previously been disclosed to Parent, or (C) as may be
required pursuant to the terms of this Agreement) any Company Benefit Plan or other pension, retirement, stock
option, stock purchase, savings, profit sharing, deferred compensation, consulting, bonus, group insurance or other
employee benefit, incentive or welfare contract, plan or arrangement, or any trust agreement (or similar arrangement)
related thereto, in respect of any current or former director, officer or employee of Company or any Company
Subsidiary.

(vi) Transactions with Affiliates. Except pursuant to agreements or arrangements in effect on the date hereof and set
forth in Section 5.01(b)(vi) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, (A) pay, loan or advance any amount to, (B) sell,
transfer or lease any properties or assets to, (C) buy, acquire, or lease any properties or assets from, or (D) enter into
any Contract with, any of its executive officers or directors or any of their Affiliates or Associates
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of any of its officers or directors Known to Company to be such, other than compensation or business expense
advancements or reimbursements in the Ordinary Course of Business as part of the terms of such Person’s employment
or service as a director or executive officer and other than deposits held by Company Bank in the Ordinary Course of
Business.

(vii) Dispositions. Except in the Ordinary Course of Business, sell, license, lease, transfer, mortgage, pledge,
encumber or otherwise dispose of or discontinue any of its rights, assets, deposits, business or properties or cancel or
release any indebtedness owed to Company or any Company Subsidiary.

(viii) Acquisitions. Acquire (other than by way of foreclosures or acquisitions of control in a bona fide fiduciary
capacity or in satisfaction of debts previously contracted in good faith, in each case in the Ordinary Course of
Business) all or a material portion of the assets, debt, business, deposits or properties of any other Person, except for
purchases specifically approved by Parent pursuant to any other applicable paragraph of this Section 5.01; provided,
that for the avoidance of doubt, Company and each Company Subsidiary shall be permitted without Parent’s prior
consent to purchase (and nothing in this Article 5 shall prohibit Company or any Company Subsidiary from
purchasing) business-related supplies, equipment and services in the Ordinary Course of Business.

(ix) Capital Expenditures. Except as set forth in any Company Material Contract or Lease, make any capital
expenditures in excess of $25,000 individually, or $50,000 in the aggregate.

(x) Governing Documents. Amend its articles of incorporation or bylaws or any similar organizational or governing
documents.

(xi) Accounting Methods. Implement or adopt any change in its accounting principles, practices or methods, other
than as may be required by applicable Law or GAAP.

(xii) Contracts. (A) Amend, modify, terminate, extend, or waive any material provision of, any Company Material
Contract, Lease or Insurance Policy, or make any change in any Contract governing the terms of any of its securities,
other than renewals of such Material Contracts, Leases or Insurance Policies in the Ordinary Course of Business
without material adverse changes of terms with respect to Company or any Company Subsidiaries, or (B) enter into
any Contract that would constitute a Company Material Contract, Lease or Insurance Policy if it were in effect on the
date of this Agreement.

(xiii) Claims. Other than settlement of foreclosure actions or deficiency judgment settlements in the Ordinary
Course of Business, (A) enter into any settlement or similar agreement with respect to any Legal Proceeding to which
it is or becomes a party after the date of this Agreement, which settlement or agreement (1) involves payment by
Company or any Company Subsidiary of an amount which exceeds $50,000 individually, or $100,000 in the
aggregate, and/or (2) would impose any material restriction on the business of Company or any Company Subsidiary
or (B) waive or release any material rights or claims, or agree or consent to the issuance of any Order materially
restricting or otherwise affecting the business or operations of Company and the Company Subsidiaries.

(xiv) Banking Operations. (A) Enter into any material new line of business, introduce any material new products or
services, any material marketing campaigns or any
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material new sales compensation or incentive programs or arrangements; (B) change in any material respect its
lending, investment, underwriting, risk and asset liability management and other banking and operating policies,
except as required by applicable Law; or (C) make any material changes in its policies and practices with respect to
underwriting, pricing, originating, acquiring, selling, servicing, or buying or selling rights to service Loans, including
a change in practice at any location, its hedging practices and policies.

(xv) Derivative Transactions. Enter into any Derivative Transaction.

(xvi) Indebtedness. Except for overnight loans or loans with maturity less than sixty (60) days, incur, modify, extend
or renegotiate any indebtedness or assume, guarantee, endorse or otherwise as an accommodation become responsible
for the obligations of any other Person (other than creation of deposit liabilities, purchases of federal funds, issuances,
standby and letters of credit and sales of certificates of deposit, or sixty day advances, in each case in the Ordinary
Course of Business).

(xvii) Investment Securities. Acquire (other than (A) by way of foreclosures, deficiency judgment settlements or
acquisitions in a bona fide fiduciary capacity or (B) in satisfaction of debts previously contracted in good faith, in each
case in the Ordinary Course of Business), sell or otherwise dispose of any debt security or equity investment or any
certificates of deposits issued by other banks or change the classification method for any of the Company Investment
Securities from “held to maturity” to “available for sale” or from “available for sale” to “held to maturity,” as those terms are
used in ASC 320; provided, that, for the avoidance of doubt, Company shall be permitted without Parent’s prior written
consent to purchase or hold (and nothing in this Article 5 shall prohibit Company from purchasing or holding) (1) U.S.
treasury securities with maturities of less than or equal to 12 months in the Ordinary Course of Business, (2) 15-year
agency mortgage-backed securities with an effective duration of no more than 36 months or (3) in the Ordinary
Course of Business, any other security that has a remaining maturity of less than 4 years for purposes of replacing
investment securities that are called, prepaid or otherwise redeemed by the issuer.

(xviii) Deposits. (A) Make any change to the Company or Company Bank’s rate sheet attached as Section
5.01(b)(xviii)(A) of the Company Disclosure Schedule (including any change to any of the interest rates and the
maturity dates set forth in the Company or Company Bank’s rate sheet) other than in the Ordinary Course of Business,
or (B) amend, modify, terminate or deviate from the exception practice in place for such rate sheet described in
Section 5.01(b)(xviii)(B) of the Company Disclosure Schedule.

(xix) Loans. Except for Loans approved and/or committed as of the date hereof that are listed in Section 5.01(b)(xix)
of the Company Disclosure Schedule, (A) make, renew, renegotiate, increase, extend or modify any (1) Loan in excess
of FFIEC regulatory guidelines relating to loan to value ratios, (2) Loan that is not made in conformity with
Company’s ordinary course lending policies and guidelines in effect as of the date hereof, (3) Loan, whether secured or
unsecured, if the amount of such Loan, together with any other outstanding Loans (without regard to whether such
other Loans have been advanced or remain to be advanced), would result in the aggregate outstanding loans to any
borrower (or to any Affiliate of such borrower) of Company or any Company Subsidiary (without regard to whether
such other Loans have been advanced or remain to be advanced) to exceed $1,000,000; provided, that, Company or a
Company Subsidiary may make a one-time Loan of up to $100,000 to any current borrower (or to any Affiliate of
such borrower) of Company or any Company
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Subsidiary as long as such one-time Loan amount does not exceed 10% of the aggregate outstanding Loans to such
borrower (or Affiliate of such borrower) and provide Parent with an after-the-fact notice of such one-time Loan,

(4) Loan to any borrower (or to any Affiliate of such borrower) with a Criticized Loan, or (5) Loan with a term of
greater than five (5) years; (B) sell any Loan or loan pools, or (C) acquire any servicing rights, or sell or otherwise
transfer any Loan where Company or any Company Subsidiary retains any servicing rights. The limits set forth in this
Section 5.01(b)(xix) may be increased upon mutual agreement of the parties, provided, that such adjustments shall be
memorialized in writing by all parties thereto.

(xx) Investments or Developments in Real Estate. Except for Loans made in compliance with this Agreement and
except as required by any Company Material Contract or Lease, make any investment or commitment to invest in real
estate or in any real estate development project other than by way of foreclosure or deed in lieu thereof or make any
investment or commitment to develop, or otherwise take any actions to develop any Company Owned Property.

(xxi) Taxes. Except as required by applicable Law, make or change any material Tax election, change any annual
tax accounting period, adopt or change any method of tax accounting, file any amended Tax Return, enter into any
Contract or settle or compromise any liability with respect to Taxes, agree to any adjustment of any Tax attribute, file
any claim for a refund of Taxes, or consent to any extension or waiver of the limitation period applicable to any Tax
claim or assessment.

(xxii) Compliance with Agreements. Commit any act or omission which constitutes a breach or default under any
Contract with any Governmental Authority or under any Company Material Contract, in each case that would
reasonably be expected to result any of the conditions set forth in Article 6 not being satisfied on the Closing Date.
(xxiii) Environmental Assessments. Foreclose on or take a deed or title to any real estate that, upon such foreclosure
or acceptance of a deed or title to such real estate, will become classified as OREO (other than single-family or
multi-family residential properties or otherwise in the Ordinary Course of Business) without first conducting a Phase I
environmental site assessment pursuant to ASTM International (“ASTM”) Standard E1527-13 (the “ASTM Standard”)
that satisfies the requirements of 40 C.F.R. Part 312 (a “Phase I ESA”), or foreclose on or take a deed or title to any real
estate that, upon such foreclosure or acceptance of a deed or title to such real estate, will become classified as OREO
(other than single-family 1-4 units residential properties) if such environmental assessment indicates the presence or
likely presence of any Hazardous Substances under conditions that indicate an existing release, a past release, or a
material threat of a release of any Hazardous Substances into structures on the property or into the ground, ground
water, or surface water of the property.

(xxiv) Adverse Actions. Take any action or knowingly fail to take any action that is intended or is reasonably likely
to (A) prevent, delay or impair Company’s or Company Bank’s ability to consummate the Merger, the Bank Merger or
the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement or (B) prevent the Merger or the Bank Merger from qualifying
as a 368 Reorganization.

A-56

217



Edgar Filing: WACHOVIA CORP NEW - Form 425

(xxv) Facilities. Except as required by Law, file any application or enter into any Contract for the opening,
relocation or closing of any, or open, relocate or close any, branch office, loan production or servicing facility.

(xxvi) Restructure. Merge or consolidate itself or any of its Subsidiaries with any other Person, or restructure,
reorganize or completely or partially liquidate or dissolve it or any of its Subsidiaries.

(xxvii) Loan Workouts. Except in the Ordinary Course of Business, compromise, resolve, or otherwise “workout” any
delinquent or troubled loan.

(xxviii) Brokered Deposits. Accept any brokered deposits.

(xxix) Commitments. Agree to take, make any commitment to take, or adopt any resolutions of the Company Board
or Company Bank’s board of directors in support of, any of the actions reasonably believed to be covered by this
Section 5.01.

(c) If Company desires to request prior written consent of Parent with respect to any of the covenants set forth in this
Section 5.01, such request shall be submitted to a central email address specified by Parent on the date hereof, with
receipt of acknowledgment, and shall cite with reasonable precision the appropriate section or subsection of this
Section 5.01 and provide reasonable detail and supporting documentation for the request. Parent shall respond as soon
as reasonably as practicable with an answer or to request additional information but in no event later than two (2)
Business Days after receipt of such request from Company.

Section 5.02 Covenants of Parent. During the period from the date of this Agreement until the Effective Time (or
earlier termination of this Agreement in accordance with Article 7), except as set forth in Section 5.02 of the Parent
Disclosure Schedule as of the date hereof, except as expressly contemplated or permitted by this Agreement, except as
required by applicable Law, or except or with the prior written consent of Company (which consent will not be
unreasonably withheld or delayed), Parent shall, and shall cause each Parent Subsidiary to carry on its business only in
the Ordinary Course of Business, and in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws. Without limiting
the generality of and in furtherance of the foregoing, during the period from the date of this Agreement until the
Effective Time (or earlier termination of this Agreement in accordance with Article 7), except as set forth in Section
5.02 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule as of the date hereof, except as expressly contemplated or permitted by this
Agreement, except as required by applicable Law, or except with the prior written consent of Company (which will
not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), Parent shall not, and shall cause each Parent Subsidiary not to:

(a) Governing Documents. Amend its certificate of incorporation or bylaws or any similar organizational or
governing documents in any manner that would adversely affect the rights of Company’s shareholders in the Surviving
Entity.

(b) Capital Stock. Adjust, split, combine or reclassify any capital stock of Parent.

(c) Restructure. Merge or consolidate Parent or Parent Bank with any other Person, or restructure, reorganize or
completely or partially liquidate or dissolve Parent or Parent Bank.

(d) Compliance with Agreements. Commit any act or omission which constitutes a breach or default under any
Contract with any Governmental Authority or under any Parent Material Contract, in each case that would reasonably
be expected to result in any of the conditions set forth in Article 6 not being satisfied on the Closing Date.
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(e) Adverse Actions. Take any action or knowingly fail to take any action that is intended or is reasonably likely to
(i) prevent, delay or impair Parent’s or Parent Bank’s ability to consummate the Merger, the Bank Merger, or the other
transactions contemplated by this Agreement or (ii) prevent the Merger or the Bank Merger from qualifying as a 368
Reorganization.

(f) Commitments. Agree to take, make any commitment to take, or adopt any resolutions of the Board of Parent in
support of, any of the actions prohibited by this Section 5.02.

Section 5.03 Commercially Reasonable Efforts. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, each of the
parties to the Agreement agrees to use Commercially Reasonable Efforts in good faith to take, or cause to be taken, all
actions, and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or advisable under applicable Laws, so as to permit
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby as promptly as practicable, including the satisfaction of the
conditions set forth in Article 6 hereof, and shall cooperate fully with the other parties hereto to that end; provided,
that this Section 5.03 will not require Parent to agree to, or take, any Burdensome Condition.

Section 5.04 Company Shareholder Approval.

(a) Following the execution of this Agreement, Company shall take, in accordance with applicable Law and the
articles of incorporation and bylaws of Company, all action necessary to convene a special meeting of its shareholders
as promptly as reasonably practicable (and in any event within forty-five (45) days following the time when the
Registration Statement becomes effective, subject to extension with the consent of Parent (not to be unreasonably
withheld or conditioned)) to consider and vote upon the approval of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated
hereby (including the Merger) and any other matters required to be approved by Company’s shareholders in order to
permit consummation of the Merger and the transactions contemplated hereby (including any adjournment or
postponement thereof, the “Company Meeting”), and shall, subject to Section 5.10 and the last sentence of this
Section 5.04(a), use its Commercially Reasonable Efforts to solicit such approval by such shareholders. Subject to
Section 5.10 and the last sentence of this Section 5.04(a), Company shall use its Commercially Reasonable Efforts to
obtain the Requisite Company Shareholder Approval to consummate the Merger and the other transactions
contemplated hereby. Except with the prior approval of Parent, no other matters shall be submitted for the approval of
Company shareholders at the Company Meeting. If the Company Board makes a Company Subsequent Determination
in accordance with Section 5.10, Company shall not be required to use its Commercially Reasonable Efforts to solicit
shareholders to approve this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby (including the Merger) or to use its
Commercially Reasonable Efforts to obtain the Requisite Company Shareholder Approval to consummate the Merger.
(b) Except to the extent provided otherwise in Section 5.10, (a) the Company Board shall at all times prior to and
during the Company Meeting recommend approval by the shareholders of Company of this Agreement and the
transactions contemplated hereby (including the Merger), and any other matters required to be approved by Company’s
shareholders for consummation of the Merger and the transactions contemplated hereby (the “Company
Recommendation”) and (b) the Proxy Statement-Prospectus shall include the Company Recommendation. In the event
that there are sufficient shares of Company Common Stock represented (in Person or by proxy) at the Company
Meeting to secure the Requisite Company Shareholder Approval, Company will not adjourn or postpone the Company
Meeting unless the Company Board reasonably determines in good faith, after consultation with the advice of counsel,
that (i) such adjournment or postponement is required by applicable Law in order to ensure that any required
supplement or amendment to the Proxy Statement-Prospectus is provided to the holders of Company Common Stock
with a reasonable amount of time in advance of the Company Meeting or (ii) failure to do so would otherwise be
inconsistent with its fiduciary duties under applicable Law. Company shall keep Parent updated with
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respect to the proxy solicitation results in connection with the Company Meeting as reasonably requested by Parent.
(c) Except to the extent provided otherwise in Section 5.10, the Company shall adjourn or postpone the Company
Meeting, if, as of the time for which the Company Meeting is originally scheduled there are insufficient shares of
Company Common Stock represented (either in Person or by proxy) to constitute a quorum necessary to conduct the
business of such meeting or, if on the date of the Company Meeting, Company has not received proxies representing a
sufficient number of shares necessary to obtain the Requisite Company Shareholder Approval. Company shall only be
required to adjourn or postpone the Company Meeting two times to the first sentence of this Section 5.04(c).

Section 5.05 Takeover Laws. Parent shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to exempt (or cause the continued
exemption of) this Agreement, the Merger and the Bank Merger from the requirements of any applicable antitakeover
statute or regulation and from any similar provisions under the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of Parent and
the organizational documents of Parent Bank.

Section 5.06 Registration Statement; Proxy Statement-Prospectus; NASDAQ Listing.

(a) Parent and Company agree to cooperate in the preparation of the Registration Statement to be filed by Parent
with the SEC in connection with the issuance of Parent Common Stock in the Merger (including the Proxy
Statement-Prospectus and all related documents). Company shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to deliver to
Parent such financial statements and related analysis of Company as may be required by Law in order to file the
Registration Statement and any other report required to be filed by Parent with the SEC, in each case, in compliance
with applicable Laws and shall provide Parent with any other information concerning itself that Parent may
reasonably request in connection with the drafting and preparation of the Registration Statement and the Proxy
Statement-Prospectus. Parent agrees to use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to cause the Registration Statement to
be filed with the SEC within sixty (60) days from the date hereof, and to be declared effective by the SEC as promptly
as reasonably practicable after the filing thereof. Company agrees to cooperate with Parent and Parent’s counsel and
accountants in requesting and obtaining appropriate opinions, consents and letters from Company’s independent
auditors in connection with the Registration Statement and the Proxy Statement-Prospectus. After the Registration
Statement is declared effective under the Securities Act, Company, at its own expense, shall promptly mail or cause to
be mailed the Proxy Statement-Prospectus to its shareholders.

(b) Parent shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to ensure that the Proxy Statement-Prospectus and the
Registration Statement shall comply as to form in all material respects with the applicable provisions of the Securities
Act and the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder. Each of Parent and Company agrees, as to itself
and its Subsidiaries, that none of the information supplied or to be supplied by it for inclusion or incorporation by
reference in (i) the Registration Statement will, at the time it is filed with the SEC, at any time it is amended or
supplemented, or at the time it becomes effective under the Securities Act, contain any untrue statement of a material
fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not
misleading and (ii) the Proxy Statement-Prospectus will, at the date of mailing to shareholders, at the time of the
Company Meeting, or at any time it is amended or supplemented, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of
the circumstances under which such statement was made, not misleading. Each of Parent and Company further agrees
that if it becomes aware that any information furnished by it would cause any of the statements in the Registration
Statement or the Proxy Statement-Prospectus to be false or misleading with respect to any material fact, or to omit to
state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein not false or misleading, to promptly inform the other
party thereof and to take appropriate steps to correct the Registration Statement or the Proxy
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Statement-Prospectus. Parent will advise Company, promptly after Parent receives notice thereof, (A) of the time
when the Registration Statement has become effective or any supplement or amendment has been filed, (B) of the
issuance of any stop order or the suspension of the qualification of Parent Common Stock for offering or sale in any
jurisdiction or of the initiation or threat of any proceeding for any such purpose, and (C) of any request by the SEC for
the amendment or supplement of the Registration Statement or upon the receipt of any comments (whether written or
oral) from the SEC or its staff. Parent will provide Company and its counsel with a reasonable opportunity to review
and comment on (and will consider such comments in good faith) (x) the Registration Statement (including the Proxy
Statement-Prospectus) prior to its being filed with the SEC, (y) all amendments and supplements to the Registration
Statement (including the Proxy Statement-Prospectus) and, (z) except to the extent such response is submitted under
confidential cover, all responses to requests for additional information and replies to comments of the SEC, prior to
their being filed with, or sent to the SEC, and reasonable good faith consideration shall be given to any comments
made by Company and its counsel. Parent will provide Company and its counsel with a copy of all such filings made
with the SEC. If at any time prior to the Company Meeting there shall occur any event that should be disclosed in an
amendment or supplement to the Proxy Statement-Prospectus or the Registration Statement, Parent shall use
Commercially Reasonable Efforts to promptly prepare and file such amendment or supplement with the SEC (if
required under applicable Law) and cooperate with Company to mail such amendment or supplement to Company
shareholders (if required under applicable Law).

(c) Parent agrees to use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to cause the shares of Parent Common Stock to be issued
in connection with the Merger to be approved for listing on NASDAQ, subject to official notice of issuance, prior to
the Effective Time.

Section 5.07 Regulatory Filings; Consents.

(a) Each of Parent and Company and their respective Subsidiaries shall cooperate and use their Commercially
Reasonable Efforts (i) to prepare all documentation (including the Registration Statement and Proxy
Statement-Prospectus), to make all filings with, to send all notices to, and to obtain all Permits, consents, approvals
and authorizations of, all third parties and Governmental Authorities necessary to consummate the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement, including without limitation, the Closing Regulatory Approvals and the consents,
approvals and notices under the Contracts set forth on Section 3.05(c), (ii) to comply with the terms and conditions of
such permits, consents, approvals and authorizations and (iii) to cause the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement to be consummated as expeditiously as practicable; provided, however, that in no event shall Parent be
required to agree to any prohibition, limitation, or other requirement which would (A) materially prohibit or materially
limit the ownership or operation by Parent or any Parent Subsidiary (including Company and any Company
Subsidiary after Closing) of all or any material portion of its business or assets, (B) compel Parent or any Parent
Subsidiary (including Company and any Company Subsidiary after Closing) to dispose of all or any material portion
of its business or assets, (C) cause any portion of any Company Regulatory Agreement to be enforceable against
Parent or Parent Bank after the Merger, or (D) be reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the
Surviving Entity, taken as a whole (together, the “Burdensome Conditions”). Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, as soon as practicable and in no event later than sixty (60) days after the date of this Agreement, Parent and
Company shall, and shall cause their respective Subsidiaries to, each prepare and file any applications, notices and
filings required in order to obtain the Closing Regulatory Approvals and any other Permits, consents, approvals and
authorizations of any Governmental Authority necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby
(including the Merger and the Bank Merger). Subject to applicable Law, (w) Parent and Company will furnish each
other and each other’s counsel with all information concerning themselves, their Subsidiaries, directors, trustees,
officers and shareholders and such other matters as may be reasonably necessary or advisable in connection with
obtaining any Regulatory Approval, (x) each
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party hereto shall have the right to review and approve in advance all characterizations of the information relating to
such party and any of its Subsidiaries that appear in any filing made in connection with obtaining any Regulatory
Approval, (y) Parent and Company shall each furnish to the other for review a copy of each such filing made in
connection with obtaining any Regulatory Approval prior to its filing and (z) Parent and Company will notify the
other promptly and shall promptly furnish the other with copies of any communication from any Governmental
Authority received by it with respect to the effort to obtain and receipt of Regulatory Approvals (and its response
thereto); provided, that in no event shall Parent, Parent Bank, Company or Company Bank be obligated to provide or
otherwise disclose to the other confidential supervisory information regarding themselves, or any of their respective
Subsidiaries or Affiliates.

(b) Company will use Commercially Reasonable Efforts, and Parent shall reasonably cooperate with Company at
Company’s request, to obtain all consents, approvals, authorizations, waivers or similar affirmations with respect to
any Contracts set forth on Section 3.05(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedule and all Leases set forth on Section
3.30(e) of the Company Disclosure Schedule; provided, that, except as otherwise contemplated by this Agreement,
neither Company nor any Company Subsidiary will be required to make any payment to or grant any concessions to
any third party in connection therewith. Each party will, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, notify the other
party promptly and promptly furnish the other party with copies of notices or other communications received by such
party or any of its Subsidiaries from any Person alleging that the consent of such Person (or another Person) is or may
be required in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (and the response thereto from such
party, its Subsidiaries or its representatives). Company and Parent will reasonably consult with each other and their
respective representatives so as to permit Company and Parent and their respective representatives to be
knowledgeable regarding the status of such effort, cooperate to take appropriate measures to obtain such consents and
avoid or mitigate any adverse consequences that may result from the foregoing.

Section 5.08 Publicity. Parent and Company shall consult with each other before issuing any press release with
respect to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby and shall not issue any such press release or make
any such public statement without the prior consent of the other party, which shall not be unreasonably delayed or
withheld; provided, however, that Parent and Company may, without the prior consent of the other party (but after
such consultation, to the extent practicable in the circumstances), issue such press release or make such public
statements as may upon the advice of counsel be required by Law or the rules and regulations of NASDAQ. It is
understood that Parent shall assume primary responsibility for the preparation of joint press releases relating to this
Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby.

Section 5.09 Access; Current Information.

(a) During the period from the date of this Agreement until the Effective Time (or earlier termination of this
Agreement in accordance with Article 7), Company and Parent shall, for the purposes of verifying the representations
and warranties of Parent and Parent Bank and Company and Company Bank, respectively, and preparing for the
Merger and the other matters contemplated by this Agreement, (i) upon reasonable notice and subject to applicable
Laws, afford the other party and its officers, employees, counsel, accountants and other authorized representatives
access, during normal business hours, to its and its Subsidiaries’ books, records (including, without limitation, Tax
Returns and, subject to the consent of the independent auditors, work papers of independent auditors), information
technology systems, properties and personnel and to such other information as the other party may reasonably request,
and (ii) furnish to the other party, upon reasonable request, all such other information concerning its business,
properties, personnel and Subsidiaries that is substantially similar in scope to the information provided to the other
party in connection with its diligence review prior to the date of this Agreement. Any investigation pursuant to this
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Section 5.09 shall be conducted in such manner as not to interfere unreasonably with the conduct of business of the
other party or any of its Subsidiaries.

(b) During the period from the date of this Agreement until the Effective Time (or earlier termination of this
Agreement in accordance with Article 7), Company will cause one or more of its designated representatives to confer
with representatives of Parent and report the general status of its ongoing operations, at such times and in such manner
as Parent may reasonably request.

(c) During the period from the date of this Agreement until the Effective Time (or earlier termination of this
Agreement in accordance with Article 7), each of Parent and Company will promptly notify the other party in writing
of any matter hereafter arising which, if existing, occurring or known at the date of this Agreement, would have been
required to be set forth or described in the Parent Disclosure Schedule or the Company Disclosure Schedule, as
applicable, or which is necessary to correct any information in such party’s Disclosure Schedule that has been rendered
materially inaccurate thereby. Each such notice shall include, or be accompanied by, a proposed supplement or
amendment to such party’s Disclosure Schedule regarding such matter (a “Schedule Supplement”). Each Schedule
Supplement shall be deemed to be incorporated into and to supplement and amend the Company Disclosure Schedule
or Parent Disclosure Schedule, as applicable, as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date; provided,
however, that if the matter which is the subject of the Schedule Supplement constitutes or relates to something that
could provide Parent with a right to terminate this Agreement in accordance with Section 7.01(e) and Parent does not
elect to terminate this Agreement prior to the earlier of (i) five (5) Business Days after the expiration of the applicable
cure period and (ii) the Expiration Date, then Parent shall be deemed to have irrevocably waived any right to terminate
this Agreement on account of such matter.

(d) No investigation by a party or its representatives shall be deemed to modify or waive any representation,
warranty, covenant or agreement of the other party or its Subsidiary bank set forth in this Agreement, or the conditions
to the respective obligations of Parent and Company to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.

(e) Notwithstanding anything in this Section 5.09 to the contrary, no party shall be required to provide the other
party with access or disclose information where such access or disclosure would, in the reasonable opinion of such
party’s counsel, jeopardize the attorney-client privilege of the such party, or contravene any binding Contract entered
into by such party prior to the date of this Agreement or any Law, Order or fiduciary duty applicable to such party. In
the event any of the restrictions in this Section 5.09(e) shall apply, each party shall use Commercially Reasonable
Efforts to make appropriate alternate disclosure arrangements, including adopting additional specific procedures to
protect the confidentiality of sensitive material and to ensure compliance with applicable Laws.

Section 5.10  No Solicitation by Company; Superior Proposals.(a) Subject to Section 5.10(b), Company and
Company Bank shall not, and shall instruct their respective Subsidiaries, officers, directors, employees, investment
bankers, financial advisors, attorneys, accountants, consultants, affiliates and other agents (collectively, the “Company
Representatives”) not to, directly or indirectly, (i) initiate, solicit, induce or knowingly encourage, or knowingly take
any action to facilitate the making of, any inquiry, offer or proposal which constitutes, or could reasonably be
expected to lead to, an Acquisition Proposal; (ii) participate in discussions or negotiations regarding any Acquisition
Proposal or furnish, or otherwise afford access, to any Person (other than Parent or any Parent Subsidiary) any
information or data with respect to Company or any Company Subsidiary or otherwise in furtherance of an
Acquisition Proposal; (iii) release any Person from, waive any provision of, or fail to enforce any confidentiality
agreement or standstill agreement to which Company is a party in furtherance of an Acquisition Proposal, unless, with
respect to any such standstill agreement, the Company Board reasonably determines in good faith, after consultation
with its outside legal
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counsel, that the enforcement of, or the failure to provide such release or waiver with respect to, any such standstill
agreement would be inconsistent with its fiduciary duties under applicable Law; or (iv) enter into any agreement,
agreement in principle or letter of intent with respect to any Acquisition Proposal or approve or resolve to approve any
Acquisition Proposal or any agreement, agreement in principle or letter of intent relating to an Acquisition Proposal
(other than a confidentiality agreement permitted by Section 5.10(b)); provided, however, that nothing in this Section
5.10(a) shall prohibit Company, the Company Board or any Company Representatives from making any inquiries with
respect to any Acquisition Proposal solely for the purpose of clarifying such Acquisition Proposal to enable the
Company Board to make the determination described in Section 5.10(b). Any violation of the foregoing restrictions by
Company or any Company Representative, whether or not such Company Representative is so authorized and whether
or not such Company Representative is purporting to act on behalf of Company or otherwise, shall be deemed to be a
breach of this Agreement by Company. Company and Company Subsidiaries shall, and shall cause each of the
Company Representatives to, immediately cease and cause to be terminated any and all existing discussions,
negotiations, and communications with any Persons with respect to any existing or potential Acquisition Proposal.

(b) Notwithstanding Section 5.10(a) or any other provision of this Agreement, at any time prior to obtaining the
Requisite Company Shareholder Approval, Company may take any of the actions described in Section 5.10(a) if, but
only if, (i) Company has received a bona fide unsolicited written Acquisition Proposal that did not result from a
breach of this Section 5.10; (ii) the Company Board reasonably determines in good faith, after consultation with its
outside financial advisor and outside legal counsel, that (a) such Acquisition Proposal constitutes or could reasonably
be expected to lead to a Superior Proposal and (b) the failure to take such actions would be inconsistent with its
fiduciary duties under applicable Law; and (iii) prior to furnishing or affording access to any information or data with
respect to Company or any Company Subsidiary or otherwise relating to an Acquisition Proposal, Company receives
from such Person a confidentiality agreement with terms no less favorable to Company than those contained in the
confidentiality agreement with Parent (it being understood that nothing therein shall have the effect of a standstill
provision). Company shall promptly provide to Parent any non-public information regarding Company or Company
Subsidiaries provided to any other Person which was not previously provided to Parent, such additional information to
be provided no later than the date of provision of such information to such other party.

(c) Company shall promptly (and in any event within 24 hours notify Parent in writing if any proposals or offers are
received by, any information is requested from, or any negotiations or discussions are sought to be initiated or
continued with, Company or the Company Representatives, in each case in connection with any Acquisition Proposal,
and such notice shall indicate the name of the Person initiating such discussions or negotiations or making such
proposal, offer or information request and the material terms and conditions of any proposals or offers (and, in the
case of written materials relating to such proposal, offer, information request, negotiations or discussion, providing
copies of such materials (including e-mails or other electronic communications), except to the extent that such
materials constitute confidential information of the party making such offer or proposal under an effective
confidentiality agreement or any such disclosure would jeopardize attorney-client privilege). Company agrees that it
shall keep Parent informed, on a reasonably current basis, of the status and terms of any such proposal, offer,
information request, negotiations or discussions (including any amendments or modifications of any material terms to
such proposal, offer or request).

(d) Subject to Section 5.10(e), neither the Company Board nor any committee thereof shall (i) withhold, withdraw,
change, qualify, amend or modify, or publicly propose to withdraw, change, qualify, amend or modify, in a manner
adverse in any respect to the interest of Parent, or take any other action
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or make any other public statement inconsistent with, the Company Recommendation; (ii) fail to publicly affirm the
Company Recommendation within five (5) Business Days following a request by Parent (or such fewer number of
days as remains prior to the Company Meeting); (iii) approve or recommend, or publicly propose to approve or
recommend, any Acquisition Proposal; (iv) resolve to take, or publicly announce an intention to take, any of the
foregoing actions (each of (i), (ii), (iii) or (iv) a “Company Subsequent Determination”); or (v) enter into (or cause
Company or any of its Subsidiaries to enter into) any letter of intent, agreement in principle, acquisition agreement or
other agreement (a) related to any Acquisition Transaction (other than a confidentiality agreement entered into in
accordance with the provisions of Section 5.10(b)) or (b) requiring Company to abandon, terminate or fail to
consummate the Merger or any other transaction contemplated by this Agreement.

(e) Notwithstanding Section 5.10(d) or any other provision of this Agreement, prior to obtaining the Requisite
Company Shareholder Approval, the Company Board (or any committee thereof) may make a Company Subsequent
Determination after the fifth (51) Business Day following Parent’s receipt of a notice (the “Notice of Determination™)
from Company informing Parent that the Company Board (or such committee) has determined in good faith, after
consultation with outside legal counsel and its financial advisor, that an Acquisition Proposal constitutes a Superior
Proposal and the failure to make a Company Subsequent Recommendation with respect to such Superior Proposal
would be inconsistent with its fiduciary duties under applicable Law (it being understood that the initial determination
under this clause will not be considered a Company Subsequent Determination), but only if: (i) the Notice of
Determination includes or is accompanied by the material terms and conditions of such Superior Proposal and the
identity of the Person making such Superior Proposal, including copies of any proposed material agreements
providing for such Superior Proposal; (ii) during the five (5) Business Day period after receipt of the Notice of
Determination (the “Notice Period”), Company and the Company Board shall have negotiated in good faith with Parent,
to the extent Parent desires to negotiate, to make such adjustments, modifications or amendments to the terms and
conditions of this Agreement as would enable Company to proceed with the Company Recommendation without a
Company Subsequent Determination; provided, however, that Parent shall not have any obligation to propose any
adjustments, modifications or amendments to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and (iii) at the end of the
Notice Period, after taking into account any such adjusted, modified or amended terms, if any, as may have been
irrevocably proposed by Parent in writing before expiration of the Notice Period, the Company Board has again in
good faith, after consultation with outside legal counsel and its financial advisor, made the determination that such
Acquisition Proposal constitutes a Superior Proposal and the failure to make a Company Subsequent Determination
with respect to such Superior Proposal would be inconsistent with its fiduciary duties under applicable Law. In the
event of any material revisions to an Acquisition Proposal that is the subject of a Notice of Determination and that
occur prior to a Company Subsequent Recommendation, Company shall be required to deliver a new Notice of
Determination to Parent and again comply with the requirements of this Section 5.10(e), except that the Notice Period
shall be reduced to three (3) Business Days.

(f) Nothing contained in this Section 5.10 shall prohibit Company or the Company Board from complying with
Company’s obligations contemplated by Rule 14e-2(a) under the Exchange Act or making a statement contemplated by
Item 1012(a) of Regulation M-A or Rule 14d-9(f) under the Exchange Act, or from issuing a “stop, look and listen”
statement pending disclosure of its position thereunder, or from making any other disclosure to Company’s
shareholders that is required by applicable Law; provided, however, that any such disclosure relating to an Acquisition
Proposal shall be deemed a change in the Company Recommendation unless the Company Board reaffirms the
Company Recommendation in such disclosure, in which case, for the avoidance of doubt, such disclosure will not be
considered a Company Subsequent Determination.
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Section 5.11 Indemnification.

(a) For a period of six years from and after the Effective Time, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law and
the articles of incorporation and bylaws of Company in effect on the date of this Agreement, and in any event subject
to the provisions of Section 5.11(b), Parent shall (i) indemnify and hold harmless the present and former directors and
officers of Company and Company Bank (the “Indemnified Parties”) against all costs or expenses (including reasonable
attorney’s fees), judgments, fines, losses, claims, damages, or liabilities incurred in connection with any actual or
threatened Legal Proceeding arising out of actions or omissions of such Persons in the course of performing their
duties for Company or any Company Subsidiary occurring at or before the Effective Time (including in connection
with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement) (each a “Claim”), and shall promptly advance expenses to each
Indemnified Party from time-to-time as incurred in connection with a Claim, to the same extent as the Indemnified
Parties have the right to expense advancement pursuant to applicable Law the articles of incorporation and bylaws of
Company in effect on the date of this Agreement; provided, that each Indemnified Party to whom expenses are
advanced provides a reasonable and customary undertaking to repay such advances, if it is ultimately determined that
such Person is not entitled to indemnification.

(b) Any Indemnified Party wishing to claim indemnification under this Section 5.11 shall promptly notify Parent
upon learning of any Claim, provided, that failure to so notify shall not affect the obligation of Parent under this
Section 5.11, unless, and only to the extent that, Parent is materially prejudiced in the defense of such Claim as a
consequence. In the event of any such Claim (whether asserted or claimed prior to, at or after the Effective Time),

(1) (A) Parent shall have the right to assume the defense thereof and Parent shall not be liable to such Indemnified
Party for any legal expenses for other counsel or any other expenses subsequently incurred by such Indemnified Party
in connection with the defense thereof, unless such Indemnified Party is advised in writing by counsel that the defense
of such Indemnified Party by Parent would create an actual or potential conflict of interest (in which case, Parent shall
not be obligated to reimburse or indemnify any Indemnified Party for the expenses of more than one separate counsel
in addition to one local counsel in the jurisdiction where defense of any Claim has been or is to be asserted (if the
Claim involves more than one Indemnified Party, Parent shall only be obligated to pay for one separate counsel and
one local counsel for all Indemnified Parties)), and (B) such Indemnified Party will cooperate in the defense of any
such matter, (ii) Parent shall not be liable for any settlement effected without its prior written consent (which consent
shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed) and Parent shall not settle any Claim without such Indemnified Party’s
prior written consent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), and (iii) Parent shall have no
obligation hereunder to any Indemnified Party if such indemnification would be in violation of any applicable federal
or state banking Laws or regulations, or in the event that a federal or state banking agency or a court of competent
jurisdiction shall determine that indemnification of an Indemnified Party in the manner contemplated hereby is
prohibited by applicable Laws, whether or not related to banking Laws.

(c) Subject to the terms described in this Section 5.11(c), Parent shall (i) maintain in effect for a period of six (6)
years following the Effective Time, Company’s current directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policies covering the
Indemnified Parties, (ii) obtain, as of the Effective Time, “tail” insurance policies with a claims period of six (6) years
following the Effective Time with at least the same coverage and amounts and containing terms and conditions that
are no less advantageous to the Indemnified Parties as the policies currently provided by Company, or (iii) purchase
and provide for a period of six (6) years following the Effective Time, directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
policies from a carrier assigned a claims paying ability rating by A.M. Best Company, Inc. of “A (Excellent)” or higher
with at least the same coverage and amounts and containing terms and conditions that are no less advantageous to the
Indemnified Parties as the policies currently provided by Company, in each case with respect to claims arising out of
or
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relating to events which occurred before or at the Effective Time; provided, however, that in no event shall Parent be
required to expend per year pursuant to this Section 5.11(c) more than one hundred fifty percent (150%) of the annual
cost currently expended by Company with respect to such insurance (the “Maximum D&O Premium”); provided,
further, that if the amount of the annual premium necessary to maintain or procure such insurance coverage exceeds
the Maximum D&O Premium, Parent shall maintain or procure the most advantageous policies of directors’ and
officers’ insurance (or “tail” coverage obtainable for a premium equal to the Maximum D&O Premium. In connection
with the foregoing, Company agrees that in order for Parent to fulfill its obligations pursuant to this Section 5.11(c),
Indemnified Parties may be required to provide such insurer or substitute insurer with such reasonable and customary
representations as such insurer may request.

(d) If, following the Effective Time, Parent or any of its successors and assigns (i) shall consolidate with or merge
into any Person and shall not be the continuing or surviving corporation or entity of such consolidation or merger, or
(ii) shall transfer all or substantially all of its property and assets to any Person, then, in each such case, proper
provision shall be made so that the successors and assigns of Parent shall assume the obligations set forth in this
Section 5.11.

(e) These rights shall survive consummation of the Merger and are intended to benefit, and shall be enforceable by,
each Indemnified Party. After the Effective Time, the obligations of Parent under this Section 5.11 shall not be
terminated or modified in such a manner as to adversely affect any Indemnified Party unless the affected Indemnified
Party shall have consented in writing to such termination or modification. If any Indemnified Party makes any claim
for indemnification or advancement of expenses under this Section 5.11 that is denied by Parent, and a court of
competent jurisdiction determines that the Indemnified Party is entitled to such indemnification or advancement of
expense, in whole or in part, then Parent or the Surviving Entity shall pay such Indemnified Party’s costs and expenses,
including legal fees and expenses, incurred in connection with enforcing such claim against Parent.

(f) Nothing in this Agreement is intended to, shall be construed to or shall release, waive or impair any rights to
directors’ and officers’ insurance claims under any policy that is or has been in existence with respect to Company or
any Company Subsidiary for any of their respective directors, officers or other employees, it being understood and
agreed that the indemnification provided for in this Section 5.11 is not prior to or in substitution for any such claims
under such policies.

(g) Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as requiring Parent Bank to indemnify, hold harmless, release,
guarantee the obligations of, or purchase or acquire assets or liabilities of, Parent or any Affiliate of Parent.

(h) Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as requiring Company Bank to indemnify, hold harmless, release,
guarantee the obligations of, or purchase or acquire assets or liabilities of, Company or any Affiliate of Company.
Section 5.12 Employees; Benefit Plans.

(a) With respect to any Parent Benefit Plan in which any employee of the Company or any Company Subsidiary on
the Closing Date (the “Continuing Employees”) will participate, Parent shall, or shall cause the Company to, recognize,
for vesting and eligibility purposes, all service of the Continuing Employees with the Company or any Company
Subsidiary (including any predecessors thereof) as if such service were with Parent; provided, however, such service
shall not be recognized to the extent that (i) such recognition would result in a duplication of benefits or (ii) such
service was not recognized under the corresponding Company Benefit Plan.
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(b) For a period commencing on the Closing Date and ending on the first anniversary of the Closing Date, Parent
shall provide each Continuing Employee with an annual base salary or wage level, as applicable, at least equal to that
provided to such Continuing Employee immediately prior to the Closing Date, provided that such Continuing
Employee remains in the same position following the Closing Date.

(c) Parent shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to (i) waive or cause to be waived any waiting periods,
evidence of insurability requirements, or pre-existing condition limitations and similar limitations with respect to
participation and coverage requirements applicable to the Continuing Employees and (ii) provide each Continuing
Employee with full credit for any co-payments and deductibles paid prior to the Closing Date in satisfying any
applicable deductible or out-of-pocket requirements under such group health plan.

(d) Parent shall provide, or shall cause the Company to provide, severance benefits to any Continuing Employee
whose employment is terminated following the Closing Date with severance benefits that are at least as favorable as
those that would have been payable to a similarly situated employee of Parent.

(e) This Section 5.12 shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of each of the parties to this Agreement,
and nothing in this Section 5.12, express or implied, shall confer upon any other Person any rights or remedies of any
nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Section 5.12. Nothing contained herein, express or implied, shall be
construed to establish, amend or modify any benefit plan, program, agreement or arrangement. The parties hereto
acknowledge and agree that the terms set forth in this Section 5.12 shall not create any right in any Employee or any
other Person to any continued employment with the Company or its Subsidiaries, Parent or any of their respective
Affiliates or compensation or benefits of any nature or kind whatsoever.

(f) Parent and Company shall cooperate in good faith to mitigate the impact of Section 280G of the Code on the
Company. The determination as to whether and to what extent any payments to the Company’s “disqualified individuals
would constitute an excess “parachute payment” as those terms are defined in Section 280G of the Code shall be made
by Hunton Andrews Kurth LLP, taking into account the value of any reasonable compensation for services to be
rendered by any such individual before or after the Closing Date, including any agreement not to render services to
competitors pursuant to any non-competition provisions that may apply to any such individual to the extent permitted
by Section 280G of the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder, with review and approval of such
calculations and determinations by counsel for Parent. Company and Parent shall cooperate with the Hunton Andrews
Kurth LLP in connection with the preparation and issuance of the determinations and calculations contemplated by
this Section 5.12(f).

Section 5.13  Exemption from Liability Under Section 16(b). Prior to the Effective Time, Company and Parent shall
take all commercially reasonable steps as may be required to cause any dispositions of Company Stock or Company
Stock Awards and any acquisitions of Parent Common Stock resulting from the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement by each director or officer of Company who, immediately following the Merger, will be officers or
directors of the Surviving Entity subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, to be
exempt from liability pursuant to Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law.
Section 5.14 Notification of Certain Changes. Parent and Company shall promptly advise the other party of any
change or event (a) having, or which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect or (b) which it
believes would, or which could reasonably be expected to, cause or constitute a material breach of any of its or its
Subsidiary bank’s representations, warranties or covenants contained herein, which breach could reasonably be
expected to give rise, individually or in the aggregate, to the failure of a condition

EX]
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in Article 6 to be satisfied on the Closing Date, provided, that any failure to give notice in accordance with the
foregoing with respect to any change or event shall not be deemed to constitute a violation of this Section 5.14, or
otherwise constitute a breach of this Agreement by the party failing to give such notice, in each case, unless the
underlying change or event would independently result in a failure of any of the conditions set forth in Section 6.02 or
Section 6.03 to be satisfied on the Closing Date.

Section 5.15 Transition; Informational Systems Conversion. From and after the date hereof, each of Parent and
Company shall use its Commercially Reasonable Efforts to facilitate the integration of Company and Company
Subsidiaries with the business of Parent and Parent Subsidiaries following consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby, and shall meet on a regular basis to discuss and plan for the conversion of the data processing
and related electronic informational systems of Company and Company Subsidiaries (the “Informational Systems
Conversion”) in such a manner reasonably sufficient to provide reasonable assurances that a successful Informational
Systems Conversion will occur. The Informational Systems Conversion will occur, at such date as may be specified
by Parent, subject to any applicable Laws, including Laws regarding the exchange of information and other Laws
regarding competition. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Company shall, subject to any such applicable
Laws: (i) reasonably cooperate with Parent to establish a project plan as specified by Parent to effectuate the
Informational Systems Conversion; (ii) use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to have Company’s outside contractors
continue to support both the Informational Systems Conversion effort and its ongoing needs until the Informational
Systems Conversion can be established; (iii) provide, or use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to obtain from any
outside contractors, all data or other files and layouts reasonably requested by Parent for use in planning the
Informational Systems Conversion, as soon as reasonably practicable; (iv) provide reasonable access to Company’s
personnel and facilities and its outside contractors’ personnel and facilities, to the extent necessary to enable the
Informational Systems Conversion effort to be completed on schedule; and (v) give notice of termination, conditioned
upon the completion of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, of the Contracts of outside data, item and
other processing contractors or other third-party vendors to which Company or any Company Subsidiary is bound, if
requested to do so by Parent, to the extent permitted by such Contracts; provided, that Company shall not be required
to take any action under this Section 5.15 that, after consultation with Parent regarding Company’s concerns in the
matter, is reasonably likely to prejudice or adversely affect in any material respect its rights under any such Contracts
in the event the Closing does not occur. Company shall pay any reasonable out of pocket expenses due third parties
incurred in connection with the actions described in this Section 5.15. Such access as contemplated by this Section
5.15 shall be conducted by Parent in a manner which does not adversely affect the normal operations of Company or
Company Bank and neither Company nor Company Bank shall be required to provide access to or disclose
information (i) which would jeopardize the attorney-client privilege of Company or Company Bank or contravene any
binding Contract entered into prior to the date of this Agreement or any Law, Order or fiduciary duty, (ii) except as
otherwise provided in this Agreement, relating to an Acquisition Proposal, a Superior Proposal, a Company
Subsequent Determination or any matters related thereto, or (iii) except as otherwise provided in this Agreement,
related to Company’s or Company Bank’s directors’, officers’, employees’, accountants’, counsels’, advisors’ (including
investment bankers), agents’, or other representatives’, consideration of, or deliberations regarding, the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 5.16 No Control of Other Party’s Business. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall give Parent, directly
or indirectly, the right to control or direct the operations of Company or Company Subsidiaries prior to the Effective
Time, and nothing contained in this Agreement shall give Company, directly or indirectly, the right to control or direct
the operations of Parent or Parent Subsidiaries prior to the Effective Time. Prior to the Effective Time, each of
Company and Parent shall exercise, consistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, control and
supervision over its and its Subsidiaries’ respective operations.
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Section 5.17  Environmental Matters.

(a) Phase I Assessments. For any Company Owned Property, any Company OREO Property and any Company
Leased Property which is identified by Parent within fifteen (15) days following the date of this Agreement, Parent
may, at its sole cost and expense, obtain, within sixty (60) days after the date of such notice, written reports of a Phase
I ESA for each such property, prepared by an environmental consultant experienced in performing Phase I ESAs of
real property (“Environmental Consultant”) and acceptable to Company. Each Phase I ESA shall be delivered in
counterparts to Parent and Company. The Environmental Consultant will include customary language allowing both
Parent and Company to rely upon its findings and conclusions. The Environmental Consultant will provide a draft of
any Phase I ESA to Company and Parent for review and comment prior to the finalization of such report.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, except as set forth in this Section, neither Parent nor the Environmental Consultant
will conduct or cause to be conducted any invasive, intrusive or destructive inspections or other sampling or testing on
the Company Owned Property or Company Leased Property, including, without limitation, of the air, soil, soil gas,
vapors, surface water, groundwater, building materials or other environmental media, thereon.

(b) Phase II Assessments. In the event any Phase I ESA (including a Phase I ESA that Company or any Company
Subsidiary caused to be performed within one (1) year prior to the date of this Agreement) discloses such property
may be impacted or have its use restricted by any Recognized Environmental Condition or Historical Recognized
Environmental Condition (as each term is defined by ASTM E1527-13) for which Parent or Parent Subsidiaries would
be liable and that, in the good faith reasonable belief of Parent, would result in a material liability to Company or any
Company Subsidiary following the Effective Time and as such warrants further review or investigation, Parent shall
reasonably promptly give notice of the same (a ‘“Phase I Notice”) to Company no later than five (5) Business Days
following Parent’s receipt of the relevant Phase I ESA. Company may then, in its sole and absolute discretion and
without any obligation whatsoever to do so, within an additional twenty (20) day period, retain the Environmental
Consultant to conduct a Phase II environmental site assessment in accordance with ASTM Standard E1903-11 (“Phase
IT ESA”) of the relevant property or facility; provided, however, that such Phase II ESA shall be completed, and a
written report of the Phase II ESA prepared, no later than sixty (60) days after Company receives from Parent the
Phase I Notice for the relevant property; and provided further, that with respect to any Company Leased Property,
Company will use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to obtain the relevant property owner’s consent for such Phase 11
ESA. Parent acknowledges and understands that such consent may not be able to be obtained. The scope of the Phase
IT ESA shall be mutually determined by Parent and Company in their reasonable discretion after consultation with the
other party, and all reasonable costs and expenses associated with such Phase II ESA testing and report shall be borne
by Parent. Company shall provide copies of the draft and final Phase II ESA reports, if any, to Parent promptly
following the receipt of any such report by Company.

(c) Remediation Estimates. In the event any Phase II ESA confirms the presence of any environmental
contamination, including, without limitation, a release or threat or release from an abandoned underground storage
tank or the presence of other Hazardous Substances, in each case in concentrations above applicable standards under
applicable Environmental Laws, or if Company chooses not to conduct Phase II ESA as reasonably requested by
Parent pursuant to Section 5.17(b), Parent may elect to require Company to obtain, prior to the Closing Date and as
soon as reasonably practical but in no event more than sixty (60) days after Parent receives the relevant Phase I ESA
or Phase II ESA, and at Company’s sole cost and expense, from the Environmental Consultant or another nationally
recognized contractor mutually acceptable to the parties, a written good faith estimate of the minimum cost and
expense necessary to further investigate, remediate, cleanup, abate, restore and otherwise address such Recognized
Environmental Condition, Historical Recognized Environmental Condition, or environmental contamination to the
extent
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required or allowed by and in accordance with Environmental Laws, including the NMVRA, and, to the extent
required, to the satisfaction of any relevant Governmental Authority, assuming the continued residential, commercial
or industrial use of the relevant property and employing risk-based remedial standards and institutional controls where
applicable (a “Remediation Estimate’’). Company shall provide to Parent any Remediation Estimate requested within
five (5) business days of Company’s receipt thereof. Company shall, upon Parent’s reasonable request, cause all
Remediation Estimates to be updated through the Closing Date.

(d) Remediation Adjustment and Termination. Should the sum of all Remediation Estimates (to the extent the costs
reflected in such estimates will or are reasonably expected to be incurred by Company or any Company Subsidiary,
and taking into account any tax credits, deductions or benefits or insurance coverage, in each case, that the parties
agree is reasonably likely to be available to Company or any Company Subsidiary in connection with the incurrence
of such costs) exceed $250,000 in the aggregate, the Aggregate Cash Consideration shall be decreased by the amount
by which the sum of all Remediation Estimates exceeds $250,000 (such amount, the “Remediation Adjustment”).
Should the sum of all Remediation Estimates (to the extent the costs reflected in such estimates will or are reasonably
expected to be incurred by Company or any Company Subsidiary, and taking into account any tax credits, deductions
or benefits or insurance coverage, in each case, that the parties agree is reasonably likely to be available to Company
or any Company Subsidiary in connection with the incurrence of such costs) exceed $2,500,000 in the aggregate (the
“Environmental Limit”), Parent may elect (a) to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.01(j) or (b) to decrease
the Aggregate Cash Consideration by the Remediation Adjustment.

(e) Cooperation. Notwithstanding anything in this Section 5.17 to the contrary, Company shall keep Parent
reasonably apprised of all activities and actions contemplated by this Section 5.17, and Company and Parent shall
cooperate fully with one another with respect to the matters required by this Section 5.17.

(f) Prior Disclosure. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, all matters that have been
previously disclosed by Company to Parent shall be disregarded for purposes of, and shall not constitute any type of
exception to, this Section 5.17 and shall have no effect on the determination of any Remediation Estimate.

Section 5.18 Certain Litigation. Company shall promptly advise Parent orally and in writing of any actual or
threatened Legal Proceeding against Company and/or the members of the Company Board related to this Agreement
or the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Company shall: (i) permit Parent to review
and discuss in advance, and consider in good faith the views of Parent in connection with, any proposed written or
oral response to such Legal Proceeding; (ii) furnish Parent’s outside legal counsel with all non-privileged information
and documents which outside counsel may reasonably request in connection with such Legal Proceeding; (iii) consult
with Parent regarding the defense or settlement of any such Legal Proceeding, give due consideration to Parent’s
advice with respect to such Legal Proceeding and not settle any such Legal Proceeding prior to such consultation and
consideration; provided, however, that Company shall not settle any such Legal Proceeding if such settlement requires
the payment of money damages of $50,000 or more, without the written consent of Parent (such consent not to be
unreasonably withheld or delayed) unless the payment of any such damages by Company is reasonably expected by
Company, following consultation with outside counsel, to be fully covered (disregarding any deductible to be paid by
Company) under Company’s existing director and officer insurance policies, including any tail policy.

Section 5.19  Director Matters; Board Packages. Company shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to cause to be
delivered to Parent resignations of all the directors of Company and Company
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Subsidiaries, such resignations to be effective as of the Effective Time. Company shall distribute by overnight mail
with an electronic copy by email, a copy of any Company or Company Bank board package, including the agenda,
any draft minutes and any reports (including any internal management financial control reports showing actual
financial performance against plan and previous period, and reports relating to financial performance and risk
management), to Parent at the same time in which it distributes a copy of such package to the Company Board and
board of directors of Company Bank, as the case may be; provided, however, that Company shall not be required to
disclose to Parent any documents (a) which would jeopardize the attorney-client privilege of Company or Company
Bank or contravene any binding Contract entered into prior to the date of this Agreement or any Law, Order or
fiduciary duty, (b) except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, relating to an Acquisition Proposal, a Superior
Proposal, a Company Subsequent Determination or any matters related thereto, or (c) except as otherwise provided in
this Agreement, related Company’s or Company Bank’s directors’, officers’, employees’, accountants’, counsels’, advisors’
(including investment bankers), agents’, or other representatives’, consideration of, or deliberations regarding, the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 5.20 Coordination.

(a) Prior to the Effective Time, senior officers of Company and Parent shall meet from time to time as Parent may
reasonably request, not less frequently than monthly, to prepare the parties for integration of the operations of
Company and Company Bank with Parent and Parent Bank and to review the financial and operational affairs of
Company and Company Subsidiaries, and Company shall give due consideration to Parent’s input on such matters,
with the understanding that, notwithstanding any other provision contained in this Agreement, neither Parent nor
Parent Bank shall, under any circumstance, be permitted to exercise control of Company or any Company Subsidiary
prior to the Effective Time. Company shall permit representatives of Parent to be onsite at Company to facilitate
integration of operations and assist with any other coordination efforts as necessary.

(b) Company shall, consistent with GAAP and regulatory accounting principles, use Commercially Reasonable
Efforts to adjust, at Parent’s reasonable request, internal control procedures which are consistent with Parent’s and
Parent Bank’s current internal control procedures to allow Parent to fulfill its reporting requirement under Section 404
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, provided, however, that no such adjustments need be made prior to the satisfaction of the
conditions set forth in Sections 6.01(a) and 6.01(b).

(c) Parent and Company shall reasonably cooperate (i) to minimize any potential adverse impact to Parent under
Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 805 (Business Combinations), and
(ii) to take reasonable steps to maximize potential benefits to Parent and Parent Subsidiaries under Section 382 of the
Code in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, in each case consistent with GAAP, the
rules and regulations of the SEC and applicable banking Laws.

(d) Following the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 6.01(a) and Section 6.01(b) and prior to the
Effective Time, Company shall, upon Parent’s reasonable request, introduce Parent and its representatives to suppliers
of Company and Company Subsidiaries for the purpose of facilitating the integration of Company and its business into
that of Parent. In addition, after satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 6.01(a) and Section 6.01(b), each
party shall, upon the reasonable request of the other party, introduce the other party and its representatives to its
customers and those of its Subsidiaries for the purpose of facilitating the integration of Company and its business into
that of Parent. Any interaction between Parent and Company and any of their Subsidiaries’ customers and suppliers
shall be coordinated by the parties and no discussions, meetings or communications between a party’s customers and
suppliers shall occur without the presence of a representative of, or the prior written approval of, such party.
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(e) Company Bank shall execute such certificates or articles of combination and such other documents and
certificates as may be reasonably requested by Parent to effectuate the Bank Merger.

Section 5.21 Confidentiality. Prior to the execution of this Agreement and prior to the consummation of the Merger,
each of Company and Parent, and their respective subsidiaries, affiliates, officers, directors, agents, employees,
consultants and advisors have provided, and will continue to provide one another with information which may be
deemed by the party providing the information to be non-public, proprietary and/or confidential, including but not
limited to trade secrets of the disclosing party. Each party hereto acknowledges and agrees that it will not use the
non-public, proprietary and/or confidential information received by it pursuant to this Agreement and in connection
with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement in violation of this Agreement or any other agreements related
to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, unless such information has been made available to the public
generally by the owner thereof or such party is required to disclose such information by a Governmental Authority;
provided, however, that a party may disclose such information (i) to its attorneys, accountants, consultants, and other
professionals to the extent necessary to obtain their services in connection with the Agreement or the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement or (ii) to any existing or prospective Affiliate, partner, member, shareholder, or
wholly-owned subsidiary of such party in the ordinary course of business, provided, that such party informs such
Person that such information is confidential and directs such Person to maintain the confidentiality of such
information.

Section 5.22 Tax Matters. The parties intend that the Merger qualify as a 368 Reorganization and that this
Agreement constitute a “plan of reorganization” within the meaning of Section 1.368-2(g) of the Regulations. From and
after the date of this Agreement and until the Effective Time, each of Parent and Company shall use its Commercially
Reasonable Efforts to cause the Merger to qualify as a 368 Reorganization, and will not knowingly take any action,
cause any action to be taken, fail to take any action or cause any action to fail to be taken which action or failure to act
could prevent the Merger from qualifying as 368 Reorganization, and each of Parent and Company shall use its
Commercially Reasonable Efforts to obtain the opinions referred to in Section 6.01(e).

Section 5.23 Issuance of Parent Common Stock. The shares of Parent Common Stock to be issued by Parent to the
shareholders of Company pursuant to this Agreement will, on the issuance and delivery to such shareholders pursuant
to this Agreement, be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable.

Section 5.24 Closing Date Share Certification. At least two (2) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, Company
shall deliver to Parent the Closing Date Share Certification.

Section 5.25 Company Bank and Parent Bank Approval. Promptly following Parent’s determination to proceed with
the Bank Merger, (a) Company, as the sole shareholder of Company Bank, shall approve this Agreement and the Bank
Merger (the “Company Bank Shareholder Approval”), and (b) Parent, as the sole shareholder of Parent Bank, shall
approve this Agreement and the Bank Merger (the “Parent Bank Shareholder Approval”) to be effective after the
Effective Time. Promptly following execution of this Agreement, Company, as the sole shareholder of Company
Bank, and Parent, as the sole shareholder of Parent Bank, shall approve the Plan of Bank Merger.

Section 5.26 Title Insurance. For each Company Owned Property and Company OREO Property, improved or
vacant, whether for Company or Company Subsidiary operations or branches, or acquired through foreclosure or deed
in lieu thereof, Company will provide an ALTA Owner’s Policy of Title Insurance, with customary endorsements and
without exception for survey, together with a title report or commitment showing any matters of title recorded against
the subject property from the date of issuance
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of the applicable title insurance policy through a date no earlier than fifteen (15) days prior to Closing. In the event
that there is no existing title insurance policy for a particular property, for each such property, Company will provide a
new ALTA Owner’s Policy of Title Insurance, with an insured value no less than the value therefor disclosed in the
appraisals provided to Parent, with customary endorsements and without exception for survey or matters within the
Knowledge of the Company as of the policy date.

ARTICLE 6.

CONDITIONS TO CONSUMMATION OF THE MERGER

Section 6.01 Conditions to Obligations of the Parties to Effect the Merger. The respective obligations of Parent and
Company to consummate the Merger are subject to the fulfillment or, to the extent permitted by applicable Law,
written waiver by Parent or Company prior to the Closing Date of each of the following conditions:

(a) Shareholder Vote. This Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby shall have received the Requisite
Company Shareholder Approval, and the number of shares held by Dissenting Shareholders shall not exceed 10% of
the number of shares of Company Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Closing Date.

(b) Regulatory Approvals; No Burdensome Condition. All Closing Regulatory Approvals shall have been obtained
and shall remain in full force and effect and all statutory waiting periods in respect thereof, if any, shall have expired
or been terminated. No Governmental Authority shall have imposed any term, condition or restriction upon Parent or
any Parent Subsidiary that is a Burdensome Condition.

(¢) No Injunctions or Restraints; Illegality. No Order preventing the consummation of any of the transactions
contemplated hereby shall be in effect. No Law or Order shall have been enacted, entered into, promulgated or
enforced by any Governmental Authority that prohibits or makes illegal the consummation of any of the transactions
contemplated hereby.

(d) Effective Registration Statement. The Registration Statement shall have become effective and no stop order
suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement shall have been issued and no proceedings for that purpose
shall have been initiated or threatened by the SEC or any other Governmental Authority and not withdrawn.

(e) Tax Opinions Relating to the Merger. Parent and Company, respectively, shall have received opinions from
Holland & Knight LLP and Hunton Andrews Kurth LLP, respectively, each dated as of the Closing Date, in substance
and form reasonably satisfactory to Company and Parent, to the effect that, on the basis of the facts, representations
and assumptions set forth in such opinion, the Merger will be treated for federal income Tax purposes as 368
Reorganization and that each of Parent and Company will be a party to the reorganization within the meaning of
Section 368(b) of the Code. In rendering their opinions, Holland & Knight LLP and Hunton Andrews Kurth LLP may
require and rely upon representations as to certain factual matters contained in certificates of officers of each of
Company and Parent, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to such counsel.

(f) Listing. The shares of Parent Common Stock to be issued to the non-dissenting holders of Company Common
Stock upon consummation of the Merger shall have been authorized for listing on NASDAQ, subject to official notice
of issuance.
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Section 6.02 Conditions to Obligations of Company. The obligations of Company to consummate the Merger also

are subject to the fulfillment or written waiver by Company prior to the Closing Date of each of the following
conditions:

(a) Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of Parent and Parent Bank set forth in this
Agreement shall be true and correct in all material respects at and as of the Closing Date (except as to any
representation and warranty that specifically relates to an earlier date), except to the extent that such representations

and warranties are qualified by the term “material,” or contain terms such as “Material Adverse Effect” in which case such
representations and warranties (as so written, including the term “material” or “Material”) shall be true and correct in all
respects at and as of the Closing Date. Company shall have received a certificate dated as of the Closing Date, signed
on behalf of Parent and Parent Bank by an executive officer of Parent or Parent Bank, as applicable, to such effect.

(b) Performance of Obligations of Parent. Parent and Parent Bank shall have performed and complied with all of

their respective obligations under this Agreement in all material respects at or prior to the Closing Date, and Company
shall have received a certificate, dated as of the Closing Date, signed on behalf of Parent by its Chief Executive

Officer or Chief Financial Officer and signed on behalf of Parent Bank by its Chief Executive Officer or Chief
Financial Officer, to such effect.

(c) No Material Adverse Effect. Since the date of this Agreement (i) no condition, event, fact, circumstance or other
occurrence has occurred which has had a Material Adverse Effect with respect to Parent or Parent Bank and (ii) no
condition, event, fact, circumstance or other occurrence has occurred that would reasonably be expected to have or
result in a Material Adverse Effect with respect to Parent or Parent Bank.

(d) Company Directors. The Company Directors shall become members of the Board of Parent as of the Effective
Time.

(e) Exchange Agent Certificate. Company shall have received a certificate from the Exchange Agent certifying its
receipt of sufficient cash and irrevocable authorization to issue shares of Parent Common Stock to satisfy Parent’s
obligations to pay the Aggregate Cash Consideration and the Aggregate Stock Consideration pursuant to Article 2.
Section 6.03 Conditions to Obligations of Parent. The obligations of Parent to consummate the Merger are subject to
the fulfillment or written waiver by Parent prior to the Closing Date of each of the following conditions:

(a) Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of Company and Company Bank set forth in
this Agreement shall be true and correct in all material respects at and as of the Closing Date (except as to any
representation and warranty that specifically relates to an earlier date), except to the extent that such representations

and warranties are qualified by the term “material,” or contain terms such as “Material Adverse Effect” in which case such
representations and warranties (as so written, including the term “material” or “Material” or “Material Adverse Effect”) shall
be true and correct in all respects at and as of the Closing Date. Parent shall have received a certificate dated as of the
Closing Date, signed on behalf of Company and Company Bank by an executive officer of Company or Company
Bank, as applicable, to such effect.

(b) Performance of Obligations of Company. Company and Company Bank shall have performed and complied with
all of their respective obligations under this Agreement in all material respects at or prior to the Closing Date, and
Parent shall have received a certificate, dated the Closing Date, signed
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on behalf of Company by Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer and on behalf of Company
Bank by its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to such effect.

(¢) Form 5330. Company shall have filed Form 5330 with the Internal Revenue Service relating to the incident that
is the subject of the DOL “No Action” letter dated September 14, 2018; provided that if Company determines, and
Parent agrees, that no such form is required, the actions set forth in this Section 6.03(c) shall not be required.

(d) Deposits. Total Non-Maturity Deposits shall be equal to or greater than $868,864,000.

(e) No Material Adverse Effect. Since the date of this Agreement (i) no condition, event, fact, circumstance or other
occurrence has occurred which has had a Material Adverse Effect with respect to Company or Company Bank and
(i1) no condition, event, fact, circumstance or other occurrence has occurred that would reasonably be expected to have
in a Material Adverse Effect with respect to Company or Company Bank.

Section 6.04 Frustration of Closing Conditions. Neither Parent nor Company may rely on the failure of any
condition set forth in Section 6.01, Section 6.02 or Section 6.03, as the case may be, to be satisfied if such failure was
caused by such party’s failure to comply with its obligations hereunder.

ARTICLE 7.

TERMINATION

Section 7.01 Termination. This Agreement may be terminated, and the transactions contemplated hereby may be
abandoned:

(a) Mutual Consent. At any time prior to the Effective Time, by the mutual consent, in writing, of Parent and
Company.

(b) No Regulatory Approval. By Parent or Company in the event any Closing Regulatory Approval shall have been
denied by final, non-appealable action by the applicable Governmental Authority or an application therefor shall have
been withdrawn at the request of the applicable Governmental Authority; provided, however, that no party shall have
the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.01(b) if such denial shall be due to the failure of the
party seeking to terminate this Agreement to perform or observe the covenants of such party set forth in this
Agreement.

(c) Reduced Valuation. By Company by delivering written notice to Parent at any time during the five (5) Trading
Day period commencing on the Determination Date if both of the following conditions are satisfied: (i) the Average
VWAP as of the Determination Date is less than 80% of the Initial VWAP (such Average VWAP, the “Triggering
VWAP”); and (ii) the number obtained by dividing the Triggering VWAP by the Initial VWAP (rounding to four
decimal places) is less than the number obtained by dividing the Final Index Price by the Initial Index Price (rounded
to four decimal places) (such quotient, the “Index Ratio”), minus .20; provided, however, that if Company elects to
terminate pursuant to this Section 7.01(c) and provides such written notice to Parent, then within two (2) Business
Days following Parent’s receipt of such notice, Parent may elect by written notice to Company to reinstate the Merger
and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement and (A) adjust the Exchange Ratio to equal a number equal
to the lesser of (1) a quotient (rounded to the nearest one-thousandth), the numerator of which is $10.46 and the
denominator of which is the Triggering VWAP and (2) a quotient (rounded to the nearest one-thousandth), the
numerator of which is $10.46 and the denominator of which is the Triggering VW AP, multiplied by the Index Ratio,
or (B) in the alternative, not adjust the Exchange Ratio, and, in lieu thereof, add an amount in
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cash to the Per Share Cash Consideration such that each holder of Company Common Stock would be entitled to
receive, in respect of each share of Company Common Stock, the equivalent value, based on the Triggering VWAP,
for each such share of Company Common Stock as such holder would have received had the Exchange Ratio been
adjusted in accordance with clause (A). If Parent makes such election to reinstate the Merger and the other
transactions contemplated by this Agreement, no termination will occur pursuant to this Section 7.01(c) and this
Agreement will remain in effect according to its terms (except as the Merger Consideration has been adjusted). If
Parent, during such time as it belongs to the Index, declares or effects a stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization,
reclassification, or similar transaction with respect to the outstanding Parent Common Stock, and the record date
therefor shall be after the date of this Agreement and prior to the Determination Date, the prices for the Parent
Common Stock shall be proportionately and appropriately adjusted for the purpose of applying this Section 7.01(c).
(d) No Shareholder Approval. By either Parent or Company (provided, in the case of Company, that it shall not be in
breach of any of its obligations under Section 5.04), if the Requisite Company Shareholder Approval shall not have
been obtained by reason of the failure to obtain the Requisite Company Shareholder Approval at the Company
Meeting.

(e) Breach of Representations and Warranties.

(i) By Parent (provided, that neither Parent nor Parent Bank is then in material breach of any of its representations,
warranties, covenants or other agreements contained herein such that Company would be entitled not to consummate
this Agreement) if there shall have been a breach of any representation or warranty by Company or Company Bank,
which breach, either individually or in the aggregate with any other breaches by Company or Company Bank, would
result in, if occurring or continuing on the Closing Date, the failure of the condition set forth in Section 6.03(a) to be
satisfied, and which breach is not cured within thirty (30) days after receipt by Company of written notice specifying
the nature of such breach and requesting that it be remedied provided, that, if such breach cannot reasonably be cured
within such 30-day period but may reasonably be cured within sixty (60) days, and such cure is being diligently
pursued, no such termination shall occur prior to the expiration of such sixty (60)-day period.

(i) By Company (provided, that neither Company nor Company Bank is then in material breach of any of its
representations, warranties, covenants or other agreements contained herein such that Parent would be entitled not to
consummate this Agreement) if there shall have been a breach of any representation or warranty by Parent or Parent
Bank, which breach, either individually or in the aggregate with any other breaches by Parent or Parent Bank, would
result in, if occurring or continuing on the Closing Date, the failure of the condition set forth in Section 6.02(a) to be
satisfied, and which breach is not cured within thirty (30) days after receipt by Parent of written notice specifying the
nature of such breach and requesting that it be remedied provided, that, if such breach cannot reasonably be cured
within such 30-day period but may reasonably be cured within sixty (60) days, and such cure is being diligently
pursued, no such termination shall occur prior to the expiration of such sixty (60)-day period.

(f) Breach of Covenants.

(i) By Parent (provided, that neither Parent nor Parent Bank is then in material breach of any of its representations,
warranties, covenants or other agreements contained herein such that Company would be entitled not to consummate
this Agreement) if there shall
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have been a material breach of any covenant or agreement set forth in this Agreement by Company or Company Bank,
which breach, either individually or in the aggregate with any other covenant breaches by Company or Company
Bank, would result in, if not cured by the Closing Date, the failure of the condition set forth in Section 6.03(b) to be
satisfied, and which breach is not cured within thirty (30) days after receipt by Company of written notice specifying
the nature of such breach and requesting that it be remedied provided, that, if such breach cannot reasonably be cured
within such 30-day period but may reasonably be cured within sixty (60) days, and such cure is being diligently
pursued, no such termination shall occur prior to the expiration of such sixty (60)-day period.

(i) By Company (provided, that neither Company nor Company Bank is then in material breach of any of its
representations, warranties, covenants or other agreements contained herein such that Parent would be entitled not to
consummate this Agreement) if there shall have been a material breach of any covenant or agreement set forth in this
Agreement by Parent or Parent Bank, which breach, either individually or in the aggregate with any other covenant
breaches by Parent or Parent Bank, would result in, if not cured by the Closing Date, the failure of the condition set
forth in Section 6.02(b) to be satisfied, and which breach is not cured within thirty (30) days after receipt by Parent of
written notice specifying the nature of such breach and requesting that it be remedied provided, that, if such breach
cannot reasonably be cured within such 30-day period but may reasonably be cured within sixty (60) days, and such
cure is being diligently pursued, no such termination shall occur prior to the expiration of such sixty (60)-day period.
(g) Delay. By either Parent or Company if the Merger shall not have been consummated on or before June 30, 2019
(the “Expiration Date”), unless the failure of the Closing to occur by such date shall be due to a material breach of this
Agreement by the party seeking to terminate this Agreement; provided, however, if additional time is necessary in
order to obtain any Closing Regulatory Approvals, the Expiration Date shall be automatically extended for one
additional three-month period.

(h) Company Failure to Recommend; Etc. In addition to and not in limitation of Parent’s termination rights under
Section 7.01(e)(ii), by Parent prior to the Requisite Company Shareholder Approval being obtained if (i) there shall
have been a material breach of Section 5.10 and such breach shall not have been cured on or before the expiration of
the fifth (5t) Business Day after the occurrence of such breach; or (ii) the Company Board (or any committee thereof)
makes a Company Subsequent Determination.

(i) Superior Proposal. By Company, at any time prior to the Requisite Company Shareholder Approval being
obtained, in the event that the Company Board (or any committee thereof) makes a Company Subsequent
Determination with respect to a Superior Proposal; provided, that Company has complied with all of its obligations
under Section 5.10.

() Environmental. By Parent, if the Environmental Limit is exceeded as provided under Section 5.17(d).

Section 7.02 Termination Fee; Liquidated Damages.

(a) Inrecognition of the efforts, expenses and other opportunities foregone by Parent while structuring and pursuing
the Merger, Company shall pay to Parent a termination fee equal to $9,500,000 (“Termination Fee”), by wire transfer of
immediately available funds to an account specified by Parent in the event of any of the following: (i) in the event
Parent terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.01(h) or Company terminates pursuant to Section 7.01(i),
Company shall pay Parent the Termination Fee within
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two (2) Business Days after receipt of Parent’s notification of such termination; and (ii) in the event that after the date
of this Agreement and prior to the termination of this Agreement, an Acquisition Proposal shall have been made
known to the Company Board or has been made directly to Company shareholders generally (and not withdrawn) and
(a) thereafter this Agreement is terminated by either Parent or Company pursuant to Section 7.01(d) or Section 7.01(g)
(without the Requisite Company Shareholder Approval having been obtained) or if this Agreement is terminated by
Parent pursuant to Section 7.01(e)(i) or Section 7.01(f)(i), and (b) prior to the date that is twelve (12) months after the
date of such termination, Company enters into any agreement to consummate, or consummates an Acquisition
Transaction (and such Acquisition Transaction relates to the same Acquisition Proposal as that referred to above), then
Company shall, on the earlier of the date it enters into such agreement and the date of consummation of such
transaction, pay Parent the Termination Fee, provided, that for purposes of this Section 7.02(a), all references in the
definition of Acquisition Transaction to “20%” shall instead refer to “50%”.

(b) The parties hereto agree and acknowledge that if Parent terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.01(e)(i)
or Section 7.01(f)(i) by reason of Company’s or Company Bank’s material breach of the provisions of this Agreement
contemplated by Section 7.01(e)(i) or Section 7.01(f)(i) that is not timely cured as provided in such sections, the actual
damages sustained by Parent, including the expenses incurred by Parent preparatory to entering into this Agreement
and in connection with the performance of its obligations under this Agreement, would be significant and difficult to
ascertain, gauged by the circumstances existing at the time this Agreement is executed, and that in lieu of Parent being
required to pursue its damage claims in costly litigation proceedings in such event, the parties agree that Company
shall pay a reasonable estimate of the amount of such damages, which the parties agree is the sum of $2,000,000 (the
“Liquidated Damages Payment”), as liquidated damages to Parent, which payment is not intended as a penalty, within
two (2) Business Days after Parent’s notification of such termination. Any payment made under this Section 7.01(b)
shall reduce on a dollar-for-dollar basis any payment that may be due under Section 7.01(a).

(c) The parties hereto agree and acknowledge that if Company terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section
7.01(e)(ii) or Section 7.01(f)(ii) by reason of Parent’s or Parent Bank’s material breach of the provisions of this
Agreement contemplated by Section 7.01(e)(ii) or Section 7.01(f)(ii) that is not timely cured as provided in such
sections, the actual damages sustained by Company, including the expenses incurred by Company preparatory to
entering into this Agreement and in connection with the performance of its obligations under this Agreement, would
be significant and difficult to ascertain, gauged by the circumstances existing at the time this Agreement is executed,
and that in lieu of Company being required to pursue its damage claims in costly litigation proceedings in such event,
the parties agree that Parent shall pay $2,000,000, which the parties agree is the Liquidated Damages Payment, as
liquidated damages to Company, which payment is not intended as a penalty, within two (2) Business Days after
Company’s notification of such termination.

(d) Company and Parent each agree that the agreements contained in this Section 7.02 are an integral part of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and that, without these agreements, neither party would not enter into
this Agreement; accordingly, if a party fails promptly to pay any amounts due under this Section 7.02, such party shall
pay interest on such amounts from the date payment of such amounts were due to the date of actual payment at the
rate of interest equal to the sum of (i) the rate of interest published from time to time in The Wall Street Journal,
Eastern Edition (or any successor publication thereto), designated therein as the prime rate on the date such payment
was due, plus (ii) 200 basis points, together with the costs and expenses of the other party (including reasonable legal
fees and expenses) reasonably incurred in connection with such suit.
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() Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, the parties agree that if Company pays or
causes to be paid to Parent the Termination Fee in accordance with Section 7.02(a), or, if applicable, the Liquidated
Damages Payment in accordance with Section 7.02(b), none of Company, Company Bank, or any successor in
interest, Affiliate, shareholder, director, officer, employee, agent, consultant or representative of Company or
Company Bank, will have any further obligations or liabilities to Parent or Parent Bank with respect to this Agreement
or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the payment of such amounts shall be Parent’s sole and
exclusive remedy against Company, Company Bank and their respective Affiliates, representatives or successors in
interest. For the avoidance of doubt, the parties agree that the fee payable under Section 7.02(a) shall not be required
to be paid more than once. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, the parties agree that
if Parent pays or causes to be paid to Company the Liquidated Damages Payment in accordance with Section 7.02(c),
none of Parent, Parent Bank, or any successor in interest, Affiliate, shareholder, director, officer, employee, agent,
consultant or representative of Parent or Parent Bank, will have any further obligations or liabilities to Company with
respect to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the payment of such amounts shall
be Company’s sole and exclusive remedy against Parent, Parent Bank and their respective Affiliates, representatives or
successors in interest.

Section 7.03  Effect of Termination. If this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 7.01, this Agreement shall
become void and of no effect without liability of any party (or any shareholder, director, officer, employee, agent,
consultant or representative of such party or any of its Affiliates) to the other party hereto, except as provided in
Section 7.02(d); provided, that nothing contained in this Agreement shall limit either party’s rights to recover any
liabilities or damages arising out of the other party’s willful breach of any provision of this Agreement. The provisions
of this Section 7.03 and Sections 5.21, 7.02, 9.03 and 9.04 shall survive any termination hereof pursuant to Section
7.01.

ARTICLE 8.

DEFINITIONS

Section 8.01 Definitions. The following terms are used in this Agreement with the meanings set forth below:

“368 Reorganization” has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.

“Acquisition Proposal” means any inquiry, offer or proposal (other than an inquiry, offer or proposal from Parent),
whether or not in writing, contemplating, relating to, or that could reasonably be expected to lead to, an Acquisition
Transaction.

“Acquisition Transaction” means (a) any transaction or series of transactions involving any merger, consolidation,
recapitalization, share exchange, liquidation, dissolution or similar transaction involving Company or any Company
Subsidiary; (b) any transaction pursuant to which any third party or group acquires or would acquire (whether through
sale, lease or other disposition), directly or indirectly, assets of Company or Company Subsidiaries representing, in the
aggregate, twenty percent (20%) or more of the assets of the Company and Company Subsidiaries on a consolidated
basis; (c) any issuance, sale or other disposition of (including by way of merger, consolidation, share exchange or any
similar transaction) securities (or options, rights or warrants to purchase or securities convertible into, such securities)
representing twenty percent (20%) or more of the voting power of Company; (d) any tender offer or exchange offer
that, if consummated, would result in any third party or group beneficially owning twenty percent (20%) or more of
any class of equity securities of Company; or (e) any transaction which is similar in form, substance or purpose to any
of the foregoing transactions, or any combination of the foregoing.
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“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person controlling, controlled by or under common control with
such Person. As used in this definition, “control” (including, with its correlative meanings, “controlled by” and “under
common control with””) means the possession, directly or indirectly, of power to direct or cause the direction of the
management and policies of a Person whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.
“Aggregate Cash Consideration” means (a) the product of $1.84 and the number of shares of Company Common Stock
issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time, less (b) the Remediation Adjustment, if any.
“Aggregate Stock Consideration” means the product of the number of shares of Company Common Stock issued and
outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time and the Exchange Ratio.

“Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.

“ASC 320” means GAAP Accounting Standards Codification Topic 320.

“Associate” when used to indicate a relationship with any Person means (1) any corporation or organization (other than
Company and Company Subsidiaries) of which such Person is an officer or partner or is, directly or indirectly, the
beneficial owner of 10% or more of any class of equity securities, (2) any trust or other estate in which such Person

has a substantial beneficial interest or serves as trustee or in a similar fiduciary capacity, or (3) any immediate family
member of such Person.

“Assumed Stock Awards” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.03(b)(i).

“ASTM” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.01(b)(xxiii).

“ASTM Standard” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.01(b)(xxiii).

“Audited Financial Statements” has the meaning set forth Section 3.07(a).

“Average VWAP” means, as of any specified date, the daily volume weighted average price of the Parent Common
Stock on the Trading Market on which the Parent Common Stock is then listed or quoted as reported by Bloomberg
L.P. for the twenty (20) consecutive Trading Days ending on such date.

“Bank Director” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.04(c).

“Bank Merger” has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.

“Bank Secrecy Act” means the Bank Secrecy Act of 1970, as amended.

“BHC Act” means the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended.

“Board of Parent” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.03(b).

“Board of Parent Bank™ has the meaning set forth in Section 1.04(c).

“Book-Entry Shares” means any book-entry shares which, immediately prior to the Effective Time represented shares of
Company Stock.

“Burdensome Conditions” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.07(a).
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“Business Day” means Monday through Friday of each week, except a legal holiday recognized as such by the U.S.
government or any day on which banking institutions in the State of New Mexico or the State of Missouri are
authorized or obligated to close.

“Certificate” means any outstanding certificate, which immediately prior to the Effective Time represents one or more
outstanding shares of Company Common Stock.

“Certificate of Merger” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.05(a).

“Claim” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.11(a).

“Closing” and “Closing Date” have the meanings set forth in Section 1.05(c).

“Closing Date Share Certification” means the certificate, delivered by an officer of Company on behalf of Company at
the Closing, certifying the number of shares of Company Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to
the Effective Time.

“Closing Regulatory Approvals” means any Regulatory Approvals necessary to consummate the Merger.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Commercially Reasonable Efforts” means the reasonable efforts that a reasonably prudent Person would use in similar
circumstances to achieve such results as expeditiously as possible, provided, that such Person is not required to
expend funds or assume liability, debt, obligation, loss, damage, claim, cost or expenses (including reasonable
attorneys’ fees), interest, penalties, amounts paid in settlement, Taxes, fines, judgements or assessments beyond those
that are reasonable in nature and amount in the context of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
“Community Reinvestment Act” means the Community Reinvestment Act of 1977, as amended.

“Company” has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.

“Company 401(a) Plan” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.15(c).

“Company Bank™ has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.

“Company Bank Shareholder Approval” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.25.

“Company Benefit Plans” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.15(a).

“Company Board” means the Board of Directors of Company.

“Company Common Stock” means collectively, the Company Non-Voting Common Stock and the Company Voting
Common Stock.

“Company Director” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.03(b).

“Company Disclosure Schedule” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.01(a).

“Company Employees” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.15(a).
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“Company Intellectual Property” means the Intellectual Property owned by, used in or held for use in the conduct of the
business of Company and/or any of its Subsidiaries (as now conducted or presently proposed to be conducted).
“Company Investment Securities” means the investment securities of the Company, Company Bank and their respective
Subsidiaries.

“Company Leased Property” means any real property subject to a Lease.

“Company Loan” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.22(d).

“Company Loan Property” means any real property (including buildings or other structures) in which Company or any
of its Subsidiaries holds a security interest or Lien in connection with a Loan.

“Company Material Contract” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.12(a).

“Company Meeting” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.04(a).

“Company Non-Voting Common Stock” means the non-voting common stock, no par value per share, of Company.
“Company OREO Property” means any assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that has been classified as
OREDQ, including, without limitation, such assets as identified on Section 3.22(c) of the Company Disclosure

Schedule.

“Company Owned Property” means any real property owned by Company or a Company Subsidiary, except for OREO.
“Company Preferred Stock™ has the meaning set forth in Section 3.03(a).

“Company Recommendation” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.04(b).

“Company Regulatory Agreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.13.

“Company Reports” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.07(d).

“Company Representatives” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.10(a).

“Company Stock” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.03(a).

“Company Stock Awards” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.03(a).

“Company Stock Plans” means all equity plans of Company or any Subsidiary, including the Company’s Employee
Stock Ownership Plan and the Trinity Capital Corporation 2015 Long-Term Incentive Plan.

“Company Subsequent Determination” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.10(d).

“Company Trusts” means Trinity Capital Trust III, Trinity Capital Trust IV and Trinity Capital Trust V.
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“Company Voting Common Stock” means the voting common stock, no par value per share, of Company.
“Continuing Employees” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.12(a).

“Contract” means any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, deed of trust, license, lease, sublease, agreement, contract,
arrangement, commitment or understanding or obligation of any kind, whether written or oral.

“Controlled Group Members” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.15(c).

“Criticized Loans” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.22(b).

“Derivative Transaction” means any swap transaction, option, warrant, forward purchase or sale transaction, futures
transaction, cap transaction, floor transaction or collar transaction, in each case, relating to one or more currencies,
commodities, bonds, equity securities, loans, interest rates, catastrophe events, weather-related events, credit-related
events or conditions or any indexes, or any other similar transaction (including any option with respect to any of these
transactions) or combination of any of these transactions, including collateralized mortgage obligations or other
similar instruments or any debt or equity instruments evidencing or embedding any such types of transactions, and any
related credit support, collateral or other similar arrangements related to any such transaction or transactions.
“Determination Date” means the fifth Trading Day immediately preceding the Closing Date (such fifth Trading Day to
be determined by counting the Trading Day immediately preceding the Closing Date as the first Trading Day).
“DGCL” means the Delaware General Corporation Law, as amended.

“Dissenting Shareholder” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.06.

“Dissenting Shares” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.06.

“Dodd-Frank Act” means the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act.

“Effective Time” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.05(a).

“Environmental Consultant” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.17(a).

“Environmental Law” means any federal, state or local Law relating to: (a) pollution, the protection or restoration of the
indoor or outdoor environment, human health and safety with respect to exposure to Hazardous Substances, or natural
resources, or (b) the handling, use, presence, disposal, release or threatened release of any Hazardous Substance. The
term Environmental Law includes, but is not limited to, the NMVRA and the following statutes, as amended, any
successor thereto, and any regulations promulgated pursuant thereto, and any state or local statutes, ordinances, rules,
regulations and the like addressing similar issues: (a) Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and
Liability Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 9601, et seq.; (b) the Clean Air Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 7401, et seq.; (c)
the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, 33 U.S.C. § 1251, et seq.; the Toxic Substances Control Act, as
amended, 15 U.S.C. § 2601, et seq.; (d) the Emergency Planning and Community Right to Know Act, 42 U.S.C. §
11001, et seq.; (e) the Safe Drinking Water Act; 42 U.S.C. § 300f, et seq.; and (g) the Resource Conservation and
Recovery Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 6901, et seq.
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“Environmental Limit” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.17(d).

“Equal Credit Opportunity Act” means the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, as amended.

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

“ERISA Affiliate” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.15(d).

“ESOP” means the Trinity Capital Corporation Employee Stock Ownership Plan.

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated
thereunder.

“Exchange Agent” means such exchange agent as may be designated by Parent as soon as reasonably practicable after
the date hereof (which may be Parent’s transfer agent), and reasonably acceptable to Company, pursuant to an
agreement in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Company (the “Exchange Agent Agreement”), to act as agent
for purposes of conducting the exchange and payment procedures described in Article 2.

“Exchange Agent Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the definition of “Exchange Agent”.

“Exchange Fund” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.07(a).

“Exchange Ratio” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(c).

“Executive Employment Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.

“Expiration Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.01(g).

“Fair Housing Act” means the Fair Housing Act, as amended.

“FDIA” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.27.

“FDIC” means the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.

“FFIEC” means the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council.

“Final Index Price” means the average of the closing price of the Index for the five (5) Trading Days immediately
preceding the Determination Date.

“Financial Statements” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.07(a).

“FRB” means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.’

“FRBank” means the Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis.

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America, applied consistently with past
practice.

“GLB Act” means the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999, as amended.
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“Governmental Authority” means any U.S. or foreign federal, state or local governmental commission, board, body,
bureau or other regulatory authority or agency, including, without limitation, courts and other judicial bodies, bank
regulators, insurance regulators, applicable state securities authorities, the SEC, the IRS or any self-regulatory body or
authority, including any instrumentality or entity designed to act for or on behalf of the foregoing.

“Hazardous Substance” means any and all substances (whether solid, liquid or gas) defined, listed, or otherwise
regulated as pollutants, hazardous wastes, hazardous substances, hazardous materials, extremely hazardous wastes,
flammable or explosive materials, radioactive materials or words of similar meaning or regulatory effect under any
Environmental Law or that is regulated or classified under any Environmental Law, including but not limited to
petroleum and petroleum products, asbestos and asbestos-containing materials, polychlorinated biphenyls, lead, radon,
radioactive materials, flammables and explosives, mold, mycotoxins, microbial matter and airborne pathogens (not
naturally occurring). Hazardous Substance does not include substances present within a consumer product in an
amount and concentration ordinarily and customarily used or stored for the purposes of cleaning or maintenance.
“Historical Recognized Environmental Condition” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.17(b).

“Home Mortgage Disclosure Act” means Home Mortgage Disclosure Act of 1975, as amended.

“Indemnified Parties” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.11(a).

“Index” means the NASDAQ Bank Index.

“Informational Systems Conversion” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.15.

“Initial Index Price” means $3,633.69, which is the average of the closing price of the Index for the five (5) Trading
Days immediately preceding the date of this Agreement.

“Initial VWAP” means $46.5794, which is the Average VWAP as of the Trading Day immediately preceding the date of
this Agreement.

“Insurance Policies” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.32.

“Intellectual Property” means with regard to a Person all intellectual property of that Person including (a) all registered
and unregistered trademarks, service marks, trade dress, trade names, designs, logos, slogans, corporate and fictitious
names and rights in telephone numbers, together with all abbreviations, translations, adaptations, derivations and
combinations thereof, and general intangibles of like nature, together with all goodwill, applications, registrations and
renewals related to the foregoing; (b) all inventions, conceptions, ideas, processes, designs, improvements, and
discoveries (whether patentable or unpatentable and whether or not reduced to practice), and all patents, patent
applications, patent disclosures and industrial designs, including any provisionals, non-provisionals, continuations,
divisionals, continuations-in-part, renewals, reissues, refilings, revisions, extensions and reexaminations thereof,
statutory invention registrations, and U.S. or foreign counterparts of any patents or applications for any of the
foregoing (collectively, “Patents”); (c) all works of authorship or mask works (both published and unpublished) whether
or not protectable by copyright and all interest therein as copyright or other proprietor, whether or not registered with
the United States Copyright Office or an equivalent office in any other country of the world, and all applications,
registrations and renewals for any of the foregoing; (d) Software; (e) all confidential or proprietary technology or
information, including research and development, trade secrets and other confidential information, know-how,
proprietary processes, formulae, compositions, algorithms, models, methodologies, manufacturing and production
processes and techniques, technical data, domain names, designs, drawings, blue prints,
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specifications, customer and supplier lists, pricing and cost information and business, marketing or other plans and
proposals; (f) domain name registrations and active websites; and (g) social media accounts used or held for use.
“IRS” means the United States Internal Revenue Service.

“IT Assets” means, with respect to any Person, the computers, computer software, firmware, middleware, servers,
workstations, routers, hubs, switches, data, data communications lines, and all other information technology
equipment, and all associated documentation owned by such Person or such Person’s Subsidiaries.

“ITU” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.31(e).

“Knowledge” or “Known” means, with respect to Company and Company Bank, the actual knowledge, after reasonable
inquiry under the circumstances, of the Persons set forth in Section 3.01(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, and
with respect to Parent or Parent Bank, the actual knowledge, after reasonable inquiry under the circumstances, of the
Persons set forth in Section 4.01(a) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule.

“Law” means any federal, state, local, municipal or foreign law, statute, constitution, ordinance, rule, regulation, policy,
guideline, code, agency requirement, Order, license or permit of any Governmental Authority that is applicable to the
referenced Person.

“Lease” and “Leases” have the meanings set forth in Section 3.30(b).

“Legal Proceeding” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.11(a).

“Letter of Transmittal” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.08(a).

“Licensed Business Intellectual Property” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.31(g).

“Liens” means any charge, mortgage, pledge, security interest, restriction, claim, lien or encumbrance, conditional and
installment sale agreement, charge, claim, option, rights of first refusal, encumbrances, or security interest of any kind
or nature whatsoever (including any limitation on voting, sale, transfer or other disposition or exercise of any other
attribute of ownership).

“Liquidated Damages Payment” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.02(b).

“Loan” means any written or oral loan, loan agreement, note or borrowing arrangement or other extensions of credit
(including, without limitation, leases, credit enhancements, commitments, guarantees and interest-bearing assets) to
which Company, Company Bank or any of their respective Subsidiaries is a party as obligee.

“Material Adverse Change” or “Material Adverse Effect” means with respect to any Person, any effect, circumstance,
occurrence or change that is or would reasonably be expected to be material and adverse to the financial position,
results of operations or business of such Person and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or which would materially
impair the ability of such Person to perform its obligations under this Agreement or otherwise materially impairs the
ability of such Person to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby; provided, however, that Material Adverse
Effect shall not be deemed to include the impact of (a) changes in banking and similar Laws of general applicability or
interpretations thereof by Governmental Authorities, (b) changes in GAAP or regulatory accounting requirements
applicable to banks or bank holding companies generally, (c) changes after the date of this Agreement in general
economic or
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capital market conditions affecting financial institutions or their market prices generally, including, but not limited to,
changes in levels of interest rates generally and any change in the value of deposits, borrowings or loan service rights
associated therewith, (d) the effects of any action or omission taken by Company or any Company Subsidiary with the
prior consent of Parent, and vice versa, or as otherwise expressly permitted or contemplated by this Agreement; (e) the
impact of the Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby on relationships with customers or employees
(including the loss of personnel subsequent to the date of this Agreement); (f) changes in national or international
political or social conditions including the engagement by the United States in hostilities, whether or not pursuant to
the declaration of a national emergency or war, or the occurrence of any military or terrorist attack upon or within the
United States and (g) natural disaster or other force majeure event; provided, further, that any effect, circumstance,
occurrence or change referred to in clauses (a), (b), (c), (f) and (g) above shall be taken into account in determining
whether a Material Adverse Change or Material Adverse Effect has occurred to the extent such effect, circumstance,
occurrence or change has disproportionally affected Company and Company Subsidiaries or Parent and Parent
Subsidiaries, as applicable, as compared to similarly situated participants in the banking industry.

“Maximum D&O Premium” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.11(b).

“Merger” has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.

“Merger Consideration” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(c).

“NASDAQ” means The NASDAQ Global Select Market, or any tier within the NASDAQ Stock Market.

“National Labor Relations Act” means the National Labor Relations Act, as amended.

“NMBCA” means the Business Corporation Act of New Mexico, as amended.

“NMVRP” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.17(f).

“Notice of Superior Proposal” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.10(e).

“Notice Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.10(e).

“NPL” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.17(c).

“OCC” means the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency.

“Order” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.11(b).

“Ordinary Course of Business” means the ordinary course of business of Company and Company Subsidiaries
(including Company Bank) or Parent and Parent Subsidiaries (including Parent Bank), as applicable, consistent with
past practice, including with respect to frequency and amount in all material respects.

“OREO” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.22(c).

“Parent 2017 Form 10-K” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.04(c).

“Parent 401(a) Plan” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.15(b).

“Parent” has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
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“Parent Bank™ has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.

“Parent Bank Shareholder Approval” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.25.

“Parent Benefit Plans” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.15.

“Parent Common Stock” means the common stock, $0.01 par value per share, of Parent.

“Parent Controlled Group Members” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.15(c).

“Parent Disclosure Schedule” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.01(a).

“Parent Employees” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.15(a).

“Parent Intellectual Property” means the Intellectual Property owned by, used in or held for use in the conduct of the
business of Parent and/or any of its Subsidiaries (as now conducted or presently proposed to be conducted).

“Parent Investment Securities” means the investment securities of the Parent, Parent Bank and their respective
Subsidiaries.

“Parent Leased Property” means any real property leased as of the date of this Agreement by Parent or its Subsidiaries.
“Parent Loan” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.21(a).

“Parent Material Contract” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.14(a).

“Parent Owned Property” means any real property owned as of the date of this Agreement by Parent or its Subsidiaries.
“Parent Regulatory Agreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.17.

“Parent Reports” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.05(a).

“Patents” has the meaning set forth in the definition of “Intellectual Property”.

“PBGC” means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation.

“Permits” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.10(b).

“Permitted Liens” means (a) statutory Liens for amounts not yet due and payable or which are being contested in good
faith; (b) easements, rights of way, restrictions, covenants and other similar encumbrances affecting title to real
property which were disclosed by any title commitments, title insurance policies and/or surveys, site plans or maps
delivered to the other party prior to the date hereof, and which do not, individually or in the aggregate, materially
impair business operations at any such property as currently conducted; (c) recorded easements, rights of way,
restrictions, covenants and other similar encumbrances that do not, individually or in the aggregate, materially impair
business operations at such properties as currently conducted; (d) Liens of landlords and Liens of carriers,
warehousemen, mechanics and materialmen and other like Liens arising in the Ordinary Course of Business for sums
not yet due and payable or which are being contested in good faith; and (e) Liens on Company Leased Property or
Parent Leased Property (as applicable) placed on such property by the landlord or owner thereof.
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“Per Share Cash Consideration” means the quotient obtained by dividing the Aggregate Cash Consideration by the
number of shares of Company Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time.

“Per Share Stock Consideration” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(c).

“Person” means any individual, bank, corporation, partnership, association, joint-stock company, business trust, limited
liability company, unincorporated organization or other organization or firm of any kind or nature, including a
Governmental Authority.

“Phase I ESA” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.01(b)(xxiii).

“Phase I Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.17(b).

“Phase II ESA” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.17(b).

“Plan of Bank Merger” means a plan of bank merger in a form attached hereto as Exhibit B between Company Bank and
Parent Bank in a form to be agreed upon by the parties pursuant to which Company Bank will be merged with and

into Parent Bank in accordance with the provisions of and with the effect provided in the Bank & Trust Companies
Code of Missouri and the regulations promulgated thereunder.

“Privacy Laws” means (a) all applicable Laws imposing obligations or restrictions upon Company or any Company
Subsidiary or Parent or any Parent Subsidiary with respect to the collection, use, disclosure, protection or disposal of
records containing non-public personal information, such as, without limitation, the GLB Act and the Right to
Financial Privacy Act, and (b) all applicable Laws mandating response and/or notice following the loss, theft, or
misuse of non-public personal information, and (c) all obligations which Company or any Company Subsidiary or
Parent or any Parent Subsidiary undertook by way of Contract with respect to non-public personal information.

“Proxy Statement-Prospectus” means Company’s proxy statement, together with any amendments and supplements
thereto, to be delivered to holders of Company Common Stock in connection with the solicitation of their approval of
this Agreement.

“Recognized Environmental Condition” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.17(b).

“Registration Statement” means the Registration Statement on Form S-4 to be filed with the SEC by Parent in
connection with the issuance of shares of Parent Common Stock in the Merger (including the Proxy
Statement-Prospectus, constituting a part thereof).

“Regulations” means the final and temporary regulations promulgated under the Code by the United States Department
of the Treasury.

“Regulatory Approval” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.06.

“Remediation Estimate” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.17(c).

“Remediation Adjustment” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.17(d).

“Requisite Company Shareholder Approval” means the adoption of this Agreement by a vote of the minimum number of
shares of Company Common Stock required pursuant to the NMBCA and Company’s

A-89

250



Edgar Filing: WACHOVIA CORP NEW - Form 425

articles of incorporation and bylaws to approve this Agreement and the Merger that are entitled to vote thereon at the
Company Meeting.

“Sarbanes-Oxley Act” means the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended.

“Schedule Supplement” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.09(c).

“SEC” means the Securities and Exchange Commission.

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.
“Software” means computer programs, whether in source code or object code form (including any and all software
implementation of algorithms, models and methodologies), databases and compilations (including any and all data and
collections of data), and all documentation (including user manuals and training materials) related to the foregoing.
“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any party, any corporation or other entity of which a majority of the capital stock or
other ownership interest having ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the board of directors or other Persons
performing similar functions are at the time, directly or indirectly, owned by such party. Any reference in this
Agreement to a “Company Subsidiary” means, unless the context otherwise requires, Company Bank, any other
Subsidiary of Company, and all Subsidiaries of Company Bank and such other Subsidiaries. Any reference in this
Agreement to a ‘“Parent Subsidiary” means, unless the context otherwise requires, Parent Bank, any other Subsidiary of
Parent, and all Subsidiaries of Company Bank and such other Subsidiaries. No entity that is or was acquired as a result
of foreclosure or similar proceedings or in respect of a debt previously contracted will be treated as a Subsidiary.
“Superior Proposal” shall mean any bona fide, unsolicited written Acquisition Proposal (on its most recently amended or
modified terms, if amended or modified) made by a third party to enter into an Acquisition Transaction that

(a) Company Board determines in good faith, after consulting with its outside legal counsel and its financial advisor,
would, if consummated, result in a transaction that would be more favorable to the shareholders of the Company than
the Merger (taking into account all factors relating to such proposed transaction deemed relevant by the Company
Board, including without limitation the amount and form of consideration, the timing of payment, the risk of
consummation of the transaction, the financing thereof and all other conditions thereto, the Termination Fee, and any
adjustments to the terms and conditions of the Merger proposed by Parent in response to such Acquisition Proposal)
and (b) is for 50% or more of the outstanding shares of Company Stock or all or substantially all of the assets of
Company.

“Surviving Entity” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.01.

“Tax” and “Taxes” mean all federal, state, local or foreign income, gross income, gains, gross receipts, sales, use, ad
valorem, goods and services, capital, production, transfer, franchise, windfall profits, license, withholding, payroll,
employment, disability, employer health, excise, estimated, severance, stamp, occupation, property, environmental,
custom duties, unemployment or other taxes of any kind whatsoever imposed directly or indirectly by a Governmental
Authority, together with any interest, additions or penalties thereto and any interest in respect of such interest and
penalties.

“Tax Returns” means any return, amended return, declaration or other report (including elections, declarations,
schedules, estimates and information returns) required to be filed with any taxing authority with respect to any Taxes.
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“Termination Fee” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.02(a).

“The date hereof” or “the date of this Agreement” shall mean the date first set forth above in the preamble to this
Agreement.

“Total Non-Maturity Deposits” means the average daily balance of Company Bank non-maturity deposits for the month
immediately preceding the month in which the Closing Date occurs. Total Non-Maturity Deposits shall consist of
those deposits, and calculated as (a) total deposits (Schedule RC, Line 13.a.), less (b) states and political subdivisions
(Schedule RC-E Line 3 for transaction and nontransaction accounts), less (c) time deposits (Schedule RC-E, Lines
M.2.b., M.2.c., M.2.d.), less (d) total brokered deposits not included in time deposits (Schedule RC-E, Lines M.2.b.,
M.2.c., M.2.d.), less (e) deposits obtained through the use of deposit listing services that are not brokered deposits and
not included in time deposits (Schedule RC-E, Lines M.2.b., M.2.c., M.2.d.), less (f) any deposits of commercial
banks and other depository institutions in the U.S. that are not from deposit listing services, that are not brokered
deposits and not included in time deposits (Schedule RC-E, Lines M.2.b., M.2.c., M.2.d.), and in the case of foregoing
clauses (a), (b), (¢), (d), (e) and (f), calculated in the same manner as shown on (i) Schedule RC, Line 13.a., (ii)
Schedule RC-E Line 3, (iii) Schedule RC-E, Lines M.2.b., M.2.c., M.2.d., (iv) Schedule RC-E, Lines M.1.b., (v)
Schedule RC-E, Line M.1.f., and (vi) Schedule RC-E, Line 4, respectively, of the Company Bank’s Call Report as filed
with its primary banking regulator for the quarter ended September 30, 2018, and, in each case, subject to adjustment
for any changes in the Call Report format. For comparative purposes, the Total Non-Maturity Deposits as of
September 30, 2018 (without taking into account daily average balances for the month), as calculated in accordance
with this definition, was $918,864,000.

“Trading Day” means a day on which the principal Trading Market is open for trading.

“Trading Market” means any of the following markets or exchanges on which the Parent Common Stock is listed or
quoted for trading on the date in question: the NYSE MKT, the NASDAQ, the Nasdaq Global Market, the Nasdaq
Global Select Market or the New York Stock Exchange (or any successors to any of the foregoing).

“Triggering VWAP” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.01(c).

“Truth in Lending Act” means the Truth in Lending Act of 1968, as amended.

“Unaudited Financial Statements” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.07(a).

“USA PATRIOT Act” means the USA PATRIOT Act of 2001, Public Law 107-56, and the regulations promulgated
thereunder.

“Voting Agreements” has the meaning set forth in the preamble.

ARTICLE 9.

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 9.01 Survival. No representations, warranties, agreements or covenants contained in this Agreement shall
survive the Effective Time other than this Section 9.01 and any other agreements or covenants contained herein that
by their express terms are to be performed after the Effective Time, including, without limitation, Section 5.11 of this
Agreement.

Section 9.02 Waiver; Amendment. Prior to the Effective Time and to the extent permitted by applicable Law, any
provision of this Agreement may be (a) waived by the party benefited by the provision,
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provided, that such waiver is in writing and signed by such party, or (b) amended or modified at any time, by an
agreement in writing among the parties hereto executed in the same manner as this Agreement, except that after the
Company Meeting, no amendment shall be made which by Law requires further approval by the shareholders of
Parent or Company without obtaining such approval.

Section 9.03  Governing Law; Waiver of Right to Trial by Jury; Process Agent.

(a) This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware,
without regard to the conflicts of law rules of such state.

(b) EACH PARTY ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT ANY CONTROVERSY WHICH MAY ARISE
UNDER THIS AGREEMENT IS LIKELY TO INVOLVE COMPLICATED AND DIFFICULT ISSUES, AND
THEREFORE EACH SUCH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES ANY
RIGHT SUCH PARTY MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY LITIGATION DIRECTLY
OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, OR THE TRANSACTIONS
CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT. Each party certifies and acknowledges that (i) no representative, agent
or attorney of any other party has represented, expressly or otherwise, that such other party would not, in the event of
litigation, seek to enforce the foregoing waiver, (ii) each party understands and has considered the implications of this
waiver, (iii) each party makes this waiver voluntarily, and (iv) each party has been induced to enter into this
Agreement by, among other things, the mutual waivers and certifications in this Section 9.03.

Section 9.04 Expenses. Except as otherwise provided in Section 7.02, each party hereto will bear all expenses
incurred by it in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, including fees and
expenses of its own financial consultants, accountants and counsel. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any civil action,
arbitration or other legal proceeding is brought for the enforcement of this Agreement, or because of an alleged
dispute, breach, default or misrepresentation in connection with any provision of this Agreement, the successful or
prevailing party or parties shall be entitled to recover reasonable attorneys’ fees, court costs and all expenses even if
not taxable as court costs (including without limitation, all such fees, Taxes, costs and expenses incident to arbitration,
appellate, bankruptcy and post-judgment proceedings), incurred in that proceeding, in addition to any other relief to
which such party or parties may be entitled. Attorneys’ fees shall include, without limitation, paralegal fees,
investigative fees, administrative costs and all other charges billed by the attorney to the prevailing party (including
any fees and costs associated with collecting such amounts).

Section 9.05 Notices. All notices, requests and other communications hereunder to a party, shall be in writing and
shall be deemed properly given if delivered (a) personally, (b) by registered or certified mail (return receipt
requested), with adequate postage prepaid thereon, (c) by properly addressed electronic mail delivery (with
confirmation of delivery receipt), or (d) by reputable courier service to such party at its address set forth below, or at
such other address or addresses as such party may specify from time to time by notice in like manner to the parties
hereto. All notices shall be deemed effective upon delivery.
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If to Parent or Parent Bank: With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Holland & Knight, LLP

Cira Center

2929 Arch Street, Suite 800
Philadelphia, PA 19104

Attn: Paul J. Jaskot

Email: paul.jaskot@hklaw.com

Enterprise Financial Services Corp

150 North Meramec

Clayton, MO 63105

Attn: General Counsel

Email: legaltracking @enterprisebank.com

If to Company or Company Bank: With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Hunton Andrews Kurth LLP

Trinity Capital Corporation 1445 Ross Avenue, Suite 3700

1200 Trinity Drive Dallas, TX 75202

Los Alamos, NM 87544 Attn: Peter G. Weinstock

Attn: John S. Gulas Beth A. Whitaker

Email: johnsg@lanb.com Email: pweinstock@HuntonAK.com

bwhitaker @ HuntonAK.com

Section 9.06  Entire Understanding; No Third Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement represents the entire
understanding of the parties hereto and thereto with reference to the transactions contemplated hereby, and this
Agreement supersedes any and all other oral or written agreements heretofore made. Except for the Indemnified
Parties’ rights under Section 5.11 and shareholders of Company with respect to Article 2 and this Section 9.06, Parent
and Company hereby agree that their respective representations, warranties and covenants set forth herein are solely
for the benefit of the other applicable parties hereto, in accordance with and subject to the terms of this Agreement,
and this Agreement is not intended to, and does not, confer upon any Person (including any Person or employees who
might be affected by Section 5.12), other than the parties hereto, any rights or remedies hereunder, including, the right
to rely upon the representations and warranties set forth herein. The representations and warranties in this Agreement
are the product of negotiations among the parties hereto and are for the sole benefit of the parties hereto.
Consequently, Persons other than the parties hereto may not rely upon the representations and warranties in this
Agreement as characterizations of actual facts or circumstances as of the date of this Agreement or as of any other
date.

Section 9.07  Severability. In the event that any one or more provisions of this Agreement shall for any reason be
held invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, by any court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality
or unenforceability shall not affect any other provisions of this Agreement and the parties shall use their
Commercially Reasonable Efforts to substitute a valid, legal and enforceable provision which, insofar as practical,
implements the purposes and intents of this Agreement.

Section 9.08 Enforcement of the Agreement; Jurisdiction. The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage would
occur in the event that the provisions contained in this Agreement were not performed in accordance with their
specific terms or were otherwise breached. It is accordingly agreed that the parties shall be entitled to seek an
injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to seek to enforce specifically the terms and
provisions thereof in the State of Delaware, this being in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled in
equity. Each party agrees that it will not seek and will agree to waive any requirement for the securing or posting of a
bond in connection with the other party’s seeking or obtaining such injunctive relief. In addition, each of the parties
hereto (a) consents to submit itself to the exclusive personal jurisdiction of any federal or state court located in the
State of Delaware in the event any dispute arises out of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement and (b) agrees that
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it will not attempt to deny or defeat such personal jurisdiction by motion or other request for leave from any such
court.

Section 9.09 Interpretation.

(a) When areference is made in this Agreement to sections, exhibits or schedules, such reference shall be to a
section of, or exhibit or schedule to, this Agreement unless otherwise indicated. The table of contents and captions and
headings contained in this Agreement are included solely for convenience of reference and shall be disregarded in the
interpretation of this Agreement. Whenever the words “include,” “includes” or “including” are used in this Agreement, they
shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation.” The parties acknowledge and agree that if an
unreasonable condition is imposed on a consent, such consent will be deemed to have been withheld.

(b) The parties hereto have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement and the other
agreements and documents contemplated herein. In the event an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises
under any provision of this Agreement or any other agreement or document contemplated herein, this Agreement and
such other agreements or documents shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the parties thereto, and no presumption
or burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any party by virtue of authorizing any of the provisions of this
Agreement or any other agreements or documents contemplated herein.

(c) Any reference contained in this Agreement to specific statutory or regulatory provisions or to any specific
Governmental Authority shall include any rule or regulation promulgated thereunder and any successor statute or
regulation, or successor Governmental Authority, as the case may be. Unless the context clearly indicates otherwise,
the masculine, feminine, and neuter genders will be deemed to be interchangeable, and the singular includes the plural
and vice versa.

(d) Unless otherwise specified, the references to “Section” and “Article” in this Agreement are to the Sections and
Articles of this Agreement. When used in this Agreement, words such as “herein”, “hereinafter”, “hereof”, “hereto”, and
“hereunder” refer to this Agreement as a whole, unless the context clearly requires otherwise. When used in this
Agreement, references to (i) “in respect of debt previously contracted” and similar phrases include actions taken in
respect thereof such as foreclosure and similar proceedings and arrangements and (ii) “foreclosure” include other similar
proceedings and arrangements including a deed in lieu.

Section 9.10  Assignment. No party may assign either this Agreement or any of its rights, interests or obligations
hereunder without the prior written approval of the other party, and any purported assignment in violation of this
Section 9.10 shall be void. Subject to the preceding sentence, this Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to
the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

Section 9.11 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed and delivered by electronic data file and in one or more
counterparts, all of which shall be considered one and the same agreement and shall become effective when one or
more counterparts have been signed by each of the parties and delivered to the other party, it being understood that all
parties need not sign the same counterpart. Signatures delivered by electronic data file shall have the same effect as
originals.

Section 9.12  Disclosure Schedules. The Company Disclosure Schedule or the Parent Disclosure Schedule shall be
deemed to be a part of this Agreement and are fully incorporated into this Agreement by reference. Any reference in a
particular section or subsection of either the Company Disclosure Schedule
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or the Parent Disclosure Schedule shall only be deemed to be reference to, an exception to or modification of (or, as
applicable, a disclosure for purposes of) (i) the representations and warranties or covenants, as applicable, of the
relevant party that are contained in the corresponding section or subsection of this Agreement and (ii) any other
section or subsection of the Company Disclosure Schedule or the Parent Disclosure Schedule, as applicable (and
accordingly any other representations, warranties or covenants of such party contained in the corresponding section or
subsection of this Agreement), but only if the relevance of that reference as a modification of or exception to (or a
disclosure for purposes of) such representations, warranties and covenants of the relevant party, whether or not an
explicit cross-reference appears, if the applicability of such reference to the other section or subsection is reasonably
apparent on the face of such disclosure. The mere inclusion of an item in either the Company Disclosure Schedule or
the Parent Disclosure Schedule as an exception to a representation, warranty or covenant shall not be deemed to be an
admission or evidence that such item represents a material exception or material fact, event or circumstance or that
such item has had or would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank; signature page to follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREQOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed in counterparts by their duly
authorized officers, all as of the day and year first above written.

ENTERPRISE FINANCIAL SERVICES CORP

By: /s/James B. Lally

James B. Lally, President and Chief Executive Officer

ENTERPRISE BANK & TRUST

By: /s/ Scott Goodman
Scott Goodman, President
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TRINITY CAPITAL CORPORATION

By: /s/John S. Gulas
John S. Gulas, President and Chief Executive Officer

LOS ALAMOS NATIONAL BANK

By: /s/John S. Gulas
John S. Gulas, President and Chief Executive Officer
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APPENDIX B
FORM OF VOTING AGREEMENT

VOTING AGREEMENT
This VOTING AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of November 1, 2018, is made and entered into between the
undersigned shareholder (“‘Shareholder”) of Trinity Capital Corporation, a New Mexico corporation (the “Company”’), and
Enterprise Financial Services Corp, a Delaware corporation (“Parent”).
WHEREAS, concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, the Company and Parent will enter, into an
Agreement and Plan of Merger (as the same may be amended from time to time, the “Merger Agreement”), providing
for, among other things, the merger (the “Merger”) of Company with and into Parent;
WHEREAS, as a condition to its willingness to enter into the Merger Agreement, Parent has required that Shareholder
execute and deliver this Agreement; and
WHEREAS, in order to induce Parent and as additional consideration to Parent to enter into the Merger Agreement,
Shareholder is willing to make certain representations, warranties, covenants and agreements with respect to the
shares of voting common stock, no par value, of the Company (“Company Common Stock”) beneficially owned by
Shareholder and set forth below Shareholder’s signature on the signature page hereto (the “Original Shares” and, together
with any additional shares of Company Common Stock acquired pursuant to Section 8 hereof, the “Shares”).
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt,
sufficiency and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement, capitalized terms used and not defined herein shall have the respective

‘meanings ascribed to them in the Merger Agreement.
2.Representations of Shareholder. Shareholder represents and warrants to Parent that:

(i) Shareholder owns beneficially (as such term is defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, referred to as the “Exchange Act”) all of the Original Shares free and clear of all Liens, and (ii)

(a)except pursuant hereto, there are no options, warrants or other rights, agreements, arrangements or commitments of
any character to which Shareholder is a party relating to the pledge, disposition or voting of any of the Original
Shares and there are no voting trusts or voting agreements with respect to the Original Shares.
Shareholder does not beneficially own any shares of Company Common Stock other than (i) the Original Shares
and (ii) any restricted stock units or other rights to acquire any additional shares of Company Common Stock, or
any security exercisable for or convertible into shares of Company Common Stock, set forth on the signature page
of this Agreement (collectively, “RSUs”).
Shareholder has full legal capacity (and, if applicable, corporate, limited partnership or other organizational power
and authority) to enter into, execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform fully Shareholder’s obligations
hereunder. This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by Shareholder and constitutes the
legal, valid and binding obligation of Shareholder, enforceable against Shareholder in accordance with its terms,
except in each case as enforcement may be limited general principles of equity, whether applied in a court of law or
court of equity, and by bankruptcy, insolvency and similar Laws affecting creditor’s rights and remedies generally.

(b)

(©)
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None of the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Shareholder, the consummation by Shareholder of the
transactions contemplated hereby or compliance by Shareholder with any of the provisions hereof will conflict
(d)with or result in a breach, or constitute a default (with or without notice of lapse of time or both) under any
provision of, any trust agreement, loan or credit agreement, note, bond, mortgage, indenture, lease or other
agreement, instrument or Law applicable to Shareholder or to Shareholder’s property or assets.
No consent, approval or authorization of, or designation, declaration or filing with, any Governmental Authority or
other Person on the part of Shareholder is required in connection with the valid execution and delivery of this
(e) Agreement or Shareholder’s performance of his, her or its obligations hereunder. No consent of Shareholder’s
spouse is necessary under any ‘“‘community property” or other Laws in order for Shareholder to enter into and
perform his, her or its obligations under this Agreement.
Agreement to Vote Shares. Except as expressly permitted under Section 5.10 of the Merger Agreement, Shareholder
agrees during the term of this Agreement to vote the Shares, and to cause any holder of record of Shares to vote (or
3.execute a written consent or consents if shareholders of the Company are requested to vote their shares through the
execution of an action by written consent in lieu of any such annual or special meeting of Shareholders of the
Company):
in favor of the Merger, the Merger Agreement and any other matter necessary for the consummation of the
@ transactions contemplated by Merger Agreement, at every meeting (or in connection with any action by written
consent) of the shareholders of the Company at which such matters are considered, at every adjournment or
postponement thereof or in any other circumstances upon which their vote or other approval is sought; and
against (i) any Superior Proposal or any action which is a component of any Superior Proposal, (ii) any Acquisition
Proposal, (iii) any action, proposal, transaction or agreement which would reasonably be expected to result in a
breach of any covenant, representation or warranty or any other obligation or agreement of the Company under the
Merger Agreement or of Shareholder under this Agreement, (iv) any action, proposal, transaction or agreement that
( )would reasonably be expected to impede, interfere with, delay, discourage, adversely affect or inhibit the timely
consummation of the Merger or the fulfillment of the Company’s conditions under the Merger Agreement and (v) a
change in any manner to the voting rights of any class of shares of the Company (including any amendments to the
articles of incorporation or bylaws of the Company).
Irrevocable Proxy. Shareholder hereby appoints Parent and any designee of Parent, and each of them individually,
its proxies and attorneys-in-fact, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, to vote or act by written consent
during the term of this Agreement with respect to the Shares in accordance with Section 3. This proxy and power of
attorney is given to secure the performance of the duties of Shareholder under this Agreement. Shareholder shall
take such further action or execute such other instruments as may be necessary to effectuate the intent of this proxy.
4.This proxy and power of attorney granted by Shareholder shall be irrevocable during the term of this Agreement,
shall be deemed to be coupled with an interest sufficient in Law to support an irrevocable proxy and shall revoke
any and all prior proxies granted by Shareholder with respect to the Shares. The power of attorney granted by
Shareholder herein is a durable power of attorney and shall survive the dissolution, bankruptcy, death or incapacity
of Shareholder. The proxy and power of attorney granted hereunder shall terminate upon the termination of this
Agreement.
No Solicitation of Transactions. Except as otherwise contemplated or permitted by the Merger Agreement, and
5.subject to Section 11 hereof, Shareholder will not, directly or indirectly (a) solicit, initiate or take any other action to
facilitate or knowingly encourage any Acquisition Transaction, (b) maintain, continue or participate in any
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discussions or negotiations with any Person or entity in furtherance of, or furnish to any Person any information, with
respect to any Acquisition Transaction or (c) agree or authorize any Person to do any of the foregoing.
No Voting Trusts or Other Arrangement. Shareholder agrees that Shareholder will not, and will not permit any
Person under Shareholder’s control to, deposit any of the Shares in a voting trust, grant any proxies with respect to
6.the Shares or subject any of the Shares to any arrangement with respect to the voting of the Shares other than
agreements entered into with Parent. Shareholder and Parent intend that this Agreement not constitute a voting trust
within the meaning of Section 53-11-34 NMSA 1978.
Transfer and Encumbrance. Shareholder agrees that during the term of this Agreement, Shareholder will not,
directly or indirectly, transfer, sell, offer, exchange, assign, pledge or otherwise dispose of or encumber (‘““Transfer”)
any of the Shares or enter into any contract, option or other agreement with respect to, or consent to, a Transfer of,
any of the Shares or Shareholder’s voting or economic interest therein. Any attempted Transfer of Shares or any
interest therein in violation of this Section 7 shall be null and void. This Section 7 shall not prohibit a Transfer of the
Shares by Shareholder to any member of Shareholder’s immediate family, or to a trust for the benefit of Shareholder
“or any member of Shareholder’s immediate family, or upon the death of Shareholder; provided, that a Transfer
referred to in this sentence shall be permitted only if, as a precondition to such Transfer, the transferee agrees in a
writing, reasonably satisfactory in form and substance to Parent, to be bound by all of the terms of this Agreement.
Further, this Section 7 shall not prohibit a surrender of Shares to the Company in connection with the vesting or
settlement of RSUs to satisfy any withholding for the payment of taxes incurred in connection with such vesting or
settlement.
Additional Shares. Shareholder agrees that all shares of Company Common Stock that Shareholder purchases,
acquires the right to vote or otherwise acquires beneficial ownership (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange
8. Act) of after the execution of this Agreement, including, without limitation, any Company Common Stock issued
upon the exercise or conversion of any RSU, shall be subject to the terms of this Agreement and shall constitute
Shares for all purposes of this Agreement.
Waiver of Appraisal and Dissenters’ Rights. Shareholder hereby waives, and agrees not to assert or perfect, any
9.rights of appraisal or rights to dissent from the Merger that Shareholder may have by virtue of ownership of the
Shares.
Termination. This Agreement shall terminate upon the earliest to occur of (a) the Effective Time; (b) the date on
which the Merger Agreement is terminated in accordance with its terms; and (c) the date of any mutual
‘modification, waiver or amendment of the Merger Agreement that adversely affects the consideration payable to
Shareholders of the Company pursuant to the Merger Agreement as in effect as of the date hereof.
Shareholder Capacity. Shareholder is entering this Agreement in Shareholder’s capacity as the record or beneficial
owner of the Shares, and not in his or her capacity as a director or officer, as applicable, of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries. Nothing in this Agreement (a) will limit or affect any actions or omissions taken by Shareholder in
11.Shareholder’s capacity as a director or officer, including in exercising rights under the Merger Agreement, and no
such actions or omissions shall be deemed a breach of this Agreement or (b) will be construed to prohibit, limit or
restrict Shareholder from exercising Shareholder’s fiduciary duties as an officer or director to the Company or its
shareholders.
No Ownership Interest. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to vest in Parent any direct or
indirect ownership or incidence of ownership of or with respect to any of the Shares. All rights, ownership and
“economic benefits of and relating to the Shares shall remain vested in and belong to Shareholder, and Parent shall
not have any authority to direct Shareholder in the voting of the Shares, except as otherwise set forth herein.
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Specific Performance. Shareholder acknowledges that (a) irreparable damage would occur in the event that
Shareholder fails to comply with any of its obligations contained in this Agreement, (b) every obligation of
Shareholder herein is material, and (c) in the event of such failure, Parent will not have an adequate remedy at law
or in damages. Accordingly, Shareholder agrees that Parent shall be entitled to seek an injunction to prevent a
“breach of this Agreement and to seek to enforce specifically the terms and provisions hereof, in addition to any
other remedy to which Parent is entitled at law or in equity. Shareholder agrees that it will not seek and will agree
to waive any requirement for the securing or posting of a bond in connection with Parent seeking or obtaining such
injunctive relief.
Entire Agreement. This Agreement supersedes all prior agreements, written or oral, between the parties hereto with
respect to the subject matter hereof and, together with the Merger Agreement, contains the entire agreement
between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof. This Agreement may not be amended or

14.supplemented, and no provisions hereof may be modified or waived, except by an instrument in writing signed by
both of the parties hereto. No waiver of any provisions hereof by either party shall be deemed a waiver of any
other provisions hereof by such party, nor shall any such waiver be deemed a continuing waiver of any provision
hereof by such party.
Notices. All notices, requests, claims, demands, and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall
be deemed to have been given (a) when delivered by hand (with written confirmation of receipt), (b) when
received by the addressee if sent by a nationally recognized overnight courier (receipt requested), (c) on the date
sent by e-mail of a PDF document (with confirmation of transmission) if sent during normal business hours of the
‘recipient, and on the next Business Day if sent after normal business hours of the recipient, or (d) on the third day
after the date mailed, by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid. Such
communications must be sent to the respective parties at the following addresses (or at such other address for a
party as shall be specified in a notice given in accordance with this Section 15):

If to Parent:

Enterprise Financial Services Corp

150 North Meramec

Clayton, MO 63105

Attn: General Counsel

Email: legaltracking @enterprisebank.com

With a copy to:

Holland & Knight, LLP

Cira Center

2929 Arch Street, Suite 800
Philadelphia, PA 19104

Attn: Paul J. Jaskot, Esq.
Email: paul.jaskot@hklaw.com

If to Shareholder, to the address or facsimile number set forth for Shareholder on the signature page hereof.

16.Miscellaneous.

@ This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Delaware
without giving effect to any choice or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State
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of Delaware or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the application of Laws of any jurisdiction other than those of
the State of Delaware.
Each of the parties hereto irrevocably agrees that any legal action or proceeding with respect to this Agreement and
the rights and obligations arising hereunder, or for recognition and enforcement of any judgment in respect of this
Agreement and the rights and obligations arising hereunder brought by the other party hereto or its successors or
assigns shall be brought and determined exclusively in the state or federal courts located in the State of Delaware.
Each of the parties hereto agrees that mailing of process or other papers in connection with any such action or
proceeding in the manner provided in Section 15 or in such other manner as may be permitted by applicable Laws,
will be valid and sufficient service thereof. Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably submits with regard to
any such action or proceeding for itself and in respect of its property, generally and unconditionally, to the personal
jurisdiction of the aforesaid courts and agrees that it will not bring any action relating to this Agreement or any of
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement in any court or tribunal other than the aforesaid courts. Each of
the parties hereto hereby irrevocably waives, and agrees not to assert, by way of motion, as a defense, counterclaim
or otherwise, in any action or proceeding with respect to this Agreement and the rights and obligations arising
hereunder, or for recognition and enforcement of any judgment in respect of this Agreement and the rights and
obligations arising hereunder (i) any claim that it is not personally subject to the jurisdiction of the above named
(b)courts for any reason other than the failure to serve process in accordance with this Section 16(b), (ii) any claim
that it or its property is exempt or immune from jurisdiction of any such court or from any legal process
commenced in such courts (whether through service of notice, attachment prior to judgment, attachment in aid of
execution of judgment, execution of judgment or otherwise), and (iii) to the fullest extent permitted by the
applicable Law, any claim that (x) the suit, action or proceeding in such court is brought in an inconvenient forum,
(y) the venue of such suit, action or proceeding is improper, or (z) this Agreement, or the subject matter hereof,
may not be enforced in or by such courts. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any civil action, arbitration or other
legal proceeding is brought for the enforcement of this Agreement, or because of an alleged dispute, breach, default
or misrepresentation in connection with any provision of this Agreement, the successful or prevailing party or
parties shall be entitled to recover reasonable attorneys’ fees, court costs and all expenses even if not taxable as
court costs (including without limitation, all such fees, taxes, costs and expenses incident to arbitration, appellate,
bankruptcy and post-judgment proceedings), incurred in that proceeding, in addition to any other relief to which
such party or parties may be entitled. Attorneys’ fees shall include, without limitation, paralegal fees, investigative
fees, administrative costs and all other charges billed by the attorney to the prevailing party (including any fees and
costs associated with collecting such amounts).
EACH PARTY ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT ANY CONTROVERSY WHICH MAY ARISE
UNDER THIS AGREEMENT IS LIKELY TO INVOLVE COMPLICATED AND DIFFICULT ISSUES AND,
THEREFORE, EACH SUCH PARTY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT IT
MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY LEGAL ACTION ARISING OUT OF OR
RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT.
© EACH PARTY TO THIS AGREEMENT CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT (I) NO
REPRESENTATIVE OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT
SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER IN THE EVENT OF
A LEGAL ACTION, (II) SUCH PARTY HAS CONSIDERED THE IMPLICATIONS OF THIS WAIVER, (III)
SUCH PARTY MAKES THIS WAIVER VOLUNTARILY, AND (IV) SUCH PARTY HAS BEEN INDUCED
TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND
CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION 16(c).

B-5

264



Edgar Filing: WACHOVIA CORP NEW - Form 425

If any term or provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, such
invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other term or provision of this Agreement or
invalidate or render unenforceable such term or provision in any other jurisdiction. Upon such

(d) determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the parties hereto shall
negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely
as possible in a mutually acceptable manner in order that the transactions contemplated hereby be
consummated as originally contemplated to the greatest extent possible.

This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original but
(e)all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Signatures delivered by electronic data file shall
have the same effect as originals.

Each party hereto shall execute and deliver such additional documents as may be necessary or desirable to effect
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

All Section headings herein are for convenience of reference only and are not part of this Agreement, and no
@) construction or reference shall be derived therefrom.

The obligations of Shareholder set forth in this Agreement shall not be effective or binding upon Shareholder until
after such time as the Merger Agreement is executed and delivered by the Company and Parent, and the parties
agree that there is not and has not been any other agreement, arrangement or understanding between the parties
hereto with respect to the matters set forth herein.

Neither party to this Agreement may assign any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the prior
(i) written consent of the other party hereto. Any assignment contrary to the provisions of this Section 16(i) shall be

null and void.

®

(h)

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank; signature page to follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREQOF, the parties hereto have executed and delivered this Voting Agreement as of the date first
written above.

ENTERPRISE FINANCIAL SERVICES CORP:
By:

Name: James B. Lally
Title:  President and Chief Executive Officer

SHAREHOLDER:

NAME:

By:
Name:
Title:

Beneficially owned by Shareholder as of the date of this Agreement
Number of Shares:
Number of RSUs:

Shareholder’s Address:

City/State/Zip Code:
Fax:
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APPENDIX C

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

This AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER (“Plan of Bank Merger”’) dated November 1, 2018, is by and between
ENTERPRISE BANK & TRUST, a Missouri state-chartered trust company with banking powers (‘“Parent Bank™), and
LOS ALAMOS NATIONAL BANK, a national banking association (“Company Bank”).

BACKGROUND

1. Enterprise Bank & Trust is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Enterprise Financial Services Corp, a Delaware
corporation (“Parent”).

2. Los Alamos National Bank is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Trinity Capital Corporation, a New Mexico
corporation (“Company”).

3. Parent, Parent Bank, Company and Company Bank have entered into that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger
dated November 1, 2018 (the “Holding Company Merger Agreement”) providing for the merger of Company with and
into Parent, with Parent surviving such merger (the “Holding Company Merger”). Upon closing of the Holding
Company Merger, Parent Bank and Company Bank will each be direct wholly-owned subsidiaries of Parent.

4. In accordance with Section 1.04 of the Holding Company Merger Agreement, Parent and Company intend to
merge Company Bank with and into Parent Bank, with Parent Bank surviving the merger, immediately following or as
promptly as practicable following the effectiveness of the Holding Company Merger.

5. Capitalized terms used in this Plan of Bank Merger that are not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings
given them in the Holding Company Merger Agreement.

In consideration of the premises and of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, and in accordance with
the applicable laws and regulations of the United States of America and the State of Missouri, Parent Bank and
Company Bank, intending to be legally bound hereby, agree:

ARTICLE I

MERGER

Subject to the terms and conditions of this Plan of Bank Merger, and in accordance with the applicable laws and
regulations of the United States of America and the State of Missouri, on the Effective Time (as that term is defined in
Article VI hereof):

(a) Company Bank shall merge with and into Parent Bank, under the articles of association of Parent Bank;

(b)the separate existence of Company Bank shall cease; and

(c)Parent Bank shall be the surviving bank.

Such transaction is referred to herein as the “Bank Merger,” and Parent Bank, as the surviving bank in the Bank Merger,
is referred to herein as the “Surviving Bank.”
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ARTICLE II

NAME AND BUSINESS OF ASSOCIATION

The name of the Surviving Bank shall be “Enterprise Bank & Trust.” The business of the Surviving Bank shall be that of
a state-chartered trust company with banking powers. This business shall be conducted by the Surviving Bank at its
main office which shall be located at 150 North Meramec Avenue, Clayton, MO 63105, and its legally established
branches and other facilities.

ARTICLE IIT

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION AND BYLAWS

3.1 Articles of Association.

On and after the Effective Time, the articles of association of Parent Bank, as in effect immediately prior to the
Effective Time, shall automatically be and remain the articles of association of the Surviving Bank, until amended in
accordance with applicable law, such articles of association, and the Surviving Bank’s bylaws.

3.2 Bylaws.

On and after the Effective Time, the bylaws of Parent Bank, as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, shall
automatically be and remain the bylaws of the Surviving Bank, until amended in accordance with applicable law, the
Surviving Bank’s articles of association and such bylaws.

ARTICLE IV

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

4.1 Board of Directors.

(a) Subject to Section 4.1(b) below, immediately following the Effective Time, the directors of Parent Bank duly
elected and holding office immediately prior to the Effective Time shall serve as directors of the Surviving Bank, each
to hold office until his or her successor is elected and qualified or otherwise in accordance with applicable law and the
articles of association and bylaws of the Surviving Bank.

(b) Subject to compliance with applicable Law, prior to the Effective Time, Parent Bank shall use its reasonable best
efforts to take all necessary corporate or other action so that upon and after the Effective Time, at the election of
Parent Bank, either (i) the size of the board of directors of Parent Bank (the “Board of Parent Bank”) is increased by one
member or (ii) one of the then incumbent directors resigns from the Board of Parent Bank, and one member of the
Board of Company who is independent with respect to Parent Bank, selected by mutual agreement of Company and
Parent Bank (the “Company Director”), is elected or appointed to the Board of Parent Bank to fill the vacancy on the
Board of Parent Bank created by such increase or resignation, as applicable. Parent, as the sole shareholder of Parent
Bank, shall take all necessary action to nominate the Company Director for election to the Board of Parent Bank at the
first annual meeting of the shareholder of Parent Bank following the Closing.

4.2 Officers.

On and after the Effective Time, the officers of Parent Bank, duly elected and holding office immediately prior to the
Effective Time, together with such officers as may be appointed from time to time, including former officers of
Company Bank who have been offered and who have accepted positions of employment with Parent Bank, shall be
the officers of the Surviving Bank, each to hold office until his or
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her successor is elected and qualified or otherwise in accordance with applicable law, the Surviving Bank’s articles of
association and the Surviving Bank’s bylaws.

ARTICLE V

CONVERSION OF SHARES

5.1 Parent Bank Capital Stock.

Each share of Parent Bank capital stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall, on and
after the Effective Time, continue to be issued and outstanding as a share of identical capital stock of the Surviving
Bank.

5.2 Company Bank Capital Stock.

Each share of Company Bank capital stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall, on
the Effective Time, be cancelled, and no cash, stock or other property shall be delivered in exchange therefor.
ARTICLE VI

EFFECTIVE TIME AND DATE OF THE MERGER

The Bank Merger shall be effective at the time and on the date specified in the articles of merger filed with the
Missouri Division of Finance (the “Effective Time”).

ARTICLE VII

EFFECT OF THE MERGER

At the Effective Time: the separate existence of Company Bank shall cease; and all of the property (real, personal and
mixed), rights, powers, duties and obligations of Parent Bank and Company Bank shall be taken and deemed to be
transferred to and vested in the Surviving Bank, without further act or deed, as provided by applicable laws and
regulations.

ARTICLE VIII

AMENDMENT

This Plan of Bank Merger may be amended at any time prior to consummation of the Bank Merger, but only by an
instrument in writing signed by duly authorized officers on behalf of the parties hereto.

ARTICLE IX

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

The obligations of Company Bank and Parent Bank hereunder shall be subject to (i) satisfaction at or prior to the
Closing Date of each of the conditions set forth in Sections 6.01 and 6.02, respectively, of the Holding Company
Merger Agreement, unless waived by such party as provided in Section 9.02 of the Holding Company Merger
Agreement, (ii) the approval of the Plan of Bank Merger by Parent and Company each in their capacity as sole
shareholder of Parent Bank and Company Bank, respectively, and (iii) closing of the Holding Company Merger
provided for in the Holding Company Merger Agreement.
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ARTICLE X

MISCELLANEOUS

10.1 Extensions; Waivers. Each party, by a written instrument signed by a duly authorized officer, may extend the
time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the other party hereto and may waive compliance
with any of the covenants, or performance of any of the obligations, of the other party contained in this Plan of Bank
Merger.

10.2 Notices. Any notice or other communication required or permitted under this Plan of Bank Merger shall be
given, and shall be effective, in accordance with the provisions of Section 9.05 of the Holding Company Merger
Agreement.

10.3 Termination. The Plan of Bank Merger shall be terminated automatically without further act or deed of either
of the parties hereto in the event of the termination of the Holding Company Merger Agreement in accordance with
Section 7.01 thereof; provided, however, that any such termination of this Plan of Bank Merger shall not relieve any
party hereto from liability on account of a breach by such party of any of the terms hereof or thereof.

10.4 Additional Actions. If, at any time after the Effective Time, the Surviving Bank shall consider that any further
assignments or assurances in law or any other acts are necessary or desirable to (i) vest, perfect or confirm, of record
or otherwise, in the Surviving Bank its rights, title or interest in, to or under any of the rights, properties or assets of
Company Bank acquired or to be acquired by the Surviving Bank as a result of, or in connection with, the Bank
Merger, or (ii) otherwise carry out the purposes of this Plan of Bank Merger, Company Bank and its proper officers
and directors shall be deemed to have granted to the Surviving Bank an irrevocable power of attorney to execute and
deliver all such proper deeds, assignments and assurances in law and to do all acts necessary or proper to vest, perfect
or confirm title to and possession of such rights, properties or assets in the Surviving Bank and otherwise to carry out
the purposes of this Plan of Bank Merger; and the proper officers and directors of the Surviving Bank are fully
authorized in the name of Company or otherwise to take any and all such action.

10.5 Captions. The headings of the several Articles herein are intended for convenience of reference only and are
not intended to be part of, or to affect the meaning or interpretation of, this Plan of Bank Merger.

10.6  Counterparts. For the convenience of the parties hereto, this Plan of Bank Merger may be executed in several
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed the original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same
instrument.

10.7 Governing Law. This Plan of Bank Merger shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of
the United States of America and, in the absence of controlling federal law, in accordance with the laws of the State of
Missouri.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank; signature page to follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Parent Bank and Company Bank have caused this Plan of Bank Merger to be executed by
their duly authorized officers and their corporate seals to be hereunto affixed on the date first written above.
LOS ALAMOS NATIONAL BANK

By: _/s/ John S. Gulas
Name: John S. Gulas
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
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ENTERPRISE BANK & TRUST

By: /s/ Scott Goodman
Name: Scott Goodman
Title: President
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APPENDIX D
November 1, 2018

The Board of Directors Trinity Capital Corporation
1200 Trinity Drive
Los Alamos, New Mexico 87544

Members of the Board:

You have requested the opinion of Keefe, Bruyette & Woods, Inc. (“KBW” or “we”) as investment bankers as to the
fairness, from a financial point of view, to the common shareholders of Trinity Capital Corporation (“Trinity”) of the
Merger Consideration (as defined below) to be received by such shareholders in the proposed merger (the “Merger”) of
Trinity with and into Enterprise Financial Services Corp (“Enterprise”), pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger
(the “Agreement”) to be entered into by and among Trinity, Los Alamos National Bank, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Trinity (“Los Alamos”), Enterprise and Enterprise Bank & Trust, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Enterprise (“Enterprise
Bank”). Pursuant to the Agreement and subject to the terms, conditions and limitations set forth therein, at the Effective
Time (as defined in the Agreement), automatically by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of
Enterprise, Trinity, any holder of shares of voting common stock, no par value per share, of Trinity (“Trinity Voting
Common Stock™) or any holder of shares of non-voting common stock, no par value per share, of Trinity (“Trinity
Non-Voting Common Stock” and, together with Trinity Voting Common Stock, “Trinity Common Stock™), each share of
Trinity Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (except for (i) each share of
Trinity Common Stock owned directly by Enterprise, Trinity or any of their respective subsidiaries, as treasury stock

or otherwise (other than shares in trust accounts, managed accounts and the like for the benefit of customers) and (ii)
Dissenting Shares (as defined in the Agreement)) shall be converted into the right to receive: (i) $1.84 in cash (the
“Cash Consideration”), subject to adjustment as set forth in the Agreement (as to which we express no opinion), and (ii)
0.1972 of a share of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of Enterprise (“Enterprise Common Stock,” and such
fraction of a share of Enterprise Common Stock, the “Stock Consideration”). The Stock Consideration and the Cash
Consideration, taken together, are referred to herein as the “Merger Consideration.” The terms and conditions of the
Merger are more fully set forth in the Agreement.

The Agreement further provides that, at such time following the Effective Time as Enterprise may determine, Los
Alamos will merge with and into Enterprise Bank, pursuant to a separate plan of bank merger (such transaction, the
“Bank Merger”).

KBW has acted as financial advisor to Trinity and not as an advisor to or agent of any other person. As part of our
investment banking business, we are continually engaged in the valuation of bank and bank holding company
securities in connection with acquisitions, negotiated underwritings, secondary distributions of listed and unlisted
securities, private placements and valuations for various other purposes. As specialists in the securities of banking
companies, we have experience in, and knowledge of, the valuation of banking enterprises. We and our affiliates, in
the ordinary course of our and their broker-dealer businesses (and in the case of Trinity, further to an existing sales
and trading relationship with a KBW broker-dealer affiliate), may from time to time purchase securities from, and sell
securities to, Trinity and Enterprise. In addition, as market makers in securities, we and our affiliates may from time to
time have a long or short position in, and buy or sell, debt or equity securities of Trinity and Enterprise for our and
their own accounts and for the accounts of our and their respective customers and clients. We have acted exclusively
for the board of directors of Trinity (the “Board”) in rendering this opinion and will receive a fee from Trinity for our
services. A portion of our fee is payable upon the rendering of this opinion and a significant portion is contingent upon
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the successful completion of the Merger. In addition, Trinity has agreed to indemnify us for certain liabilities arising
out of our engagement.

Other than in connection with this present engagement, in the past two years, KBW has not provided investment
banking and financial advisory services to Trinity. In the past two years, KBW has not provided investment banking
and financial advisory services to Enterprise. We may in the future provide investment banking and financial advisory
services to Trinity or Enterprise and receive compensation for such services.

In connection with this opinion, we have reviewed, analyzed and relied upon material bearing upon the financial and
operating condition of Trinity and Enterprise and bearing upon the Merger, including among other things, the
following: (i) a draft of the Agreement dated October 29, 2018 (the most recent draft made available to us); (ii) the
audited financial statements and Annual Reports on Form 10-K for the three fiscal years ended December 31, 2017 of
Trinity; (iii) the unaudited quarterly financial statements and Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarters
ended March 31, 2018 and June 30, 2018 of Trinity; (iv) the unaudited financial statements for the nine months ended
September 30, 2018 of Trinity (provided to us by representatives of Trinity); (v) the audited financial statements and
Annual Reports on Form 10-K for the three fiscal years ended December 31, 2017 of Enterprise; (vi) the unaudited
quarterly financial statements and Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarters ended March 31, 2018, June
30, 2018 and September 30, 2018 of Enterprise (vii) certain regulatory filings of Trinity and Enterprise and their
respective subsidiaries, including the quarterly reports on Form Y-9C and the quarterly call reports required to be filed
(as the case may be) with respect to each quarter during the three-year period ended December 31, 2017 as well as the
quarters ended March 31, 2018, June 30, 2018 and September 30, 2018; (viii) certain other interim reports and other
communications of Trinity and Enterprise provided to their respective shareholders; and (ix) other financial
information concerning the businesses and operations of Trinity and Enterprise that was furnished to us by Trinity and
Enterprise or which we were otherwise directed to use for purposes of our analyses. Our consideration of financial
information and other factors that we deemed appropriate under the circumstances or relevant to our analyses
included, among others, the following: (i) the historical and current financial position and results of operations of
Trinity and Enterprise; (ii) the assets and liabilities of Trinity and Enterprise; (iii) the nature and terms of certain other
merger transactions and business combinations in the banking industry; (iv) a comparison of certain financial and
stock market information for Enterprise and Trinity with similar information for certain other companies the securities
of which are publicly traded; (v) financial and operating forecasts and projections of Trinity that were prepared by,
and provided to us and discussed with us by, Trinity management and that were used and relied upon by us at the
direction of such management and with the consent of the Board; (vi) publicly available consensus “street estimates” of
Enterprise, as well as assumed Enterprise long-term growth rates that were provided to us by Enterprise management,
all of which information was discussed with us by such management and used and relied upon by us based on such
discussions, at the direction of Trinity management and with the consent of the Board; and (vii) estimates regarding
certain pro forma financial effects of the Merger on Enterprise (including, without limitation, the cost savings and
related expenses expected to result from or be derived from the Merger) that were prepared by, and provided to and
discussed with us by, Enterprise management, and used and relied upon by us based on such discussions, at the
direction of Trinity management and with the consent of the Board. We have also performed such other studies and
analyses as we considered appropriate and have taken into account our assessment of general economic, market and
financial conditions and our experience in other transactions, as well as our experience in securities valuation and
knowledge of the banking industry generally. We have also participated in discussions that were held with the
respective managements of Trinity and Enterprise regarding the past and current business operations, regulatory
relations, financial condition and future prospects of their respective companies and such other matters as we have
deemed relevant to our inquiry. In addition, we have considered the results of the efforts undertaken by Trinity, with
our assistance, to solicit indications of interest from third parties regarding a potential transaction with Trinity.

In conducting our review and arriving at our opinion, we have relied upon and assumed the accuracy and
completeness of all of the financial and other information that was provided to us or that was publicly available and
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we have not independently verified the accuracy or completeness of any such information or assumed any
responsibility or liability for such verification, accuracy or completeness. We have relied upon the management of
Trinity as to the reasonableness and achievability of the financial and operating forecasts and projections of Trinity
referred to above (and the assumptions and bases therefor), and we have assumed that such forecasts and projections
were reasonably
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prepared and represent the best currently available estimates and judgments of such management and that such
forecasts and projections will be realized in the amounts and in the time periods currently estimated by such
management. We have further relied, with the consent of Trinity, upon Enterprise management as to the
reasonableness and achievability of the publicly available consensus “street estimates” of Enterprise, the assumed
Enterprise long-term growth rates, and the estimates regarding certain pro forma financial effects of the Merger on
Enterprise (including, without limitation, the cost savings and related expenses expected to result or be derived from
the Merger), all as referred to above (and the assumptions and bases for all such forecasts, projections and estimates),
and we have assumed that all such information was reasonably prepared and represents, or in the case of the
Enterprise “street estimates” referred to above that such estimates are consistent with, the best currently available
estimates and judgments of Enterprise management and that the forecasts, projections and estimates reflected in such
information will be realized in the amounts and in the time periods currently estimated.

It is understood that the portion of the foregoing financial information of Trinity and Enterprise that was provided to
us was not prepared with the expectation of public disclosure and that all of the foregoing financial information
(including the publicly available consensus “street estimates” of Enterprise referred to above) is based on numerous
variables and assumptions that are inherently uncertain (including, without limitation, factors related to general
economic and competitive conditions ), and, accordingly, actual results could vary significantly from those set forth in
such information. We have assumed, based on discussions with the respective managements of Trinity and Enterprise
and with the consent of the Board, that all such information provides a reasonable basis upon which we could form
our opinion and we express no view as to any such information or the assumptions or bases therefor. We have relied
on all such information without independent verification or analysis and do not in any respect assume any
responsibility or liability for the accuracy or completeness thereof.

We also assumed that there were no material changes in the assets, liabilities, financial condition, results of
operations, business or prospects of either Trinity or Enterprise since the date of the last financial statements of each
such entity that were made available to us. We are not experts in the independent verification of the adequacy of
allowances for loan and lease losses and we have assumed, without independent verification and with your consent,
that the aggregate allowances for loan and lease losses for Trinity and Enterprise are adequate to cover such losses. In
rendering our opinion, we have not made or obtained any evaluations or appraisals or physical inspection of the
property, assets or liabilities (contingent or otherwise) of Trinity or Enterprise, the collateral securing any of such
assets or liabilities, or the collectability of any such assets, nor have we examined any individual loan or credit files,
nor did we evaluate the solvency, financial capability or fair value of Trinity or Enterprise under any state or federal
laws, including those relating to bankruptcy, insolvency or other matters. Estimates of values of companies and assets
do not purport to be appraisals or necessarily reflect the prices at which companies or assets may actually be sold.
Because such estimates are inherently subject to uncertainty, we assume no responsibility or liability for their
accuracy. We express no view as to any environmental matters, and we have assumed, without independent
verification and at the direction of Trinity, that no Remediation Adjustment (as defined in the Agreement) will be
required pursuant to the Agreement.

We have assumed, in all respects material to our analyses, the following: (i) that the Merger and any related
transactions (including the Bank Merger) will be completed substantially in accordance with the terms set forth in the
Agreement (the final terms of which we have assumed will not differ in any respect material to our analyses from the
draft reviewed by us and referred to above), with no adjustments to the Merger Consideration and no other
consideration or payments in respect of Trinity Common Stock; (ii) that the representations and warranties of each
party in the Agreement and in all related documents and instruments referred to in the Agreement are true and correct;
(iii) that each party to the Agreement and all related documents will perform all of the covenants and agreements
required to be performed by such party under such documents; (iv) that there are no factors that would delay or subject
to any adverse conditions, any necessary regulatory or governmental approval for the Merger or any related
transaction (including the Bank Merger) and that all conditions to the completion of the Merger and any related
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transaction will be satisfied without any waivers or modifications to the Agreement or any of the related documents;
and (v) that in the course of obtaining the necessary regulatory, contractual, or other consents or approvals for the
Merger and any related transaction (including the Bank Merger), no restrictions, including any divestiture
requirements, termination or other payments or amendments or modifications, will be imposed that will have a
material adverse effect on the

D-3
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future results of operations or financial condition of Trinity, Enterprise or the pro forma entity, or the contemplated
benefits of the Merger, including without limitation the cost savings and related expenses expected to result or be
derived from the Merger. We have assumed that the Merger will be consummated in a manner that complies with the
applicable provisions of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
and all other applicable federal and state statutes, rules and regulations. We have further been advised by
representatives of Trinity that Trinity has relied upon advice from its advisors (other than KBW) or other appropriate
sources as to all legal, financial reporting, tax, accounting and regulatory matters with respect to Trinity, Enterprise,
the Merger and any related transaction (including the Bank Merger), and the Agreement. KBW has not provided
advice with respect to any such matters.

This opinion addresses only the fairness, from a financial point of view, as of the date hereof, to the holders of Trinity
Common Stock of the Merger Consideration to be received by such holders in the Merger, without regard to
differences between Trinity Voting Common Stock and Trinity Non-Voting Common Stock. We express no view or
opinion as to any other terms or aspects of the Merger or any term or aspect of any related transaction (including the
Bank Merger and any termination of the Trinity Capital Corporation Employee Stock Ownership Plan in connection
with the Merger), including without limitation, the form or structure of the Merger (including the form of the Merger
Consideration or the allocation thereof between cash and stock) or any such related transaction, any consequences of
the Merger or any such related transaction to Trinity, its shareholders, creditors or otherwise, or any terms, aspects,
merits or implications of any employment, consulting, voting, support, shareholder, escrow or other agreements,
arrangements or understandings contemplated or entered into in connection with the Merger or otherwise. Our opinion
is necessarily based upon conditions as they exist and can be evaluated on the date hereof and the information made
available to us through the date hereof. It is understood that subsequent developments may affect the conclusion
reached in this opinion and that KBW does not have an obligation to update, revise or reaffirm this opinion. Our
opinion does not address, and we express no view or opinion with respect to, (i) the underlying business decision of
Trinity to engage in the Merger or enter into the Agreement, (ii) the relative merits of the Merger as compared to any
strategic alternatives that are, have been or may be available to or contemplated by Trinity or the Board, (iii) the
fairness of the amount or nature of any compensation to any of Trinity’s officers, directors or employees, or any class
of such persons, relative to the compensation to the holders of Trinity Common Stock, (iv) the effect of the Merger or
any related transaction on, or the fairness of the consideration to be received by, holders of any class of securities of
Trinity (other than the holders of Trinity Common Stock, solely with respect to the Merger Consideration (as
described herein) and not relative to the consideration to be received by holders of any other class of securities) or
holders of any class of securities of Enterprise or any other party to any transaction contemplated by the Agreement,
(v) the relative fairness of the Merger Consideration as between holders of Trinity Voting Common Stock and holders
of Trinity Non-Voting Common Stock, (vi) any adjustment (as provided in the Agreement) to the Merger
Consideration (including to the cash or stock components thereof) assumed to be paid in the Merger for purposes of
our opinion; (vii) whether Enterprise has sufficient cash, available lines of credit or other sources of funds to enable it
to pay the aggregate Cash Consideration to the holders of Trinity Common Stock at the closing of the Merger, ( viii)
the actual value of Enterprise Common Stock to be issued in the Merger, (ix) the prices, trading range or volume at
which Enterprise Common Stock or Trinity Common Stock will trade following the public announcement of the
Merger or the prices, trading range or volume at which Enterprise Common Stock will trade following the
consummation of the Merger, (x) any advice or opinions provided by any other advisor to any of the parties to the
Merger or any other transaction contemplated by the Agreement, or (xi) any legal, regulatory, accounting, tax or
similar matters relating to Trinity, Enterprise, their respective shareholders, or relating to or arising out of or as a
consequence of the Merger or any related transaction (including the Bank Merger), including whether or not the
Merger would qualify as a tax-free reorganization for United States federal income tax purposes.

This opinion is for the information of, and is directed to, the Board (in its capacity as such) in connection with its
consideration of the financial terms of the Merger. This opinion does not constitute a recommendation to the Board as
to how it should vote on the Merger, or to any holder of Trinity Common Stock or any shareholder of any other entity
as to how to vote in connection with the Merger or any other matter, nor does it constitute a recommendation
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regarding whether or not any such shareholder should enter into a voting, shareholders’, or affiliates’ agreement with
respect to the Merger or exercise any dissenters’ or appraisal rights that may be available to such shareholder.
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This opinion has been reviewed and approved by our Fairness Opinion Committee in conformity with our policies and
procedures established under the requirements of Rule 5150 of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority.

Based upon and subject to the foregoing, it is our opinion that, as of the date hereof, the Merger Consideration to be

received by the holders of Trinity Common Stock in the Merger is fair, from a financial point of view, to such holders.

Very truly yours,

Keefe, Bruyette & Woods, Inc.

D-5
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APPENDIX E

NEW MEXICO BUSINESS CORPORATION ACT
CHAPTER 53, CORPORATIONS

Section 53-15-3. Right of shareholders to dissent and obtain payment for shares.

A. Any shareholder of a corporation may dissent from, and obtain payment for the shareholder's shares in the event
of, any of the following corporate actions:

(1) any plan of merger or consolidation to which the corporation is a party, except as provided in Subsection C of
this section;

(2) any sale or exchange of all or substantially all of the property and assets of the corporation not made in the usual
and regular course of its business, including a sale in dissolution, but not including a sale pursuant to an order of a
court having jurisdiction in the premises or a sale for cash on terms requiring that all or substantially all of the net
proceeds of sale be distributed to the shareholders in accordance with their respective interests within one year after
the date of sale;

(3) any plan of exchange to which the corporation is a party as the corporation the shares of which are to be
acquired;

(4) any amendment of the articles of incorporation which materially and adversely affects the rights appurtenant to
the shares of the dissenting shareholder in that it:

(a) alters or abolishes a preferential right of such shares;

(b) creates, alters or abolishes a right in respect of the redemption of such shares, including a provision respecting a
sinking fund for the redemption or repurchase of such shares;

(c) alters or abolishes an existing preemptive right of the holder of such shares to acquire shares or other securities;
or

(d) excludes or limits the right of the holder of such shares to vote on any matter, or to cumulate his votes, except as
such right may be limited by dilution through the issuance of shares or other securities with similar voting rights; or
(5) any other corporate action taken pursuant to a shareholder vote with respect to which the articles of
incorporation, the bylaws or a resolution of the board of directors directs that dissenting shareholders shall have a right
to obtain payment for their shares.

B. (1) Arecord holder of shares may assert dissenters' rights as to less than all of the shares registered in his name
only if the holder dissents with respect to all the shares beneficially owned by any one person and discloses the name
and address of the person or persons on whose behalf the holder dissents. In that event, his rights shall be determined
as if the shares as to which he has dissented and his other shares were registered in the names of different
shareholders.

(2) A beneficial owner of shares who is not the record holder may assert dissenters' rights with respect to shares held
on his behalf, and shall be treated as a dissenting shareholder under the terms of this section and Section 53-15-4
NMSA 1978 if he submits to the corporation at the time of or before the assertion of these rights a written consent of
the record holder.

C. The right to obtain payment under this section shall not apply to the shareholders of the surviving corporation in a
merger if a vote of the shareholders of such corporation is not necessary to authorize such merger.
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D. A shareholder of a corporation who has a right under this section to obtain payment for his shares shall have no
right at law or in equity to attack the validity of the corporate action that gives rise to his right to obtain payment, nor
to have the action set aside or rescinded, except when the corporate action is unlawful or fraudulent with regard to the
complaining shareholder or to the corporation.

History: 1953 Comp., § 51-28-3, enacted by Laws 1967, ch. 81, § 77; 1975, ch. 64, § 36; 1983, ch. 304, § 60.

Section 53-15-4. Rights of dissenting shareholders.

A. Any shareholder electing to exercise his right of dissent shall file with the corporation, prior to or at the meeting
of shareholders at which the proposed corporate action is submitted to a vote, a written objection to the proposed
corporate action. If the proposed corporate action is approved by the required vote and the shareholder has not voted
in favor thereof, the shareholder may, within ten days after the date on which the vote was taken or if a corporation is
to be merged without a vote of its shareholders into another corporation any of its shareholders may, within
twenty-five days after the plan of the merger has been mailed to the shareholders, make written demand on the
corporation, or, in the case of a merger or consolidation, on the surviving or new corporation, domestic or foreign, for
payment of the fair value of the shareholder's shares, and, if the proposed corporate action is effected, the corporation
shall pay to the shareholder, upon the determination of the fair value, by agreement or judgment as provided herein,
and, in the case of shares represented by certificates, the surrender of such certificates the fair value thereof as of the
day prior to the date on which the vote was taken approving the proposed corporate action, excluding any appreciation
or depreciation in anticipation of the corporate action. Any shareholder failing to make demand within the prescribed
ten-day or twenty-five-day period shall be bound by the terms of the proposed corporate action. Any shareholder
making such demand shall thereafter be entitled only to payment as in this section provided and shall not be entitled to
vote or to exercise any other rights of a shareholder.

B. No such demand may be withdrawn unless the corporation consents thereto. If, however, the demand is
withdrawn upon consent, or if the proposed corporate action is abandoned or rescinded or the shareholders revoke the
authority to effect the action, or if, in the case of a merger, on the date of the filing of the articles of merger the
surviving corporation is the owner of all the outstanding shares of the other corporation, domestic and foreign, that are
parties to the merger, or if no demand or petition for the determination of fair value by a court has been made or filed
within the time provided in this section, or if a court of competent jurisdiction determines that the shareholder is not
entitled to the relief provided by this section, then the right of the shareholder to be paid the fair value of his shares
ceases and his status as a shareholder shall be restored, without prejudice, to any corporate proceedings which may
have been taken during the interim.

C. Within ten days after such corporate action is effected, the corporation, or, in the case of a merger or
consolidation, the surviving or new corporation, domestic or foreign, shall give written notice thereof to each
dissenting shareholder who has made demand as provided in this section and shall make a written offer to each such
shareholder to pay for such shares at a specified price deemed by the corporation to be the fair value thereof. The
notice and offer shall be accompanied by a balance sheet of the corporation, the shares of which the dissenting
shareholder holds, as of the latest available date and not more than twelve months prior to the making of the offer, and
a profit and loss statement of the corporation for the twelve-months' period ended on the date of the balance sheet.

D. If within thirty days after the date on which the corporate action was effected the fair value of the shares is agreed
upon between any dissenting shareholder and the corporation, payment therefor shall be made within ninety days after
the date on which the corporate action was effected, and, in the case of shares represented by certificates, upon
surrender of the certificates. Upon payment of the agreed value, the dissenting shareholder shall cease to have any
interest in the shares.

E. If, within the period of thirty days, a dissenting shareholder and the corporation do not so agree, then the
corporation, within thirty days after receipt of written demand from any dissenting shareholder, given within sixty
days after the date on which corporate action was effected, shall, or at its election at any time within the period of
sixty days may, file a petition in any court of competent jurisdiction in the county in this state where the registered
office of the corporation is located praying that the fair value of the shares be found and determined. If, in the case
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of a merger or consolidation, the surviving or new corporation is a foreign corporation without a registered office in
this state, the petition shall be filed in the county where the registered office of the domestic corporation was last
located. If the corporation fails to institute the proceeding as provided in this section, any dissenting shareholder may
do so in the name of the corporation. All dissenting shareholders, wherever residing, shall be made parties to the
proceeding as an action against their shares quasi in rem. A copy of the petition shall be served on each dissenting
shareholder who is a resident of this state and shall be served by registered or certified mail on each dissenting
shareholder who is a nonresident. Service on nonresidents shall also be made by publication as provided by law. The
jurisdiction of the court shall be plenary and exclusive. All shareholders who are parties to the proceeding shall be
entitled to judgment against the corporation for the amount of the fair value of their shares. The court may, if it so
elects, appoint one or more persons as appraisers to receive evidence and recommend a decision on the question of fair
value. The appraisers shall have such power and authority as specified in the order of their appointment or on an
amendment thereof. The judgment shall be payable to the holders of uncertificated shares immediately, but to the
holders of shares represented by certificates only upon and concurrently with the surrender to the corporation of
certificates. Upon payment of the judgment, the dissenting shareholder ceases to have any interest in the shares.

F. The judgment shall include an allowance for interest at such rate as the court may find to be fair and equitable, in
all the circumstances, from the date on which the vote was taken on the proposed corporate action to the date of
payment.

G. The costs and expenses of any such proceeding shall be determined by the court and shall be assessed against the
corporation, but all or any part of the costs and expenses may be apportioned and assessed as the court deems
equitable against any or all of the dissenting shareholders who are parties to the proceeding to whom the corporation
made an offer to pay for the shares if the court finds that the action of the shareholders in failing to accept the offer
was arbitrary or vexatious or not in good faith. Such expenses include reasonable compensation for and reasonable
expenses of the appraisers, but exclude the fees and expenses of counsel for and experts employed by any party; but if
the fair value of the shares as determined materially exceeds the amount which the corporation offered to pay therefor,
or if no offer was made, the court in its discretion may award to any shareholder who is a party to the proceeding such
sum as the court determines to be reasonable compensation to any expert employed by the shareholder in the
proceeding, together with reasonable fees of legal counsel.

H. Upon receiving a demand for payment from any dissenting shareholder, the corporation shall make an
appropriate notation thereof in its shareholder records. Within twenty days after demanding payment for his shares,
each holder of shares represented by certificates demanding payment shall submit the certificates to the corporation
for notation thereon that such demand has been made. His failure to do so shall, at the option of the corporation,
terminate his rights under this section unless a court of competent jurisdiction, for good and sufficient cause shown,
otherwise directs. If uncertificated shares for which payment has been demanded or shares represented by a certificate
on which notation has been so made are transferred, any new certificate issued therefor shall bear similar notation,
together with the name of the original dissenting holder of the shares, and a transferee of the shares acquires by such
transfer no rights in the corporation other than those which the original dissenting shareholder had after making
demand for payment of the fair value thereof.

I. Shares acquired by a corporation pursuant to payment of the agreed value therefor or to payment of the judgment
entered therefor, as in this section provided, may be held and disposed of by the corporation as in the case of other
treasury shares, except that, in the case of a merger or consolidation, they may be held and disposed of as the plan of
merger or consolidation may otherwise provide.

History: 1953 Comp., § 51-28-4, enacted by Laws 1967, ch. 81, § 78; 1983, ch. 304, § 61.
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PART II

INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN THE PROSPECTUS

Item 20. Indemnification of Directors and Officers

Enterprise is a Delaware corporation. Section 102 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, or DGCL, as amended,
allows a corporation to eliminate the personal liability of directors of a corporation or its stockholders for monetary
damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except where (a) the director breached the duty of loyalty, (b)
failed to act in good faith, engaged in intentional misconduct or knowingly violated a law, (c) authorized the payment
of a dividend or approved a stock repurchase in violation of the DGCL, or (d) obtained an improper personal benefit.
Article Twelve of Enterprise’s certificate of incorporation provides that, to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL,
no director of Enterprise shall be liable to Enterprise or its stockholders for monetary damages arising from a breach
of a fiduciary duty, except to the extent provided by applicable law in the situations described in (a) through (d)
above.

Section 145 of the DGCL provides, among other things, that a Delaware corporation may indemnify any person who
was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding
other than an action by or in the right of the corporation, by reason of the fact that the person is or was a director,
officer, agent or employee of the corporation, or is or was serving at the corporation’s request as a director, officer,
agent or employee of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against expenses,
including attorneys’ fees, judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by the
person in connection with such action, suit or proceeding, if such person acted in good faith and in a manner he or she
reasonably believed to be in the best interests, or not opposed to the best interests, of the corporation, and with respect
to any criminal action or proceeding had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful. The power to
indemnify applies to actions brought by or in the right of the corporation as well, but only to the extent of defense
expenses, reasonably incurred and not to any satisfaction of judgment or settlement of the claim itself, and with the
further limitation that in such actions no indemnification shall be made in the event of any adjudication of liability to
the corporation, unless the court believes that in light of all the circumstances indemnification should apply.
Furthermore, under the DGCL, if such person is successful on the merits or otherwise in the defense of any action
referred to above, or in the defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, such person shall be indemnified against
expenses (including attorneys’ fees) actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection therewith.

As permitted by the DGCL, Article Eleven of Enterprise’s certificate of incorporation provides that Enterprise shall
indemnify every director and officer o to the fullest extent permitted by law as further set forth in Enterprise’s bylaws.
Enterprise’s amended and restated bylaws further provide that Enterprise shall indemnify every person acting at the
request of Enterprise as a director, officer or trustee of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other
enterprise to the fullest extent permitted by law.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors,
officers or persons controlling the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, the registrant has been informed that
in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed
in the Act and is therefore unenforceable.

The foregoing is only a general summary of certain aspects of Delaware law and the Enterprise certificate of
incorporation and Enterprise bylaws dealing with indemnification of directors and officers, and does not purport to be
complete. It is qualified in its entirety by reference to the detailed provisions of Delaware law referenced above and
the Enterprise certificate of incorporation and Enterprise bylaws.

Item 21. Exhibits

See the Exhibit Index immediately following the signature page of this prospectus, which is hereby incorporated
herein by reference.
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Item 22. Undertakings

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:

(1) To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration
statement: (i) to include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933; (ii) to reflect in the
prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most recent
post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the
information set forth in the registration statement (notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in the
volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was registered)
and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of
prospectus filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price represent
no more than a 20% change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the “Calculation of Registration Fee”
table in the effective registration statement); and (iii) to include any material information with respect to the plan of
distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or any material change to such information in the
registration statement.

(2) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective
amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the
offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

(3) To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which
remain unsold at the termination of the offering.

(4) That, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each filing of the registrant’s
annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (and, where applicable, each
filing of an employee benefit plan’s annual report pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934)
that is incorporated by reference in this registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement
relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the
initial bona fide offering thereof.

(5) That, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each filing of the registrant’s
annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (and, where applicable, each
filing of an employee benefit plan’s annual report pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934)
that is incorporated by reference in this registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement
relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the
initial bona fide offering thereof.

(6) That every prospectus (i) that is filed pursuant to paragraph (5) above, or (ii) that purports to meet the requirements
of Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act and is used in connection with an offering of securities subject to Rule 415,
will be filed as a part of an amendment to the registration statement and will not be used until such amendment has
become effective, and that for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such
post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein,
and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

(7) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors,
officers, and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has
been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission, such indemnification is against public
policy as expressed in the Securities Act of 1933 and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for
indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a
director, officer, or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of an action, suit, or proceeding) is
asserted by such director, officer, or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the
registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a
court of
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appropriate jurisdiction the questions whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the
Securities Act of 1933 and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to respond to requests for information that is incorporated by reference
into the prospectus pursuant to Items 4, 10(b), 11 or 13 of this form, within one (1) business day of receipt of such
request, and to send the incorporated documents by first class mail or other equally prompt means. This includes
information contained in documents filed subsequent to the effective date of the registration statement through the
date of responding to the request.

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to supply by means of a post-effective amendment all information
concerning a transaction, and the company being acquired involved therein, that was not the subject of and included in
the registration statement when it became effective.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this
Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto
duly authorized, in the City of Clayton, in the State of Missouri, on December 31, 2018.

ENTERPRISE FINANCIAL SERVICES CORP

By: /s/ James B. Lally

James B. Lally

Chief Executive Officer and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, this Amendment No. 1 to the Registration
Statement on Form S-4 has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date
Js/ James B. Lally Chief Executive Officer and Director December 31,
(Principal Executive Officer) 2018
James B. Lally
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial December 31,
/s/ Keene S. Turner .
Officer) 2018
Keene S. Turner
Senior Vice President and Controller December 31,
fs/ Mark G. Ponder (Principal Accounting Officer) 2018
Mark G. Ponder
* Chairman of the Board of Directors December 31,

2018
John S. Eulich
* Director 12)0elcgmber 31,
John Q. Arnold
* Director 12)0elcgmber 31,

Michael A. DeCola
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Signature
*

Robert E. Guest, Jr.

*

James M. Havel
ES

Judith S. Heeter

*

Michael R. Holmes

*

Nevada A. Kent, IV

*

Michael T. Normile

*

Eloise E. Schmitz
ES

Sandra A. Van Trease

*By: /s/ Keene S. Turner

Keene S. Turner
Attorney-In-Fact
December 31, 2018
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Title  Date
DirectorDecember 31, 2018

Director December 31, 2018
DirectorDecember 31, 2018
Director December 31, 2018
Director December 31, 2018
Director December 31, 2018
Director December 31, 2018

Director December 31, 2018
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Description of Exhibit

No.
Agreement and Plan of Merger. dated as of November 1. 2018. between Enterprise Financial Services Corp

2.1% and Trinity Capital Corporation. incorporated by reference to Enterprise’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
November 2. 2018 (included as Appendix A to this proxy statement/prospectus).

Certificate of Incorporation of Registrant (incorporated herein to Exhibit 3.1 to Enterprise’s Registration

Statement on Form S-1 filed on December 16. 1996 (File No. 333-14737)).

3.1

32 Amendment to the Certificates of Incorporation of Registrant (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2
) to Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on July 1. 1999 (File No. 333-82087)).

33 Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of Registrant (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1
) to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-O for the period ending September 30. 1999).

3.4 Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of Registrant (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.2
) to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 30, 2002).

35 Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated herein by reference to Appendix A to Registrant’s
) Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A. effective November 20. 2008).

36 Certificate of Designations (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report
) on Form 8-K filed on December 23. 2008).

3.7 Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of Registrant (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1

to Registrants Quarter Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30. 2014).

3.8 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Registrant. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Registrant’s
) Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 12. 2015).

5.1*%*%  Opinion of Holland & Knight LLP regarding the legality of the securities being registered.
8.1**  Tax Opinion of Holland & Knight L.I.P.

8.2**  Tax Opinion of Hunton Andrews Kurth LLP.

23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP with respect to Enterprise Financial Services Corp.
23.2 Consent of Crowe LILP with respect to Trinity Capital Corporation.

23.3*%* Consents of Holland & Knight LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1 and 8.1).

23.4*%* Consent of Hunton Andrews Kurth LLP (included in Exhibit 8.2).

24.1*%* Power of Attorney.
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1025835/000102583518000108/ex21mergeragreement110118.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1025835/000102583518000108/ex21mergeragreement110118.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1025835/000102583518000108/ex21mergeragreement110118.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1025835/0000950114-96-000343.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1025835/0000950114-96-000343.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1025835/000095011499000080/0000950114-99-000080.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1025835/000095011499000080/0000950114-99-000080.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1025835/000095011499000114/0000950114-99-000114.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1025835/000095011499000114/0000950114-99-000114.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1025835/000095013102001738/dex992.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1025835/000095013102001738/dex992.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1025835/000120677408001886/enterprise_def14a.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1025835/000120677408001886/enterprise_def14a.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1025835/000120677408002053/exhibit3-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1025835/000120677408002053/exhibit3-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1025835/000102583514000036/a2014630-ex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1025835/000102583514000036/a2014630-ex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1025835/000102583515000048/ex31amendedbylaws0615.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1025835/000102583515000048/ex31amendedbylaws0615.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1025835/000102583518000123/ex51hollandknightllp.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1025835/000102583518000123/ex81taxopinionofhollandkni.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1025835/000102583518000123/ex82taxopinionofhuntonandr.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1025835/000102583518000123/ex51hollandknightllp.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1025835/000102583518000123/ex81taxopinionofhollandkni.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1025835/000102583518000123/ex82taxopinionofhuntonandr.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1025835/000102583518000123/a12-2018sx4.htm
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99.1 Consent of Keefe, Bruyette & Woods, Inc.
99.2 Form of Proxy Card for Trinity Capital Corporation.

*Certain schedules to this agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K and the
Company agrees to furnish to the SEC a copy of any omitted schedule upon request.

**Previously filed.
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